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THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
INFORMATION STATEMENT

September 27, 2017

This Information Statement, together with its Exhibits (included by reference as described below), is
furnished by The Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the Commonwealth). It contains certain fiscal, financial and
economic information concerning the Commonwealth and its ability to meet its financial obligations. This
Information Statement contains information only through its date, or as otherwise provided for herein, and should be
read in its entirety.

The ability of the Commonwealth to meet its obligations will be affected by future social, environmental
and economic conditions, among other things, as well as by legislative policies and the financia condition of the
Commonwealth. Many of these conditions are not within the control of the Commonwealth.

Exhibit A to this Information Statement is the Statement of Economic Information as of July 10, 2017.
Exhibit A sets forth certain economic, demographic and statistical information concerning the Commonwealth.

Exhibit B and C, respectively, are the Commonwealth’ s Statutory Basis Financial Report for the year ended
June 30, 2016 and the Commonwealth’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (reported in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)) for the year ended June 30, 2016.

Specific reference is made to Exhibits A, B and C, copies of which are attached hereto and have also been
filed with the Municipa Securities Rulemaking Board (M SRB) through its Electronic Municipal Market Access
(EMMA) System. The financial statements are also available at the home page of the Comptroller of the
Commonwealth located at http://www.mass.gov/comptroller by clicking on “Financial Reporting” on the
Comptroller’s homepage.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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THE GOVERNMENT

The government of the Commonwealth is divided into three branches: the Executive, the bicameral
Legislature and the Judiciary.

Executive Branch

Governor. The Governor is the chief executive officer of the Commonwealth. Other elected members of the
executive branch are the Lieutenant Governor (elected with the Governor), the Treasurer and Receiver-General
(State Treasurer), the Secretary of the Commonwealth (State Secretary), the Attorney General and the State Auditor.
All are elected to four-year terms. The terms of the current office holders began in January, 2015.

The Executive Council, also referred to as the “Governor’s Council,” consists of eight members who are
elected to two-year termsin even-numbered years. The Executive Council is responsible for the confirmation of
certain gubernatorial appointments, particularly judges, and must approve all warrants prepared by the Comptroller
for payment by the State Treasurer.

Also within the Executive Branch are certain independent offices, each of which performs a defined
function, such as the Board of Library Commissioners, the Office of Campaign and Political Finance, the Office of
the Comptroller, the Office of the Inspector General and the State Ethics Commission.

Governor’s Cabinet. The Governor’s Cabinet, which assists the Governor in administration and policy
making, comprises the secretaries who head the eight Executive Offices, which are the Executive Office for
Administration and Finance, the Executive Office of Health and Human Services, the Executive Office of Public
Safety and Security, the Executive Office of Housing and Economic Development, the Executive Office of Labor
and Workforce Development, the Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs, the Executive Office of
Education, and the Executive Office of Technology Services and Security. In addition, the Secretary of
Transportation, who is the chief executive of the Massachusetts Department of Transportation (MassDOT) and
chairs MassDOT' s board of directors, isamember of the Governor’s Cabinet. (MassDOT has alegal existence
separate from the Commonwealth but houses several departments of state government.) Cabinet secretaries and
executive department chiefs, including the Secretary of Transportation, serve at the pleasure of the Governor. Most
other agencies are grouped under one of the seven Executive Offices for administrative purposes.

The Governor’s chief fiscal officer isthe Secretary of Administration and Finance. The activities of the
Executive Office for Administration and Finance fall within five broad categories: (i) administrative and fiscal
supervision, including supervision of the implementation of the Commonwealth’ s operating budget and capital
investment plan, and monitoring of all agency expenditures during the fiscal year; (ii) enforcement of the
Commonwealth’ s tax laws and collection of tax revenues through the Department of Revenue; (iii) human resource
management, including administration of the state personnel system, civil service system and employee benefit
programs, and negotiation of collective bargaining agreements with certain of the Commonwealth’s public
employee unions; (iv) capital facilities management, including coordinating and overseeing the construction,
management and leasing of all state facilities; and (v) administration of general services, including procurement
management services. The Secretary of Administration and Finance serves on numerous state boards and
commissions.

Sate Treasurer. The State Treasurer has four primary statutory responsibilities: (i) oversight of the
collection of all state revenues by state agencies, including tax revenues remitted by the Department of Revenue
(other than small amounts of funds held by certain agencies); (ii) the management of both short-term and long-term
investment of Commonwealth funds (other than the state employee and teacher pension funds), including all cash
receipts; (iii) the disbursement of Commonwealth moneys and oversight of reconciliation of the state’ s accounts;
and (iv) the issuance of most debt obligations of the Commonwealth, including notes, commercial paper and long-
term bonds.

In addition to these responsihilities, the State Treasurer chairs the Massachusetts Lottery Commission, the
State Board of Retirement, the Pension Reserves Investment Management Board, the Massachusetts Clean Water
Trust, and the Massachusetts School Building Authority, and appoints the members of the Alcoholic Beverages
Control Commission. The State Treasurer also serves as a member of numerous other state boards and commissions.

A-2



Sate Auditor. The State Auditor is charged with improving the efficiency of state government by auditing
the administration and expenditure of public funds and reporting the findings to the public. The State Auditor
reviews the activities and operations of approximately 750 state entities and potentially thousands of private
contractors doing business with the Commonwealth. See “COMMONWEALTH BUDGET AND FINANCIAL
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS.”

Attorney General. The Attorney Genera represents the Commonwealth in all legal proceedings in both the
state and federal courts, including defending the Commonwealth in actions in which a state law or executive action
is challenged. The Attorney General also brings actions to enforce environmental and consumer protection statutes,
among others, and represents consumer interests in public utility rate-setting proceedings and in proceedings before
the Division of Insurance and other administrative bodies. The Attorney General worksin conjunction with the
general counsel of the various state agencies and executive departments to coordinate and monitor all pending
litigation.

Sate Secretary. The Secretary of the Commonwealth is responsible for collection and storage of public
records and archives, securities regulation, state elections, administration of state lobbying laws, and the registration
of and reporting by corporations.

Sate Comptroller. Accounting policies and practices, publication of official financial reports, and oversight
of fiscal management functions are the responsibility of the Comptroller. The Comptroller also administers the
Commonwealth’ s annual state single audit and manages the state accounting system. The Comptroller servesas a
member of the Massachusetts Lottery Commission, the Inspector General Council, the Records Conservation Board,
and the State Retirees Benefits Trust. The Comptroller is appointed by the Governor for aterm coterminous with the
Governor’s and may be removed by the Governor only for cause. The annual financial reports of the
Commonwealth, single audit reports, and any rules and regulations promulgated by the Comptroller must be
reviewed by an advisory board. Thisboard is chaired by the Secretary of Administration and Finance and includes
the State Treasurer, the Attorney General, the State Auditor, the Court Administrator of the Trial Court, and two
persons with relevant experience appointed by the Governor for three-year terms.

The Commonwealth’s annual reports include financial statements on the statutory basis of accounting (the
Statutory Basis Financial Report, or SBFR) and financial statements on a GAAP basis (the Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report, or CAFR). The Statutory Basis Financial Report for the year ended June 30, 2016, attached hereto
as Exhibit B, was reviewed, and the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the year ended June 30, 2016,
attached hereto as Exhibit C, was audited, by KPMG LLP, as stated in its reports appearing therein. KPMG LLP has
not been engaged to perform, and has not performed, since the respective dates of its reports included herein, any
procedures on the financial statements addressed in such reports, nor hasit performed any procedures relating to the
official statement of which this Information Statement is a part. See “COMMONWEALTH BUDGET AND FINANCIAL
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS.”

Legidative Branch

The Legidlature (formally called the General Court) is the bicameral legislative body of the
Commonwealth, consisting of a Senate of 40 members and a House of Representatives of 160 members. Members
of both the Senate and the House are elected to two-year termsin even-numbered years. The Legislature meets every
year. Thejoint rules of the House and Senate require al formal business to be concluded by the end of July in even-
numbered years and by the third Wednesday in November in odd-numbered years.

All enacted bills are presented to the Governor for approval or veto. The Legislature may override the
Governor’s veto of any bill by atwo-thirds roll-call vote of each house. The Governor a so has the power to return a
bill to the chamber of the Legislature in which it originated with a recommendation that certain amendments be
made; such abill isthen before the Legidature and is subject to amendment or re-enactment by each branch, at
which point the Governor has no further right to return the bill a second time with arecommendation to amend but
may still veto the bill. The House of Representatives must originate any bill that imposes atax. Once atax bill is
originated by the House and forwarded to the Senate for consideration, the Senate may amend it.
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Judicial Branch

Thejudicial branch of state government is composed of the Supreme Judicial Court, the Appeals Court and
the Trial Court. The Supreme Judicial Court has original jurisdiction over certain cases and hears appeals from both
the Appeals Court, which is an intermediate appellate court, and in some cases, directly from the Trial Court. The
Supreme Judicial Court is authorized to render advisory opinions on certain questions of law to the Governor, the
Legislature and the Governor’s Council. Judges of the Supreme Judicial Court, the Appeals Court and the Trial
Court are appointed by the Governor, with the advice and consent of the Governor’s Council, to serve until the
mandatory retirement age of 70 years.

Independent Authoritiesand Agencies

The Legislature has established a number of independent authorities and agencies within the
Commonwealth, the budgets of which are not included in the Commonwealth’s annual budget. The Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statements No. 14 and No. 34, as amended by Statement No. 61, The
Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus - an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34, articulate standards
for determining significant financial or operational relationships between the primary government and its
independent entities. In fiscal 2016, the Commonwealth had significant operational or financial relationships, or
both, as defined by GASB Statements 14 and 34, as amended by 61, with 40 of these authorities. A discussion of
these entities and the relationship to the Commonwealth isincluded in footnote 1 to the fiscal 2016 Basic Financial
Statements in the CAFR, attached hereto as Exhibit C.

L ocal Gover nment

The Commonwealth has 351 incorporated cities and towns that exercise the functions of local government,
which include public safety, fire protection and public construction. Cities and towns or regional school districts
established by them also provide elementary and secondary education. Cities are governed by several variations of
the mayor-and-council or manager-and-council form. Most towns place executive power in aboard of three or five
selectmen elected to one- or three-year terms and retain legislative powers in the voters themselves, who assemble in
periodic open or representative town meetings. Various local and regional districts exist for schools, water and
wastewater administration, and certain other governmental functions.

Municipal revenues consist of taxes on real and personal property, distributions from the Commonwealth
under avariety of programs and formulas, loca receipts (including motor vehicle excise taxes, local option taxes,
fines, licenses and permits, charges for utility and other services, and investment income) and appropriations from
other available funds (including general and dedicated reserve funds). See “ COMMONWEAL TH EXPENDITURES —
Loca Aid.”

The cities and towns of the Commonwealth are also organized into 14 counties, but county government has
been abolished in seven of those counties. The county governments that remain are responsible principally for the
operation of courthouses and registries of deeds. Where county government has been abolished, the functions, duties
and responsihilities of the government have been transferred to the Commonwealth, including all employees, assets,
valid liabilities and debts.

Initiative Petitions

Under the Massachusetts constitution, legislation may be enacted in the Commonwealth pursuant to a voter
initiative process. Initiative petitions which have been certified by the Attorney General as to proper form and asto
which the requisite number of voter signatures has been collected are submitted to the Legidature for consideration.
If the Legidature fails to enact the measure into law as submitted, the petitioner may place the initiative on the ballot
for the next statewide general election by collecting additional voter signatures. If approved by a majority of the
voters at the general election, the petition becomes law 30 days after the date of the election. Initiative petitions so
approved by the voters do not constitute constitutional amendments and may be subsequently amended or repealed
by the Legidature. Initiative petitions may not make appropriations.
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Constitutional amendments also may be initiated by citizens, but they follow alonger adoption process,
which includes gaining at least 25% of the votes of the House of Representatives and Senate jointly assembled in
congtitutional convention in two successive biennial legidative sessions before being decided by the voters.

On September 2, 2015, the Attorney General certified a petition to amend the state constitution to provide
for an additional tax on certain income. See “COMMONWEALTH REVENUES — State Taxes; Income Tax.” On
December 18, 2015, the Secretary of State certified that the petitioners had collected sufficient signatures for the
petition to be transmitted to the Legislature. On May 18, 2016, the members of the Legislature jointly assembled in
congtitutional convention agreed to the amendment by avote of 135-57. If the measureis similarly supported by at
least 25% of the Legidature at the 2017-18 Constitutional Convention, it will appear on the ballot at the November,
2018 statewide election.

On September 6, 2017, the Attorney General certified four different petitions that, if approved, would
reduce the sales tax rate in Massachusetts from 6.25% to either 4.5% or 5%. See “COMMONWEALTH REVENUES —
State Taxes; Sales and Use Tax.” As described above, sponsors of these petitions must now gather sufficient voter
signatures to trigger submission to the Legislature for consideration, and if the Legislature takes no action, to place
any such petitions on the November, 2018 ballot.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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COMMONWEALTH BUDGET AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT CONTROLS
Operating Fund Structure

The Commonwealth’s operating fund structure satisfies the requirements of state finance law and isin
accordance with GAAP, as defined by GASB. The Genera Fund and other funds that are appropriated in the annual
state budget receive most of the non-bond and non-federal grant revenues of the Commonwealth. These funds are
referred to in this Information Statement as the “budgeted operating funds’ of the Commonwealth. Budgeted
operating funds are created and repealed from time to time through the enactment of legidation, and existing funds
may become inactive when no appropriations are made from them. Budgeted operating funds do not include the
capital projects funds of the Commonwealth, into which the proceeds of Commonwealth bonds are deposited. See
“Capital Investment Process and Controls’ below.

Two of the budgeted operating funds account for most of the Commonwealth’s appropriated spending: the
General Fund and the Commonwealth Transportation Fund (formerly the Highway Fund), from which
approximately 98.6% (preliminary and subject to change) of the statutory basis budgeted operating fund outflowsin
fiscal 2017 were made. The remaining approximately 1.4% (preliminary and subject to change) of statutory
operating fund outflows occurred in other operating funds. the Commonwealth Stabilization Fund, the
Intragovernmental Service Fund, the Inland Fisheries and Game Fund, the Marine Recreational Fisheries
Development Fund, the Community First Trust Fund, and the Gaming Loca Aid Fund. There were also 17 budgeted
funds which were authorized by law but had no activity in fiscal 2017: the Collective Bargaining Reserve Fund, the
Tax Reduction Fund, the Dam Safety Trust Fund, the International Educational and Foreign Language Grant
Program Fund, the Education Fund, the Gaming Economic Development Fund, the Public Safety Training Fund, the
Massachusetts Tourism Fund, the Temporary Holding Fund, the Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment Fund,
the Children and Families Protection Fund, the Home and Community-based Services Policy Lab Fund, the
Regional Water Entity Reimbursement Fund, the Local Capital Projects Fund, the Local Aid Stabilization Fund, the
Manufacturing Fund, and the Community College Fund.

At the end of afiscal year, undesignated balances in the budgeted operating funds, unless excluded by law,
are used to calculate the consolidated net surplus. Under state finance law, balances in the Stabilization Fund, the
Tax Reduction Fund, the Inland Fisheries and Game Fund, the Marine Recreational Fisheries Fund, the Public
Safety Training Fund, the Community First Trust Fund, and the Local Aid Stabilization Fund are excluded from the
consolidated net surplus calculation.

Overview of Operating Budget Process

Generally, funds for the Commonweal th’ s programs and services must be appropriated by the Legidature.
The process of preparing a budget begins with the executive branch early in the fiscal year preceding the fiscal year
for which the budget will take effect. The legidative budgetary process beginsin late January (or, in the case of a
newly elected Governor, not later than early March) with the Governor’s budget submission to the Legidlature for
the fiscal year commencing in the ensuing July. The Massachusetts constitution requires that the Governor
recommend to the Legidature a budget which contains a statement of all proposed expenditures of the
Commonwealth for the upcoming fiscal year, including those already authorized by law, and of all taxes, revenues,
loans and other means by which such expenditures are to be defrayed. State finance law requires the Legislature and
the Governor to approve a balanced budget for each fiscal year, and the Governor may approve no supplemental
appropriation bills that would result in an unbalanced budget. However, thisis a statutory requirement that may be
superseded by an appropriation act.

The House Committee on Ways and Means considers the Governor’ s budget recommendations and, with
revisions, proposes a budget to the full House of Representatives. Once approved by the House, the budget is
considered by the Senate Committee on Ways and Means, which in turn proposes a budget to be considered by the
full Senate. In recent years, the legidative budget review process has included joint hearings by the Ways and
Means Committees of the Senate and the House. After Senate action, a legislative conference committee develops a
joint budget recommendation for consideration by both houses of the Legidature, which upon adoption is sent to the
Governor. Under the Massachusetts constitution, the Governor may veto the budget in whole or disapprove or
reduce specific line items (line item veto). The Legidature may override the Governor’s veto or specific line-item
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vetoes by atwo-thirds roll-call vote of both the House and Senate. The annual budget legislation, asfinally enacted,
isknown as the general appropriations act.

In years in which the general appropriations act is not approved by the Legislature and the Governor before
the beginning of the applicable fiscal year, the Legidature and the Governor generally approve atemporary budget
under which funds for the Commonwealth’ s programs and services are appropriated based upon the level of
appropriations from the prior fiscal year budget.

State finance law requires the Commonwealth to monitor revenues and expenditures during a fiscal year.
For example, the Comptroller publishes a quarterly report of planned and actual revenues. See “* COMMONWEALTH
REVENUES — Tax Revenue Forecasting.” Department heads are required to notify the Secretary of Administration
and Finance and the House and Senate Committees on Ways and Means of any anticipated decrease in estimated
revenues for their departments from the federal government or other sources or if it appears that any appropriation
will beinsufficient to meet all expenditures required in the fiscal year by any law, rule, regulation or order not
subject to administrative control. The Secretary of Administration and Finance must notify the Governor and the
House and Senate Committees on Ways and Means whenever the Secretary determines that revenues will be
insufficient to meet authorized expenditures. The Secretary of Administration and Finance is then required to
compute projected deficiencies and, under Section 9C of Chapter 29 of the General Laws, the Governor is required
to reduce allotments, to the extent lawfully permitted to do so, or submit proposals to the Legislature to raise
additional revenues or to make appropriations from the Stabilization Fund to cover such deficiencies. The Supreme
Judicia Court has ruled that, under current law, the Governor’s authority to reduce all otments of appropriated funds
extends only to appropriations of funds to state agencies under the Governor’s control.

Cash and Budgetary Controls

The Commonwealth has in place controls designed to ensure that (i) sufficient cash is avail able to meet the
Commonwealth’ s obligations, (ii) state expenditures are consistent with periodic allotments of annual
appropriations, and (iii) moneys are expended consistently with statutory and public purposes. Two independently
elected Executive Branch officials, the State Treasurer and the State Auditor, conduct the cash management and
audit functions, respectively. Regarding periodic allotments, at the beginning of each fiscal year the Executive
Office for Administration and Finance schedules the rate at which agencies will have access to fundsincluded in
their appropriation through a published periodic allotment calendar. Under state finance law, monthly appropriation
allotments are ordinarily one-twelfth of the annual amount, but the Executive Office for Administration and Finance
may provide for greater or lesser monthly allotmentsin appropriate cases. This calendar is reviewed regularly, and
depending on the fiscal climate, the Executive Office for Administration and Finance may choose to adjust the
allotment schedule in order to tighten spending controls. In some cases agencies may request an ad hoc allotment in
order to gain access to funds faster than the existing periodic allotment schedule would allow (e.g., exceptional cases
where unique payment concerns must be considered); such requests are carefully reviewed by the Executive Office
for Administration and Finance before they are approved. The Comptroller conducts the expenditure control
function.

Capital Investment Process and Controls

Capital expenditures are primarily financed with debt proceeds and federal grants. Authorization for capital
spending requires approval by the Legislature, and the issuance of debt must be approved by atwo-thirdsroll-call
vote of each house of the Legidature. The state constitution requires the Governor to recommend the terms of the
authorized debt. The State Treasurer issues authorized debt at the request of the Governor, and the Governor,
through the Secretary of Administration and Finance, controls the amount of capital expenditures through the
allotment of funds pursuant to such authorizations. The Executive Office for Administration and Finance establishes
a capital investment plan on or before July 1 each year pursuant to state law. The capital investment planisan
administrative guideline and is subject to amendment from time to time. See “ COMMONWEALTH CAPITAL
INVESTMENT PLAN.”

The Comptroller has established various funds to account for financial activity related to the acquisition or
congtruction of capital assets. In addition, accounting procedures and financial controls have been instituted to limit
agency capital spending to the levels approved by the Governor. Capital spending is tracked against the capital
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investment plan on both a cash and encumbrance accounting basis on the state’ s accounting system, and federal
reimbursements are budgeted and monitored against anticipated receipts.

Cash Management Practices of State Treasurer

The State Treasurer isresponsible for ensuring that all Commonwealth financial obligations are met on a
timely basis. The Massachusetts constitution requires that all payments by the Commonwealth (other than debt
service) be made pursuant to a warrant approved by the Governor’s Council. The Comptroller prepares certificates
which, with the advice and consent of the Governor’s Council and approval of the Governor, become the warrant to
the State Treasurer. Once the warrant is approved, the State Treasurer’s office disburses the money. The warrant
requirement under state finance law does not apply to debt service appropriations.

The Cash Management Division of the State Treasurer’s office utilizes approximately 900 operating
accounts to track cash collections and disbursements for the Commonwealth. The Division relies primarily upon
electronic receipt and disbursement systems.

The State Treasurer, in conjunction with the Executive Office for Administration and Finance, is required
to submit quarterly cash flow projections for the then current fiscal year to the House and Senate Committees on
Ways and Means on or before the last day of August, November, February and May. The projections must include
estimated sources and uses of cash, together with the assumptions from which such estimates were derived and
identification of any cash flow gaps. See “FISCAL 2017 AND FiscAL 2018 —Cash Flow.” The State Treasurer’s office,
in conjunction with the Executive Office for Administration and Finance, is aso required to develop quarterly and
annual cash management plans to address any gap identified by the cash flow projections and variance reports. The
State Treasurer’s office oversees the issuance of short-term debt to meet cash flow needs, including the issuance of
commercial paper and revenue anticipation notes. See “LONG-TERM LIABILITIES — General Obligation Debt.”

Cash that is not needed for immediate funding needsisinvested in the Massachusetts Municipal Depository
Trust. The State Treasurer serves as trustee of the Trust and has sole authority pertaining to rules, regulations and
operations of the Trust. The Trust has two investment options: a short-term liquidity vehicle or “cash portfolio”
structured similarly to a money market fund and a short-term bond fund. For additional detail on the Massachusetts
Municipal Depository Trust, see “FISCAL 2017 AND FISCAL 2018 — Cash Flows.”

Fiscal Control, Accounting and Reporting Practices of the Comptroller

The Comptroller isresponsible for oversight of fiscal management functions, establishment of accounting
policies and practices, and publication of official financial reports. The Comptroller maintains the Massachusetts
Management Accounting and Reporting System (MMARYS), the centralized state accounting system that is used by
all state agencies and departments for processing of all financial transactions. The University of Massachusetts, the
state universities and the community colleges process only some transactions on MMARS, and the independent state
authorities do not use the system. MMARS provides aledger-based system of revenue and expenditure accounts
enabling the Comptroller to control obligations and expenditures effectively and to ensure that appropriations are not
exceeded during the course of the fiscal year. The Commonwealth’s statewide accounting system also has various
modules for receivables, payables, capital assets and other processes management.

Expenditure Controls. The Comptroller requires that the amount of all obligations under purchase orders,
contracts and other commitments for the expenditures of moneys be recorded as encumbrances. Once encumbered,
these amounts are not available to support additional spending commitments. As aresult of these encumbrances,
spending agencies can use MMARS to determine at any given time the amount of their appropriations available for
future commitments.

The Comptroller isresponsible for compiling expenditure requests into the certificates for approval by the
Governor’s Council. The Council approves an estimated warrant giving the Treasurer authority to issue payments up
to the amount on the warrant, as long as those payments are otherwise determined by the Comptroller to comply
with state finance law. In preparing these certificates, which become the warrant, the Comptroller’s office has
systemsin place to ensure that the necessary moneys for payment have been both appropriated by the Legislature
and allotted by the Governor in each account and sub-account. By law, certain obligations may be placed upon the
warrant even if the supporting appropriation or allotment is insufficient. These obligations include debt service,
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which is specifically exempted by the state constitution from the warrant requirement, and Medicaid payments,
which are mandated by federal law.

Although state finance law generally does not create priorities among types of payments to be made by the
Commonwealth in the event of a cash shortfall, the Comptroller has developed procedures, in consultation with the
State Treasurer and the Executive Office for Administration and Finance, for prioritizing payments based upon state
finance law and sound fiscal management practices.

Internal Controls. The Comptroller establishesinternal control policies and proceduresin accordance with
state finance law. Agencies are required to adhere to such policies and procedures. All unaccounted-for variances,
losses, shortages or thefts of funds or property must be reported to the State Auditor, who is authorized to investigate
and recommend corrective action.

Satutory Basis of Accounting. In accordance with state law, the Commonwealth adopts its budget and
maintains financial information on a statutory basis of accounting. Under the statutory basis, tax and departmental
revenues are accounted for on a modified cash basis by reconciling revenue to actual cash receipts confirmed by the
State Treasurer. Certain limited revenue accruals are also recognized, including receivables from federal
reimbursements with respect to paid expenditures. Expenditures are measured on a modified cash basisincluding
actual cash disbursements and encumbrances for goods or services received prior to the end of afiscal year.

For certain programs, such as Medicaid, expenditures are recognized under the statutory basis of
accounting only to the extent of disbursements supported by current-year appropriations. Some prior year services
billed after the start of afiscal year have been paid from the new fiscal year’s appropriation, in an amount
determined by the specific timing of billings and the amount of prior year funds that remained after June 30 to pay
the prior year’s accrued billings, though this practice may vary from year to year.

GAAP Basis of Accounting. The Comptroller also prepares Commonwealth financial statementson a
GAAP basis. In addition to the primary government, certain independent authorities and agencies of the
Commonwealth are included as component units within the Commonwealth’ s reporting entity.

GAAP employs an economic resources management focus and a current financial resources management
focus as two bases for accounting and reporting. Under the economic resources management focus (also called the
“government-wide perspective’) revenues and expenses (different from expenditures) are presented similarly to
private-sector entities. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when aliability isincurred,
regardless of the timing of cash flows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenues as soon as all igibility
requirements imposed by the provider have been met. Capital assets, including infrastructure assets net of
depreciation, and the long-term portion of all liabilities are reported on the statement of net position.

Under the current financial resources management focus of GAAP (aso called the “fund perspective’), the
primary emphasis is to demonstrate inter-period equity. Revenues are reported in the period in which they become
both measurable and available. Revenues are considered available when they are expected to be collected within the
current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period.

Significant revenues susceptible to accrual include income, sales and use, corporation and other taxes,
federal revenues (including both grants and reimbursements) and reimbursements for the use of materials and
services. Tax accruals, which include the estimated amounts due to the Commonwealth on previous filings, over-
and under-withholdings, estimated payments on income earned and tax refunds and abatements payable, are all
recorded as adjustments to statutory basis tax revenues.

Major expenditure accrual s are recorded for the cost of Medicaid claims that have been incurred but not
paid, claims and judgments and workers' compensation claimsincurred but not reported and contract assistance and
amounts due to municipalities and state authorities. See Exhibit C — Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the
year ended June 30, 2016; Page 3 and Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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Audit Practices of State Auditor

The State Auditor is mandated under state law to conduct an audit at least once every three years of the
accounts of all departments, offices, commissions, ingtitutions and activities of the Commonwealth. This audit
encompasses hundreds of state entities, including the court system and independent authorities. The State Auditor
also has the authority to audit federally aided programs and vendors and their subcontractors under contract with the
Commonwealth as well asto conduct special audit projects. Further, the State Auditor upon aratified majority vote
by the board of selectmen or school committee, may, in the Auditor’s discretion, audit the accounts, programs,
activities and other public functions of atown, district, regional school district, city or county. The State Auditor
conducts both compliance and performance audits in accordance with generally accepted government auditing
standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

Within the State Auditor’ s office is the Division of Local Mandates, which eval uates proposed and actual
legislation to determine the financial impact on the Commonwealth’s cities and towns. |n accordance with state law,
the Commonwealth is required to reimburse cities and towns for any costs incurred through mandated programs
established after the passage of Proposition 2%, the statewide tax limitation enacted by the votersin 1980, unless
expressly exempted from those provisions, and the State Auditor’ s financial analysisis used to establish the amount
of reimbursement due to the Commonwesalth’s cities and towns. See “COMMONWEALTH EXPENDITURES — Local Aid;
Property Tax Limits.”

Also within the State Auditor’s office is the Bureau of Special Investigations, which is charged with the
responsibility of investigating fraud within public assistance programs.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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COMMONWEALTH REVENUES

This section contains a description of the major categories of Commonwealth revenues. See
“COMMONWEALTH EXPENDITURES’ for a description of the major categories of Commonwealth expenditures. All
percentages and amounts for fiscal 2017 are preliminary and subject to change. All percentages and amounts for
fiscal 2018 are projected.

In order to fund its programs and services, the Commonwealth collects a variety of taxes and receives
revenues from other non-tax sources, including the federal government and various fees, fines, court revenues,
assessments, reimbursements, interest earnings and transfers from its non-budgeted funds, which are deposited in the
General Fund, the Commonwealth Transportation Fund (formerly the Highway Fund) and other budgeted operating
funds. Revenues deposited in such funds will be referred to as budgeted operating revenues in this Information
Statement. In fiscal 2017, on a statutory basis, approximately 57.9% of the Commonwealth’ s budgeted operating
revenues and other financing sources were derived from state taxes. In addition, the federal government provided
approximately 26.3% of such revenues, with the remaining 15.8% provided from departmental revenues and
transfers from non-budgeted funds.

The Commonwealth’s executive and legidlative branches establish the Commonwealth’ s budget using the
statutory basis of accounting, which differs from a GAAP basis. See “ SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA — Statutory Basis
Distribution of Budgetary Revenues and Expenditures’ and “- GAAP Basis.”

State Taxes

The major components of state taxes are the income tax, which accounted for approximately 57.2% of total
tax revenuesin fiscal 2017, the sales and use tax, which accounted for approximately 24.2% in fiscal 2017, and the
corporations and other business and excise taxes (including taxes on insurance companies and financial institutions),
which accounted for approximately 10.0% in fiscal 2017. Other tax and excise sources accounted for the remaining
8.6% of total fiscal 2017 tax revenues.

The Governor annually files a“tax expenditure budget” that provides alist, description and revenue
estimate of various tax credits, deductions and exemptions that represent departures from the basic provisions of the
state tax code. See “Tax Credits and Other Incentives’ below.

Income Tax. The Commonwealth assesses personal income taxes at flat rates, according to classes of
income, after specified deductions and exemptions. A rate of 5.3% was applied to most types of income from
January 1, 2002 to January 1, 2012. Under current law, the state personal income tax rate on most classes of taxable
income is scheduled to be reduced gradually to 5.0%, contingent upon “baseling” state tax revenue growth (i.e.,
revenue growth after factoring out the impact of tax law and administrative processing changes). Pursuant to this
law, the state income tax rate on most classes of taxable income has been gradually reduced from 5.3% to its current
rate of 5.1%. In order to trigger a reduction, baseline revenues are measured for fiscal year-over-fiscal year growth
of at least 2.5 percentage points more than the rate of inflation, as measured by the consumer price index for all
urban consumers in Boston. | nflation-adjusted baseline revenues must also demonstrate positive growth for
consecutive three-month periods, beginning in August and ending in November, in comparison with the same three-
month periodsin the prior calendar year. If these triggers are met, the personal income tax rate on most classes of
taxable incomeis reduced by 0.05% on the following January 1. The state income tax rate on most classes of taxable
income was reduced from 5.15% to 5.10%, effective January 1, 2016, as aresult of satisfying these triggers.

On August 30, 2016, the Department of Revenue certified that the fiscal 2016 inflation-adjusted baseline
tax revenue growth over fiscal 2015 was 0.975% and, therefore, the 2.5% fiscal 2016 growth threshold needed to
trigger a further tax rate reduction effective January 1, 2017 was not met.

On August 30, 2017, the Department of Revenue certified that the fiscal 2017 inflation-adjusted baseline
tax revenue growth over fiscal 2016 was 0.059%, and, therefore, the 2.5% fiscal 2017 growth threshold needed to
trigger a further tax rate reduction effective January 1, 2018 was not met.

In the tax year following that in which the personal income tax rate is reduced to 5.0%, the charitable
deduction, which was in effect for tax year 2000 but subsequently suspended, will be restored.
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The following table shows the Department of Revenue's estimated impacts of the state income tax rate
reductions described above in fiscal years 2013 through 2018, inclusive.

Impact of Income Tax Rate Reductions (millions)

Decrease from: Fiscal 2013  Fiscal 2014  Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2016  Fiscal 2017(1)  Fiscal 2018(1)

5.3% t0 5.25% $114 $119 $124 $130 $136 $142
5.25% to 5.20% - 65 133 138 145 151
5.20% to 5.15% - - 70 145 152 158
5.15% to 5.10% - - - 74 152 159

Source: Department of Revenue.
(1) Incometax revenueimpact in fiscal 2017 and 2018 is projected and subject to change.

On September 2, 2015, the Attorney General certified an initiative petition to amend the state constitution
to provide for an additional tax of 4.0% on that portion of annual taxable income in excess of $1 million for tax
years beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The $1 million figure would be adjusted annualy for inflation. See
“THE GOVERNMENT — I nitiative Petitions.”

Capital Gains Tax. The tax rate on gains from the sale of capital assets held for one year or less and from
the sale of collectiblesis 12%. Thetax rate on gains from the sale of capital assets owned more than one year is
currently 5.10% (effective January 1, 2016), and is equal to the state personal income tax rate. The 5.10% rate could
further decline through the statutory mechanism for adjusting the personal income tax rate described above. Current
state finance law provides for tax revenues collected from capital gainsincome during afiscal year that exceed a
specified threshold to be transferred to the Commonwealth’s Stabilization Fund, with 5% of the amount so deposited
then transferred to the State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund and an additional 5% transferred to the Commonwealth’s
Pension Liability Fund. Each quarter, the Department of Revenue certifies the amount of tax revenues estimated to
have been collected during the preceding quarter from capital gainsincome, and, once the threshold has been
exceeded, the excess is transferred to the Commonwealth Stabilization Fund. The final certification of capital gains
tax revenuesis done in November following the end of the fiscal year, but no adjustment is made to Stabilization
Fund transfersiif the final amount of capital gains taxes certified differs from the amount certified in the preceding
July. The threshold is subject to annual adjustment to reflect the average annual rate of growth in U.S. gross
domestic product over the preceding five years and is certified annually by the Department of Revenue each
December for the ensuing fiscal year as part of the consensus revenue process. In fiscal years 2015 and 2016, the
Commonwealth temporarily suspended the requirement to transfer capital gainstax collections above the threshold
to the Stabilization Fund, with all capital gainstax collectionsto remain in the General Fund. For fiscal 2017, the
amount of capital gain tax collections did not exceed the threshold of $1.278 billion (the amount prescribed by the
fiscal 2017 budget as described below), and accordingly no transfer was made to the Stabilization Fund.

The fiscal 2017 capital gainstax collections threshold had been determined to be approximately
$1.128 hillion. The fiscal 2017 budget included language requiring the Comptroller to transfer all capital gains tax
collections above $1.278 hillion to the Stabilization Fund in fiscal 2017. On July 21, 2017, the Department of
Revenue certified that fiscal 2017 tax revenues collected from capital gainsincome were $1.19 billion, therefore
resulting in no transfer of capital gainstax revenues to the Stabilization Fund in fiscal 2017 under this provision. On
December 28, 2016, the Department of Revenue certified that the fiscal 2018 capital gainstax collections threshold
is approximately $1.169 billion.

Sales and Use Tax. The salestax rate imposed on retail sales of certain tangible property (including retail
sales of meals) transacted in the Commonwealth and a corresponding use tax rate on the storage, use or other
consumption of like tangible properties brought into the Commonwealth is 6.25%. Food, clothing, prescribed
medicine, materials and produce used in food production, machinery, materials, tools and fuel used in certain
industries and property subject to other excises (except for cigarettes) are exempt from sal es taxation. The sales and
use tax is also applied to sales of electricity, gas and steam for certain nonresidential use and to nonresidential and a
portion of residential use of telecommunications services.
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Certain sales tax receipts are required to be credited to the Convention Center Fund. The Convention
Center Fund is not included in the calculation of revenues for budgeted operating funds. See “LONG-TERM
L1ABILITIES—Special Obligation Debt; Convention Center Fund.”

A portion of the Commonwealth’ s receipts from the sales tax (other than the tax on meals) is dedicated
through non-budgeted special revenue funds to the Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority (MBTA) and the
Massachusetts School Building Authority (MSBA). The amount dedicated to the MSBA isthe amount raised by a
1% sales tax (not including meals). The amount dedicated to the MBTA is a comparable amount, subject to an
inflation-adjusted floor, plus $160 million annually. Effective commencing in fiscal 2015, the $160 million
adjustment was integrated into the inflation-adjusted floor, which was reset at $970.6 million. The floor grows by
the allowable base revenue growth (lesser of salestax growth or inflation, but not greater than 3% and not less than
0%) thereafter.

The Commonwealth’ s recei pts from the sales tax on account of motor vehicle sales (net of amounts
required to be credited to the Convention Center Fund or dedicated to the MBTA or MSBA) are dedicated to the
Commonwealth Transportation Fund.

On September 6, 2017, the Attorney General certified four different initiative petitions that, if approved,
would reduce the sales tax rate in Massachusetts from 6.25% to either 4.5% or 5%. See “THE GOVERNMENT —
Initiative Petitions.”

Business Corporations Tax. Business corporations doing business in the Commonwealth, other than banks
and other financial institutions, insurance companies, railroads and safe deposit companies, are subject to an excise
that has a property measure and an income measure. The value of Massachusetts tangible property (not taxed
locally) or net worth allocated to the Commonwealth is taxed at $2.60 per $1,000 of value. The net income alocated
to Massachusetts, which is based on net income for federal taxes, is taxed at 8.0%. The minimum tax is $456.

In general, corporations apportion their income to Massachusetts based on the proportion of payroll,
property and sales within the Commonwealth, with sales being double-weighted. This general rule does not apply to
manufacturing companies or to mutual fund service corporations. The net income of such entitiesis apportioned
only by the percentage of their Massachusetts sales.

Financial Institutions Tax. Financial institutions (which include commercial and savings banks) are subject
to an excise tax. The net income allocated to Massachusetts is taxed at 9.0%.

Insurance Taxes. Life insurance companies are subject to a 2% tax on gross premiums. Domestic
companies also pay a 14% tax on net investment income. Property and casualty insurance companies are subject to a
2.28% tax on gross premiums. Domestic companies also pay a 1% tax on gross investment income.

Other Taxes. Other tax revenues are derived by the Commonwealth from excise taxes on motor fuels,
cigarettes and other tobacco products, alcoholic beverages, deeds, and hotel/motel room occupancy, as well as taxes
on estates, among other tax sources. On November 8, 2016, voters approved an initiative petition that, among other
things, imposes an excise tax, in addition to the regular sales tax, on retail sales of recreational marijuana and
marijuana products. L egidlation approved by the Governor on December 30, 2016 delayed the effective date of the
new tax, and the first tax collections are now expected to occur in fiscal 2019. Legidation approved by the Governor
on July 28, 2017 increased the maximum state and local tax rate on recreational marijuana from 12% to 20%.

Tax Credits and Other Incentives. Massachusetts law provides for a variety of tax credits that may be
applied against corporate excise or personal income taxes due, as applicable under relevant law. These credits are
designed as benefits for specified economic activities as a means to encourage such businessin the state. Certain of
these credits, to the extent not used to reduce a current tax liability, may be carried forward, transferred or refunded,
as specified in the applicable statute. In addition, certain statutory provisions may also provide an exemption from
sales and use taxes for qualifying expenditures, or other specified tax benefits.
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The Governor annually publishes a “tax expenditure budget” that provides a list, description and revenue
estimate of various tax credits, deductions and exemptions that represent departures from the basic provisions of the
state tax code. A summary of the tax expenditure budget published on January 25, 2017 appears below:

Fiscal 2018 Tax Expenditure Budget Summary (in millions)

TaxType Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2018
Personal Income Tax $6,005.9 $6,527.0 $6,721.8 $7,101.6 $7,4375
Corporate and Other 1,667.5 1,828.7 1,860.3 1,953.1 2,064.4
Business Excise
Selesand Use Tax 47108 46734 4551.1 46885 4,864.1

Total $12,474.1 $13,029.1 $13,133.2 $13,723.2 $14,366.0

Under legislation approved June 16, 2008, in support of the life sciences industry, up to $25 million per
year in tax incentives is available to certified life sciences companies over a 10-year period, commencing January 1,
2009 for an aggregate amount of $250 million. The Department of Revenue estimates that this program resulted in
revenue reductions of $16.5 million in fiscal 2013, $16.5 million in fiscal 2014, $19.6 million in fiscal 2015, $15.5
millionin fiscal 2016, and $18.8 million in fiscal 2017. The Massachusetts Life Sciences Center board has approved
$20 million in tax incentives that are expected to be utilized in fiscal 2018.

Tax Revenue Forecasting

Under state law, on or before October 15 of each year, the Secretary of Administration and Financeis
required to submit to the Governor and to the House and Senate Committees on Ways and Means estimates of
revenues available to meet appropriations and other needs in the current fiscal year and the following fiscal year.

On or before January 15 of each year (January 31 in the first year of a new Governor), the Secretary is
required to develop jointly with the House and Senate Committees on Ways and M eans a consensus tax revenue
forecast for the following fiscal year. State finance law requires that the consensus tax revenue forecasts be net of
the amounts necessary to fully fund the pension system according to the applicable funding schedule, and to fulfill
statutory commitments to the MBTA and the MSBA. These amounts are to be transferred without further
appropriation from the General Fund. See “ Sales and Use Tax,” above and “ PENSION AND OPEB FUNDING.”

An additional component of the consensus revenue process is the requirement that the consensus tax
revenue forecast joint resolution include a benchmark for the estimated growth rate of Massachusetts potential gross
state product, or PGSP. Health care cost control legisation requires that the Secretary and the House and Senate
Committees on Ways and Means include a PGSP growth benchmark for the ensuing calendar year. PGSPis a
measure of the “full employment” output of the Commonwealth’ s economy. The PGSP growth benchmark is used
by the Massachusetts Heal th Policy Commission to establish the Commonwealth’s health care cost growth
benchmark. See “Medicaid and the Health Connector; Health Care Cost Containment.”

The following table compares actual budgeted tax revenues to consensus tax revenue forecasts for fiscal

2012 to 2017. Figuresfor fiscal 2018 are projected. The figures include sales tax receipts dedicated to the MBTA
and the MSBA and amounts transferred to the state pension system.
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Tax Revenue Forecasting (in millions) (1)

Projected
Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2017  Fiscal 2018
Consensus forecast $20,525 $21,950 $22,334 $24,337 $25,479 $26,860 $27,072
Total taxes per enacted budget $20,615 $22,011 $22,797 $24,387 $25,611(3) $26.231(4) $26,504 (6)
October revision 21,010 21,49 (2) - - 26,056
January revision - - 23,200 24,325 25,751 -
Actual budgeted operating tax
revenues $21,115 $22,123 $23,370 $24,932 $25,425 $25,662 (5)
Actual revenues as a percentage of
consensus forecast 103% 101% 105% 102% 99.8% 95.5%
Actual revenues as a percentage of
total taxes per enacted budget 102% 101% 103% 102% 98.7% 97.8%

SOURCE: Executive Office for Administration and Finance; actual budgeted operating tax revenues, Office of the Comptroller.

(1) Actua revenuesinclude tax-related settlements exceeding $10 million each. Consensus forecasts for fiscal 2015 through 2018 do not
include estimates for tax-related settlements and judgments exceeding $10 million each.

(2) Revised on December 4, 2012.

(3) Consensus forecast adjusted for subsequent developments during fiscal 2016, other than tax-related settlements exceeding $10 million each.

(4) Enacted budget, adjusted for veto overrides, assumes total taxes before transfers of $26.231 billion, after resolving discrepancies between
documents produced by the budget conference committee. This figure does not include assumed tax-rel ated settlements exceeding $10
million each.

(5) Preliminary and subject to change. Source: Executive Office for Administration and Finance.

(6) Theenacted budget assumes total taxes before transfers of $26.504 billion, which is based on a consensus estimate of $27.072 billion
adjusted down by $749 million (including a$35 million reduction on account of a change in the return filing deadline for corporate and
business taxpayers and an $83 million increase from the personal income tax Part B tax rate reduction not triggering, as assumed in the
consensus estimate), and up by $181 million for the impact of various tax law changes.

On December 5, 2016, the Secretary of Administration and Finance and the House and Senate Ways and
Means Committees conducted a hearing on state tax revenue estimates for fiscal 2018.

On January 12, 2017, afiscal 2018 consensus tax revenue estimate of $27.072 billion was agreed upon by
the Secretary of Administration and Finance and the chairs of the House and Senate Committees on Ways and
Means. The fiscal 2018 consensus tax revenue estimate represents revenue growth of 3.9% from the fiscal 2017
estimate of $26.056 hillion. The $27.072 billion figure included allocations of $2.395 billion for pension funding,
$1.007 billion in dedicated sales tax receipts for the MBTA, $841 million in dedicated sales tax receipts for the
MSBA and $22.9 million for the Workforce Training Fund. The total amount of off-budget all ocations was $4.368
billion. Accordingly, after taking into account these off-budget all ocations the Secretary and Committee chairs
agreed that $22.704 billion would be the maximum amount of tax revenue available for the fiscal 2018 budget and
they based their respective budget recommendations on that number. On July 17, 2017, the Governor approved the
fiscal 2018 budget, which assumed tax revenues of $26.504 billion, based on the consensus estimate of
$27.072 billion adjusted down by $749 million, and up by $181 million for the incremental impact of various tax
law changes.

Fiscal 2017 and Fiscal 2018 Tax Revenues

Fiscal 2017. Tax revenues for fiscal 2017 totaled approximately $25.662 hillion, including $58.0 millionin
one-time tax-related settlements and judgments, exceeding $10 million each, an increase of approximately
$237 million, or 0.9%, over fiscal 2016. The following table shows the tax collections for fiscal 2017 and the change
from tax collectionsin the prior year, both in dollars and as a percentage. The table also notes the amount of tax
collections during the fiscal year that are dedicated to the MBTA and the MSBA.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Fiscal 2017 Tax Collections (in millions)(1)
Tax Collections:

Changefrom Per centage MBTA MSBA Net of MBTA
Month Tax Collections Prior Year Change Portion Portion and MSBA
July $1,705.4 $34.3 2.1% $84.8 $715 $1,549.0
August 1,737.0 8.6 0.5 79.9 66.6 1,590.6
September 2,756.9 205.4 8.0 83.3 67.7 2,605.9
October 1,792.3 128.8 7.7 834 70.0 1,638.8
November 1,490.4 (182.7) (20.9) 75.9 62.5 1,352.0
December 2,489.6 62.6 2.6 88.8 65.9 2,334.8
January 2,720.2 1314 51 96.3 82.9 2,540.9
February 1,172.4 (100.8) (7.9 72.0 58.7 1,041.7
March 2,290.2 18.4 0.8 79.8 59.9 2,150.5
April 2,854.3 (92.4) (3.1 78.9 65.6 2,709.9
May 1921.1 56.6 3.0 82.9 69.6 1,768.5
June (1) 2,732.1 (33.1) 1.2 86.2 75.8 2,570.0
Total (2) $25,661.7 $237.2 0.9% $992.2 $816.8 $23852.7

SOURCE: Executive Office for Administration and Finance.
(1) Preliminary and subject to change.
(2) Totals may not add due to rounding.

The tax revenue increase of approximately $237 million from fiscal 2016 to fiscal 2017 is attributable, in
large part, to an increase of approximately $542.8 million, or 4.8%, in withholding collections and an increase of
approximately $156.5 million, or 2.6%, in sales and use tax collections, which were partly offset by a decrease of
approximately $148.6 million, or 5.5%, in corporate and business tax collections, a decrease of approximately
$135.0 million, or 5.4% in income tax cash estimated payments, a decrease of approximately $101.9 million, or
5.0%, in income tax payments with bills and returns, and a net decrease of approximately $60.7 million, or 2.7%, in
all other taxes. Fiscal 2017 tax collections (not including the $58.0 million in tax-related settlements) totaled
$25.604 hillion, which reflects an increase of $334 million, or 1.3%, from fiscal 2016 (not including large tax
settlements received in such year); these collections were approximately $452 million below the benchmarks
associated with the revised fiscal 2017 tax revenue estimate of $26.056 billion.

Capital Gains and Settlements. The fiscal 2017 budget included language requiring the Comptroller to
transfer all capital gains tax collections above $1.278 billion to the Stabilization Fund in fiscal 2017. On July 21,
2017, the Department of Revenue certified that the Commonwealth collected $1.19 billion in capital gains tax
during fiscal 2017, so no transfer was required.

On July 6, 2017, the Department of Revenue and the Office of the Attorney General jointly certified that
fiscal 2017 tax-related settlement and judgment payments totaled $58.0 million and non-tax related settlement and
judgment payments totaled $53.6 million.

Fiscal 2018. Thefiscal 2018 General Appropriations Act was based on estimated tax collections of
$26.504 hillion, including revenues dedicated to the MBTA, the MSBA and the Workforce Training Fund,
excluding large tax-related settlements and judgments. Preliminary tax revenues (including large tax-related
settlements) for the first two months of fiscal 2018, ended August 31, 2017, totaled $3.509 billion, an increase of
approximately $66.3 million, or 1.9%, over the same period in fiscal 2017.

The table on the next page shows the tax collections for the first two months of fiscal 2018 and the change
from tax collections in the same period in the prior year, both in dollars and as a percentage. The table also notes the
amount of tax collections during the fiscal year that are dedicated to the MBTA and the MSBA.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Fiscal 2018 Tax Collections (in millions)
Tax Collections:

Changefrom Per centage MBTA MSBA Net of MBTA
Month Tax Collections Prior Year Change Portion Portion and MSBA
July $1,797.1 $91.7 5.4% $83.5 $70.2 $1,643.4
August (1) 1,711.7 (25.4) 15 82.2 68.9 1,560.5
Total (2) $3,508.8 $66.3 1.9% $165.7 $139.1 $3,204.0

SOURCE: Executive Office for Administration and Finance.
(1) Figures are preliminary.
(2) Totals may not sum due to rounding.

The year-to-date tax revenue increase of approximately $66.3 million through August, 2017 from the same
period in fiscal 2017 is attributable, in large part, to an increase of approximately $46.9 million, or 2.5%, in
withholding collections, an increase of approximately $23.9 million, or 26.3%, in corporate and business tax
collections, an increase of approximately $17.4 million, or 1.6%, in sales and use tax collections, and a net increase
of approximately $19.5 million, or 5.5%, in al other taxes, which were partly offset by a decrease of approximately
$3.2 million, or 5.6% in income tax cash estimated payments, a decrease of approximately $9.2 million, or 11.9%, in
income tax payments with bills and returns, and an increase of approximately $27.8 million, or 40.9%, in income
cash refunds. Y ear-to-date fiscal 2018 tax collections through August, 2017 were approximately $11 million below
the year-to-date benchmark associated with the fiscal 2018 tax revenue estimate of $26.504 hillion.

Federal and Other Non-Tax Revenues

Federal revenues are collected through reimbursements for the federal share of entitlement programs such
as Medicaid and through block grants for programs such as Transitional Assistance to Needy Families (TANF). The
amount of federal reimbursementsto be received is determined by state expenditures for these programs. The
Commonwealth receives reimbursement for approximately 50% of its spending for Medicaid programs. Block grant
funding for TANF is received quarterly and is contingent upon a mai ntenance-of-effort spending level determined
annually by the federal government. Federal reimbursements for fiscal 2017 were $10.828 hillion and are projected
to be $11.143 billion in fiscal 2018.

Departmental and other non-tax revenues are derived from alarge number of sources, including but not
limited to fees and assessments for services, licenses, tuition and reimbursements. For fiscal 2017, departmental and
other non-tax revenues were $4.119 billion. The largest budgeted departmental revenues, assessments and
miscellaneous revenues in fiscal 2017 included $1.086 billion in drug rebates, recoveries and other fees, $819
million in reimbursements from cities, towns and non-state entities for retiree benefits, $606 million for Registry of
Motor Vehicles fees, fines and assessments, and $255 million from filing, registration and other fees paid to the
Secretary of State’s office. Departmental and other non-tax revenues are projected to be $4.416 billion in fiscal
2018.

Lottery Revenues. For the budgeted operating funds, inter-fund transfersinclude transfers of net operating
revenues from the State L ottery and Gaming Fund and the Arts Lottery Fund and reimbursements for the budgeted
costs of the State Lottery Commission, which accounted for transfers from the Lottery of $1.050 billion, $1.069
billion, $1.086 billion, $1.092 billion, and $1.136 hillion in fiscal 2013 through 2017, respectively. Under state law,
the net balance in the State L ottery and Gaming Fund, as determined by the Comptroller on each September 30,
December 31, March 31 and June 30, isto be used to fund monthly local aid payments to cities and towns.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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The following table shows L ottery revenues and profits for fiscal 2018.

Fiscal 2018 Monthly L ottery Revenues and Profits (in thousands) (1)

Subtotal
Operating Operating Administrative Net Profit before
Month Revenues Prizes Expenses Revenues Expenses Distributions

July 402,164 278,909 23,114 100,141 3,387 96,754
August 514,130 369,704 29,314 115,112 6,666 108,447
September - - - - - -
October - - - - - -

November - - - - - -
December - - - - - -
January - - - - - -
February - - - - - -
March - - - - - -
April - - - - - -
May - - - - - -
June - - - - - -
Total 916,294 648,613 52,428 215,253 10,053 205,201
YTD prize accrua - 3,414 - (3,414) - (3,414)
Adj Totals 916,294 652,027 52,428 211,839 10,052 201,787

Source: State Lottery Commission; Monthly values from the State Lottery Commission Statement of Operations.
(1) Preliminary and subject to change.

A five-year history of Lottery revenues and profitsis shown in the following table as well as current
projections for fiscal 2018.

Lottery Revenues and Profits
(amountsin thousands)

Net Operating
Fiscal Year Revenues Revenues Net Profits
2018 (1) 5,233,733 1,070,041 968,756
2017 5,097,765 1,136,203 1,039,697
2016 5,233,931 1,092,130 989,411
2015 5,014,535 1,086,469 985,879
2014 4,863,373 1,069,958 974,562
2013 4,850,482 1,050,128 955,801

Source: State Lottery Commission
(1) Fiscal 2018 figures are projected. These numbers are under review and may be adjusted. Minor
adjustmentsto Lottery revenues are reported several times a year based upon trends.

Tobacco Settlement. In November, 1998, the Commonwealth joined with other statesin a master settlement
agreement that resolved the Commonwealth’s and other states' litigation against the cigarette industry. Under the
agreement, cigarette companies have agreed to make both annual payments (in perpetuity) and five initial payments
(for the calendar years 1999 to 2003, inclusive) to the settling states. Each payment amount is subject to applicable
adjustments, reductions and offsets, including upward adjustments for inflation and downward adjustments for
decreased domestic cigarette sales volume.
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The Commonwealth’s alocable share of the base amounts payable under the master settlement agreement
is approximately 4.04%, which equals more than $8.962 billion through fiscal 2024, subject to adjustments,
reductions and offsets. However, since fiscal 2006 certain amounts have been withheld from each year’s payments
by tobacco manufacturers who claim that because of certain developments they are entitled to reduce such payments
under the master settlement agreement. Those withheld amounts have ranged from $21 million to $35 million to the
Commonwealth in the period from 2006 through 2012, inclusive. A smaller amount has been withheld for 2013
through 2016, inclusive. The Commonwealth believesit is due the full amount and is pursuing its claim to
unreduced payments. See “LEGAL MATTERS— Other Revenues.” The Commonwealth was also awarded
$414.3 million from a separate Strategic Contribution Fund established under the master settlement agreement to
reward certain states' particular contributions to the national tobacco litigation effort. This additional amount, also
subject to a number of adjustments, reductions and offsets, was payable in equal annual installments during the years
2008 through 2017, inclusive. Massachusetts received its final Strategic Contribution Fund payment in April, 2017.

From fiscal 2003 through fiscal 2012, all payments received by the Commonwealth pursuant to the master
settlement agreement were deposited in the General Fund. Since fiscal 2012, state law has stipulated that a portion
of annual tobacco settlement revenues be deposited into the State Retiree Benefit Trust Fund. See “PENSION AND
OPEB FUNDING — Other Post-Employment Benefit Obligations (OPEB).”

The following table sets forth the tobacco settlement amounts received by the Commonwealth to date.

Payments Received Pur suant to the Tobacco Master Settlement Agreement (in millions) (1)

Fiscal Year Initial Payments Annual Payments Total Payments
2000 $186.6 (2) $139.6 $326.2(2)
2001 78.2 164.2 2424
2002 82.8 2217 3045
2003 86.4 213.6 300.0
2004 - 2536 2536
2005 - 2574 2574
2006 - 236.3 236.3
2007 - 2454 2454
2008 - 2885 2885
2009 - 315.2 315.2
2010 - 2637 2637
2011 - 2487 2487
2012 - 253.6 253.6
2013 - 2535 2535
2014 - 2821 2821
2015 - 245.8 245.8
2016 - 257.6 257.6
2017 - 2545 2545
Total $434.0 $4,395.0 $4,829.0

SOURCE: Office of the Comptroller.
(1) Amounts are approximate. Totals may not add due to rounding.
(2) Payments received for both 1999 and 2000.

Settlements and Judgments. State finance law provides that any one-time settlement or judgment amounting
to $10 million or more is to be deposited in the Stabilization Fund to the extent that the total of all such settlements
and judgmentsin afiscal year exceeds the average of such totals for the five preceding fiscal years. These amounts
totaled approximately $133.8 million in fiscal 2013, $436.5 million in fiscal 2014, $226.1 million in fiscal 2015,
$155.3 million in fiscal 2016, and $111.6 million in fiscal 2017. The threshold applicable in fiscal 2018 is
$213 million (average of fiscal 2013 through fiscal 2017).

On September 5, 2017, the Commissioner of Revenue and the Attorney General certified that the
Commonwealth had received $25.6 million in settlement and judgment payments (all of which were non-tax-related)
during the first two months of fiscal 2018. The next certification, which will be issued in early November, will
reflect settlements received through October 31, 2017. The Executive Office for Administration and Finance
estimates that the settlement and judgment payments will be below the fiscal 2018 threshold described above.
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Gaming. On November 22, 2011 the Governor approved legislation that authorized the licensing of up to
three regional resort casinos (one per region) and one slot facility (up to 1,250 slots) in the Commonwealth. The
legislation established an appointed, independent state gaming commission to oversee the implementation of the law
and the regulation of the resultant gaming facilities. Licensing fees collected by the commission are to be applied to
avariety of one-time state and local purposes, and gaming revenues received by the Commonwealth are to be
applied to a variety of ongoing expenses, including local aid and education, with stipulated percentages also to be
deposited in the Stabilization Fund and applied to debt reduction. The legislation stipulates that initial licensing fees,
which are set by the gaming commission, must be at least $85 million per casino (a“Category 1” license) and
$25 million for the slot facility (a“ Category 2" license). According to the Massachusetts Gaming Commission,
aggregate state tax revenues from gaming licenses are expected to total approximately $300 million per year once
the facilities are operational .

The Massachusetts Gaming Commission entered into agreements with the Category 1 licenseesin two of
the three regions, pursuant to which the licensees each received a license effective on November 7, 2014. The
$85 million license fees were paid by each licensee in November, 2014. The facility in Springfield is expected to be
operational in 2018; the facility in Everett is expected to be operational in 2019.

In March, 2016, the Mashpee Wampanoag tribe announced that it would commence construction of atribal
resort casino in the third region, based upon the assumed power of the U. S. Secretary of the Interior to take land
into trust for the tribe. On April 28, 2016, the commission voted to deny an application for a Category 1 licensein
that region. On July 28, 2016, in the case of Littlefield v. the U. S Department of the Interior, the U. S. District
Court held that the Secretary of the Interior lacked the authority to take land into trust for the Mashpee Wampanoag
tribe and remanded the matter back to the Secretary for further proceedings consistent with the opinion as well asthe
declaratory judgment entered. The Bureau of Indian Affairs filed a motion for reconsideration, which was denied by
the District Court, and the M ashpee Wampanoag filed a motion to intervene, which was granted. In December,
2016, the U. S. Department of the Interior and the Mashpee Wampanoag each filed a notice of appeal to the U.S.
Court of Appealsfor the First Circuit. On April 24, 2017, the Mashpee Wampanoag filed an assent to motion to stay
briefing pending the revised decision from the Department of the Interior. On May 8, 2017, the federal appellantsin
this matter moved to withdraw their appeal. The Department of the Interior has not issued a revised decision, but
instead has requested further briefing from the parties. The Mashpee Wampanoag have asked the court to further
stay the matter pending a decision from the Department of the Interior and the court has agreed to the requested stay.
The Commission will continue to monitor this matter.

The Category 2 dlot facility opened on June 24, 2015. In fiscal 2017, the facility generated approximately
$158.3 million in gross gaming revenue, resulting in $63.4 million in budgetary fund taxes collected by the
Commonweal th.

Various municipalities have filed suit contesting certain aspects of the Massachusetts Gaming
Commission’sissuance of one of the Category 1 licenses. Certain of these claims have been dismissed, either
voluntarily or by order of the Superior Court. On August 24, 2016, the City of Somerville entered into a dismissal of
claims against the Commission and agreed to dismiss all of itslitigation pertaining to the Region A Category 1
license. The Commission is defending the remaining intervenor claim filed by Mohegan Sun and the appeals filed
by the City of Revere and the individuals who filed an open meeting law claim as part of the Revere litigation. That
claim and those appeals were argued before the Supreme Judicial Court in November, 2016. On March 10, 2017, the
court issued a decision affirming a Mohegan Sun’s intervenor claim, reversing the Superior Court’s dismissal of the
open meeting law claim and remanding the case to the Superior Court for further proceedings. The Commission is
proceeding with its defense of these claims.

On November 14, 2016, the Commission was sued for tortious interference with respect to the plaintiff's
agreement to sell property to the licensee for the Category 1 facility in Everett. The plaintiff is requesting damages
as determined at trial. On April 7, 2017, the Commission filed a motion to dismiss the suit, which was granted by the
court on June 7, 2017; however, the plaintiff filed an amended complaint while the court was in the process of
issuing its decision. The court’s decision stands and the Commission has filed a motion to dismiss the claimsin the
amended complaint. The Commission’s motion to dismiss will be argued in October, 2017.
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Limitations on Tax Revenues

Chapter 62F of the General Laws establishes a state tax revenue growth limit for each fiscal year equal to
the average positive rate of growth in total wages and salaries in the Commonwealth, as reported by the federa
government, during the three calendar years immediately preceding the end of such fiscal year. The growth limit is
used to calculate “allowable state tax revenue” for each fiscal year. Chapter 62F also requires that allowable state tax
revenues be reduced by the aggregate amount received by local governmental units from any newly authorized or
increased local option taxes or excises. Any excess in state tax revenue collections for a given fiscal year over the
prescribed limit, as determined by the State Auditor, isto be applied as a credit against the then-current personal
income tax liability of all taxpayersin the Commonwealth in proportion to the personal income tax liability of all
taxpayersin the Commonweal th for the immediately preceding tax year. The law does not exclude principa and
interest payments on Commonwealth debt obligations from the scope of its tax limit. However, the preamble
contained in Chapter 62F provides that “although not specifically required by anything contained in this chapter, itis
assumed that from allowable state tax revenues as defined herein the Commonwealth will give priority attention to
the funding of state financial assistance to local governmental units, obligations under the state governmental
pension systems and payment of principal and interest on debt and other obligations of the Commonwealth.”

The following table sets forth the Commonwealth’s net state tax revenues and allowabl e state tax revenues,
as defined in Chapter 62F, for fiscal 2013 through fiscal 2017.

Net State Tax Revenues (under)

Net State Tax Revenues Allowable State Tax Revenues Allowable State Tax Revenues
2017 $26,044,206,400 $31,095,184,910 ($5,050,978,510)
2016 25,801,807,368 29,477,204,724 (3,675,397,356)
2015 25,239,065,862 28,071,638,151 (2,832,572,289)
2014 23,666,801,084 27,048,676,153 (3,381,875,070)
2013 22,397,185,749 26,074,941,366 (3,677,755,617)
2012 21,384,338,828 25,236,379,381 (3,852,040,553)

SOURCES: State Auditor’s Office.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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COMMONWEALTH EXPENDITURES

This section contains a description of the major categories of Commonwealth expenditures. All percentages
and amounts for fiscal 2017 are preliminary and subject to change. All percentages and amounts for fiscal 2018 are
projected.

Local Aid

Commonwealth Financial Support for Local Governments. The Commonwealth makes substantial
payments to its cities, towns and regional school districts (local aid) to mitigate the impact of local property tax
limits on local programs and services. See “Property Tax Limits’ below. Local aid payments to cities, towns and
regional school districts take the form of both direct and indirect assistance. Direct local aid consists of general
revenue sharing funds and specific program funds sent directly to local governments and regional school districts.
The Commonwealth’s budget for fiscal 2018 provides $6.142 billion of state-funded local aid to municipalities.

A large portion of general revenue sharing funds is earmarked for public education and is distributed
through a formula designed to ensure that each district reaches at least a minimum level of “foundation” spending
per public education pupil. The fiscal 2018 budget includes state funding for so-called “Chapter 70" public
education aid of $4.746 billion. Thislevel of funding brings al school districts to the foundation level, ensures that
all local educational authorities receive an increase of funding of at least $30 per pupil, and is an increase of $118
million over fiscal 2017.

The other major component of direct local aid is unrestricted general governmental aid, which provides
unrestricted funds for municipal use. The fiscal 2018 budget provides for $1.061 hillion in unrestricted general
government aid, which was allocated to provide a 3.9% increase over fiscal 2017 levelsto all municipalities.

Property Tax Limits. In November, 1980, voters in the Commonweal th approved a statewide tax limitation
initiative petition, commonly known as Proposition 2%, to constrain levels of property taxation and to limit the
charges and fees imposed on cities and towns by certain governmental entities, including county governments.
Proposition 2% is not a provision of the state constitution and accordingly is subject to amendment or repea by the
Legidature. Proposition 2Y%, as amended to date, limits the property taxes that may be levied by any city or townin
any fiscal year to the lesser of (i) 2.5% of the full and fair cash valuation of the real estate and personal property
therein or (ii) 2.5% over the previous year’s levy limit plus any growth in the tax base from certain new construction
and parcel subdivisions. The law contains certain voter override provisions and, in addition, permits debt service on
specific bonds and notes and expenditures for identified capital projects to be excluded from the limits by a mgjority
vote at ageneral or specia election. Between fiscal 1981 and fiscal 2017, the aggregate property tax levy grew from
$3.347 hillion to $15.831 hillion, a compound annual growth rate of 4.60%.

M edicaid and the Health Connector

Many of the Commonwealth’s healthcare programs and expenditures are governed by the federal
Affordable Care Act (ACA), to which strong opposition has been expressed by President Trump, the Secretary of
the U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, and legidative leaders in Congress, and which has been the
subject of several, to date unsuccessful, federal legidlative efforts to repeal or substantially amend the same. While it
isnot possible to predict with any certainty whether or when the ACA may be, in whole or in part, repealed,
withdrawn or modified, any such measures could have a material adverse effect on the Commonwealth’s healthcare
programs and expenditures. Accordingly, the following discussion should be read with the understanding that
significant changes could occur in the near future and beyond with respect to many of the programs discussed. See
“FIScAL 2017 AND FiscaL 2018 — Fiscal 2018.”

MassHealth. The Commonwealth’s Medicaid program, called MassHealth, provides health careto
1.9 million low-income children and families, low-income adults, disabled individuals and low-income elders. The
program, administered by the Office of Medicaid within the Executive Office of Health and Human Services,
generally receives 50% in federal reimbursement on most expenditures for adults, and 88% in federal
reimbursement on most expenditures for children’ s benefits reimbursable under the Children’s Health Insurance
Program (CHIP). The federal CHIP funding will expire September 30, 2017 if not reauthorized by Congress. The
Senate Finance Committee has proposed a CHIP reauthorization bill that would extend CHIP for five years and that
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includes an 88% federal reimbursement rate for federal fiscal 2018 and 2019, a 76.5% federal reimbursement rate
for federal fiscal 2020, and a 65% federal reimbursement rate starting in federal fiscal 2021 and thereafter. Under
the ACA, beginning January 1, 2014, MassHealth began receiving enhanced federal reimbursement for spending on
the new adult group (generally, childless adults with incomes under 133% of the federal poverty limit). In calendar
2016, the federal reimbursement rate for this group was 85%, and in calendar 2017, the federal reimbursement rate
is 86%. The reimbursement rate for this group is scheduled to increase each year through 2019, and then to level off
at 90% in 2020 and beyond.

The fiscal 2018 budget as approved in July, 2017 includes $16.2 billion in funding for non-administrative
spending for the MassHealth program. The $16.2 billion includes $15.6 billion in programmatic spending, including
costs related to the settlement of a claim against the Commonwealth. See “LEGAL MATTERS — Programs and
Services; Hutchinson et al. v. Patrick et al.” The $16.2 billion aso includes approximately $639 million to support
supplemental payments to providers. As of September, 2017, estimated non-administrative spending exceeds the
fiscal year 2018 budget by $106 million net. The higher net spending is driven primarily by the delay in legidlative
action on the Governor’s MassHealth reform package submitted to the Legislature in June, 2017, as well as lower
net drug rebate estimates.

Budgeted Operating Funds M edicaid Expendituresand Enrollment (in millions)

Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2014 (1)  Fiscal 2015 (2) Fiscal 2016 Eiscal 2017 Fiscal 2018 (3)
Medicaid program
expenses $10,799.1 $11,900.8 $13,681.9 $14,851.0 $15,251.7 $15,605.2
Medicaid administrative
expenses $84.6 $86.7 $87.3 $93.0 $97.1 $102.3
Total expenditures (4) $10,883.7 $11,987.5 $13,769.2 $14,944.0 $15,348.8 $15,707.5
Annual percentage growth
in total expenditures 3.5% 10.1% 14.9% 8.5% 2.7% 2.3%
Enrollment (in average
member months) (5) 1,403,225 1,592,050 1,907,366 1,863,215 1,892,887 1,892,061
Annual percentage growth
in enrollment 3.5% 13.5% 19.8% (2.3%) 1.6% 0.0%

SOURCE: Fiscal 2013-2016 (excluding Medicaid administrative expense and enrollment), Office of the Comptroller; fiscal 2017-2018 and fiscal
2013-2016 (Medicaid administrative expense and enrollment only), Executive Office of Health and Human Services.

(2) Fiscal 2014 figures include spending and enrollment growth for a half year of ACA implementation; enrollment figures include the temporary

Medicaid coverage population starting January 1, 2014 through the end of the fiscal year.

(2) Fiscal 2015 figures include spending and enrollment coverage for a full year of ACA implementation; enrollment figuresinclude the

temporary Medicaid coverage population through February 23, 2015.

(3) Reflects fiscal 2018 estimated spending as of September, 2017; account restructuring in fiscal 2018 budget shifted spending for the Choices

program ($223 million) from MassHealth to Elder Affairs.

(4) Total expenditures exclude supplemental payments to providers.

(5) Enrollment in prior fiscal years changes due to the effects of redeterminations, retroactive eligibility, application verification, and dligibility

appeals.

Commonwealth Health Insurance Connector Authority. State health care reform legidation enacted in 2006
created the Commonwealth Health I nsurance Connector Authority (Health Connector). The Health Connector is
governed by aboard, of which the Secretary of Health and Human Services is the chairperson and the Secretary of
Administration and Finance is also a member, each ex officio. Most of the funding to support the Health Connector
and its programsiis paid out of the Commonwealth Care Trust Fund (CCTF), which is supported by dedicated
revenue sources. The Health Connector is also responsible for policy development relative to the Affordability
Schedule and Minimum Credible Coverage rules and public education and outreach, including the ACA-required
Navigator program. The Health Connector also administers the M assachusetts risk adjustment program, currently
the only state-based program in the nation.

The Health Connector administers the Commonwealth’ s Health Insurance Marketplace under the ACA. As
the Commonwealth’ s Marketplace, the Health Connector offers qualified health plans (QHPS) to individuals and
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small businesses. |ndividuals with incomes under 400% FPL are eligible for federal tax credits, and certain small
businesses shopping through the Marketplace will have access to small business health care tax credits through
2016. Individuals with incomes between 133% and 300% FPL, as well as certain Aliens with Specia Status
(AWSS) with incomes between 0% and 300% FPL, have access to additional state and federal subsidies through a
program called ConnectorCare. The state provides additional state subsidies via ConnectorCare to ensure that the
premiums and point-of-service cost sharing for certain low-income members, after factoring in federal tax credits
and cost sharing reductions, are similar to what was available through the Commonwealth Care program.

The fiscal 2017 budget for the Health Connector is expected to be fully funded from dedicated revenuesin
the CCTF. Total Health Connector gross spending in fiscal 2017 is projected to be $236.8 million, an increase of
$18.7 million from fiscal 2016 gross spending of $218.1 million. Fiscal 2017 spending for the Health Connector, net
of federal revenue, is projected to be $153.3 million, a decrease of $22.8 million compared to $176.1 millionin
fiscal 2016.

Federal 1115 MassHealth Demonstration Waiver. Section 1115 of the Social Security Act givesthe U.S.
Secretary of Health and Human Services authority to waive provisions of major health and welfare programs,
including certain Medicaid requirements, and to allow a state to use federal Medicaid fundsin ways that are not
otherwise allowed under federal rules. The Commonwealth’s 1115 waiver was renewed on November 4, 2016. The
renewal consisted of an amendment to the current 1115 waiver, which is effective through June 30, 2017, aswell as
afive-year waiver extension. Thiswaiver extension is authorized from July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2022. The
waiver extension is a $52.4 billion agreement that supports a restructuring of the MassHealth program and is
expected to bring in significant federal investment to support health care delivery system reforms. The agreement
also extends eligibility and benefit provisions authorized under the waiver, such as coverage for diversionary
behavioral health benefits and for individuals with HIV. The waiver extension includes more than $29 billion in
revenue to the Commonwealth through federal financial participation. Additionally, the waiver extension expands
services for substance use disorder treatment.

The 1115 waiver extension also preserves and maintains the stability of the Safety Net Care Pool (SNCP)
for the full five years of the waiver period with an $8 billion authorization. This authorization includes a $1.8 hillion
investment of new Delivery System Reform Incentive Program (DSRIP) funding that will support MassHealth’s
payment reform objectives. The SNCP renews authority for the Health Safety Net program, which makes payments
to hospitals and community health centers for providing certain health care servicesto their low-income patients
who are not eligible for health insurance or cannot afford it. Under the new SNCP, supplemental payments for safety
net hospitals have been restructured and linked to delivery system reform participation. The number of hospitals
eligible for these payments increased from seven in the previous waiver to 14 in the waiver extension. In addition,
the SNCP expands authority for federal match to include cost-sharing affordability subsidies and enrollment gap
coverage for Health Connector enrollees up to 300% of the Federal Poverty Level. Lastly, the SNCP establishes
non-state public hospital payments and incentive programs for Cambridge Health Alliance, tied to delivery system
reform performance.

MassHealth also recently submitted a request to amend the 1115 waiver to align coverage for non-disabled
adults with commercial plans and adopt widely-used commercial toolsto obtain lower drug prices and enhanced
rebates. These updates are expected to ensure the sustainability of the MassHealth program while retaining access
for vulnerable populations. MassHealth plans to work toward approval of these requests with CM S over the coming
months.

Health Care Cost Containment. The Center for Health Information and Analysis (CHIA) is an independent
state agency, funded through an industry assessment, to monitor the Massachusetts health care system through data
collection and research and to release reliable information and meaningful analysisto awide variety of audiences.

The Health Policy Commission (HPC) is an independent agency within, but not subject to the control of,
the Executive Office for Administration and Finance. The HPC's mission is to advance a more transparent,
accountable, and innovative health care system through independent policy leadership and investment programs, to
achieve better health and better care at alower cost across the Commonwealth. Beginning in fiscal 2017, the HPC is
funded through an annual assessment on the health care industry, similar to CHIA’ s assessment.
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Asrequired by statute, the health care cost growth benchmark has been equal to PGSP, or 3.6%, for
calendar years 2013 to 2017. Each year, the HPC, in collaboration with CHIA, releases areport on the
Commonwealth’ s performance under the benchmark. The 2016 Cost Trends Report provides that total health care
expenditures in the Commonwealth grew in 2015 by 4.1% (similar to growth in 2014 of 4.2%). Factors contributing
to growth exceeding the benchmark in 2015 included continued growth in prescription drug spending, hospital
spending, enrollment shifts, and spending on long-term services and supports. Pursuant to statute, the benchmark in
calendar year 2018 must be set at PGSP minus a half of a percent, or 3.1%.

The statutory cost growth target from 2018 through 2022 will be equal to the growth rate of PGSP minus
0.5%, and from 2023 on, will be equal to the growth rate of PGSP. However, the HPC and the Legislature have
some ability to change those growth targets after 2018.

Other Health and Human Services

Other Health and Human Services - Budgeted Operating Funds (in millions)

Expenditure Category Fiscal 2013  Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2017 Eiscal 2018 (1)
Office of Health Services

Department of Mental Health $638.1 $663.0 $682.4 $7125 $746.2 $769.8

Department of Public Health 507.8 547.7 518.7 525.2 562.2 601.2

Division of Healthcare and Finance Policy (2) 3.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Sub Total $1,149.6 $1,210.7 $1,201.2 $1,237.7 $1,308.4 $1,371.0
Office of Children, Y outh, and Family Services

Department of Children and Families $748.8 $795.5 $876.4 $920.0 $948.0 $982.5

Department of Transitional Assistance 7233 693.8 660.9 630.2 639.8 625.9

Department of Y outh Services 150.8 160.6 168.3 169.2 1725 178.7

Office for Refugees and Immigrants 04 0.9 11 11 04 0.4
Sub Total $1,623.2 $1,650.8 $1,706.7 $1,7205 $1,760.6 $1,787.4
Office of Disabilities and Community Services

Department of Developmental Services $1,352.2 $1,466.8 $1,678.9 $1,7354 $1,820.6 $1,868.0

Other (3) 1205 1241 129.9 795 75.8 77.1
Sub Total $1,472.6 $1,590.9 $1,808.8 $1,814.9 $1,896.4 $1,945.1
Executive Office of Elder Affairs (4) $248.2 $260.1 $291.7 $312.0 $294.7 $525.8
Executive Office of Health and
Human Services (5) 242.0(3) 254.6 278.1 283.5 282.7 3294
Department of Veterans Services (6) 333 126 144 64.4 65.1 731
Sub Total $523.5 $527.2 $584.2 $659.9 642.5 $928.3
Budgeted Expendituresand Other Uses $4,768.9 $4,979.5 $5,300.8 $5,433.0 $5,607.9 $6,032.7

SOURCES: Fiscal 2013-2016 Office of the State Comptroller; fiscal 2017-2018, Executive Office for Administration and Finance.

(1) Based on the fiscal 2018 budget.

(2) Cost containment legislation enacted in 2012 dissolved the Division and shifted its responsibilitiesto EHS, MassHealth and CHIA.

(3) Includes Massachusetts Rehabilitation Commission, Massachusetts Commission for the Blind, M assachusetts Commission for the Deaf and
Hard of Hearing, and, prior to fiscal 2016, the Chelsea Soldiers Home, and the Holyoke Soldiers' Home.

(4) Account restructuring in fiscal 2018 budget shifted spending for the Choices program from MassHealth to Elder Affairs.

(5) Includes Medicaid program administration.

(6) Thefiscal 2015 budget transferred the Chelsea Soldiers' Home and the Holyoke Soldiers' Home from the Office of Disabilities and
Community Servicesto Veterans' Services. Fiscal 2016 and later years include the Chelsea Soldiers’: Home and the Holyoke Soldiers
Home. Beginning in fiscal 2014, Veterans Services spending does not include veterans' annuities spending, which is captured under local
aid spending.

Office of Health Services. The Office of Health Services encompasses programs and services from the
Department of Public Health and the Department of Mental Health. Their goal isto promote healthy people,
families, communities and environments through coordinated care. The departments work in unison to determine
that individuals and families can live and work in their communities self-sufficiently and safely. The following are a
few examples of programs and services provided by this office: substance abuse programs, immunization services,
early intervention programs, environmental health services, youth violence programs, supportive housing and
residential services for the mentally ill of al ages, and emergency and acute hospital services.

A-25



Office of Children, Youth and Family Services. The Office of Children, Y outh and Family Services works
to provide services to children and their families through a variety of programs and services. The programs and
services are offered through the Department of Children and Families, the Department of Y outh Services, the
Department of Transitional Assistance, and the Office of Refugees and Immigrants. The collaborative goal of this
officeisto work to ensure that individuals, children and families are provided with public assistance needed as well
as access to programs that will allow for them to be safe and self-sufficient.

The Department of Children and Families (DCF) is charged with protecting children from abuse and
neglect. DCF is currently undergoing an agency improvement initiative to implement new programmatic policies,
review agency management structure, and strengthen workforce capacity.

Through the Department of Transitional Assistance (DTA), the Commonwealth funds three major
programs of public assistance for eligible state residents: Transitional Aid to Families with Dependent Children
(TAFDC); Emergency Aid to the Elderly, Disabled and Children (EAEDC); and the State Supplemental Program
(SSP) for individuals enrolled in the federal Supplemental Security Income (SSI) program. In addition, DTA is
responsible for administering the entirely federally funded Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), as
well as other smaller programs that assist DTA clients with completing their education, gaining career skillsand
finding employment.

Disabilities and Community Services. Programs and services provided by the Massachusetts Rehabilitation
Commission, the Massachusetts Commission for the Deaf and Hard of Hearing, the Massachusetts Commission for
the Blind, and the Department of Developmental Services assist some of the most disadvantaged residents of the
Commonwealth. These agencies provide assistance to this population and create public awareness in the citizens of
the Commonwealth, as well as promote inter-agency collaboration which attend to the needs of the community,
disabled and multi-disabled population. This holistic approach is designed to ensure that those of all ages with
disabilities are able to lead functionally equivalent lives despite limitations that they may face.

Executive Office of Elder Affairs. The Executive Office of Elder Affairs provides a variety of servicesand
programs to eligible seniors and their families. The office administers supportive and congregate housing programs,
regulates assisted living residences, and provides home care and caregiver support services and nutrition programs.
Eligibility for servicesis based largely on age, income, and disability status. The Executive Office of Elder Affairs
also administers a state-supported prescription drug program for seniors.

Department of Veterans' Services. The Department of Veterans' Services provides avariety of services,
programs and benefits to eligible veterans and their families. The Department of Veterans' Services provides
outreach services to help eligible veterans enroll in a variety of programs, administers supportive housing and
homeless services, and provides approximately 26,000 veterans, veterans spouses and parents with annuity and
benefit payments. The Department also oversees the Chelsea Soldiers Home and the Holyoke Soldiers' Home,
state-owned facilities providing long-term health care and domiciliary servicesto veterans.

Education

Executive Office of Education. The Executive Office of Education encompasses the Department of Early
Education and Care, the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (previously the Department of
Education), the Department of Higher Education (previously the Board of Higher Education) and the University of
Massachusetts system. The office is committed to advancing actions and initiatives that will improve achievement
for all students, close persistent achievement gaps, and to create a 21% century public education system that prepares
students for higher education, work and life in aworld economy and global society.

Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. The Department of Elementary and Secondary
Education serves the student population from kindergarten through 12" grade by providing support for students,
educators, schools and districts and by providing state |eadership. The Department of Elementary and Secondary
Education is governed by the Executive Office of Education and by the Board of Education, which includes 11
members. There are 322 school districtsin the Commonwealth, serving over 940,000 students.

Department of Higher Education. The Commonwealth’s system of higher education includes the five-
campus University of Massachusetts, nine state universities and 15 community colleges. The higher education
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systemis coordinated by the Department of Higher Education, which is governed by the Board of Higher Education.
Each institution of higher education is governed by a separate board of trustees; the University of Massachusetts has
one board that governsits five campuses. The Board of Higher Education nominates, and the Secretary of Education
appoints, a Commissioner of Higher Education, who is responsible for carrying out the policies established by the
board at the Department of Higher Education.

The operating revenues of each ingtitution consist primarily of state appropriations and of student fees that
are set by the board of trustees of each ingtitution. Tuition levels are set by the Board of Higher Education for the
state universities and community colleges, while the University of Massachusetts board of trustees sets tuition levels
for its campuses. The Massachusetts College of Art and Design, the Massachusetts Maritime Academy, and the
University of Massachusetts (“UMass’) have authority to retain tuition from all students. The other institutions have
authority to retain tuition received from out-of-state students and tuitions from self-supporting programs, such as
colleges of continuing education and evening schools. Otherwise, tuition revenue is required to be remitted to the
State Treasurer by each institution.

The board of trustees of each institution submits annually audited financial statements to the Comptroller
and the Board of Higher Education. The Department of Higher Education prepares annual operating budget requests
on behalf of all ingtitutions, which are submitted to the Executive Office of Education and subsequently to the
Executive Office for Administration and Finance and to the House and Senate Committees on Ways and Means. The
Legislature appropriates funds for the higher education system in the Commonwealth’ s annual operating budget in
various line items for each institution.

Department of Early Education and Care. The Department of Early Education and Care provides support
to children and families seeking a foundational education. Additionally, the Department strives to educate current
and prospective early education and care providersin avariety of instructive aspects. Included within the
Department’ s programs and services are supportive child care, TANF-related child care, low-income child care,
Head Start grants, universal pre-kindergarten, quality enhancement programs, professional development programs,
mental health programs, healthy families programs, and family support and engagement programs. Two of these
programs, the supportive and TANF-related child care, help children receiving or referred services by the
Department of Children and Families or the Department of Transitional Assistance.

Public Safety

Twelve state agencies fall under the umbrella of the Executive Office of Public Safety and Security. The
largest is the Department of Correction, which operates 18 correctional facilities and centers across the
Commonwealth. Other public safety agenciesinclude the State Police, the Parole Board, the Department of Fire
Services, the Military Division, the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner, and six other public safety related
agencies.

Energy and Environmental Affairs

The Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairsisresponsible for policy development,
environmental law enforcements services, and oversight of agencies and programs. Six state agencies and numerous
boards fall under the umbrella of the Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs. The largest isthe
Department of Conservation and Recreation, which operates public parkland, recreational facilities, watersheds and
forests across the Commonweal th. Other environmental agencies include the Department of Agricultural Resources,
responsible for the state’s agricultural and food safety programs, the Department of Environmental Protection,
responsible for clean air, water, recycling and environmental remediation programs, and the Department of Fish and
Game, responsible for the management and protection of endangered species, fisheries and habitat. Additional
agencies include the Department of Public Utilities, responsible for oversight of electric, gas, water and
transportation utilities and the Department of Energy Resources, responsible for energy planning, management and
oversight.

Debt Service

Debt service expenditures relate to general obligation bonds and notes, special obligation bonds and federal
grant anticipation notes issued by the Commonwealth. See “LONG-TERM LIABILITIES.”
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Employee Benefits

Group Insurance. The Group Insurance Commission (GIC) provides health insurance benefits to more than
430,000 people, including state and participating municipalities employees, retirees, their spouses, and dependents,
and certain retired municipal teachers, their spouses and dependents. State employee contributions are currently
based on date of hire; employees hired on or before June 30, 2003 contribute 20% of total premium costs, and
employees hired after June 30, 2003 contribute 25% of premium costs. Similarly, state retirees contribute either
10%, 15% or 20%, depending on their retirement date. The GIC also provides health insurance benefits for the
employees and retirees of participating municipalities; the municipalities reimburse the state for their enrollees
premium costs. The contribution ratio(s) for municipal enrolleesis set through a collective bargaining process within
each community. As of July 1, 2017, the GIC provides health insurance to employees and retirees of 56 municipal
entities: 11 cities, 34 towns, eight regional school districts, two regional districts and one educational collaborative.

Fiscal 2018 GIC appropriations total $1.750 billion, approximately $610 million of which are offset by
municipal revenue and $210 million of which are offset by non-state agency revenue to reimburse the state for
providing health insurance benefits to the participating governmental units, including municipalities. In addition, the
fiscal 2018 budget authorizes transfers of up to $432 million to the State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund for the purpose
of making expenditures for current state retirees and their dependents.

In keeping with the GIC’'s commitment to cost containment, the GIC approved a package of benefit
changes effective in fiscal 2018 that is designed to encourage greater use of primary care physiciansin lower-cost
provider systems and to lower the utilization of higher-cost services (the highest-cost hospitals, physician groups
and prescription drugs). The average fiscal 2018 premium rates for GIC state and municipal members are projected
to increase by 3.7% over fiscal 2017.

Pensions. The Commonwealth is responsible for the payment of pension benefits for Commonwealth
employees and for teachers of the cities, towns and regional school districts throughout the state. See “PENSION AND
OPEB FUNDING.”

Other Post-Employment Benefit Obligations (OPEB). The Commonwealth is required under state law to
provide certain health care and life insurance benefits for retired employees of the Commonwealth and certain other
governmental agencies. See “ PENSION AND OPEB FUNDING — Other Post-Employment Benefit Obligations
(OPEB).”

The fiscal 2018 budget is consistent with Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement
No. 45 and the state’ s intent to account separately for spending for current retirees with deposits towards the
Commonwealth’ s non-pension retiree liability.

Other Program Expenditures

The remaining expenditures on other programs and services for state government include constitutional
officers, the judiciary and district attorneys, sheriffs, the Executive Office for Administration and Finance, the
Executive Office for Housing and Economic Development, the Executive Office of Labor and Workforce
Development, the Executive Office of Technology Services and Security, and various other programs.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The table below in this section presents combined revenues and expenditures in the budgeted operating
funds. The measurement of revenues for the budgeted operating funds is on a statutory basis and differs from
governmental revenues on a GAAP basis. See “ Statutory Basis Distribution of Budgetary Revenues and
Expenditures’ and “GAAP Basis’ below.

Statutory Basis Distribution of Budgetary Revenues and Expenditures

The revenues and expenditures of the budgeted operating funds presented in the following table are derived
from the Commonwealth’ s statutory basis financial statements for fiscal 2013 through 2016. Estimates for fiscal
2017 and projections for fiscal 2018 have been prepared by the Executive Office for Administration and Finance.

The following table sets forth the Commonwealth’ s budgeted operating funds revenues and expenditures
for fiscal 2013 through fiscal 2016, estimated revenues and expenditures for fiscal 2017, and projected revenues and
expenditures for fiscal 2018. Figures for fiscal 2017 are preliminary and subject to change. Projected revenues and
expenditures for fiscal 2018 are based on the fiscal 2018 budget and on (i) the Executive Office’' s most recent
estimate of tax revenue (as officially issued) and non-tax revenue, (ii) enacted appropriations adjusted for projected
reversions, and (iii) other spending the Executive Office reasonably projects. See “FISCAL 2017 AND FISCAL 2018.”

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Beginning Fund Balances
Reserved or Designated
Stabilization Fund
Undesignated

Total

Revenues and Other Sources
Alcoholic Beverages
Banks

Cigarettes
Corporations

Deeds

Income

Inheritance and Estate
Insurance

Moator Fuel

Public Utilities (3)
Room Occupancy

Sdles:
Regular
Meals
Mator Vehicles

Sub-Total-Sales

Miscellaneous
Settlements and Judgments (4)
Total Tax Revenues (5)

MBTA Transfer (6)

MSBA Transfer

Workforce Training Fund
Transfer (7)

Total Budgeted Operating
Tax Revenues

Federal Reimbursements
Departmental and Other
Revenues

Inter-fund Transfers from
Non-budgeted Funds and
other sources (8)

Budgeted Revenues and
Other Sources

Inter-fund Transfers
Total Budgeted Revenues
and Other Sources

Expenditures and Uses
Direct Loca Aid
Medicaid

Other Health and Human
Services

Group Insurance
Department of Elementary and
Secondary Education
Higher Education
Department of Early
Education and Care

Public Safety

Energy and Environmental
Affairs

Debt Service

Budgeted Operating Funds — Statutory Basis (in millions) (1)

Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2014 (2)  Fiscal 2015  Fiscal 2016  Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2018
$170.4 $297.1 $190.0 $226.0 $126.0 $108.6
1,652.1 1,556.7 1,248.4 1,252.4 1,2915 1,300.7

167.2 20.6 12.1 92.3 64.5 318
$1,089.7 $1,874.4 $1.450.5 $1.570.7 $1.482.0 $1.441.0
763 7838 80.8 834 845 86.2

78.0 1358 51.9 235 (0.1) 0.2
4401 520.7 510.3 505.6 4903 487.2
1,821.9 2,049.1 21721 23120 21387 2,107.0
188.9 223.1 2383 2819 297.2 3085
12,830.9 13,201.6 14,448.7 14,393.7 14,683.7 15,316.1
3134 4015 340.9 399.4 336.6 3321
426.0 368.1 391.4 4296 4219 4316
651.6 7322 756.1 766.6 769.4 766.8
(11.5) 98 34 (1.6) (0.1) -
129.2 1383 150.7 162.2 156.7 164.1
3,595.9 3,810.6 3,986.6 4,156.9 42522 44467
901.2 9489 998.8 1,063.8 1,106.4 11811
666.9 736.4 789.1 833.9 8525 844.4
5,163.9 54959 57744 6,054.6 6,211.1 6,472.3
14.2 15.1 1238 136 137 319

- - - - 58.0 100.0
$221230  $23.370.0 $24.932.2 $254245  $25.661.7 $26,604.0
(786.9) (799.3) (970.6) (986.2) (992.2) (1,006.8)
(682.0) (7275) (764.1) (798.5) (816.8) (846.6)
(22.2) (21.2) (236) (22.8) (24.4) (24.5)
$20631.9  $21,.822.0 $23,173.8 $236169  $23,828.3 $24,726.2
8,228.4 8,372.1 9,480.4 10,642.7 10,827.6 11,142.8
3,3705 37124 3,852.8 42572 4,119.0 4,416.4
15481 1,555.2 17295 1,848.7 23846 21193
$337789  $35461.7 $38.236.5 $403655  $41,150.6 42,4047
1.456.6 1.757.0 7354 472.9 5105 633.2
$352355  $37.218.7 $38.971.9 $408384  $41.670.1 $43,037.9
5,115.7 52925 5,420.4 5,567.7 5,750.2 59147
10,799.7 11,900.8 13,655.2 14,851.0 15,251.7 15,605.2
4,768.9 49795 5,300.8 5,433.0 5,607.9 6,032.7
12785 1,402.9 1,665.1 1,629.7 1,662.5 17496
489.2 515.3 514.9 539.3 604.5 605.9
990.8 1,001.5 1,161.6 1,194.3 1,164.9 1,168.9
4834 500.6 537.7 547.6 539.9 587.8
960.0 1,010.4 1,040.7 1,065.6 1,068.6 1111.1
2018 215.0 225.0 2214 2241 2363
2,117.2 2,122.0 2,190.4 21743  23349(9) 24147
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Fiscal 2013  Fiscal 2014 (2) Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2018

Post -Employment Benefits
(20) 1,967.0 2,050.4 2,2134 25034 2,663.5 2,852.4
Other Program Expenditures 3,006.7 3,293.7 31131 3,240.7 3,092.8 3,087.3
Total - Programs and
Servicesbeforetransfersto
Non-budgeted funds $32,178.7 $34,383.6 $37,038.3 $38,968.0 $39,965.7 41,366.6
Inter-fund Transfers to Non-
budgeted Funds
Commonwealth Care Trust
Fund (11) 661.2 390.1 - - - -
Medical Assistance Trust
Fund 390.9 395.0 71.0 665.6 403.4 452.4
M assachusetts Transportation
Trust Fund 161.7 270.1 588.6 566.8 392.9 321.2
Other 501.8 446.7 418.4 253.8 438.7 408.7
Total Inter-Fund Transfers
to Non-Budgeted Funds $1,715.6 $1,501.9 $1,078.0 $1,486.2 $1,234.9 1,182.3
Budgeted Expendituresand
Other Uses $33,894.3 $35,885.5 $38,116.3 $40,454.2 $41,200.6 42,548.9
Inter-fund Transfers 1,456.6 1,757.0 735.4 4729 5105 633.2
Total Budgeted
Expendituresand Other
Uses $35,350.9 $37,642.5 $38,851.7 $40,927.1 $41,711.1 43,182.0
Excess (Deficiency) of
Revenues and Other Sour ces
Over Expendituresand
Other Uses ($115.4) ($423.8) $120.2 ($88.7) ($41.0) ($144.1)
Ending Fund Balances
Reserved or Designated (12) 297.1 190.0 226.0 126.0 108.6 30.8
Stabilization Fund 1,556.7 1,248.4 1,252.4 1,291.5 1,300.7 1,379.9
Undesignated (13) 206 121 923 64.5 318 (1138)

Total $1.874.4 $1,450.5 $1,570.7 $1.482.0 $1,441.0 $1,296.9

SOURCES: Fiscal 2013-2016, Office of the Comptroller; fiscal 2017-2018, Executive Office for Administration and Finance.
(1) Totals may not add due to rounding.
(2) Somefiscal 2014 amounts were reclassified to conform to the fiscal 2015 presentation in the Statutory Basis Financial Report.
(3) Prior to January 1, 2014, public utility corporations were subject to an excise tax of 6.5% on net income. Legislation enacted in 2013
repealed the separate excise tax for utility corporations, which are now subject to the corporate excise imposed on business corporations.
(4) For fiscal 2013 through 2016, tax and non-tax revenue from judgments and settlements in excess of $10 million isincluded in specific tax
and non-tax revenue categories. See * COMMONWEALTH REVENUES— Federal and Other Non-Tax Revenues; Settlements and Judgments.”
(5) Thetotal tax revenues for fiscal 2018 reflect the level projected in the fiscal 2018 budget, and the Executive Office for Administration and
Finance current estimate of tax-related settlements and judgments. See “FISCAL 2017 AND FISCAL 2018.”
(6) Beginning in fiscal 2015, the annual amount of sales tax receipts statutorily credited to the MBTA was increased by $160 million. See
“COMMONWEALTH REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES — State Taxes — Sales and Use Tax.”
(7) Thefiscal 2012 budget adopted changes to the Workforce Training Fund, which is funded annually through employer contributions for
workforce training initiatives for incumbent workers in the private sector. Beginning in fiscal 2012 the Workforce Training Fund is not

®
©)
(10)

(11

(12)

subject to annual appropriation, and the employer contributions are deposited directly in the Workforce Training Fund after their collection.
Inter-fund Transfers from Non-budgeted Funds and Other Sources include profits from the State Lottery, abandoned property proceeds and
other inter-fund transfers.

Fiscal 2016 budgeted Debt Service excluded $113 million in payments made from a non-budgeted fund that was made from budgeted funds
in other years.

Fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2017 Post-Employment Benefitsinclude all budgeted pension transfers and transfers to the State Retiree Benefit
Trust Fund (SRBTF). Fiscal 2013 through 2015 Post-Employment Benefitsinclude all budgeted pension transfers and transfers to the
SRBTF, excluding transfers to the SRBTF equivalent to a specified percentage of tobacco settlement payments of approximately

$25 million in fiscal 2013, $56 million in fiscal 2014, $73 million in fiscal 2015 and $77 million in fiscal 2016. Post-Employment Benefits
includes a transfer to the SRBTF equivalent to 10% of tobacco settlement revenue (approximately $25 million) paid out of debt service
reversions. See “PENSION AND OPEB FUNDING — Other Post-Employment Benefit Obligations (OPEB).”

The fiscal 2016 and later budgets do not include appropriations of funding for the Health Connector because they assume that increased
dedicated revenues in the CCTF, federal grants and self-generated revenues will be able to cover the full program and administrative costs.
Consists largely of appropriations authorized to be expended in the following year.
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(13) The Executive Office for Administration and Finance will continue to monitor revenues and spending and implement measures as necessary
to ensure that the Commonwealth’s budget for fiscal 2018 will achieve statutory balance.

Stabilization Fund

The Stabilization Fund is established by state finance law as areserve of surplus revenues to be used for the
purposes of covering revenue shortfalls, covering state or local losses of federal funds or for any event which
threatens the health, safety or welfare of the people or the fiscal stability of the Commonwealth or any of its political
subdivisions. The fund is sometimes referred to as the state’s “rainy day fund,” serving as a source of financial
support for the state budget in times of slow or declining revenue growth and as the primary source of protection
against having to make drastic cuts in state services in periods of economic downturns.

Required Deposits and Allowable Sabilization Fund Balance. From fiscal 2005 through fiscal 2013, state
finance law provided that (i) 0.5% of current year net tax revenues from each fiscal year be deposited into the
Stabilization Fund at fiscal year-end, (i) 0.5% of current-year net tax revenues be made available for the next fiscal
year and (iii) any remaining amount of the year-end surplus be transferred to the Stabilization Fund. Since fiscal
2014, state finance law has required that the entire year-end surplus be transferred to the Stabilization Fund. Since
fiscal 2011, state finance law has required that tax revenue from capital gains exceeding $1 billion in afiscal year
(adjusted annually, beginning in fiscal 2014, for U. S. gross domestic product growth) be deposited into the
Stabilization Fund, with 5% of such amount to be transferred to the State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund and, beginning
in fiscal 2013, with an additional 5% of such amount to be transferred to the Commonwealth’s Pension Liability
Fund. However, all of these requirements may be modified or superseded by individual appropriation acts.
Legidative enactmentsin 2015 retained all fiscal 2015 and fiscal 2016 capital gains tax revenuesin the General
Fund. The fiscal 2017 budget required the Comptroller to transfer all capital gainstax collectionsthat are above
$1.278 billion to the Stabilization Fund in fiscal 2017; however, capital gainstax collections for fiscal 2017 did not
exceed this amount.

State finance law requires the Comptroller to transfer 75% of the growth in unclaimed property revenue
relative to the prior year to the Stabilization Fund; however, in fiscal 2017, there was no growth in such revenue and
therefore no transfer was made to the Stabilization Fund.

The fiscal 2015 budget included a provision modifying the law with respect to settlements and judgments
such that settlements and judgments in excess of $10 million would be deposited in the Stabilization Fund only to
the extent that the total of all such settlements and judgments exceeded the average of such total for the five
preceding fiscal years. See “COMMONWEALTH REVENUES— Federal and Other Non-Tax Revenues - Settlements and
Judgments.”

The allowable Stabilization Fund balance at fiscal year-end is 15% of total revenues for that year. If the
Stabilization Fund balance exceeds the allowable limit, the excess amounts are to be transferred to the Tax
Reduction Fund.

The following chart shows the Stabilization Fund balance from fiscal 1986 through fiscal 2016 (actual) and
fiscal 2017 (preliminary and subject to change).

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Stabilization Fund Balance Fiscal Year End
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The following table shows the sources and uses of the Stabilization Fund during fiscal 2012 through

fiscal 2016:

Stabilization Fund Sour ces and Uses (in thousands)

Beginning fund balances
Revenues and Other Sources

Deposit of the remaining consolidated net surplus

Deposits made directly during fiscal year

Capital gainstax transfersin excess of $1 hillion

Deposits due to judgments and settlementsin excess of $10
million

Lottery transfer taxes

Investment income

Excess permissible tax revenue

Total Revenues and Other Sour ces

Total Expenditures and Other Uses

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenuesand Other Sources
Over Expendituresand Other Uses

Ending fund balances
Allowable Stabilization Fund Balance

SOURCE: Office of the Comptroller.

(1) Represents repayment of Massachusetts Gaming Commission start-up funds.

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
$1,379,071 $1,652,118 $1,556,657 $1,248,435 $1,252,429

116,673 123,507 -

20,000 (1) 27,100 (2)

467,500 45,457 - R

375,021 32,498 414,310 - -

1,353 1,291 867 647 744

10,408 5,322 7,259 4,646 11,241

503,455 506,611 467,893 148,800 39,085

230,408 602,072 776,115 144,806 -

273,047 (95,461) (308,222) 3,994 39,085
$1,652,118 $1556,657 $1,248435 $1252429 $1,291,514
$4,881,982 $5,066,844  $5320973 $5,735471 $6,047,764

(2) Represents transfer equal to 75% of the growth in abandoned property receipts from the prior fiscal year.

GAAP Basis

The Commonwealth’s GAAP financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2016, attached as Exhibit C,

are prepared in accordance with reporting standards first established by GASB Statements 34 and 35, as amended.
See “COMMONWEALTH BUDGET AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT CONTROLS - Fiscal Control, Accounting and

Reporting Practices of the Comptroller.” The GAAP financial statements present a government-wide perspective,
including debt, capital assets and accrual activity on a comprehensive statement of net position. All capital assets,

including road and bridge infrastructure and all long-term liabilities, including outstanding debt and commitments of
long-term assistance to municipalities and authorities, are part of the statements. The Commonwealth’s statement of

revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances are presented as a statement of activities.

The table below presents the transition from the Commonwealth’ s statutory basis budgetary fund balance to

the “fund perspective” balance, as depicted in the fund financial statements, and then to the Commonwealth’s
“government-wide” financial position. Differences between statutory and GAAP basis can be summarized in five

major adjustments. Those adjustments are for Medicaid (as well as the somewhat related liability for uncompensated
care), taxes, projected amounts due to the Commonwealth in the next fiscal year under the master tobacco settlement

agreement, claims and judgments, and amounts due to authorities. As evidenced in the trend line of fund balance
(deficit) over time, however, these adjustments connect the GAAP basis measurement when viewed using afund

perspective under GAAP and the statutory basis measurement. While the difference in fund balances may vary in a

given fiscal year, both balances generally trend in the same direction. To convert to afull accrual basis, mgjor
adjustments are made for the net book value of the Commonwealth’s capital assets, inclusive of infrastructure, the
realizable value of long-term deferred revenues (largely from tax payment plans) and the amount of the
Commonwealth’ s outstanding long-term debt and other liabilities.
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Governmental Funds-Statutory to GAAP-Fund Per spective and to Gover nmental Net Position
(Amountsin Millions of Dollars)

Governmental Funds-Statutory Basis,
June 30, 2016

Budgeted Fund Balance $1,482.0
Non-budgeted special revenue fund balance 2,066.9
Capital Projects Fund Balance (334.7)
Governmental Fund Balance-Statutory Basis, June 30, 2016 $3,214.2
Plus: Expendable Trust and similar fund statutory balances that are considered

governmental funds for GAAP reporting purposes 638.3
Less: Massachusetts Department of Transportation Funds (1,275.7)
Adjusted Statutory Gover nmental Fund Balance $2,576.8
Short term accruals, net of allowances and deferrals for increases/(decreases):

Taxes, net of refunds and abatements 19125
Tobacco settlement agreement receivable 126.0
Medicaid (601.7)
Assessments and other receivables 2730
Amounts due to authorities and municipalities, net (580.7)
Claims, judgments and other risks (11.4)
Amounts due to healthcare providers and insurers (60.4)
Workers' compensation and group insurance (147.6)
Compensated absences (11.1)
Other accruals, net 283.6
Net increase to gover nmental funds balances $1,182.2
M assachusetts School Building Authority fund balance 1514.3
Total changes to gover nmental funds $2,696.5
Governmental fund balance (fund perspective) 52733
Plus: Capital assetsincluding infrastructure, net of accumulated depreciation 4,743.7
Deferred revenue, net of other eliminations 503.4
Long term accruals:

Net pension liability (32,855.7)
Net deferred (inflows)/outflows related to pensions 6,025.4
Post-employment benefits other than pensions cumulative over/(under) funding (6,466.0)
Environmental remediation liability (530.8)
M assachusetts School Building Authority debt and school construction payables (7,498.3)
Long term debt, unamortized premiums and deferred losses on debt refundings (26,445.8)
Compensated Absences (592.4)
Capital leases (41.3)
Accrued interest on bonds (350.7)
Other long term liabilities 404.7
Total governmental net position/(deficit) (gover nment-wide per spective) ($58,639.9)

SOURCE: Office of the Comptroller

The deficit of $58.640 billion in government-wide net position can be largely attributed to two factors: firgt,
the Commonwealth’s net (or unfunded) pension liability, which, starting in fiscal 2015, has been placed on the
Commonwealth’ s books in accordance with GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Pensions. This Statement required, among other things, the Commonwealth to include the long-term net pension
liability on the Government-wide Statement of Net Position. As of June 30, 2016 the Commonwealth reported a net
pension liability of approximately $32.856 billion. Also contributing to the deficit was the Commonwealth’s policy
decision to finance the construction of assets owned by other governmental entities, particularly Commonwealth
roads and bridges, which as a result of transportation reform completed during fiscal 2010 shifted these assets from
the books of the Commonwealth to the Massachusetts Department of Transportation (MassDOT), a component unit
of the Commonwealth. At the end of fiscal 2016, MassDOT held $33.890 billion in road, bridge and other
transportation-related assets (excluding assets of the MBTA), net of related depreciation, the vast mgjority of which
were formerly held by the Commonwealth. Those assets were financed by the Commonwealth, and the debt remains
along-term obligation of the Commonwealth. In addition, the Commonwealth has a net liability of $5.891 hillionin
debt and grant obligations for the school building assistance program that finances construction of schools for the
Commonwealth’s cities and towns.
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Changein Statement of Net Position

(amountsin thousands of dollars)

Governmental Business Type Government
Activities Activities Wide

Total net
position:
Fiscal 2015 ($54,853,441) $5,292,285 ($49,561,156)
Fiscal 2016 (58,639,945) 5,736,165 (52,903,780)
Changein net
position ($3,786,504) $443,880 ($3,342,624)

SOURCE: Office of the Comptroller

During the fiscal year, approximately $1.478 billion in restricted net position was set aside for
unemployment benefits and an additional approximate $1.217 billion was restricted for debt retirement.

Revenues — GAAP Basis. The measurement of revenues for the budgeted operating funds from a statutory
basis differs from governmental revenues on a GAAP basisin that certain funds that are not governmental for
statutory purposes are included on a GAAP basis, including revenue accruals for Medicaid and taxes, which are
included on a GAAP basis but not on a statutory basis. In addition, internal transfers are eliminated under GAAP on
a government-wide perspective. The following table shows the distribution of major sources of revenuein fisca
2016:

Comparison of Fiscal 2016 Gover nmental Revenues (in millions)

Governmental Funds GAAP Basis— Governmental

Government-wide

Statutory Basis Fund Perspective Perspective
Taxes $25,800 $25,746 $25,676
Federal Revenue 13,891 15,233 15,244
Departmental and
Miscellaneous Revenue 20,771 26,771 11,469
Total $60,462 $67,750 $52,389

SOURCE: Office of the Comptroller

The following table provides financial results on a GAAP basis for al governmental funds of the
Commonwealth for fiscal 2012 through fiscal 2016.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Governmental Fund Operations— GAAP Basis— Fund Per spective (in millions)

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2016
Beginning fund balances $5,267.6 $6,318.9 $4,869.9 $4,6194 $5,305.2
Revenues and Financing Sources 54,370.1 55,289.9 57,210.0 60,658.6 67,749.6
Expenditures and Financing Uses 53,318.8 56,738.9 57,460.5 59,972.8 67,781.5
Excess/(deficit) 1,051.3 (1,449.0) (250.5) 685.8 (31.9)
Ending fund balances—GAAP fund
per spective $6,318.9 $4.869.9 $4.619.4 $5.305.2 $5,273.3

SOURCE: Office of the Comptroller.

Financial Reports. The Commonwealth issues annual reports, including financial statements on the
statutory basis of accounting (reviewed not audited) and the GAAP basis audited financia statements. These
financial statements are issued as two separate reports, the Statutory Basis Financial Report (SBFR) and the
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). The SBFR is usually published by the Comptroller by October 31
and the CAFR isusually published by the Comptroller by the second Wednesday in January. The SBFR for the year
ended June 30, 2016 and the CAFR for the year ended June 30, 2016 are attached hereto as Exhibits B and C,
respectively. Copies of these financial reports are also available at the address provided under “CONTINUING
DiscLosURE.” The SBFR for fiscal 1997 through fiscal 2016 and the CAFR for fiscal 1995 through fiscal 2016 are
also available on the web site of the Comptroller of the Commonwealth located at http://www.mass.gov/comptroller
by clicking on “Financial Reporting” on the Comptroller’s homepage.

The Comptroller retains an independent certified public accounting firm to audit the Commonwealth’s
financial statements and issue certain other reports required by the single audit. As part of the single audit, the
independent auditors render areport on all programs involving federal funding for compliance with federal and state
laws and regulations and assess the adequacy of internal control systems. For fiscal 1990 through 2016 the
independent auditors’ opinions were unqualified.

For each year beginning in fiscal 1990, the Commonwealth CAFRs, from which certain information
contained in this Information Statement has been derived, have been awarded the Certificate of Achievement for
Excellence in Financial Reporting by the Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada
(GFOA). The Certificate of Achievement isthe highest form of recognition for excellence in state and local
government financial reporting. Fiscal 2016 marked the 27th consecutive year that the Commonwealth has received
this award.

Discussion of Financial Condition

Asthe annual operating budget of the Commonwealth is adopted in accordance with the statutory basis of
accounting, public and governmental discourse on the financial affairs of the Commonwealth has traditionally
followed the statutory basis. Consequently, the financial information set forth in this document follows the statutory
basis, except where otherwise noted. Since fiscal 1990, the Commonwealth has prepared separate financial reports
on the statutory basis (reviewed) and on a GAAP basis (audited). See “ COMMONWEALTH BUDGET AND FINANCIAL
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS— Fiscal Control, Accounting and Reporting Practices of the Comptroller; Financial
Reports.” Without limiting the generality of the references to the SBFR for the year ended June 30, 2016 and the
CAFR for the year ended June 30, 2016, attention is called in particular to the portion of the CAFR under the
heading “Management’ s Discussion and Analysis.”
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Auditors Report on Fiscal 2016 CAFR

The basic financial statementsincluded in the CAFR of the Commonwealth for the year ended June 30,
2016 were audited by KPMG LLP (KPMG). The KPM G audit report dated January 6, 2017 on the general purpose
financial statementsincluded in the CAFR for the year ended June 30, 2016 contained an unqualified opinion. A
copy of the audit report of KPMG dated January 6, 2017 has been filed with EMMA and is included within Exhibit
C to this Information Statement. KPM G has not been engaged to perform, and has not performed, since the
respective dates of its reportsincluded herein, any procedures on the financial statements addressed in such reports,
nor has said independent auditor performed any procedures relating to any official statement of which this
Information Statement may be a part.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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FISCAL 2017 AND FISCAL 2018

Fiscal 2017

On January 14, 2016, afiscal 2017 consensus tax revenue estimate of $26.860 billion was agreed upon by
the Secretary of Administration and Finance and the chairs of the House and Senate Committees on Ways and
Means. After accounting for statutorily required transfers for pensions, and to the MBTA, the MSBA, and the
Workforce Training Fund, the Secretary and Committee chairs agreed that $22.772 billion would be the maximum
amount of tax revenue available for the fiscal 2017 budget. However, at the time it was enacted on June 30, 2016,
the fiscal 2017 budget was based on alower tax revenue estimate of approximately $26.231 billion (excluding large
settlements), resulting in approximately $22.299 billion as the maximum amount of tax revenue available for the
budget, after accounting for transfers and other adjustments. See “ COMMONWEALTH REVENUES — Fiscal 2017 and
Fiscal 2018 Tax Revenues; Fiscal 2017."

An interim budget of approximately $5.3 billion for the first month of fiscal 2017 was enacted by the
Legidature on June 23, 2016 and approved by the Governor on June 27, 2016. The interim budget was immediately
superseded by the fiscal 2017 budget when it was approved by the Governor on July 8, 2016. Total authorized line
item spending in the fiscal 2017 budget, as approved by the Governor, amounted to approximately $38.92 billion,
after accounting for $264 million in line item vetoes. Excluding spending from beginning balances and certain
transfersin both years, the fiscal 2017 budget as approved by the Governor was approximately $489 million, or
1.3%, greater than fiscal 2016 estimated spending levels at the time of its approval. An increasein the pension
transfer in fiscal 2017 represented an additional $226 million in increased spending over fiscal 2016 levels. The
Legislature passed overrides to the Governor’ s vetoes with an aggregate net budgetary impact of $219 million.

On October 14, 2016, the Secretary of Administration and Finance revised the tax revenue projection for
fiscal 2017 downward by $175 million to $26.056 billion (excluding large settlements), to reflect slower-than-
expected growth in sales tax collectionsin fiscal 2017. Also on October 14, 2016, the Secretary of Administration
and Finance reported to the Governor a budget shortfall of $294 million related to the revised tax revenue projection
and certain specific projected deficiencies. On October 17, 2016, the Secretary of Administration and Finance
announced the Voluntary Separation Incentive Program to reduce payroll spending in the Executive Branch through
the voluntary retirement or termination of employees, encouraged by cash incentive payments.

On October 27, 2016, the Secretary of Administration and Finance reported to the House and Senate
Committees on Ways and Means that she had identified solutions to close the announced $294 million budget
shortfall. These solutions included transferring unneeded trust balances and other budget closing measures,
anticipated increases in non-tax revenue, decreased transfers to the MBTA and the MSBA due to the lower sales tax
projection, and payroll savings. The Secretary also communicated that the Executive Office for Administration and
Finance was tracking additional deficiencies. See “COMMONWEALTH EXPENDITURES — Medicaid and the Health
Connector.”

On December 6, 2016, the Secretary of Administration and Finance identified non-tax revenue and
spending deficiencies of $98 million net of revenues, and the Governor reduced spending allotments pursuant to his
Section 9C authority by $95 million. Approximately $88 million of the deficiency reflected projected non-
discretionary spending obligations, including program-wide MassHealth costs, after accounting for available
spending and revenue initiatives, costs for the operations of four sheriffs' offices, the impact of certain collective
bargaining obligations, Department of Correction and Department of Mental Health costs, and costs anticipated to
be required under Chapter 257 of the Acts of 2008, a state law that established a multi-year timeline for
implementing a new human service provider rate setting process. Approximately $10 million of the shortfall was
attributable to alower projection of expected pharmacy-related revenues within the MassHealth program.

On March 28, 2017, the Governor approved a supplemental budget for fiscal 2017 including $144 million
in supplemental appropriations. The bill consists of routine midyear appropriations for identified deficiencies,
including representation for indigent defendants ($31 million), sheriffs offices' deficiencies ($28 million),
emergency assistance and shelter diversion costs ($21 million), and Department of Correction deficiencies, primarily
associated with reforms to Bridgewater State Hospital ($14 million).
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On June 9, 2017, the Governor approved a supplemental budget for fiscal 2017, including $43 millionin
supplemental appropriations. The supplemental budget added funding for the Department of Correction ($15
million), snow and ice control costs at the Massachusetts Department of Transportation ($14 million), increased
rates for certain human service providers ($10 million), and other smaller items ($4 million). On July 11, 2017, the
Governor approved an additional supplemental budget for fiscal 2017, which provided $26 million in supplemental
appropriations for legal representation for indigent defendants. It is anticipated that additional supplemental
appropriations may be required, as is customary during the period following afiscal year's end, to close fiscal 2017
in statutory balance.

During its routine midyear review of revenue and spending, the Executive Office for Administration and
Finance revised its forecasts of spending and revenue for fiscal 2017, notably MassHeal th spending, snow and ice
control and other expected deficiencies, debt service costs, and various non-tax revenue estimates. Additionally, the
Executive Office for Administration and Finance revised its estimate of tax-related settlements exceeding
$10 million to $58 million in the aggregate for fiscal 2017, areduction of $75 million from the original forecast. The
spending and revenue reviews will continue as fiscal 2017 draws to a close, including coordination between the
Executive Office for Administration and Finance and the various executive and non-executive departments that have
identified budget variances. See the “Projected Fiscal 2017” column of the table entitled “Budgeted Operating Funds
— Statutory Basis’ in “ SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA — Statutory Basis Distribution of Budgetary Revenues and
Expenditures.”

Massachusetts, like other similarly situated states, experienced bel ow-forecast income tax revenues during
the spring 2017 income tax filing season, with shortfalls related primarily to lower than anticipated payments with
bills and returns. The Secretary of Administration and Finance implemented various measures, including reducing
allotments, maintaining payroll caps and other hiring limitations, transferring unneeded trust fund balances and
imposing spending controls to address the resulting budget gap. Preliminary tax revenue for fiscal 2017 was $452
million below the revised tax revenue projection of October 14, 2016, without regard to the impact of tax-related
settlements.

The Executive Office for Administration and Finance currently expects that no transfer from the
Stabilization Fund will be necessary to end fiscal 2017 in balance. This expectation is based on preliminary
estimates, as final closure of the fiscal year is ongoing; accordingly, results are subject to change.

Fiscal 2018

On January 12, 2017, afiscal 2018 consensus tax revenue estimate of $27.072 billion was agreed upon by
the Secretary of Administration and Finance and the chairs of the House and Senate Committees on Ways and
Means. This estimate reflected a projection of 3.9% tax revenue growth over the then-current projected fiscal 2017
tax revenue figure ($26.056 billion), and also assumed that the state income tax rate would decrease from 5.1% to
5.05% on January 1, 2018, in accordance with the statutory mechanism. Also on January 12, 2017, the Secretary of
Administration and Finance filed the triennial funding schedule for the Commonwealth’ s employee retirement
obligations with the House and Senate Committees on Ways and Means, which provides for afiscal 2018 transfer
amount of $2.394 hillion, an increase of $196 million or 8.9% over the fiscal 2017 transfer amount. See “ PENSION
AND OPEB FUNDING — Funding Schedule.” After accounting for statutorily required transfers for pensions, and to
the MBTA, the MSBA and the Workforce Training Fund, the Secretary and Committee chairs agreed that
$22.704 billion would be the maximum amount of tax revenue available for the fiscal 2018 budget. See
“COMMONWEALTH REVENUES — Fiscal 2017 and 2018 Tax Revenues; Fiscal 2018."

An interim budget of approximately $5.15 billion for the first month of fiscal 2018 was approved by the
Governor on June 26, 2017. The interim budget was superseded by the fiscal 2018 budget when it was approved by
the Governor on July 17, 2017.

The fiscal 2018 budget, as approved by the Governor, totals approximately $39.4 hillion, after accounting
for $193 million in net line-item vetoes, and excluding transfers to the Medical Assistance Trust Fund. The fiscal
2018 budget as approved by the Governor is approximately $652 million, or 1.7%, greater than fiscal 2017
estimated spending levels at the time of its approval. The fiscal 2018 budget is based on a projection of
$26.504 billion in tax revenue, excluding large tax-related settlements and judgments. The fiscal 2018 budget also
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projects a deposit of $98.4 million to the Stabilization Fund in fiscal 2018. At the time he approved the budget, the
Governor also filed a supplemental budget for fiscal 2018, which proposed additional appropriations for expected
deficiencies totaling $94 million, net of offsetting revenues.

On July 17, 2017, the Governor returned certain provisions of the enacted legidative budget relating to
MassHealth and Employer Medical Assistance Contributions (EMAC) with amendments. These legidative
proposals would temporarily increase EMAC contributions, resulting in approximately $200 million of revenuein
fiscal 2018; realign benefits with commercial products; transition non-disabled adults to Health Connector plans;
impose a temporary moratorium on new mandated benefits; and make other changes intended to maintain the
Commonwealth’ s commitment to affordable health care coverage and the stability and sustainability of the
MassHealth program. The Legislature rejected the Governor’s amendments and, on August 1, 2017, the Governor
signed into law the temporary increase to EMAC contributions, without the longer-term changes the Legislature had
rejected. The Legidature continues to consider reforms to the MassHealth program.

On September 13 and 25, 2017, the House passed overrides to the Governor’ s budget vetoes with an
aggregate net budgetary impact of $159 million, $83 million of which overlaps with the MassHealth deficiency. See
“COMMONWEALTH EXPENDITURES — Medicaid and the Health Connector.” These overrides are now pending in the
Senate. If the Legisature were to override all of the Governor’ s vetoes, the potential net fiscal impact would be $205
million, of which $83 million overlaps with the MassHealth deficiency.

On January 20, 2017, the President of the United Statesissued an executive order that requires all federal
agencies with authorities and responsibilities under the ACA to “exercise al authority and discretion available to
them to waive, defer, grant exemptions from, or delay” parts of the ACA that place “ unwarranted economic and
regulatory burdens’ on states, individuals or health care providers. On May 4, 2017, the United States House of
Representatives passed legidation which, if enacted, would make changes in the ACA. The Senate has introduced
severa hills that would substantially modify the ACA in many significant respects, although no such bill has yet
been passed by the Senate. The Commonwealth does not currently have an assessment of the impact of the executive
order, if any, on its health care programs and expenditures. The Commonwealth has estimated that the House-passed
legislation would cost the Commonweslth approximately $1 billion in federal revenue starting in 2020, based on
Congressional Budget Office scoring of aprior version of the House legislation. The most recent Senate bill would
have a material adverse effect on the Commonwealth by significantly reducing federal funding over a period of
years, starting in 2020. However, it is not possible to predict with any certainty at this time whether or when the
ACA or any specific provision of the federal law or implementing regulations will be repealed, withdrawn, modified
or replaced in any significant respect. Therefore, it is not possible to predict the corresponding impact that any such
actions could have on the Commonwealth’s healthcare programs and expenditures. The discussions of the
Commonwealth’ s health care programs and services, including the Federal 1115 MassHealth Demonstration
Waiver, and their corresponding costs appearing in this Information Statement should be read with the
understanding that significant changes could occur in calendar 2017 and beyond affecting the matters discussed.

The Executive Office for Administration and Finance is currently reviewing spending and revenue
projections for the current fiscal year and estimates that the variance between projected spending and projected
revenue is less than 1%. The spending and revenue reviews will continue throughout the fiscal year, asthe
Executive Office for Administration and Finance coordinates with the various executive and non-executive
departments that have identified budget variances. See the “Fiscal 2018” column of the table entitled “ Budgeted
Operating Funds - Statutory Basis” in “SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA — Statutory Basis Distribution of Budgetary
Revenues and Expenditures.”

Cash Flow

The State Treasurer isresponsible for cash management and ensuring that all Commonwealth financia
obligations are met on atimely basis. See “* COMMONWEALTH BUDGET AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT CONTROLS—
Cash Management Practices of State Treasurer.” The Commonwealth does not engage in inter-fund borrowing. Cash
flow management incorporates the periodic use of short-term borrowing to meet cash flow needs for both capital and
operating expenditures. All revenue anticipation notes, including those issued as commercial paper, must be repaid
by the end of the fiscal year. The state currently has liquidity support for a $400 million commercial paper program
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for general obligation notes. The Commonwealth has utilized the commercial paper program for additional liquidity,
as necessary, since 2002.

The Commonwealth ended fiscal 2017 with a non-segregated cash balance of $2.058 billion. Fiscal 2018 is
projected to end with a balance of approximately $2.205 billion.

The fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2018 cash flow statements rel eased on September 6, 2017 are summarized in the
tables below. The fiscal 2018 statement is based upon the budget approved by the Governor on July 17, 2017. See
“FIscAL 2017 AND FiscaL 2018 - Fiscal 2018.” Quarterly cash flow statements, as submitted by the State Treasurer
to the House and Senate Committees on Ways and Means, are posted on the cash management page of the State
Treasurer’s website.

Commonwealth cash deposits are held in insured or collateralized bank accounts and with the
Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust (MMDT), the Commonwealth’s investment pool for governmental
entities. MMDT is comprised of two portfolios, professionally managed by Federated Investors Inc., the Cash
Portfolio and the Short Term Bond Fund. Cash Portfolio investments are carried at amortized cost, which
approximates fair value. Short Term Bond Fund investments are carried at fair value. General operating cash is
invested in the cash portfolio, and moneys in the Stabilization Fund, which are not used by the Commonwealth for
liquidity, are invested in both the cash portfolio and the short-term bond fund.

The Cash Portfolio investsin a diversified portfolio of high quality U. S. dollar-denominated money market
instruments (eligible under GASB Statement No. 79) of domestic and foreign issuers, United States government
securities and repurchase agreements. As of July 31, 2017, the Cash Portfolio holdings were made up of commercial
paper and notes (44.6%), variable rate instruments (24.7 %), repurchase agreements (5.1%) and bank instruments
(25.6 %). Asof August 31, 2017 the Cash Portfolio’s monthly weighted average life was 90 days, and the monthly
weighted average maturity was 55 days. The three objectives for the cash portfolio are safety, liquidity and yield.
The cash portfolio maintains a stable net asset value of one dollar and is marked to market daily. The Cash
Portfolio isfully compliant with GASB 79 as of July 1, 2016.

The Short Term Bond Fund investsin adiversified portfolio of investment grade debt securities. As of July
31, 2017, the Short Term Bond Fund holdings were made up of U. S. Treasury securities (52.7%), Financial
Institutions — Banking (6.3%), FHLMC MBS (2.9%), Technology (3.1%), Utility — Electric (3.3%), Consumer Non-
Cyclical Pharmaceuticals (2.5%), FNMA MBS (1.5%), Consumer Non-Cyclical Food/Beverage (1.8%), Financial
Ingtitution — Insurance — Life (1.5%), Consumer Cyclical — Automotive (1.4%), Other (23.0%). The short-term
bond fund seeks to obtain the highest possible level of current income consistent with preservation of capital and
liquidity. The portfolio is required to maintain an average credit rating of A-. The duration of the portfolio is
managed to within +/- one-half year duration of the benchmark. The benchmark for the short-term bond fund is the
Barclays Capital 1-to-5-year Government/Credit Index, which includes all medium and larger issues of United
States government, investment-grade corporate and investment-grade international dollar-denominated bonds.

For cash flow needsfor fiscal year 2018, the State Treasurer issued $1.5 billion in revenue anticipation
notes on August 10, 2017. Asin previous years, the notes will be repaid in April, May and June, 2018.

The fiscal 2018 capital plan currently projects $4.408 billion of spending on capital projects, including
$2.26 billion of bond cap spending, approximately $351.9 million of specia obligation bond spending authorized
under the Accelerated Bridge Program (ABP) and the Rail Enhancement Program (REP), approximately $1.128
billion in federal reimbursements and grants, approximately $70.7 million of spending on projects funded by
anticipated savings or revenues, approximately $326.9 million from non-commonwealth sources such as
contributions from campuses, and approximately $269.7 million in pay-as-you-go capital funded by operating funds,
including tolls.

The next official, quarterly cash flow statement is expected to be released on or about November 30, 2017.

The following table provides General Fund ending cash balances by month for fiscal 2014 through fiscal
2018.
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Month End General Fund Cash Balances (in millions)

Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2018

July $ 1,253.7 $ 768.9 $1,380.2 $1,885.9 $1,307.3

August 1,065.1 948.9 551.4 2,414.1 1,900.0 (1)
September 1,918.9 1,762.7 1,951.6 2,670.8 2,579.9 (1)
October 1,744.4 1,453.2 1,421.0 2,437.6 2,331.0(1)
November 1,272.2 1,240.7 787.7 2,146.4 1,665.2 (1)
December 1,437.6 991.5 1,029.8 1,766.5 1,556.0 (1)
January 1,186.3 953.9 1,487.5 1,835.7 2,079.5 (1)
February 603.2 414.1 862.0 1,432.7 1,193.7 (1)
March 749.5 743.0 1,280.0 1,332.0 1,189.9 (1)
April 1,204.6 1,860.9 2,044.2 2,074.6 2,199.9 (1)
May 703.9 1,691.2 2,276.6 1,647.1 1,625.0 (1)
June 1,340.8 2,140.5 2,397.8 2,058.0 2,205.0 (1)

SOURCE: Office of the Treasurer and Receiver-General.
(1) Fiscal 2018 ending balances are estimated for August through June.

The following tables provide cash flow detail for fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2018.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Opening Non-Segregated Operating Cash Balance
Operating Activities:
Budgetary Funds:
Transfer fromy/(to) Sabilization Fund
Total Budgetary Revenue/Inflows
Total Budgetary Expenditures/Outflows

Net Budgetary Funds
Non Budgetary Funds (Non Budgetary, Higher Ed and
Trust Funds):

Total Non Budgetary Revenue/Inflows
Total Non Budgetary Expenditures/Outflows

Net Non Budgetary Funds
Net Undesignated Revenue/Inflows and
Expenditures/Outflows

Net Operating Activities
Federal Grants:
Total Federal Grants Revenue/Inflows
Total Federal Grants Expenditures/Outflows
Net Federal Grants
Capital Funds:
Total Capital Revenue/Inflows
Total Capital Expenditures/Outflows
Net Capital Funds
Financing Activities:
Cash Flow Financing Activities Inflows:
Commercial Paper
Revenue Anticipation Notes (RANS)
Total Cash Flow Financing Activities Inflows
Cash Flow Financing Activities Outflows:
Commercial Paper — (Principal + Interest)
RANS-— (Principal + Interest)
Total Cash Flow Financing Activities Outflows
Net Financing Activities
Ending Non-Segregated Operating Cash Balance

SOURCE: Office of the Treasurer and Receiver-General.

(1) Totals may not add due to rounding.
(2) Figures are estimated.

Overview of Fiscal 2017 Non-Segregated Oper ating Cash Flow (in millions) (1)

Jul-16  Aug-16 Sep-16  Oct-16 Nov-16  Dec-16 Jan-17  Feb-17  Mar-17  Apr-17 May-17 (2) June-17 (2)
$2,397.8 $1,8859 $24141 $2,6708  $24376 $21464 $1,7665 $1,8356 $14328 $1,3320 $20746  $1,647.1
00 0.0 00 0.0 (27.1) 00 00 0.0 0.0 00 0.0 0.0
31425 30388 38622 32516 31304 35376 37706 29813 39442 45197 34917 38145
41263 35552 31128 34109 32603 34287 33627 37236 39404 36967 31773 27244
(9838)  (5164) 7495  (159.3) (129.9) 1088 4079  (7422) 38 823.1 3144  1,090.1
11951 8015 6957 8429 9700 10712 7330 12771 11690 12768 9040 11196
11467 11667 12205 1,0404 11278 15688 11243 10134 172414 9041 11372 13201
484  (3653) (5248)  (197.6) (157.8)  (4976) (391.3) 2637 (724) 3726 (2333)  (2005)
24 26 175 41 52.8 46 47 39 40 (10.1) 44 8.0
($9330) ($879.1)  $2422  ($352.8)  ($234.9) ($384.2) $212  ($4746)  ($64.6) $11855 $856  $897.7
779 256.0 168.1 167.2 1143 1929 1907 2322 179.0 246.6 2128 303.1
197.1 23556 156.3 168.4 1706 2065 2128 1786 2392 2045 216.0 248.2
($119.2)  $204 $11.8 ($1.3) ($56.4)  ($136) ($221)  $536  ($60.2) 421 ($3.2) $54.8
856.5 2803 3079 4151 2763 2848 2742 2144 2005 165.7 2315 283.1
3163 3935 305.1 294.2 2763 2669 2041 1963 176.4 144.2 2341 316.2
$5403  ($113.2) $28  $1209 $0.0 $179  $70.0 $18.1 $24.0 $215 ($26)  ($332)
00 15000 00 0.0 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00
0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
00 155000 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
00 0.0 00 0.0 00 00 00 0.0 0.0 506.5 507.3 5085
00 0.0 00 0.0 00 00 00 00 00 506.5 507.3 5085
$0.0  $1,500.0 $0.0 $0.0 $0.0 $0.0 $0.0 $0.0 $0.0  ($5065)  ($507.3)  ($508.5)
$1,885.9 $2414.1 $2670.8 $2437.6  $2,1464 $17665 $1,835.6 $1,4328 $1,3320 $2,0746  $1,647.1  $2,058.0
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Total FY
2017 (2)

$2,397.8

(27.1)
42,485.1
41,519.1

966.0

12,055.9
14,011.6
(1,955.7)

98.8
($890.9)

2,340.6
24339
($93.3)

3,790.3
3,123.6
$666.7

1,500.0
0.0
1,500.0

0.0
1522.3
1522.3

($22.3)
$2,058.0



Opening Non-Segregated Operating Cash Balance
Operating Activities:
Budgetary Funds:
Transfer fromy/(to) Sabilization Fund
Total Budgetary Revenue/Inflows
Total Budgetary Expenditures/Outflows

Net Budgetary Funds
Non Budgetary Funds (Non Budgetary, Higher Ed and
Trust Funds):

Total Non Budgetary Revenue/Inflows
Total Non Budgetary Expenditures/Outflows

Net Non Budgetary Funds
Net Undesignated Revenue/Inflows and
Expenditures/Outflows

Net Operating Activities
Federal Grants:
Total Federal Grants Revenue/Inflows
Total Federal Grants Expenditures/Outflows
Net Federal Grants
Capital Funds:
Total Capital Revenue/Inflows
Total Capital Expenditures/Outflows
Net Capital Funds
Financing Activities:
Cash Flow Financing Activities Inflows:
Commercial Paper
Revenue Anticipation Notes (RANS)
Total Cash Flow Financing Activities Inflows
Cash Flow Financing Activities Outflows:
Commercial Paper — (Principal + Interest)
RANS-— (Principal + Interest)
Total Cash Flow Financing Activities Outflows
Net Financing Activities
Ending Non-Segregated Operating Cash Balance

SOURCE: Office of the Treasurer and Receiver-General.

(1) Totals may not add due to rounding.
(2) Figures are estimated.

Overview of Fiscal 2018 Non-Segregated Operating Cash Flow (in millions) (1) (2)

Jul-17  Aug-17  Sep-17  Oct-17 Nov-17  Dec-17 Jan-18  Feb-18 Mar-18  Apr-18  May-18  June-18
$20580 $1,307.3 $1,9000 $2579.9 $2331.0 $16652 $1,5560 $2,0795 $1,1937 $1,1809  $2199.9  $1,6250
00 0.0 00 00 0.0 00 00 0.0 0.0 00 0.0 0.0
34435 32037 40919 33500 31485 37655 40446 29500 37642 53770 36637 4,191.0
40096 40294 30545 35761 35434 34407 34148 35384 35177 35460 33452 2,809.6
(566.1)  (825.7) 10374  (2261)  (394.9) 3248 6208  (5884) 2465 18310 3185 1,381.4
1,037.1 998.1 898.1 869.1 7538 10172 9045 8117 874.2 859.6 703.1 838.4
11774 10555 1,639 9748 10479 14703 10455 11026 10506 11845 11476 1,066.6
(140.4) (57.5)  (2659)  (105.7)  (2941)  (4532) (141.1)  (2909)  (1764)  (325.0) (444.5) (228.2)
32 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18
($703.3) ($8814)  $773.3  ($329.9)  ($687.2) ($1265) $490.6  ($877.5)  $71.8 $1,507.9  ($124.3)  $1,155.0
167.8 260.0 185.0 175.0 200.0 2300 2100 190.0 190.0 2100 225.0 270.0
199.2 200.0 202.0 202.0 2120 2300 2060 216.0 223.0 214.0 217.0 234.0
($31.4)  $510  ($170) ($270)  ($120) $0.0 $40  ($260)  ($33.0) ($4.0) $8.0 $36.0
3272 407.0 3286 362.0 295.4 2624 2499 211.7 1834 2252 2772 253.8
3432 4840 4050 254.0 262.0 2450 2210 194.0 226.0 2120 228.0 356.0
($16.0)  ($77.0)  ($764)  $108.0 $33.4 $174  $289 $177  ($426)  $132 $49.2 ($102.2)
00 0.0 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 0.0
00 155000 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
00 155000 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
00 0.0 00 00 00 00 00 0.0 0.0 507.0 507.8 508.7
00 0.0 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 507.0 507.8 508.7
$0.0  $1,500.0 $0.0 $0.0 $0.0 $0.0 $0.0 $0.0 $0.0  ($507.0)  ($507.8)  ($508.7)
$1,307.3 $1,900.0 $2579.9 $2,331.0 $1,665.2 $1,556.0 $2,0795 $1,193.7 $1,189.9 $2,1999  $1,6250  $2,205.0
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Total FY
2018

$2,058.0

0.0
44,993.6
41,825.4

3,168.2

10,564.7
13,487.4
(2,922.8)

23.0
$268.4

2,512.8
2,564.2
($51.4)

3,383.7
3,430.2
($46.5)

0.0
1,500.0
1,500.0

0.0
15235
15235

($23.5)
$2,205.0



STATE WORKFORCE

The following table sets forth information regarding the Commonwealth’ s workforce as of the end of the
last five fiscal years.

State Workforce
June 2013 June 2014 June 2015 June 2016 (2) June 2017
Executive Office 68 70 75 75 74
Office of the Comptroller 111 113 109 107 106
Executive Departments
Administration and Finance 2,823 2,882 2,983 2,595 2,607
Energy and Environmental Affairs 1,915 1,900 1,907 1,773 1,736
Health and Human Services 19,379 19,699 20,096 19,556 19,844
Board of Library Commissioners 10 10 11 - -
Housing and Economic Development 684 702 699 673 640
Labor and Workforce Development 236 250 234 236 231
Executive Office of Education 359 523 399 370 334
Public Safety and Security 8,626 8,815 8,627 8,380 8,000
Elder Affairs 38 39 36 -
Subtotal under Governor's Authority 34,249 35,004 35,173 33,765 33,392
Judiciary 7,217 7,188 7,256 7,257 7,205
Higher Education 12,957 13,840 14,111 14,678 14,705
Other (1) 10,356 10,606 10,701 10,747 10,770
Subtotal funded by the Operating Budget 64,779 66,638 67,241 66,447 66,252
Federal Grant, Trust and Capital Funded (3) 20,650 19,963 20,597 19,811 18,813
Total (4) 85429 86,601 87,839 86,258 85,065

SOuRCE: Executive Office for Administration and Finance.

(1) Other includes members of the Legidature and their staff, the offices of the State Treasurer, Secretary of the Commonwealth, Auditor
and Attorney General, the eleven District Attorneys, the seven former county sheriffs that have become state agencies, and other
agencies independent from the Governor.

(2) June, 2016 figuresinclude the Board of Library Commissionersin Other and Elder Affairsin Health and Human Services.

(3) The Massachusetts Department of Transportation isincluded in Federal Grant, Trust, and Capital Funded.

(4) Totals may not add due to rounding.

Unionsand Labor Negotiations

Under Massachusetts law, all employees of the Commonwealth, with the exception of managerial and
confidential employees and employees of the Legidature, have the right to bargain collectively with the
Commonwealth through certified employee organizations recognized as exclusive bargaining representatives for
appropriate bargaining units. The Human Resources Division of the Executive Office for Administration and
Finance conducts the collective bargaining negotiations with all employees of the Commonwealth (except those
noted below). Such negotiations may cover wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment, but may
not include the levels of pension and group insurance benefits. All labor agreements negotiated by the Human
Resources Division are subject to approval by the Secretary of Administration and Finance and, once approved, are
forwarded to the Legidature for funding approval. Labor contracts are often funded by supplemental appropriations
or advance-funded through reserve accounts.

The Trial Court, the Lottery Commission, state sheriffs, the Registries of Deeds under the control of the
Secretary of the Commonwealth, public higher education management and the Personal Care Attendant Workforce
Council negotiate directly with their respective employee representatives, but all wage increases and other economic
provisions contained in such agreements are subject to the review of the Governor and to funding approval by the
Legidlature. If the Governor does not recommend the requested appropriation to fund contractual increases, he may
refer the contracts back to the parties for further negotiation.

Approximately 35,175 executive branch full-time-equivalent state employees are organized in
13 bargaining units, the employees of the Commonwealth’s colleges and universities are organized in 29 bargaining
units, and the employees of the judicial branch, MassDOT, the Lottery Commission, the Registries of Deeds,
sheriffs, Personal Care Attendants at MassHealth, and family child care providers at the Department of Early
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Education and Care are organized in 67 bargaining units. Public employees of the Commonwealth do not have a
legal right to strike or otherwise withhold services.

The following is a description of certain terms of the most recent agreements with the collective bargaining
units within the responsibility of the Human Resources Division. Negotiations have either concluded or are
underway to finalize new contracts.

1 The contract with the National Association of Government Employees, representing Units 1, 3 and
6, ran from July, 2014 to June, 2017 and provided increases of 3%, 3% and 3% in January, 2015, October, 2015 and
July, 2016, respectively. The total estimated cost of the contract was $96.3 million. This contract has expired, and
negotiations are ongoing.

2. The contract with the Service Employees International Union, representing employeesin units 8
and 10, ran from December 31, 2013 through December 31, 2016 and provided semi-annual salary increases of
1.5% each January and July (egual to an annualized increase of 3.0%) in the years 2014, 2015 and 2016. The total
estimated cost of the contract was $107.1 million. This contract has expired, and negotiations are ongoing.

3. The contract with the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees,
representing unit 2, ran from July, 2014 through June, 2017 and provided semi-annual salary increases of 1.5% each
July and January (equal to an annualized increase of 3.0%) in the years 2015, 2016 and 2017. The total estimated
cost of the contract was $53.3 million. This contract has expired, and negotiations are ongoing.

4, The contract with the Massachusetts Organization of State Engineers and Scientists, representing
unit 9, ran from July, 2014 through June, 2017 and provided semi-annual salary increases of 1.5% in each
September and February (equal to an annualized increase of 3.0% in the years 2014, 2015 and 2016). The total
estimated cost of the contract was $20.0 million. This contract has expired, and negotiations are ongoing.

5. The contract with the New England Police Benevolent Association, representing unit 4A, ran from
July 1, 2014 through June 30, 2017 and provided semi-annual increases of 1.5% each July and January. The total
estimated cost of the contract was $1.2 million. This contract has expired, and negotiations are ongoing.

6. The contract with the Massachusetts Nurses Association runs from January 1, 2015 through
December 31, 2017 and provides semi-annual increases of 1.5%, 1.5% and 1.5% effective each January and July,
(equal to an annualized increase of 3.0%) in the years 2015, 2016 and 2017. The total estimated cost of the contract
is $25.95 million.

7. The contract with the State Police Association of Massachusetts runs from January 1, 2015
through December 31, 2017 and provides annual increases of 2%, 3.75%, and 3.75%. The total estimated cost of the
contract is $38.5 million.

8. The contract with the Massachusetts Correction Officers Federated Union runs from July 1, 2015
through June 30, 2018 and provides annual increases of 2%, 3.75% and 3.75%, effective July 1, 2015, 2016 and
2017, respectively. The total estimated cost of the contract is $46.9 million.

9. The contract with the Coalition of Public Safety runs from July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2018 and
provides annual increases of 2%, 3%, and 3%. The total estimated cost of the contract is $2.3 million.

10. The contract with the International Association of Fire Fighters runs from January 1, 2015 through

December 31, 2017, and provides annual increases of 2%, 3.5%, 3.5%. The total estimated cost of the contract is
$0.5 million.
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The following table sets forth information regarding the 13 bargaining units that are within the
responsibility of the Human Resources Division.

Human Resour ces Division Bargaining Units (1)

Contract Contract
Unit Bargaining Union Type of Employee FTEs Expiration Dates
1,36 National Association of Government Employees Clerical, Skilled 9,669 6/30/17 (2)
Trades, Administrative
Professionals
2 Alliance/American Federation of State, County & Municipal Institutional services 7,918 6/30/17 (2)
Employees and Service Employees International Union
4 Massachusetts Correction Officers Federated Union Corrections 3,585 6/30/18
4A New England Police Benevolent Association Corrections 67 6/30/17
5 Coadlition of Public Safety Law enforcement 179 6/30/18
5A State Police Association of Massachusetts State Police 1,977 12/31/17
7 M assachusetts Nurses Association Health professionals 1,556 12/31/17
8,10 Alliance/Service Employees International Union Social workers, 8,439 12/31/16 (2)
Secondary Education
9 Massachusetts Organization of State Engineers and Scientists Engineerg/scientists 1,725 6/30/17 (2)
11 International Association of Fire Fighters Firefighters 60 12/31/17
Total 35,175

SOURCE: Executive Office for Administration and Finance.

(1) Numbers represent full-time equivalent filled positions (FTES) in the standard workforce as of September 16, 2017 whose positions are
established in accounts funded by all sources (the annual operating budget, capital projects funds, direct federal grants and expendable trusts
and other non-appropriated funds).

(2) Thiscontract has expired, and negotiations are ongoing.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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PENSION AND OPEB FUNDING
Retirement Systems

Almost all non-federal public employees in the Commonwealth participate in defined-benefit pension plans
administered pursuant to state law by 104 public retirement systems. The Commonwealth is responsible for the
payment of pension benefits for Commonwealth employees (members of the state employees’ retirement system)
and for teachers of the cities, towns and regional school districts throughout the state (including members of the
Massachusetts teachers’ retirement system and teachers in the Boston public schools, who are members of the
Boston Retirement System but whose pensions are al so the responsibility of the Commonwealth). The
Commonwealth is also responsible for cost-of-living adjustments (COLAS) granted by local systems from 1981 to
1996. The members of the retirement system do not participate in the Social Security System. Employees of certain
independent authorities and agencies, such as the Massachusetts Water Resources Authority, and of counties, cities
and towns (other than teachers) are covered by 102 separate retirement systems and the Commonwealth is not
responsible for making contributions towards the funding of these retirement systems. Pension benefits for state
employees are administered by the State Board of Retirement, and pension benefits for teachers are administered by
the Teachers' Retirement Board. Investment of the assets of the state employees and M assachusetts teachers
retirement systemsis managed by the Pension Reserves Investment Management (PRIM) Board. In the case of all
other retirement systems, the retirement board for the system administers pension benefits and manages investment
of assets. Retirement board members are required to complete 18 hours of training and to file annual statements of
financial interest with the Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission (PERAC). Many such
retirement boards invest their assets with the PRIM Board, and the PRIM Board may take over the assets of local
retirement systems that are less than 65% funded and have failed to come within 2% of the PRIM Board’s
performance over a 10-year period. With a very small number of exceptions, the members of these state and local
retirement systems do not participate in the federal Social Security System.

The Massachusetts State Employees’ Retirement System (M SERS) and the Massachusetts Teachers
Retirement System (MTRS) are the two largest plans of the public contributory retirement systems operated in the
Commonwealth. Membership in MSERS and MTRS as of January 1, 2017, the date of the most recent combined
valuation, is as follows:

Retirement Systems M ember ship

MSERS MTRS
Retirees and beneficiaries
currently receiving benefits 62,259 65,036
Terminated employees
entitled to benefits but not
yet receiving them 4,094 N/A
Subtotal 66,353 65,036
Current Members 90,014 92,128
Total 156,367 157,164

SOURCE: Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission

The MSERS is a cost sharing, multiple-employer defined-benefit public employee retirement system. The
MTRS is a defined-benefit public employee retirement system managed by the Commonwealth on behal f of
municipal teachers and municipal teacher retirees. The Commonwealth is a non-employer contributor and is
responsible for all contributions and future benefits of the MTRS. Members become vested after 10 years of
creditable service. For members who joined the system prior to April 2, 2012 superannuation retirement allowance
may be received upon the completion of 20 years of service or upon reaching the age of 55 with 10 years of service.
Normal retirement for those employees who were system members before April 2, 2012 occurs at age 65; for certain
hazardous duty and public safety positions, normal retirement is at age 55. Most members who joined the system
after April 1, 2012 cannot retire prior to age 60.
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The Commonwealth’s retirement systems’ funding policies have been statutorily established. The
Legidature has the authority to amend these policies. The annuity portion of the M SERS and the MTRS retirement
allowance is funded by employees, who contribute a percentage of their regular compensation. Costs of
administering the plan are funded out of plan assets. The policies provide for uniform benefit and contribution
requirements for all contributory public employee retirement systems. These requirements generally provide for
superannuation retirement allowance benefits up to a maximum of 80% of a member’s highest three-year average
annual rate of regular compensation. For employees hired after April 1, 2012, retirement allowances are cal culated
on the basis of the last five years or any five consecutive years, whichever is greater in terms of compensation.
Benefit payments are based upon a member’s age, length of creditable service and group creditable service, and
group classification.

Boston teachers are not included in the membership data shown above for the MTRS. Legislation
approved in May, 2010 changed the methodol ogy for the Commonwealth’s funding of pension benefits paid to
Boston teachers. Prior to this change, the Commonwealth reimbursed the City of Boston for pension benefits
paid to Boston teachers as certified by the Boston Retirement System (BRS). Those costs were funded one fiscal
year in arrears. The cost of pension benefits of the other participants of the BRSis the responsibility of the City
of Boston. The BRS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer pension system that is not administered by the
Commonwealth and is not part of the reporting entity of the Commonwealth for accounting purposes. The 2010
legidation clarified that the Commonwealth is responsible for al employer contributions and future benefit
requirements for Boston teachers that are members of the BRS. The Commonwealth’s actuarially determined
contribution to the BRS was $132.5 million for fiscal 2017.

Subject to legidative approval, annual increases in cost-of-living allowances are provided in an amount
equal to the lesser of 3% or the previous year’ s percentage increase in the United States consumer price index on the
first $13,000 of benefits for members of the MSERS and MTRS. The Legisature approved the 3% increase in cost-
of-living allowances for fiscal 2018. The Commonwealth pension funding schedul e (discussed below) assumes that
annual increases of 3% will be approved for its retirees.

The MSERS and the MTRS, in conjunction with the Commonwealth, are evaluating whether certain of the
statutes or practices governing the systems may have been in conflict with the exclusive benefit rule of
Section 401(a)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code or other federal tax law requirements relating to operation of tax-
exempt pension plans. The activities being reviewed include (i) the statutorily directed funding of the budget for
PERAC solely from the investment income accounts of MSERS and MTRS, (ii) the statutorily directed
contributions made from the MSERS account in the PRIT Fund to a separate optional retirement plan available to
certain employees of the Commonwealth’s higher education system, (iii) the statutorily mandated reimbursements
paid by the MSERS to local retirement systems for local cost-of-living allowances for certain participants of those
systems, (iv) the deposit of reimbursement revenues received from local retirement systems to the Commonwealth’s
General Fund rather than to the MTRS and M SERS accounts in the PRIT Fund, and (v) the deposit of federal grant
fringe payments to the General Fund rather than to the MTRS and MSERS accountsin the PRIT Fund. The
Commonwealth, PERAC, MSERS and the MTRS have each engaged outside tax counsel to review these activities.
On March 28, 2017, the Governor approved legislation to address prospectively certain aspects of the issues
described above. Discussion and planning continue among the relevant parties to determine what additional
corrective actions may be needed.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Employee Contributions

The MSERS and MTRS are partially funded by employee contributions of regular compensation. The
following tables indicate current employee contribution rates (figures are approximate):

Employee Contribution Rates

MTRS (1)
% of Active % of Total
Hire Date Compensation (1) Members Active

Pre-1975 5% 129 0.1%
1975-1983 7 545 0.6
1984-June 30, 1996 8 6,681 73
July 1, 1996-Present 9 14,627 159
July 1, 2001-Present 11 70,146 76.1

Totals 92,128 100.0%

SOURCE: Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission. Membership data from Teachers' Retirement System January 1, 2017
Actuarial Valuation.

(1) Employees hired after January 1, 1979 (except those contributing 11%) contribute an additional 2% of any regular compensation in
excess of $30,000 annually. Legislation enacted in fiscal 2000 established an alternative superannuation retirement benefit program for
teachers hired on or after July 1, 2001 (and others who opt in) with an 11% contribution requirement for a minimum of five years. The
contribution rate for most employees hired after April 1, 2012 will be reduced to 6% after 30 years of creditable service.

MSERS (1)
% of Active % of Total

Hire Date Compensation (1) Members Active

Pre-1975 5% 517 0.6%
1975-1983 7 3,612 40
1984-June 30, 1996 8 17,067 19.0
July 1, 1996-Present 9 68,155 75.7
State Police 1996-Present 12 663 0.7

Totals 88,081 100.0%

SOURCE: Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission. Membership data from State Board of Retirement January 1, 2017
Actuarial Valuation.
(1) Employees hired after January 1, 1979 contribute an additional 2% of any regular compensation in excess of $30,000 annually.

Funding Schedule

The retirement systems were originally established as “pay-as-you-go” systems, meaning that amounts
were appropriated each year to pay current benefits, and no provision was made to fund currently the future
liabilities already incurred. In fiscal 1988, the Commonwealth began to address the unfunded liabilities of the two
state systems by making appropriations to pension reserves. Under current law such unfunded liability is required to
be amortized to zero by June 30, 2040. The law also requires that the Secretary of Administration and Finance file a
proposed funding schedule with the legislature every three years identifying the appropriations or transfers required
to amortize the unfunded liability to zero, to meet the normal cost of all future benefits for which the
Commonwealth is obligated and to meet any other component of the Commonwealth’s pension liability. Previously
designated amounts can be adjusted based on a new funding schedule so long as the adjustments represent an
increase in the scheduled amounts for those years. The law requires the funding schedule submitted by the Secretary
to be based on actuarial valuation reports and requires the Secretary to provide the actuarial, economic and
demographic assumptions upon which the reports are based. The funding schedule is filed with the House
Committee on Ways and Means and is deemed approved if no action is taken by the committee within 45 days.

The most recent funding schedule for payments into the Commonwealth’s Pension Liability Fund was filed
by the Secretary of Administration and Finance on January 13, 2017. The assumptions underlying the funding
schedule include val uation of assets and liabilities as of January 1, 2016, an annual rate of return on assets of 7.5%,
and appropriation increases of 8.94% per year until the final amortization payment in fiscal 2036 (four years before
the statutory requirement). The funding schedule also fully amortizes by fiscal 2027 the liabilities attributable to the
employee retirement incentive program approved by the Governor on May 4, 2015.
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Current Funding Schedule for Pension Obligations (in thousands)

Fiscal Year Payments Fiscal Year Payments
2018 2,394,498 2028 5,635,069
2019 2,608,453 2029 6,138,577
2020 2,841,525 2030 6,687,075
2021 3,095,422 2031 7,284,583
2022 3,372,006 2032 7,935,479
2023 3,673,304 2033 8,644,535
2024 4,001,523 2034 9,416,947
2025 4,359,070 2035 10,258,375
2026 4,748,564 2036 11,174,988
2027 5,172,860 2037 1,370,935

SOURCE: Executive Office for Administration and Finance

Actuarial Valuations

PERAC's most recent valuation report for the Commonwealth’ s total pension obligation is dated
September 20, 2017. In this report, the unfunded actuarial accrued liability for the Commonwealth’ s total pension
obligation as of January 1, 2017, based on the plan provisionsin effect at the time and on member data and asset
information as of December 31, 2016, was approximately $39.622 billion, including approximately $13.544 billion
for the MSERS, $23.555 hillion for the MTRS, $2.376 billion for Boston teachers that are members of the BRS, and
$146.3 million for cost-of-living increases reimbursable to local systems. This valuation estimates the total actuarial
accrued liability as of January 1, 2017 to be approximately $91.574 billion (comprised of $38.317 billion for
MSERS, $49.194 billion for MTRS, $3.917 billion for Boston teachers and $146.3 million for cost-of-living
increases reimbursable to local systems).

Differences each year between the actual experience of the plan and the experience projected by the
actuarial assumptions are reflected by adjustments to the unfunded actuarial accrued liability. An experience
difference which increases the unfunded actuarial accrued liability is an actuarial loss and one which decreases the
unfunded actuarial accrued liability is an actuaria gain.

Total assets were valued on an actuarial basis at approximately $51.952 billion based on afive-year
average valuation method, which equaled 101.7% of the December 31, 2016 total asset market value. During 2016
there was an overall actuarial gain of $1.1 billion. There was a non-investment related gain on actuarial liability of
approximately $595 million. There was a gain of approximately $522 million on the actuarial value of assets.

The January 1, 2017 valuation used the same 7.5% investment return assumption used in the January 1,
2016 report. The investment return assumption had previously decreased from 8.25% as of January 1, 2012 to 7.5%
as of January 1, 2016. After consideration, PERAC maintained the 7.5% investment return assumption. PERAC is
expected to revisit the question of reducing the investment return assumption in connection with the January 1, 2018
valuation.

For the January 1, 2015 valuation, a fully generational mortality assumption was adopted that reflected
expected future mortality improvements (increasing life expectancy). This assumption was adopted based on a
review of retiree mortality in 2012, 2013 and 2014. In preparing this valuation, PERAC performed an updated
analysis of retiree mortality in 2015 and 2016. Based on those results, this assumption was adjusted for the
January 1, 2017 valuation. This change in assumption increased the actuaria liability by $1.574 billion.

PERAC issued detailed experience analysesin 2014 for MSERS and MTRS. These experience studies
encompassed the years 2006-2011 and reviewed salary increases and rates of retirement, disability, turnover and
mortality. PERAC more recently performed an experience analysis of mortality for retirees of MSERS and MTRS
from January 1, 2012 to January 1, 2015. That analysis was the basis for the adoption of a generational mortality
assumption described above.

The Actuarial Cost Method which is used to determine pension liabilities in the Commonwealth’s

valuations is known as the Entry Age Normal Cost Method. Under this method, the Normal Cost for each active
member on the valuation date is determined as the level percent of salary, which, if paid annually from the date the
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employee first became a retirement system member, would fully fund by retirement, death, disability or termination,
the projected benefits which the member is expected to receive. The actuaria accrued liability for each member is
determined as the present value as of the valuation date of al projected benefits which the member is expected to
receive, minus the present value of future annual Normal Cost payments expected to be made to the fund. Since only
active members have aNormal Cost, the actuarial accrued liability for inactive members, retirees and survivorsis
simply equal to the present value of all projected benefits. The unfunded actuarial accrued liability is the actuarial
accrued liability less current assets.

The Normal Cost for amember will remain alevel percent of salary for each year of membership, except
for changes in provisions of the plan or the actuarial assumptions employed in projection of benefits and present
value determinations. The Normal Cost for the entire system will also be changed by the addition of new members
or the retirement, death, disability, or termination of members. The actuarial accrued liability for a member will
increase each year to reflect the additional accrual of Normal Cost. It will also change if the plan provisions or
actuarial assumptions change.

The actuarial value of assetsis determined in accordance with the deferred recognition method, under
which 20% of the gains or losses occurring in the prior year are recognized, 40% of those occurring two years prior
are recognized, etc., so that 100% of gains and losses occurring five years ago are recognized. This has the effect of
smoothing the short-term volatility of market values over afive-year period. The actuarial value of assetsis
adjusted, if necessary, in order to remain between 90% and 110% of market value. (In valuations prior to 1998, plan
assets were determined at market value.) The actuarial value of assets as of January 1, 2017 was 101.7% of the
market value. This figure was 101.2% as of January 1, 2016.

The following table shows, with respect to the Commonwealth’s aggregate pension obligations, a 10-year
comparison of the actuarial value of assets to the market values, the ratio of the actuarial value to market value, and
the funded ratio based on actuarial value compared to the funded ratio based on the market value of assets:

Ten Year Comparison of Actuarial and Market Values of Pension Assets (in millions)

% of
Actuarial Funded Funded
Actuarial Mar ket Valueto Ratio Ratio
Valuation Value Value of Market (Actuarial (Market
Date (Jan.1)  of Assets(1) Assets Value Value) Value)
2017 $51,952 $51,107 101.7% 56.7% 55.8%
2016 49,535 48,943 101.2 56.7 56.0
2015 48,106 50,290 95.7 59.0 61.7
2014 45,894 48,351 94.9 61.2 64.5
2013 43,517 43,760 99.4 60.6 60.9
2012 43,942 39,947 110.0 65.1 59.1
2011 45,631 41,482 110.0 711 64.6
2010 41,589 37,809 110.0 67.5 61.4
2009 37,058 33,689 110.0 62.7 57.0
2008 44,532 49,235 90.4 78.6 86.9
2007 40,412 44,902 90.0 75.2 835

SOURCE: Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission.
(1) Based on five-year average smoothing methodology.

The following tables show, for each of the MSERS and the MTRS and for Commonwealth obligationsin
the aggregate (including Boston teachers and cost-of-living allowances as well as MSERS and MTRS), the historical
funded status for the most recent ten years, based on actuarial values and market val ues of assets:

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Historical Pension Funding Progressfor the Last Ten Fiscal Years- Actuarial Value
(Amountsin thousands except for percentages)

Unfunded
Actuarial UAAL as
Actuarial Actuarial Accrued Annual % of
Value of Accrued Liability Funded Covered Covered
Plan Assets Liability (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
MSERS
Actuarial Valuation
asof Jan. 1
2017 $24,773,042 $38,316,719 $13,543,677 64.7% $5,927,012 228.6%
2016 23,465,963 36,966,278 13,500,315 63.5 5,792,288 2331
2015 22,720,160 33,679,150 10,958,990 67.5 5,591,911 196.0
2014 21,581,133 30,679,600 9,098,467 70.3 5,344,510 170.2
2013 20,317,389 29,385,442 9,068,053 69.1 5,183,195 175.0
2012 20,507,604 27,784,731 7,277,127 73.8 4,922,388 185.7
2011 21,244,900 26,242,776 4,997,876 81.0 4,808,250 103.9
2010 19,019,062 24,862,421 5,843,359 76.5 4,711,563 124.0
2009 16,992,214 23,723,240 6,731,026 71.6 4,712,655 142.8
2008 20,400,656 22,820,502 2,419,846 89.4 4,574,233 52.9
MTRS
Actuarial Valuation
asof Jan. 1
2017 $25,638,136 $49,193,503 $23,555,367 52.1% $6,583,871 357.8%
2016 24,593,787 46,562,807 21,969,020 52.8 6,388,732 343.9
2015 23,946,759 44,115,769 20,169,010 54.3 6,204,274 325.1
2014 22,940,196 40,741,695 17,801,499 56.3 5,962,650 298.6
2013 21,787,470 39,135,218 17,347,748 55.7 5,783,294 300.0
2012 22,141,475 36,483,027 14,341,552 60.7 5,655,353 253.6
2011 23,117,952 34,890,991 11,773,039 66.3 5,558,311 211.8
2010 21,262,462 33,738,966 12,476,504 63.0 5,509,698 226.4
2009 18,927,731 32,543,782 13,616,051 58.2 5,389,895 252.6
2008 22,883,553 30,955,504 8,071,951 73.9 5,163,498 156.3
Aggregate
Commonwealth
Pension
Obligations (1)
Actuarial Valuation
asof Jan. 1
2017 $51,952,206 $91,573,998 $39,621,792 56.7%  $13,059,709 303.4%
2016 49,535,323 87,401,722 37,866,399 56.7 12,702,727 298.1
2015 48,105,862 81,535,003 33,429,141 59.0 12,302,162 2717
2014 45,894,034 74,936,994 29,042,960 61.2 11,793,788 246.3
2013 43,517,498 71,865,832 28,348,334 60.6 11,408,407 248.5
2012 43,941,682 67,546,587 23,604,905 65.1 11,011,466 214.4
2011 45,630,507 64,219,135 18,588,628 711 10,811,975 1719
2010 41,589,706 61,575,676 19,985,970 67.5 10,655,881 187.6
2009 37,057,703 59,142,155 22,084,452 62.7 10,537,212 209.6
2008 44,531,652 56,636,710 12,105,058 78.6 10,156,252 119.2

SOURCE: Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission.
(1) Aggregate Commonwealth pension obligations include obligations with respect to MSERS, MTRS, Boston teachers, and local cost-of-living
adjustments from 1981 to 1996.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Historical Pension Funding Progressfor the Last Ten Fiscal Years- Market Value
(Amountsin thousands except for percentages)

Unfunded
Actuarial UAAL as
Market Actuarial Accrued Annual % of
Value of Accrued Liability Funded Covered Covered
Plan Assets Liability (UAAL) Ratio Payroall Payroll
MSERS
Actuarial Valuation as
of Jan. 1
2017 $24,366,420 $38,316,719 $13,950,299 63.6% $5,927,012 235.4%
2016 23,176,451 36,966,278 13,789,827 62.7 5,792,288 238.1
2015 23,739,487 33,679,150 9,939,663 70.5 5,591,911 177.8
2014 22,721,053 30,679,600 7,958,547 74.1 5,344,510 148.9
2013 20,405,004 29,385,442 8,980,438 69.4 5,183,195 1733
2012 18,643,313 27,784,731 9,141,418 67.1 4,922,388 147.8
2011 19,313,545 26,242,776 6,929,231 73.6 4,808,250 144.1
2010 17,290,056 24,862,421 7,572,365 69.5 4,711,563 160.7
2009 15,447,467 23,723,240 8,275,773 65.1 4,712,655 175.6
2008 22,538,610 22,820,502 281,892 98.8 4,574,233 6.2
MTRS
Actuarial Valuation as
of Jan. 1
2017 $25,225,451 $49,193,503 $23,968,052 51.3% $6,583,871 364.0%
2016 24,308,553 46,562,807 22,254,254 52.2 6,388,732 348.3
2015 25,046,692 44,115,769 19,069,077 56.8 6,204,274 307.4
2014 24,183,391 40,741,695 16,558,304 59.4 5,962,650 271.7
2013 21,934,211 39,135,218 17,201,007 56.0 5,783,294 297.4
2012 20,128,614 36,483,027 16,354,413 55.2 5,655,353 289.2
2011 21,016,320 34,890,991 13,874,671 60.2 5,558.311 249.6
2010 19,329,511 33,738,966 14,409,455 57.3 5,509,698 261.5
2009 17,207,028 32,543,782 15,336,754 52.9 5,389,895 2845
2008 25,316,044 30,955,504 5,639,460 81.8 5,163,498 109.2
Aggregate
Commonwealth
Pension
Obligations (1)
Actuarial Valuation as
of Jan. 1
2017 $51,107,139 $91,573,998 $40,466,859 55.8%  $13,059,709 309.9%
2016 48,943,080 87,401,722 38,458,642 56.0 12,702,727 302.8
2015 50,289,770 81,535,003 31,245,233 61.7 12,302,162 254.0
2014 48,350,920 74,936,994 26,586,074 64.5 11,793,788 2254
2013 43,760,381 71,865,832 28,105,451 60.9 11,408,407 246.4
2012 39,946,984 67,546,587 27,599,603 59.1 11,011,466 250.6
2011 41,482,279 64,219,135 22,736,856 64.6 10,811,975 210.3
2010 37,808,823 61,575,676 23,766,853 61.4 10,655,881 223.0
2009 33,688,821 59,142,155 25,453,334 57.0 10,537,212 241.3
2008 49,234,569 56,636,710 7,402,141 86.9 10,156,252 729

SOURCE: Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission.
(1) Adggregate Commonwealth pension obligations include obligations with respect to MSERS, MTRS, Boston teachers, and local cost-of-living
adjustments from 1981-1996.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Annual Required Contributions

The following table sets forth the annual required contribution (ARC) by the Commonwealth for each of
the fiscal yearsindicated and the actual contributions made. The ARC was determined annually through fiscal 2014,
based on the most recent Commonweal th valuation, under Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
Statement No. 27. GASB 27 is no longer applicable with the implementation of GASB 67/68, as described below,
but the Commonwealth expects to continue calculating the ARC under GASB 27 principles for comparison.
Actuaria valuations have been performed annually since January 1, 2000. As noted above, the Commonwealth also
develops arevised funding schedule by statute at least every three years, and the Commonwealth made the full
contribution required, under the then-current funding schedule, for each year displayed in the table. The decrease
from fiscal 2016 to fiscal 2017 shown below in the percentage of the ARC funded reflects the assumptions and plan
changes described in the January 1, 2016 valuation report that increased plan liabilities.

The calculation of the Commonwealth’s ARC assumes amortization of the unfunded actuarial liability on a
4.0% annual increasing basis to fiscal 2040. (Thisis the minimum allowable funding schedule for local systems
under state pension law.) The amount shown in the table below for contributions made in the current fiscal year is
the amount required by the current funding schedule. The amounts shown for contributions made in fiscal 2016 and
fiscal 2017 include the costs associated with the early retirement incentive program (ERIP).

Annual Required Contributionsand Other Pension Contributions
(amounts in thousands)

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Annual required contribution (ARC) (1) $2,011,147 $2,217,130 $2,600,000 $3,060,000 $3,292,000
Contributions made $1,630,000 $1,793.000 $2,001,093 $2,198,093 $2,394,000
% of ARC funded for the fiscal year 81% 5% 7% 2% 73%
ARC asratio of total government expenditures (2) 5.3% 5.7% 6.4% 7.2% 7.6%

SOURCE: Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission.

(1) TheARC caculations for fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2014 differ from those disclosed in prior Information Statements, because the ARC
calculation in prior disclosures did not take into account amounts required to be contributed for Boston teachers and local cost-of-living
allowances. The ARC calculation for fiscal 2016 does not include costs associated with the ERIP because such costs had not yet been
identified at the time the calculation was made.

(2) Based on Total Budgeted Expenditures and Other Uses.

On June 25, 2012, GASB voted to approve two new standards that modify the accounting and financial
reporting of the Commonwealth’s pension obligations, GASB Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pension
Plans, which was effective for the Commonwealth’s fiscal 2014 CAFR, and GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting
and Financial Reporting for Pensions, which was effective for the Commonwealth’s fiscal 2015 CAFR. GASB 67
established new standards for defined benefit pension plan accounting and reporting, while GASB 68 required
changes to governments’ reporting of and inclusion of pension assets and liabilitiesin their annual CAFRs. GASB
68 requires governmentsto report in their statements of net position (or balance sheet) a net pension liability,
defined as the difference between the total pension liability (the present value of projected benefit payments to
employees based on their past service) and the assets (mostly investments reported at fair value) set aside in atrust
and restricted to paying benefits to current employees, retirees, and their beneficiaries. The new standard requires
recognition in the financial statements of pension expense, unlike GASB 27. The rate used to discount projected
benefit payments to their present value is based on a single rate that reflects (a) the long-term expected rate of return
on plan investments as long as the plan net position is projected under specified conditions to be sufficient to pay
pensions of current employees and retirees and the pension plan assets are expected to be invested using a strategy to
achieve that return and (b) ayield or index rate on tax-exempt 20-year AA-or-higher rated municipal bonds to the
extent that the conditions for use of the long-term expected rate of return are not met. Under the new standards, as
noted above, the ARC calculation, and the requirement to fund the ARC under GAAP, have been eliminated.

The tables that follow show pension-related information for both the MTRS and the M SERS as required by
GASB 67 and GASB 68 and as shown in the Commonwealth’ s fiscal 2016 CAFR. The MTRS and MSERS tables
subtitled “ Schedule of Changesin the Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios’ show the beginning and ending
liabilities and assets for the MTRS and MSERS, as well as both systems’ unfunded pension liability, or net pension
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liability (NPL), with the NPL being the amount that the Commonwealth records on its Statement of Net Position as
its unfunded pension liability. The table also shows the components of the change in the NPL between the beginning
(July 1) and end (June 30) of fiscal years 2014, 2015 and 2016.

The tables subtitled “Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources,” “Deferred
Outflows/Inflows of Resources,” “Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources’ and “Projected Recognition of
Deferred Outflows/Inflows)” show pension expenses that, under GASB 68, are recognized in the fiscal 2016 CAFR
as well astheinflows and outflows that under GASB 68 are recognized either in the fiscal 2016 CAFR or are
deferred and projected to be recognized in future fiscal year CAFRs.

The methodology required by GASB 68 to cal culate the Commonwealth’s NPL and other pension-related
measures (as reflected in the tables below) isin several respects different from the methodology used by PERAC in
calculating the Commonwealth’ s unfunded pension liability inits annual actuarial valuation. The most important
difference between the two methodologiesis that GASB 68 requires the value of pension plan assets be recorded at
market value as of June 30 of each fiscal year, meaning that investment gains and |losses are recognized
immediately, while the actuarial value of assets used by PERAC in calculating the Commonwealth’s unfunded
liability is measured using a five-year smoothing methodology, meaning that investment gains and losses are
amortized over five years. Therefore, the NPL information set out in the tables below based on GASB 68
requirementsis not strictly comparable to the unfunded liability and other pension-related information in PERAC's
annual actuarial valuations.

Under GASB 68, in order to provide adequate time for pension plans to distribute pension-related
information to pension plan participants (which include state authorities, local school collaboratives, and municipal
governments) for use in their annual CAFRS, governments are permitted to use the prior year’s NPL and other
pension-related measures in the current year’s CAFR. In conformance with GASB 68, the Commonwealth
determined that for the fiscal 2016 CAFR it would use the pension val uation information as of June 30, 2015. The
Commonwealth will use the June 30, 2016 pension information for its fiscal 2017 CAFR.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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GASB 67 Information for the M assachusetts Teachers Retirement System

Schedule of Changesin the Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios

Fiscal 2016, 2015 and 2014

(Amountsin thousands, except for percentages)

Eiscal 2016
Total pension liability (asof July 1) $45,918,711
Service cost 843,800
Interest 3,402,525
Differences between expected and actual experience (74,025)
Changes of assumptions (2), (3) -
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (2,791,011)
Net change in total pension liability 1,381,289
Total pension liability (as of June 30) $47,300,000
Plan fiduciary net position (asof July 1) $25,429,068
Contributions:

Non-employer - Commonwealth 1,124,583

Plan members 699,422

Other additions 202,796

Total contributions 2,026,801
Net investment income 441,363
Benefit payments, including refunds of plan member contributions (2,791,011)
Administrative expense (24,220)
Other changes (139,929)

Net change in plan fiduciary net position (486,996)
Plan fiduciary net position (as of June 30) $24,942,072
Plan net pension liability/(asset) (as of June 30) $22,357,928
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 52.7%
Covered employee payroll (4) $6,388,732
Net pension liability/(asset) as a percentage of covered employee payroll 350.0%

SOURCE: Office of the Comptroller

(1) Certain fiscal 2014 amounts were reclassified to conform to current year presentation.

Eiscal 2015

$41,435,000
768,032
3,166,728
153,000
3,080,000
(2,684,049)
4,483,711

$45,918,711

$25,538,646

1,021,930

669,941

190,925
1,882,796

845,503

(2,684,049)
(23,444)
(130,384)
(109,578)

$25,429,068

$20,489,643

55.4%

$6,204,274
330.3%

Eiscal 2014 (1)
$39,931,000
720,712
3,227,025

108,000

(2,551,737)
1,504,000

$ 41,435,000

$ 22,697,302

930,079

653,328

178,998
1,762,405

3,771,883

(2,551,737)
(20,499)

(120,708)
2,841,344

$25,538,646

$15,896,354

61.6%

$ 5,962,650
266.6%

(2) Thechangesin assumptionsin fiscal 2015 were dueto (i) a decrease in the investment rate of return (discount rate) from 8.0% to
7.75% in the January 1, 2015 actuarial valuation and (ii) improved future mortality.

(3) Subsequent to the issuance of the fiscal 2015 CAFR, the Commonwealth further reduced its discount rate to 7.50% from 7.75%.
Consequently, the Commonwealth has adjusted certain information as previously reported in the fiscal 2015 CAFR. This change
resulted in an increase of approximately $1.190 billion which affected the net pension liability as of and for the fiscal year ended

June 30, 2015.

(4) Reflects compensation in the January 1 actuarial valuation for each fiscal year.
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GASB 68 Information for the M assachusetts Teachers Retirement System (1)

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows/I nflows of Resour ces
(Amounts in thousands)

Service cost
Interest

Employee contributions

Pension Expense for Fiscal 2016 (7/1/14- 6/30/15)

Projected earnings on plan investments

Recognized portion of difference between expected and actual experience

Recognized portion of differencein projected and actual earnings on investments

Recognized portion of plan benefit changes

Recognized portion of assumption changes

Transfers and reimbursements from other systems

Member make up, redeposit and payments from rollovers

Administrative expense

Other changes (net)

Pension expense

Difference between expected and
actual experience

Assumption changes

Net difference between projected
and actual earnings on plan
investments

Total
Net

Difference between expected and
actual experience

Assumption changes
Net difference between projected

and actual earnings on plan
investments

Total

(1) Fiscal 2015 information is used in the fiscal 2016 CAFR,; fiscal 2016 information is to be used in the fiscal 2017 CAFR.

$768,032

3,166,728

(669,941)

(1,921527)

24,677

(183,459)

514,479

(44,899)

(32,8898)

23,444

17,246

$1,661,892

Deferred Outflows/I nflows of Resour ces
Y ear of Deferred Deferred Original Amortization
Deferral Outflows Inflows Amount Period (years) Amortization
2015 $128,323 - $153,000 6.2 $24,677
2014 72,590 - 108,000 6.1 17,705
2015 2,583,226 3,080,000 6.2 496,774
2014 - (1,195,992) (1,993,320) 5 (398,664)
2015 860,819 1,076,024 5 215,205
3,644,958 (1,195,992) -
$2,448,966 - $2,423,704 $355,697
Proj ected Recognition of Deferred Outflows/(I nflows)
Deferred Inflows/(outflows) recognized in Future Pension Expense
(fiscal years ending June 30)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
$24,677 $24,677 $24,677 $24,677 $24,677 $4,936
514,479 514,479 514,479 514,479 498,544 99,355
183,459 (183,459) (183,459) 215,205 0 0

$355,697 $355,697 $355,697 $754,361 $523,221 $104,291
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GASB 67 Information for the State Employees Retirement System

Schedule of Changesin the Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios
Fiscal 2016, 2015 and 2014
(Amounts in thousands, except for percentages)

Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2014 (1)
Total pension liability (asof July 1) $35,425,414 $31,355,000 $ 29,988,000
Service cost 813,975 700,012 631,634
Interest 2,638,929 2,411,551 2,405,204
Changes in benefit terms (2) 400,000 230,302 -
Differences between expected and actua experience 589,009 275,000 -
Changes of assumptions (3), (4) - 2,330,000 102,000
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (2,107,327) (1.876.451) (1,771,838)
Net change in total pension liability 2,334,586 4,070,414 1,367,000
Total pension liability (as of June 30) $37,760,000 $35,425,414 $ 31,355,000
Plan fiduciary net position (as of July 1) $24,042,585 $23,930,895 $ 21,084,958
Contributions:
Employers — Commonwealth and MassDOT 660,818 601,931 550,438
Non-employer contributions— Commonwealth 21,830 18,040 21,293
Employers and non-employers — other 16,642 15,808 6,048
ERIP funding contribution - Commonwealth 29,003 - -
Plan members 501,948 549,493 501,106
Other additions 397,077 92,503 68967
Total contributions 1,717,408 1,277,775 1,147,897
Net investment income 422,938 800,886 3,551,012
Benefit payments, including refunds of plan member contributions (2,107,327) (1,876,451) (1,771,838)
Administrative expense (20,624) (15,966) (12,705)
Other changes (83.824) (74,554) (68.429)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position (71,429) 111,690 $2,845,937
Plan fiduciary net position (as of June 30) $23,971,156 $24,042,585 $23,930,895
Plan net pension liability/(asset) (as of June 30) $13,788,844 $11,382,829 $7,424,105
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 63.5% 67.9% 76.3%
Covered employee payroll (5) $5,792,288 $5,591,911 $5,344,510
Net pension liability/(asset) as a percentage of covered employee payroll 238.1% 203.6% 138.9%
SOURCE: Office of the Comptroller
(1) Certain fiscal 2015 amounts were reclassified to conform to current year presentation
(2) Fiscal 2015 change in benefit terms reflects costs associated with the retirement incentive program approved in May, 2015. Fiscal
2016 change in benefit terms reflect costs related to Optional Retirement Plan members transferring to the State Employees’
Retirement System pursuant to Chapter 176 of the Acts of 2011.
(3) Thechangesin assumptionsin fiscal 2015 were due to (1) adecrease in the investment rate of return (discount rate) from 8.0% to
7.75% in the January 1, 2015 actuaria valuation and (2) improved future mortality.
(4) Subsequent to the issuance of the fiscal 2015 CAFR, the Commonwealth further reduced its discount rate to 7.50% from 7.75%.
Consequently, the Commonwealth has adjusted certain information as previously reported in the fiscal 2015 CAFR. This change
resulted in an increase of approximately $933 million which affected the net pension liability as of and for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2015.
(5) Reflects compensation in the January 1 actuarial valuation for each fiscal year.
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GASB 68 Information for the State Employees Retirement System (1)
Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows/I nflows of Resour ces

(Amounts in thousands)

Pension Expense for Fiscal 2016 (7/1/14 - 6/30/15)

Service cost $700,012
Interest 2,411,551
Employee contributions (549,493)
Projected earnings on plan investments (1,820,569)
Recognized portion of difference between expected and actual experience 50,000
Recognized portion of difference in projected and actua earnings on investments (177,011)
Recognized portion of assumption change 442,182
Change in benefit terms 230,302
Transfers and reimbursements from other systems (59,075)
Member make up, redeposit and payments from rollovers (9,461)
COLA reimbursements (23,214)
Other reimbursements (755)
Administrative expense 15,966
Other expenses that do not reduce the total pension ligbility 74,556
Pension expense $1,284,991
Deferred Outflows/I nflows of Resour ces
Y ear of Deferred Deferred Original Amortization
Deferral Outflows Inflows Amount Period (years) Amortization
Difference between expected and
actual experience 2015 $225,000 - $275,000 55 $50,000
Assumption changes 2014 64,909 - 102,000 55 18,546
2015 1,906,364 - 2,330,000 55 423,636
Net difference between projected
and actual earnings on plan
investments 2014 - (1,142,841) (1,904,736) 5.0 (380,948)
2015 815,746 - 1,019,683 50 203,937
Total 3,012,019 (1,242,841) - -
Net - ($1,869,178) $1,821,947 $315,171
Proj ected Recognition of Deferred Outflows/(I nflows)
Deferred Inflows/(outflows) recognized in Future Pension Expense
(fiscal years ending June 30)
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Difference between expected and
actual experience $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $25,000
Assumption changes 442,182 442,182 442,182 432,909 211,818
Net difference between projected
and actua earnings on plan
investments (177,011) (177,011) (177,011) 203,937 -
Total $315,171 $315,171 $315,171 $686,846 $236,818
(1) Fiscal 2015 information isused in the fiscal 2016 CAFR; fiscal 2016 information isto be used in the fiscal 2017 CAFR.
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Prospective Funded Status of the Pension System

The following tables project the funded status of the MSERS', the MTRS', the Boston teachers’, and the
Commonwealth’ s aggregate pension liabilities through fiscal 2021. The fiscal 2016 actuarial results reflect
assumptions outlined in the January 1, 2016 actuarial valuation report. All projections are estimates and will vary
based on actual investment returns and plan experience. The projections in this table assume that all assumptions
will be realized exactly. The actuarially determined contributions for fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2017 were the amounts
required by the funding schedule approved in 2014, plus the additional $29.1 million appropriations made on
account of the employee retirement incentive program. For fiscal 2018 and beyond, these figures reflect the funding
schedule filed in 2017. Under this schedule, appropriations increase by 8.94% per year until fiscal 2036. The
alocationsto individual retirement systems for fiscal 2018 and beyond are estimated, as reallocations to fund each
system’ s unfunded liability in fiscal 2036 have not yet been completed. Actuarial figures other than the actuarially
determined contribution reflect January 1 estimates of the fiscal year shown. The actuarial value of assets on January
1, 2016 was 101.2% of the market value of assets. The actuarial value of assets on January 1, 2017 is estimated to be
101.6% of the market value of assets. The actuarial value of assets on January 1, 2018 is assumed to be 101% of the
market val ue of assets. The actuarial value of assets on January 1, 2019, 2020 and 2021 is assumed to be 100% of
the market value of assets. The actuarial value of assetsis projected using the past history of PRIT Fund cash flows
to estimate future cash flows. The actuarial liability is projected from January 1, 2016 to January 1, 2017 using
standard methodol ogy. Projections beyond January 1, 2017 reflect slightly decreasing percentage increases to reflect
the impact of pension reform legislation enacted in 2011 as well as employee contribution increases as a percentage
of pay. Funding schedule information is based on the funding schedule filed by the Secretary of Administration and
Finance on January 13, 2017.

For the purpose of calculating the actuarially determined contribution as a percentage of total budgeted
operating funds expenditures, the Executive Office for Administration and Finance used the 3.85% compound
annual growth rate of budgeted revenues from fiscal 2007 to estimated fiscal 2017. This measureis aso used in the
Commonwealth’ s debt affordability analysis. This does not represent an official forecast of the growth in Total
Budgeted Expenditures and Other Uses by the Executive Office for Administration and Finance.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Prospective Funded Status of the Pension System (dollarsin millions) (1)

Actuarial Actuaria Unfunded ADC asa% of Tota
Actuarialy Determined Vaue of Accrued Actuaria Funded Budgeted Operating
Fiscal Year Contribution (ADC) Assets Liability Liability Ratio Funds Expenditures
MSERS
2016 $723 $23,466 $36,966 $13,500 63.5% 1.8%
2017 792 24,773 38,515 13,742 64.3 1.9
2018 863 25,618 40,132 14,514 63.8 2.0
2019 940 26,458 41,778 15,320 63.3 21
2020 1,024 27,653 43,449 15,795 63.6 2.2
2021 1,116 28,949 45,187 16,238 64.1 2.3
MTRS
2016 $1,132 $24,594 $46,563 $21,969 52.8% 2.8%
2017 1,246 25,638 48,091 22,453 53.3 29
2018 1,357 26,340 49,726 23,386 53.0 31
2019 1,479 27,024 51,367 24,343 52.6 3.2
2020 1,611 28,065 53,011 24,946 52.9 3.4
2021 1,755 29,210 54,680 25,470 534 35
Boston Teachers
2016 $120 $1,475 $3,711 $2,236 39.7% 0.3%
2017 132 1,539 3,821 2,282 40.3 0.3
2018 144 1,566 3,947 2,381 39.7 0.3
2019 157 1,584 4,073 2,489 389 0.3
2020 171 1,610 4,200 2,590 38.3 04
2021 186 1,627 4,330 2,703 37.6 0.4
Aggregate Commonwealth
Pension Obligations (2)
2016 (3) $2,001 $49,535 $87,401 $37,866 56.7% 4.9%
2017 (4) 2,198 51,950 90,575 38,625 57.4 52
2018 2,395 53,525 93,942 40,417 57.0 54
2019 2,609 55,066 97,343 42,278 56.6 5.7
2020 2,842 57,328 100,775 43,447 56.9 6.1
2021 3,095 59,786 104,303 44,517 573 6.0

SOURCE: Executive Office for Administration and Finance and Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission.

(1) Actuarial resultsreflect figures and assumption outlined in the January 1, 2016 Commonwealth Actuarial Valuation Report.

(2) Aggregate Commonwesalth pension obligations include obligations with respect to MSERS, MTRS, Boston teachers, and local cost-of-
living adjustments.

(3) Thefiscal 2016 budget included a$29 million appropriation (in addition to the $1.972 billion paid according to the schedule) to defray
costs associated with the employee retirement incentive program.

(4) Legidation approved in August, 2015 mandated a fiscal 2017 appropriation of $2,198,092,616, reflecting a $29.1 million increase to
defray costs associated with the employee retirement incentive program.

PRIT Fund Investments

The mission of the PRIM Board is to manage the PRIT Fund so asto ensure that pension assets are well
invested so that current and future benefit obligations are adequately funded in a cost-effective manner. The PRIM
Board therefore seeks to maximize the total return on investment, within acceptable levels of risk and cost for an
approximately 60% funded public pension fund. Under current law and projections, by the year 2040 the PRIT Fund
plans to have grown, through annual payments in accordance with alegidatively approved funding schedule and
through the total return of the fund, to an amount sufficient to meet the then existing pension obligations of the
Commonwealth.

The PRIM Board recognizes that over the long-term, asset allocation is the single greatest contributor of

return and risk to the PRIT Fund. The asset allocation plan adopted by the Board embodies its decisions about what
proportions of the PRIT Fund are to be invested in domestic and international equity and fixed income securities,
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alternative investments such as real estate, private equity and hedge funds, and, where appropriate, the various sub-
asset classes of each category. At reasonable intervals of not more than three to five years, the Board conducts a
comprehensive review of its asset allocation plan and its underlying assumptions, including the Commonwealth’s
current and projected pension assets and liabilities, long-term capital markets rate of return assumptions, and the
Board' s risk tolerances. The comprehensive review identifies a reasonabl e time horizon and investment strategy for
matching assets and liabilities, afund-level total return target, and an optimal allocation among available asset
classes and sub-asset classes. The Board examines the asset allocation plan annually and makes adjustments to the
plan as may be appropriate given the PRIT Fund’s long-term nature and objectives. PRIM has been informed that
the current target actuarial rate of returnis 7.5%. The PRIM Board does not determine this rate of return, but this
rate of return isakey input into the PRIT Fund’s asset allocation decisions.

The actual asset allocation mix invariably deviates from the PRIT Fund’starget allocations due to market
movement, cash flows, and manager performance. Material deviations from the asset allocation targets can alter the
expected return and risk of the PRIT Fund. The following table sets forth the actual PRIT Fund asset allocation for
each of the most recent five fiscal years, as well asthe current targets. The actual allocation figures are as of June 30
for each of the yearsindicated. The targets are those contained in the asset allocation plan, which was most recently
reviewed on February 14, 2017.

PRIT Fund Asset Allocation

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016  Target
Domestic Equity 19.2% 20.8% 19.0% 19.2% 18.7% 18.0%
International Equity 16.7 18.0 171 16.9 16.5 16.0
Emerging Markets Equity 6.7 6.5 7.0 6.6 7.0 6.0
Core Fixed Income 13.0 12.6 139 137 139 120
Vaue-Added Fixed Income 8.6 8.9 85 83 8.4 10.0
Private Equity 12.1 11.7 111 11.3 111 11.0
Redl Estate 9.7 8.2 89 10.0 104 10.0
Timber/Natural Resources 39 4.0 39 38 33 4.0
Hedge Funds 9.9 9.2 9.6 9.1 8.6 0.0
Portfolio Completion Strategies n/a n/a 0.0 0.2 12 13.0

SOURCE: Pension Reserves Investment Management Board.

The following table sets forth the investment rates of return for the assetsin the PRIT Fund for the last 10
fiscal years:

PRIT Fund Rates of Return (Gross of Fees)

Fiscal Year Rate of Return Fiscal Year Rate of Return
2016 2.29% 2011 22.30%
2015 3.86 2010 12.82
2014 17.53 2009 (23.87)
2013 12.69 2008 (1.81)
2012 (0.08) 2007 19.92

3yr average 7.68%
5yr average 7.05%
10yr average 5.69%

SOURCE: Pension Reserves Investment M anagement Board.
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Other Post-Employment Benefit Obligations (OPEB)

In addition to providing pension benefits, the Commonwealth is statutorily required to provide certain
health care and life insurance benefits (“other post-employment benefits’ or “OPEB”) for retired employees of the
Commonwealth, as well as retired employees of housing authorities, redevel opment authorities and certain other
governmental agencies (offline agencies). Substantially all of the Commonwealth’s employees may become eligible
for these benefits if they reach retirement age and eligibility while working for the Commonwealth. Eligible retirees
are required to contribute a specified percentage of the health care/benefit costs. The Commonweslth is reimbursed
for the cost of benefits to retirees of the eligible authorities and non-state agencies. (Although, as noted above, the
Commonwealth is required to pay pensions to retired municipal teachers, the Commonwealth has no OPEB
obligations with respect to retired municipal teachers.)

The GIC manages the Commonwealth’ s other post-employment benefits for all state and certain agency
employees and retirees. The GIC has representation on the Board of Trustees of the State Retiree Benefits Trust
(SRBT). The SRBT is set up to pay for former state employees OPEB benefits and to invest state and certain
municipalities funds that have been set aside to pay for OPEB benefits and the cost to administer those funds and
can only be dissolved when all such health care and other non-pension benefits, current and future, have been paid
or defeased.

The Commonwealth also oversees the management and administration of the Massachusetts Turnpike
Authority Retiree Benefits Trust, which is restricted for OPEB benefits of the retirees of the former Massachusetts
Turnpike Authority.

Employer and employee contribution rates are set by statute. The Commonwealth recognizes its share of
the costs on an actuarial basis. As of June 30, 2017, Commonwealth participants contributed 10% to 25% of
premium costs, depending on the date of hire and whether the participant is active, retiree or survivor status. See
“ COMMONWEALTH EXPENDITURES — Employee Benefits; Group Insurance.” The GIC had 168,531 state enrollees as
of January 1, 2016 (the date of the most recent actuarial valuation). As of that date, the Commonwealth was
responsible for the OPEB liability of 128,882 of those enrollees.

Accounting standards promulgated in 2004 by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
required the Commonwealth to begin disclosing its OPEB liability in its fiscal 2008 financial reports.

The January 1, 2016 actuarial valuation was issued on October 24, 2016. According to the report, the
Commonwealth’ s actuarial accrued OPEB liability, assuming no pre-funding and using a discount rate of 4.5%, was
approximately $16.323 hillion as of January 1, 2016. The 4.5% discount rate (which is the approximate rate of
return since its inception of the Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust) isintended to approximate the
Commonwealth’ s rate of return on non-pension (liquid) investments over the long term. Assuming pre-funding, the
study estimated the Commonwealth’ s liability to be approximately $10.155 billion using a discount rate of 7.50%. In
order to qualify its OPEB liahilities as pre-funded, the Commonwealth must deposit annual contributionsin a
qualifying trust in accordance with the requirements of GASB Statement No. 45 (and similar to the program for
funding the Commonwealth’s unfunded actuarial liability for pensions).

A liability for the difference between the amount funded and the actuarially required contribution is
reflected on the Commonwealth’s statement of net position, as presented on a GAAP basis. The liability increases or
decreases each year depending on the amount funded, investment return and changes in amortization and
assumptions. This change is reflected either as arevenue or expense item in the Commonwealth’s statement of
activities as presented on a GAAP basis, dependent on these factors. As of June 30, 2016, this net OPEB aobligation
as reflected on the Commonwealth’ s statement of net position is $6.466 billion.

The independent actuarial report covers only the Commonwealth’s OPEB obligations for Commonwealth
employees and their survivors. Municipalities and authorities of the Commonwealth, even if their health care
coverage is administered by the Group Insurance Commission, perform their own valuations, as the Commonwealth
acts only as an agent for the entities that participate in the GIC with respect to providing OPEB health insurance
benefits and does not assume the risk or financial burden of their health care costs.

GASB Statement No. 45 requires that OPEB obligations be recalculated at two-year intervals. Such
calculations may be affected by many factors, including changing experience and assumptions regarding future
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health care claims, coverage levels and retiree contribution requirements. Accordingly, the actuarial accrued liability
of the Commonwealth for OPEB liabilities may fluctuate.

The State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund was created to consolidate the state’ s retiree funding efforts and
better project future liabilities, and beginning in fiscal 2008, expenses for current state retirees healthcare were paid
from the fund. Also in fiscal 2008, the fund benefited from a one-time transfer of approximately $329 million from
the Health Care Security Trust. The fiscal 2012 budget included a requirement that, beginning in fiscal 2013, 10% of
the annual tobacco payments be transferred to the State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund, with the amount deposited to
the State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund to increase by 10% increments annually thereafter until 100% of all payments
would be transferred to that Fund. Pursuant to this requirement, in May, 2013, tobacco settlement proceedsin the
amount of $25.3 million were transferred to the State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund.

The fiscal 2014 budget included a provision that funded the scheduled transfer to the State Retiree Benefits
Trust Fund from unspent appropriations, to the extent that they were available, with any balance to be made up
through a transfer of tobacco settlement proceeds. In fiscal 2014, pursuant to that provision, unspent appropriations
in the amount of $56.4 million were transferred to the State Retirees Benefits Trust Fund, and approximately $15
million of tobacco proceeds were used to fund the balance of the transfer.

The fiscal 2015 budget contained a similar provision requiring the transfer of tobacco settlement funds,
equal to approximately $73.7 million, to be funded from unspent appropriations, to the extent that they were
available, with any balance to be made up through a transfer of tobacco settlement proceeds. In fiscal 2015, pursuant
to that provision, unspent appropriations in the amount of $44 million were transferred to the State Retirees Benefits
Trust Fund, and approximately $29.7 million of tobacco proceeds were used to fund the balance of the transfer.

The fiscal 2016 budget contained a similar provision requiring that transfers be made equivalent to 30% of
fiscal 2016 tobacco settlement proceeds (the same percentage required in fiscal 2015), or approximately $77 million,
to be funded from unspent appropriations, to the extent they were available, with any balance to be made up through
atransfer of fiscal 2016 tax revenues exceeding $100 million generated by atax amnesty program that was aso
authorized in the fiscal 2016 budget. In fiscal 2016, pursuant to the budget, unexpended appropriationsin the
amount of $77.3 million were transferred to the State Retirees Benefits Trust Fund.

The fiscal 2017 budget enacted by the Legislature requires that transfers be made equivalent to 10% of
fiscal 2017 tobacco settlement proceeds, or approximately $25.4 million. That transfer is contingent on the
availability of unexpended appropriations, and if those are insufficient to fund the 10% transfer, the balance of the
10% will be funded by tobacco settlement revenues. The Governor returned that section of the Legidature’s
proposal with an amendment, proposing instead to require a 30% transfer, asin fiscal 2016, which would resultin a
transfer of approximately $76 million. The Governor’s proposal was not acted upon by the Legidature, and expired
at the end of the legidlative session. Accordingly, under the fiscal 2012 provision cited above, 50% of fiscal 2017
tobacco settlement proceeds, or approximately $127 million, will be required to be transferred to the State Retirees
Benefits Trust Fund unless that provision is modified or waived by alegidative change. The Governor included a
proposal in the February 2017 supplemental budget to transfer the equivalent of 10% of fiscal 2017 tobacco
settlement proceeds. That proposal was adopted by the Legidature.

The fiscal 2018 budget enacted by the Legislature requires that transfers be made equivalent to 10% of the
fiscal 2018 tobacco proceeds, or approximately $25.4 million. The transfer is contingent on the availability of
unexpended appropriations, and if those are insufficient to fund the 10% transfer, the balance of the 10% will be
funded by tobacco settlement revenues.

State finance law also provides for annual depositsin to the State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund in the
amount of 5% of any capital gainstax revenues transferred to the Stabilization Fund in excess of the statutory capital
gains threshold. Thisresulted in deposits to the State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund of $23.4 million in fiscal 2013 and
$2.3 millionin fiscal 2014. This requirement was suspended by the legislature for fiscal years 2015 and 2016, but
reinstated for fiscal 2017. Asthe fiscal 2017 capital gains tax revenues did not exceed the statutory capital gains
threshold, no deposits were made to the State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund in fiscal 2017.
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The actuarial value of plan assets as of January 1, 2016 was approximately $760 million.

State Retiree Benefits Trust
(amountsin thousands)

Accrued Annual
Actuarial Unfunded Covered
Actuarial Valuation Value of Actuarial Liability Actuarial Ratio Payroll as %

asof January 1: Plan Assets Liability (UAAL) Covered Funded Payrall of UAAL
2016 $760,400 $17,082,900 $16,322,500 4.5% $5,792,288 281.8%

2015 610,000 16,502,800 15,892,800 37 5,591,911 284.2

2014 511,200 15,670,200 15,159,000 33 5,344,500 283.6

2013 406,700 15,784,100 15,377,400 26 5,183,195 296.7

2012 360,500 16,559,400 16,298,900 22 4,922,388 3311

2011 350,500 16,568,600 16,218,100 21 4,808,250 337.3

2010 309,800 15,166,300 14,856,500 20 4,711,563 3153

2009 273,500 15,305,100 15,031,600 18 4,712,655 319.0

2008 - 9,812,000 9,812,000 0.0 4,574,233 2145

Source: Office of the Comptroller and Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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COMMONWEALTH CAPITAL INVESTMENT PLAN

The Executive Office for Administration and Finance annually updates its five-year capital investment plan
on arolling basis. The five-year plan coordinates capital expenditures by state agencies and authorities that are
funded primarily by Commonwealth debt and federal reimbursements. The capital investment plan for fiscal 2018
through fiscal 2022 provides resources for various Commonwealth facilities and programs.

The Executive Office for Administration and Finance also sets an annual administrative limit on the
amount of bond-funded capital expenditures. The purpose of the administrative limit, known as the “bond cap,” isto
keep Commonwealth debt within affordable levels. In May, 2017, the Governor announced the five-year capital
investment plan for fiscal 2018 through fiscal 2022 and an administrative bond cap of $2.26 hillion. Thisincrease
represents a 3.2% increase over fiscal 2017, a smaller increase than projected growth in tax revenues.

The following table shows the all ocation of administrative bond cap spending by agency and the allocation
of total capital spending from all sources of funding for fiscal 2018:

Fiscal Year 2018 Capital Budget

(in millions)
Project- Federal Other
Agency Bond Cap Financed Funds Funds Total
Administration and Finance $123.9 $5.0 $0.0 $118.6 $247.4
Capital Asset Management 5225 125 0.5 320 567.4
Education 19.0 - - 12.0 31.0
Energy and Environmental Affairs 210.1 25 59.1 54.5 326.1
Housing and Community Development 210.8 - 30 10.0 2238
Housing and Economic Development 1319 - - 26.5 158.4
MassIT 138.5 425 120.3 8.3 309.7
Public Safety 19.2 12 - - 204
MassDOT 884.1 0.0 910.8 686.7 2,481.6
Total (1) $2,260.0 $63.7 $1,093.7 $948.5 $4,365.9

SOURCE: Executive Office for Administration as of May 11, 2017.
(1) Totals may not add due to rounding.

The different sources of funding for the capital program, as reflected in the table above, include:

e Administrative Bond Cap — Commonwealth general obligation borrowing to support the regular
capital program.

e Project Financed — General obligation bonds, the debt service for which is supported by savings or
revenue related to the project; for example, energy efficiency improvements to Commonwealth
facilities, the capital costs for which are expected to be reimbursed through operating savings as a
result of reduced energy consumption.

e Federal Funds— Federa reimbursements for capital expenditures.

e  Other Funds:

0 Accelerated Bridge Program (ABP) — Commonwealth special obligation bonds secured
by revenues credited to the Commonwealth Transportation Fund (CTF) or federal grant
anticipation notes secured by federal highway reimbursementsissued to fund capital
improvements to structurally deficient bridges through the ABP.

o0 Rail Enhancement Program (REP) — Commonwealth special obligation bonds to be
secured by revenues credited to the CTF to finance certain transit infrastructure projects
through the REP, previously referred to as Specia Obligation Transit Bonds.

0 Pay-As-You-Go — Funding from current revenue for capital projects, including toll
revenue.
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o Contributions made by third parties to capital projects being carried out by the
Commonwealth, including the I-Cubed program, contributions from campuses for higher
education projects, matching funds from cities and towns, and capital projects funded by
assessments.

The administrative bond cap is reviewed and subject to revision annually. Actual capital spending is subject
to variance from budget due to the nature of capital projects and programs comprising the plan. In addition, debt
affordability analysis and the assumptions and methodology that inform the analysis are subject to periodic review
and are updated annually. These and other factors are expected to affect the out-years of the current five-year plan.

The Commonwealth aggregates its capital expenditures into seven major categories based primarily on the
agencies responsible for spending and carrying out capital projects: information technology, infrastructure and
facilities, environment, housing, public safety, transportation and other. The following table sets forth capital
spending in fiscal 2012 through fiscal 2017 (fiscal 2017 is preliminary and subject to change) according to these
categories.

Commonwealth Historical Capital Spending (in millions) (1)

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2017
Investment Category:
Information technology $129 $133 $190 $207 $169 $207
Infrastructure/facilities 518 452 457 449 526 510
Environment 131 130 138 221 238 202
Housing 185 183 182 188 185 213
Public safety 17 17 22 26 18 17
Transportation 1,618 1,528 1,790 2,041 2,081 1,893
Other 125 183 227 242 215 269

SOURCE: Fiscal 2012-2016, Office of the State Comptroller; fiscal 2017, Executive Office for Administration and Finance.

(1) Includesall spending funded by capital appropriations, including General Obligation, Special Obligation, project financed, and
federal reimbursement spending.

(2) Totals may not add due to rounding.

One project for which capital spending is anticipated during fiscal 2017 is the extension of the MBTA'’s
Green Line from Cambridge into Somerville and Medford. MassDOT and the MBTA completed a comprehensive
review of the project in May, 2016, following a preliminary analysis that projected a cost increase ranging from
$700 million to $1 billion, as compared to the prior estimate. In the course of thisreview, the MBTA and MassDOT
paused additional contracting for the project, analyzed the source of the cost overrun, considered a redesign of the
project, and sought additional sources of funding. Following this review, arevised project scope with a new cost
estimate of $2.3 hillion and pledged contributions for the project totaling approximately $227 million from corridor
municipalities and the metropolitan planning organization was developed. The MassDOT Board of Directors and the
MBTA'’s Fiscal and Management Control Board (FMCB) voted on May 9, 2016 to approve the resubmission of the
project to the Federal Transit Administration (FTA). MassDOT and the MBTA submitted an updated finance plan to
the FTA in June, 2017. That updated finance plan is currently being reviewed by the FTA. MassDOT and the
MBTA will only issue final approval of the project once arevised finance plan is approved by the FTA and certified
bids are received within the revised cost estimate. The state share of this project is funded by special obligation
bonds. See “LONG-TERM LIABILITIES — Special Obligation Debt.”

Debt Affordability Policy

The Executive Office for Administration and Finance has established a debt affordability policy for the
Commonwealth. Pursuant to the debt affordability policy, the Executive Office for Administration and Finance has
set an annual borrowing limit at alevel designed to keep debt service on the Commonwealth’ s direct debt within 8%
of budgeted revenues.

For this purpose, debt service includes programs expected to be funded both within and outside of the bond
cap, including principal and interest payments on all general obligation debt, special obligation gastax debt, ABP
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debt, projected debt service for REP, general obligation contract assistance payment obligations and budgetary
contract assistant payment obligations on certain capital lease financings. This inclusive definition ensures that while
some programs are expected to be funded outside of the bond cap, the related debt service costs of the programs
should be fully accounted for under the debt affordability policy in setting the bond cap at appropriate levels.

For the purpose of the debt affordability analysis, budgeted revenue includes all Commonwealth taxes and
other revenues available to pay Commonwealth operating expenses, including debt service, pensions and other
budgetary obligations. It does not include off-budget revenues dedicated to the MBTA, the MSBA and the
Massachusetts Convention Center Authority (MCCA).

For the fiscal 2018 capital budget, the Governor increased the administrative bond cap to $2.260 billion
from $2.190 hillion in fiscal 2017. The fiscal 2018 debt affordability analysis was based on debt service as described
above and assumed growth of budgeted revenues at arate of 3.5% annually. The compound annual growth ratein
budgeted revenues from fiscal 2008 through fiscal 2018 (projected) is 4.44%. In addition to keeping debt service
within 8% of budgeted revenues, the debt management policy limits future annual growth in the bond cap for the
regular capital program to not more than $125 million.

The following table shows the projected total annual debt service payment obligations for the five-year
capital investment plan period from fiscal 2018 through fiscal 2022, projected budgetary revenues and the resulting
projected debt service as a percentage of projected budgeted revenues within 8% as prescribed by the Debt
Affordability Policy.

Affordability of Commonwealth | ndebtedness (in thousands)

Fiscal 2018 Fiscal 2019 Fiscal 2020 Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022
Total Debt Service (1) $2,724,262 $2,741,171 $3,018,799 $3,210,532 $3,275,906
Estimated Budgeted Revenues (2) $43,425,700 $44,945,600 $46,518,695 $48,146,850 $49,831,990
Debt Serviceas % of Net Budgeted Revenues  6.27% 6.10% 6.49% 6.67% 6.57%

SOURCE: Executive Office for Administration and Finance.

(1) For purposes of Debt Affordability Analysis, debt service includes principal and interest payments on all general obligation debt, special
obligation debt, accelerated bridge program debt, general obligation contract assistance and budgetary contract assistant obligations.
Projected general obligation borrowings assume level funding of administrative bond cap throughout the five-year capital plan period,
special obligation transit spending, and remaining authorized accelerated bridge program spending in fiscal years 2018-2022. Interest on
new debt obligations is assumed to be payable at an annual rate of 4.5% for 30 year bonds, increasing annually by 0.10%. Debt structureis
assumed to be level annual principal and interest payments. Projections are for planning purposes only and assumptions are subject to
change. New debt serviceis added to existing debt service in this Information Statement, and does not take into account the State
Treasurer’s active debt service management. Debt service projections will therefore exceed actual debt service in the short term.

(2) Budgeted revenues are projected to grow at arate of 3.5% annually. For purposes of the debt affordability analysis, budgeted revenues
include all Commonwealth taxes and other revenues available to pay Commonwealth operating expenses, including debt service, pensions
and other budgetary obligations. Budgeted revenues do not include off-budget revenues dedicated to the MBTA, the MSBA and the MCCA.

The Capital Debt Affordability Committee is charged with reviewing on a continuing basis the amount and
condition of the Commonwealth’s tax-supported debt, as well as the debt of certain state authorities. The Committee
isalso responsible for providing an estimate of the total amount of new Commonwealth debt that can prudently be
authorized for the next fiscal year, taking into account certain criteria, to the Governor and Legislature on or before
December 15 of each year. The committee’ s estimates are advisory and not binding on the Governor or the
Legislature. The Legidatureis responsible for authorizing Commonwealth debt. The Governor determines the total
amount capital spending for each fiscal year and the amount of new Commonwealth debt that he considers advisable
to finance such spending. The Committee consists of seven voting members — the Secretary of Administration and
Finance (who chairs the committee), the State Treasurer, the Comptroller, the Secretary of Transportation, one
appointee of the Governor and two appointees of the State Treasurer — and eight |egid ative leaders who are non-
voting members. The committee determined that up to $2.19 billion and $2.26 billion of capital debt issuance within
the bond cap could be prudently authorized for fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2018, respectively.
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LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
General Authority to Borrow

Under its constitution, the Commonwealth may borrow money (a) for defense or in anticipation of receipts
from taxes or other sources, any such loan to be paid out of the revenue of the year in which the loan is made, or (b)
by atwo-thirds vote of the members of each house of the Legidature present and voting thereon. The constitution
further provides that borrowed money shall not be expended for any other purpose than that for which it was
borrowed or for the reduction or discharge of the principal of the loan. In addition, the Commonwealth may give,
loan or pledge its credit by a two-thirds vote of the members of each house of the Legidature present and voting
thereon, but such credit may not in any manner be given or loaned to or in aid of any individual, or of any private
association, or of any corporation which is privately owned or managed.

The Commonwealth has waived its sovereign immunity and consented to be sued on contractual
obligations, which includes bonds and notesissued by it and all claims with respect thereto. However, the property
of the Commonwealth is not subject to attachment or levy to pay ajudgment, and the satisfaction of any judgment
generally requires legidative appropriation. Enforcement of a claim for payment of principal of or interest on bonds
and notes of the Commonweal th may al so be subject to the provisions of federal or Commonwealth statutes, if any,
hereafter enacted extending the time for payment or imposing other constraints upon enforcement, insofar as the
same may be constitutionally applied. The United States Bankruptcy Code is not applicable to states.

Commonwealth Debt. The State Treasurer is statutorily responsible for the borrowing needs of the
Commonwealth, including short-term cash flow needs and long-term borrowing needs for the capital budget.
Borrowing is accomplished through the sale of short-term notes and long-term bonds. The Commonwealth is
authorized to issue three types of direct debt — general obligation debt, special obligation debt and federal grant
anticipation notes. General obligation debt is secured by a pledge of the full faith and credit of the Commonwealth.
See “Genera Obligation Debt” below. Specia obligation debt may be secured either with a pledge of receipts
credited to the Commonwealth Transportation Fund (formerly the Highway Fund) or with a pledge of receipts
credited to the Convention Center Fund. See “Special Obligation Debt” below. Federal grant anticipation notes are
secured by a pledge of federal highway construction reimbursements. See “ Federal Grant Anticipation Notes”
below.

Other Long-Term Liabilities. The Commonwealth is also authorized to pledge its credit in aid of and
provide contractual support for certain independent authorities and political subdivisions within the Commonwealth.
These Commonwealth liabilities are classified as general obligation contract assistance liabilities or contingent
liabilities. In addition, the Commonwealth is authorized to pledge its credit in support of scheduled, periodic
payments to be made by the Commonwealth under interest rate swaps and other hedging agreements related to
bonds or notes of the Commonwealth.

General obligation contract assistance liabilities arise from statutory requirements for (i) payments by the
Commonwealth to the Massachusetts Clean Water Trust, MassDOT and the M assachusetts Devel opment Finance
Agency that are used by such entities to pay a portion of the debt service on certain of their outstanding bonds and
(i) payments from the Social Innovation Financing Trust Fund on “pay for success’ contracts, as described below.
Such liabilities congtitute a pledge of the Commonwealth’s credit for which a two-thirds vote of the Legidature is
required. See “ General Obligation Contract Assistance Liabilities” below.

Contingent liabilities relate to debt obligations of certain independent authorities and agencies of the
Commonwealth that are expected to be paid without Commonwealth assistance, but for which the Commonwealth
has some kind of liability if expected payment sources do not materialize. These liabilities consist of guaranties and
similar obligations with respect to which the Commonwealth’s credit has been or may be pledged, asin the case of
certain debt obligations of the MBTA (pre-2000), the Woods Hole, Martha' s Vineyard and Nantucket Steamship
Authority, and the higher education building authorities. The Commonwealth has certain statutorily contemplated
payment obligations with respect to which the Commonwealth’s credit has not been pledged, as in the case of the
Commonwealth’s obligation to fund debt service, solely from moneys otherwise appropriated for the affected
institution, owed by certain community colleges and state universities on bonds issued by the former Massachusetts
Health and Educational Facilities Authority (now the Massachusetts Devel opment Finance Agency) and the
Massachusetts State College Building Authority. See “Contingent Liabilities” below.
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Satutory Limit on Direct Debt. Since December, 1989, state finance law has included a limit on the amount
of outstanding “direct” bonds of the Commonwealth. For fiscal 2012, the debt limit was $18.944 billion under the
statute in place during fiscal 2012. In August, 2012, state finance law was amended, effective January 1, 2013, to
specify that the debt limit be calculated for fiscal years starting in fiscal 2013 using afiscal 2012 base value of
$17,070,000,000 and increasing the limit for each subsequent fiscal year to 105% of the previous fiscal year’s limit.
Based on this calculation, the statutory limit on “direct” bonds during fiscal 2018 is $22,875,432,585. Prior to
June 10, 2013, this limit was calculated using a statutory definition that differed from GAAP in that the principal
amount of outstanding bonds included the amount of any premium and was measured net of any discount, costs of
issuance and other financing costs (“net proceeds’). On June 10, 2013, state finance law was amended, effective
January 1, 2013, to change the statutory definition of outstanding debt from net proceeds to principal outstanding, a
change that brings the outstanding debt definition in conformance with GAAP.

The debt limit law provides that bonds to be refunded from the proceeds of Commonwealth refunding
bonds are to be excluded from outstanding “direct” bonds upon the issuance of the refunding bonds. Pursuant to
special legidation enacted over the years, certain outstanding Commonwealth debt obligations are not counted in
computing the amount of bonds subject to the limit, including Commonwealth refunding/restructuring bonds issued
in September and October, 1991, federal grant anticipation notes, bonds issued to pay operating notes issued by the
MBTA or to reimburse the Commonwealth for advances to the MBTA, bonds payable from the Central Artery and
Statewide Road and Bridge Infrastructure Fund, bonds issued to finance the Massachusetts School Building
Authority and bonds issued to finance the Commonwealth’s Accel erated Bridge Program. On August 10, 2016, the
Governor approved legidation that exempts from the statutory debt limit bonds that are issued to finance the
Commonwealth’ srail enhancement program.

The outstanding Commonwealth debt, the amounts of such outstanding debt excluded from the statutory
debt limit, the net amounts of such outstanding Commonwealth debt subject to the statutory debt limit and the
statutory debt limit as of the end of each of the last five fiscal years are shown in the following table on a statutory
basis.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Calculation of the Debt Limit

(in thousands)

Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2014 (4) Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2016 Eiscal 2017 (5) Fiscal 2018 (6)
Total principal balance $21,513,039 $22,419,852 $23,826,301 $25,079,591 $26,445,665 $26,100,764
Less: principal of direct debt
excluded from the statutory debt
limit:
Special obligation debt (1) (935,095) (888,405) (829,340) (768,365) (703,690) (703,690)
Accelerated bridge program (988,605) (1,403,850) (1,495,150) (1,535,890) (1,642,730) (1,642,730)
Rail enhancement program (2) - (644,540) (644,540)
Federal grant anticipation
notes (1) (449,100) (530,935) (699,855) (657,040) (738,010) (738,010)
Assumed county debt - -
MBTA forward funding (207) (207) (207) (207) (207) (207)
Transportation Infrastructure Fund (1,303,013) (1,241,263) (1,197,127) (1,150,296) (1,110,195) (1,108,788)
School Building Assistance
(SBA) 764,338 (723,917) (689,446) (652,197) (632,348) (599,387)
Outstanding direct debt, principal (3) $17,072,681 $17,631,275 $18,915,176 $20,315,596 $20,973,945 $20,663,413
Statutory Debt Limit $17,923,500 $18,819,675 $19,760,659 $20,748,692 $21,786,126 $22,875,433

SOURCE: Office of the Comptroller.

(1) Includesfederal grant anticipation notes issued as crossover refunding bonds. The refunding escrows funded by these bonds and related
premiums are used to pay interest on the refunding bonds until the refunded bonds are callable and then to redeem the refunded bonds.
Interest on the refunded bonds prior to redemption continues to be paid from pledged revenues as before.

(2) Exempt from the debt limit, effective August 10, 2016.

(3) Includes accretion of capital appreciation bonds.

(4) Inaccordance with GAAP, includes $200 million in principal related to commercial paper bond anticipation notes (BANs) which were
retired subsequent to year-end upon the issuance of long-term general obligation bonds on July 11, 2014.

(5) Amounts are as of June 30, 2017 and are unaudited.

(6) Amountsare asof August 31, 2017 and are unaudited.

General Obligation Debt

Asof August 31, 2017, the Commonwealth had approximately $22.4 billion in general obligation bonds
outstanding, of which $18.7 billion, or approximately 84% was fixed rate debt and $3.6 hillion, or 16%, was
variable rate debt. The Commonwealth’ s outstanding general obligation variable rate debt consists of several
variable rate structures. These structures include floating rate notes in various interest rate modes, direct purchase
agreements in various interest rate modes, multi-modal bonds currently in the Term Mode, and variable rate demand
bonds. Variable rate demand bonds, which account for $576.4 million of outstanding general obligation debt as of
August 31, 2017, are supported by liquidity facilities that require the bonds to be tendered by a specified date if the
facility is not replaced or the bonds are not otherwise refinanced. See “Liquidity Facilities.” For the purpose of
reporting general obligation debt outstanding and variable rate debt outstanding, future compounded interest on the
Commonwealth’ s variable rate College Opportunity Bonds, as discussed in greater detail below, isincluded as debt
outstanding. Additionally, any outstanding commercial paper, bond anticipation notes, or revenue anticipation notes,
as more fully described below, are not reported in general obligation debt outstanding cal culations.

Of all Commonwealth variable rate debt outstanding, the interest rates on $1.6 hillion, or approximately 7%
of total general obligation debt, have been synthetically fixed by means of floating-to-fixed interest rate swap
agreements. These agreements are used as hedges to mitigate the risk associated with variable rate bonds.

Under state finance law, scheduled, periodic payments to be made by the Commonwealth pursuant to swap
agreements in existence on August 1, 2008 or entered into after such date constitute general obligations of the
Commonwealth to which its full faith and credit are pledged. The remaining variable rate debt of $2.0 hillion or
approximately 9% of the total outstanding general obligation debt, is unhedged and, accordingly, floats with interest
rates re-set on a periodic basis.
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The Commonwealth has announced its intention to implement a multi-year asset/liability management
strategy. The intent of the asset/liability strategy isto better balance the Commonwealth’ s interest rate exposure
between its cash assets and debt liabilities by increasing the portion of its outstanding debt issued as unhedged,
floating rate bonds. The Commonweal th intends to achieve this balance over a number of years, in part by issuing
additional variable rate debt.

Asof August 31, 2017, the Commonwealth had outstanding approximately $141.8 million ($79.8 million
principal and including a discount equal to $62.0 million) of variable rate “U. Plan” bonds, sold in conjunction with
a college savings program administered by the Massachusetts Educational Financing Authority (MEFA), which bear
deferred interest at arate equal to the percentage change in the consumer price index plus 2%, together with current
interest at the rate of 0.5%. This debt is held directly by MEFA and has no secondary market.

The Commonwealth is authorized to issue short-term general obligation debt as revenue anticipation notes
or bond anticipation notes. Fixed-rate revenue anticipation notes (RANS) are issued by the State Treasurer annually
in anticipation of revenue receipts for the same fiscal year. Revenue anticipation notes must be repaid no later than
the close of the fiscal year in which they are issued. Bond anticipation notes may be issued by the State Treasurer in
anticipation of the issuance of bonds, including, in some circumstances special obligation bonds. See “ Special
Obligation Debt” below. In addition, as of August 31, 2017 the Commonwealth had liquidity support for a
$400 million commercia paper program which it utilizes for cash flow purposes.

Special Obligation Debt

Commonwealth Transportation Fund. Section 20 of Chapter 29 of the General Laws, as amended,
authorizes the Commonwealth to issue specia obligation bonds secured by all or a portion of revenues accounted to
the Commonwealth Transportation Fund (formerly the Highway Fund). Revenues which are accounted to the
Commonwealth Transportation Fund are primarily derived from taxes and fees relating to the operation or use of
motor vehicles in the Commonwealth, including the motor fuels excise tax and registry of motor vehicles fees. In
addition, a portion of the Commonwealth’s receipts from the sales tax is dedicated to the Commonwealth
Transportation Fund (see “COMMONWEALTH REVENUES— State Taxes,; Sales and Use Tax”), and state finance law
currently provides for a series of substantial transfers from the General Fund to the Commonwealth Transportation
Fund through fiscal 2020; none of the sales tax receipts or General Fund transfers has been pledged to secure
Commonwealth special obligation bonds.

Between 1992 and 2005, the Commonwealth issued special obligation bonds secured by alien ona
specified portion of the motor fuels excise tax. As of August 31, 2017, the Commonwealth had outstanding
approximately $128.3 million of such special obligation bonds secured by a pledge of 6.86¢ of the 24¢ motor fuels
excise tax. In December, 2010, the trust agreement securing such bonds was closed to further issuance of additional
debt, with the exception of refunding bonds.

The Commonwealth is a so authorized to issue approximately $1.876 billion of special obligation bonds
secured by a pledge of al or aportion of revenues accounted to the Commonwealth Transportation Fund (“CTF
Bonds") to fund a portion of the Commonwealth’s accelerated structurally-deficient bridge program (“ Accelerated
Bridge Program” or “ABP”). Additionally, in April, 2014, the Commonwealth was authorized to issue up to $6.7
billion in genera obligation debt, special obligation debt, or a combination of both, for the purpose of funding
capital expenditures of MassDOT, for the benefit of the MBTA and for other rail improvement projects (“Rail
Enhancement Program” or “REP”). As of August 31, 2017, the Commonwealth had outstanding approximately $2.3
billion of CTF Bonds, which are secured by a pledge of registry fees and a specified portion of the motor fuels
excise tax, $1.6 billion of which have been issued in support of the ABP and $644.5 million of which have been
issued in support of the REP.

Convention Center Fund. Chapter 152 of the Acts of 1997, as amended, authorized $694.4 million of
special obligation bonds to be issued for the purposes of building a new convention center in Boston
($609.4 million), the Springfield Civic Center ($66 million), and the Worcester convention center ($19 million). The
bonds are payable from moneys credited to the Convention Center Fund created by such legidation, which include
certain hotel tax receipts from hotels in Boston, Cambridge, Springfield and Worcester, a surcharge on car rentalsin
Boston, a parking surcharge at all three facilities, a surcharge on sightseeing tours and cruises in Boston and sales
tax receipts from certain hotels and other retail establishmentsin Boston, Cambridge and Springfield. The
legislation requires a capital reserve fund to be maintained at alevel equal to maximum annual debt service and
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providesthat if the fund falls below its required balance, the 2.75% convention center financing fee in Boston isto
be increased (though the overall hotel tax in Boston, including the fee, cannot exceed 14%). In June, 2004, the
Commonwealth issued $686.7 million of special obligation bonds secured solely by the pledge of receipts of tax
revenues within the special districts surrounding the centers and other special revenues connected to such facilities,
and in June, 2005, the Commonwealth issued $527.6 million of special obligation refunding bonds, which advance
refunded, in part, the 2004 issue. Of the 2004 and 2005 special obligation bonds secured solely by the pledge of
receipts of tax revenues in the Convention Center Fund, approximately $575.4 million remained outstanding as of
August 31, 2017.

On July 29, 2014, the Governor approved |egid ation authorizing the Commonwealth to issue an additional
$1.1 billion in special obligation bonds to finance an expansion of the convention center in Boston, to finance costs
of issuance and fund a debt service reserve fund. Such bonds would be secured by and payable from the Convention
Center Fund, with the State Treasurer and Secretary of Administration and Finance having the authority to pledge
additional state hotel/motel room occupancy excises to the new bonds. The expansion project is currently on hold.

Federal Grant Anticipation Notes

The Commonwealth is also authorized to issue $1.1 billion of grant anticipation notes (“GANS") secured
by future federal fundsto fund a portion of the ABP. Such notes are secured by a back-up pledge of net amountsin
the Commonwealth Transportation Fund after application of such amounts in accordance with the trust agreement
securing the CTF Bonds and previously issued bonds secured by motor fuels excise taxes. The Commonwealth
expects to pay interest on the notes supporting the ABP from state appropriations. As of August 31, 2017,
$738.0 million of GANs was outstanding.

Build America Bonds

The Commonwealth has issued bonds in the form of Build America Bonds (BABS) and as Recovery Zone
Economic Development Bonds (RZEDBS). BABs and RZEDBs were authorized under the federal American
Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA). Pursuant to ARRA, the Commonwealth is entitled to receive cash
subsidy payments from the federal government equal to 35% of the debt service payable on the BABs and 45% of
the debt service payable on the RZEDBS, provided, in both cases, that the Commonwealth makes certain required
filings in accordance with applicable federal rules. Such interest subsidy payments are treated under federal law as
overpayments of tax and, accordingly, are subject to offset against certain amounts that may be owed by the
Commonwealth to the federal government or its agencies. In federal fiscal year 2016, such payments were subject to
a sequestration reduction of 6.8%, with the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015, approved by the President on November
2, 2015, extending the sequestration provisions through federal fiscal year 2025. For federal fiscal year 2017, this
reduction increased to 6.9%, and for federal fiscal year 2018, this reduction has been decreased to 6.6%. Beginning
in fiscal 2012, such subsidy payments received by the Commonwealth are required to be deposited in a Build
America Bonds Subsidy Trust Fund and used, without further legidlative appropriation, to pay debt service on the
related BABs and RZEDBs. The Commonwealth is obligated to make payments of principal and interest on the
BABs and RZEDBs whether or not it receives interest subsidy payments. As of August 31, 2017, $2.1 billion of the
Commonwealth’s outstanding general obligation debt was comprised of BABs, $419.8 million of the outstanding
CTF bonds were comprised of BABs, $156.4 million of the outstanding CTF bonds were comprised of RZEDBs and
$77.0 million of the outstanding grant anticipation notes were comprised of BABs.

The following table shows long-term debt of the Commonwealth issued and retired from fiscal 2013

through fiscal 2017, exclusive of unamortized bond premiums:

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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General and Special Obligation Long-Term Debt | ssuance and Repayment Analysis (in thousands) (1)

Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2014 (4) Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2017 (5)
Beginning Balance as of July 1 $21,433,553 $21,513,039 $22,419,852 $23,826,301 $25,079,591
Debt Issued 1,470,473 2,359,899 2,918,817 2,766,419 2,877,265
Subtotal 22,904,026 23,672,983 25,338,669 26,592,720 27,956,856
Debt retired or defeased, exclusive of
refunded debt (1,386,527) (1,434,511) (1,486,243) (1,446,444) (1,389,581)
Refunding debt issued, net of
refunded debt (3) (4.,460) (18,575) (26,125) (66,685) (121,610)
Ending Balance June 30 (2) $21,513,039 $22,419,852 $23,826,301 $25,079,591 $26.445,665

SOURCE: Office of the Comptroller.

(1) Including accretion of capital appreciation bonds.

(2) Includesfederal grant anticipation notesissued as crossover refunding bonds. The refunding escrows funded by these bonds and
related premiums are used to pay interest on the refunding bonds until the refunded bonds are callable and then to redeem the refunded
bonds. Interest on the refunded bonds prior to redemption continues to be paid from pledged revenues as before.

(3) Amounts may be negative due to defeasances of debt of authorities from the issuance of Commonwealth debt as afforded under
General Laws.

(4) Inaccordance with GAAP, includes $200 million in principal related to commercial paper bond anticipation notes (BANs) which were
retired subsequent to year-end upon the issuance of long-term general obligation bonds on July 11, 2014.

(5) Amounts are unaudited.

The following table sets forth the amounts of Commonwealth long-term general obligation debt, special
obligation debt and federal grant anticipation notes outstanding, exclusive of unamortized bond premiums, as of the
end of the last five fiscal years.

Outstanding Long Term Commonwealth Debt (in thousands)

Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2014 (1) Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2017 (2)
General Obligation Debt $19,140,239 $19,596,662 $20,801,956 $21,668,296 $22,716,695
Specia Obligation Debt 1,923,700 2,292,255 2,324,490 2,754,255 2,990,960
Federal Grant Anticipation
Notes 449,100 530,935 699,855 657,040 738,010
TOTAL $21,513,039 $22,419,852 $23,826,301 $25,079,501 $26,445,665

SOURCE: Office of the Comptroller.

(1) Inaccordance with GAAP, includes $200 million in principal related to commercial paper bond anticipation notes (BANs) which were
retired subsequent to year-end upon the issuance of long-term general obligation bonds on July 11, 2014.

(2) Amounts are unaudited.

Debt Service Requirements

The following table sets forth, as of August 31, 2017, the annual fiscal year debt service requirements on
outstanding Commonwealth general obligation bonds, special obligation bonds and federal grant anticipation notes.
For variable-rate bonds with respect to which the Commonwealth is a fixed-rate payor under an associated interest
rate swap agreement, the debt service schedule assumes payment of the fixed rate due under such agreement. For
other variable-rate bonds, the schedule assumes a 5% interest rate.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Debt Service Requirements on Commonwealth Bonds as of August 31, 2017 through Maturity (in thousands)

General Obligation Bonds Federal Highway Grant Anticipation Notes

Period Gross Build America Gross Build America Net Debt
Ending Principal Interest CABs Bond Subsidies Net Interest Debt Service Principal Interest Bond Subsidies I nterest Service
6/30/2018 $1,003,900 $768,716 $ - (%$24,658) $744,057 $1,747,957 $47,150 $36,046 ($1,147) $34,899 $82,049
6/30/2019 1,341,150 938,462 4,852 (36,557) 901,905 2,247,906 62,985 33,877 (973) 32,904 95,889
6/30/2020 1,250,519 882,772 4,410 (36,300) 846,472 2,101,402 66,015 30,847 (782) 30,065 96,080
6/30/2021 1,211,278 821,284 4,265 (35,014) 786,271 2,001,814 69,275 27,590 (577) 27,014 96,289
6/30/2022 1,152,285 766,660 4,436 (32,698) 733,962 1,890,684 72,700 24,162 (357) 23,805 96,505
6/30/2023 1,034,328 714,071 4,532 (31,412) 682,659 1,721,519 76,315 20,549 (122) 20,427 96,742
6/30/2024 1,001,326 662,419 4,195 (31,412) 631,007 1,636,527 79,720 17,142 - 17,142 96,862
6/30/2025 995,179 615,333 4,303 (31,177) 584,156 1,583,637 83,705 13,161 - 13,161 96,866
6/30/2026 918,327 570,763 4,414 (30,776) 539,986 1,462,728 87,880 8,987 - 8,987 96,867
6/30/2027 827,255 528,617 4,605 (30,203) 498,414 1,330,274 92,265 4,600 - 4,600 96,865
6/30/2028 789,922 491,460 4,842 (28,953) 462,507 1,257,270 - - - - -
6/30/2029 842,906 455,356 4,433 (26,687) 428,669 1,276,008 - - - - -
6/30/2030 804,819 417,871 4,148 (22,892) 394,979 1,203,945 - - - - -
6/30/2031 783,937 375,882 3,985 (16,808) 359,074 1,146,996 - - - - -
6/30/2032 692,883 346,335 3,709 (24,776) 331,559 1,028,151 - - - - -
6/30/2033 507,010 319,637 2,836 (12,440) 307,197 817,043 - - - - -
6/30/2034 502,354 297,029 2,149 (11,068) 285,961 790,464 - - - - -
6/30/2035 510,406 275,441 1,483 (9,647) 265,794 777,683 - - - - -
6/30/2036 543,908 251,902 887 (8,177) 243,725 788,520 - - - - -
6/30/2037 568,896 225,980 548 (6,654) 219,326 788,770 - - - - -
6/30/2038 533,711 200,315 279 (5,077) 195,238 729,228 - - - - -
6/30/2039 539,255 176,394 - (3,445) 172,949 712,204 - - - - -
6/30/2040 535,500 152,622 - (1,609) 151,013 686,513 - - - - -
6/30/2041 539,630 129,752 - - 129,752 669,382 - - - - -
6/30/2042 603,140 108,027 - - 108,027 711,167 - - - - -
6/30/2043 646,130 84,254 - - 84,254 730,384 - - - - -
6/30/2044 573,725 57,631 - - 57,631 631,356 - - - - -
6/30/2045 448,485 39,025 - - 39,025 487,510 - - - - -
6/30/2046 419,320 20,791 - - 20,791 440,111 - - - - -
6/30/2047 181,000 5,375 - - 5,375 186,375

Totals (1) $22,302,483 $11,700,176 $69,311 ($488,441) $11,211,733 $33,583,528 $738,010 $216,961 ($3,957) $213,003 $951,013

SOURCE: Office of the Comptroller.
(1) Totals may not add due to rounding.
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Special Obligation Revenue Bonds

(Convention Center)

Period

Ending Principal Interest Debt Service
6/30/2018 $23,310 $15,582 $38,892
6/30/2019 24,475 30,126 54,601
6/30/2020 23,380 28,842 52,222
6/30/2021 24,610 27,673 52,283
6/30/2022 25,970 26,380 52,350
6/30/2023 27,440 24,952 52,392
6/30/2024 28,990 23,443 52,433
6/30/2025 30,625 21,848 52,473
6/30/2026 32,360 20,164 52,524
6/30/2027 34,190 18,384 52,574
6/30/2028 36,125 16,504 52,629
6/30/2029 38,170 14,517 52,687
6/30/2030 40,330 12,418 52,748
6/30/2031 42,610 10,199 52,809
6/30/2032 45,020 7,856 52,876
6/30/2033 47,565 5,380 52,945
6/30/2034 50,250 2,764 53,014
6/30/2035 - - -
6/30/2036 - - -
6/30/2037 - - -
6/30/2038 - - -
6/30/2039 - - -
6/30/2040 - - -
6/30/2041 - - -
6/30/2042 - - -
6/30/2043 - - -
6/30/2044 - - -
6/30/2045 - - -
6/30/2046 - - -
Totals(1) $575,420 $307,032 $882,452

SOURCE: Office of the Comptroller.
(1) Totals may not add due to rounding.

Principal
$13,600
14,545
15,745
17,055
20,540
28,870
38,425
50,205
52,750
55,535
50,525
52,830
53,265
58,945
61,840
64,965
68,160
68,225
71,800
78,920
79,290
83,645
87,935
92,515
97,290
101,560
105,625
5,625
52,500
$1,642,730
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Special Obligation Revenue Bonds

(CTFE- Accelerated Bridge Program)

GrossInterest
$81,193
80,543
79,847
79,059
78,207
77,211
75,780
73,861
71,312
68,534
65,667
63,220
60,679
57,971
54,939
51,679
48,350
44,819
41,269
37,524
33,590
29,464
25,164
20,629
16,740
12,245
7,550
2,325
2,100
$1,441,471

Build America
Bond Subsidies

($12,314)
(12,314)
(12,314)
(12,314)
(12,314)
(12,314)
(12,314)
(11,937)
(11,529)
(11,065)
(10,575)
(10,058)

(9,512)
(8,935)
(8,316)
(7,661)
(6,970)
(6,239)
(5,466)
(4,650)
(3,718)
(2,546)
(1,308)

($206,686)

Net Interest
$68,879
68,229
67,532
66,745
65,892
64,897
63,465
61,924
59,783
57,468
55,092
53,162
51,168
49,036
46,623
44,018
41,381
38,580
35,803
32,874
29,872
26,918
23,856
20,629
16,740
12,245
7,550
2,325
2,100
$1,234,786

Debt Service
$82,479
82,774
83,277
83,800
86,432
93,767
101,890
112,129
112,533
113,003
105,617
105,992
104,433
107,981
108,463
108,983
109,541
106,805
107,603
111,794
109,162
110,563
111,791
113,144
114,030
113,805
113,175
7,950
54,600
$2,877,516



Special Obligation Revenue Bonds Special Obligation Revenue Bonds

GasTax (CTE — Rail Enhancement Program)

Period

Ending Principal Interest Debt Service Principal Interest Debt Service
6/30/2018 $23,040 $6,785 $29,825 $23,435 $28,644 $52,079
6/30/2019 24,300 5,518 29,818 24,210 27,576 51,786
6/30/2020 25,640 4,182 29,822 24,800 26,483 51,283
6/30/2021 26,905 2,916 29,821 25,450 25,308 50,758
6/30/2022 28,385 1,436 29,821 24,075 24,054 48,129
6/30/2023 - - - 17,865 22,930 40,795
6/30/2024 - - - 10,605 22,066 32,671
6/30/2025 - - - 1,215 21,594 22,809
6/30/2026 - - - 1,265 21,545 22,810
6/30/2027 - - - 1,310 21,495 22,805
6/30/2028 - - - 9,255 21,429 30,684
6/30/2029 - - - 9,810 21,016 30,826
6/30/2030 - - - 12,405 20,525 32,930
6/30/2031 - - - 9,900 20,061 29,961
6/30/2032 - - - 10,530 19,566 30,096
6/30/2033 - - - 11,190 19,040 30,230
6/30/2034 - - - 11,885 18,480 30,365
6/30/2035 - - - 15,945 17,886 33,831
6/30/2036 - - - 16,530 17,274 33,804
6/30/2037 - - - 13,980 16,448 30,428
6/30/2038 - - - 18,245 15,749 33,994
6/30/2039 - - - 18,920 14,844 33,764
6/30/2040 - - - 19,860 13,914 33,774
6/30/2041 - - - 20,795 12,938 33,733
6/30/2042 - - - 23,510 12,011 35,521
6/30/2043 - - - 24,110 11,038 35,148
6/30/2044 - - - 25,135 10,040 35,175
6/30/2045 - - - 130,805 8,998 139,803
6/30/2046 - - - 87,500 3,500 91,000
Totals (1) $128,270 $20,837 $149,107 $644,540 $536,453 $1,180,993

SOURCE: Office of the Comptroller.
(1) Totals may not add due to rounding.
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Interest Rate Swaps

The Commonwealth has entered into interest rate swap agreements for the sole purpose of hedging changesin the
interest rates on a portion of its outstanding variable rate bonds, predicated on the assumption that the interest on such bonds,
combined with the cost of the associated interest rate swaps, would produce lower aggregate interest costs than fixed-rate
bonds. As of August 31, 2017, approximately $1.6 billion of the Commonwealth’s outstanding variable-rate debt is
synthetically fixed via floating-to-fixed interest rate swap hedge agreements. Not included in thisfigure is an additional $77.3
million in synthetically fixed debt associated with special obligation issues as shown in the table below.

Under the terms of these floating-to-fixed rate hedge agreements, the counterparties to the swaps are obligated to pay
the Commonwealth an amount equal or approximately equal to the variable-rate payment on the related bonds or a payment
based on a market index, and the Commonwealth is obligated to pay the counterparties a stipulated fixed rate. The floating rate
received by the Commonwealth from swap counterpartiesis used to offset the variable rate paid to bondholders. Only the net
difference in interest paymentsis actually exchanged with the counterparty. The net payments made or received on these
agreements are reported as part of interest expense in the Commonwealth’s basic financial statements. In all cases, the
Commonwealth remains responsible for making interest payments to the variable-rate bondholders.

Theintended effect of these agreements is essentially to fix the Commonwealth’ s interest rate obligations with respect
to its variable-rate bonds in order to hedge or mitigate the Commonwealth’s exposure to changes in interest rates on these
bonds. For example, during a period when interest rates rise, the Commonwealth would receive higher payments from swap
counterparties that would be used to offset higher payments to bondholders of the outstanding variable rate bonds. During a
period when interest rates decline, the reduction in interest payments to bondholders would offset the higher payments made to
swap counterparties. In both scenarios, the net obligation of the Commonwealth is essentially fixed through the life of the swap
and bonds. This allows the Commonwealth to finance its capital budget using floating rate bonds, which, combined with
interest rate swaps, are assumed to be less costly than fixed-rate bonds, while hedging the risk of rising interest rates on those
bonds to provide long-term budget certainty. As of June 30, 2017, al of the Commonwealth’ s interest rate swaps were floating-
to-fixed rate agreements and were deemed effective hedges, as provided for in GASB Statement No. 53.

The bonds and related swap agreements have final maturities ranging from 2018 to 2033. The total notional value of
approximately $1.6 billion effectively matches the par amount of the related variable-rate bonds. Under the swap agreements,
the Commonwealth pays the relevant counterparties fixed rates ranging from 3.724% to 4.515% and receives variable-rate
payments equal to or approximately equal to the amount of variable rate payments the Commonwealth pays on the related
variable-rate refunding bonds or a payment based on a market index.

All of the Commonwealth’s counterparties are required to post collateral in certain circumstances. The

Commonwealth is not required to post collateral under any of its existing swap agreements.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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The following table describes the interest rate swap agreements, all of which are floating-to-fixed rate hedges that the Commonwealth has entered into
in connection with certain of its outstanding variable rate bond issues as of August 31, 2017.

Associated Bond | ssue
General Obligation Bonds:
Series 2001B & C Refunding

Series 2015B, 2015C, 2017A & 2017B (refunding)

Series 2006C (refunding)

Series 2007A (refunding)

Series 2007A (refunding)

Series 2000A

Series 2000A

Series 2006B, Series 2016C

Subtotal

Outstanding
Notional
Amount

(thousands)

327,870

438,490

100,000

31,665

414,130

13,492

6,583

$293,985

$1,626,215

Bond
Floating
Rate

LIBOR/
SIFMA

SIFMA

CPI

LIBOR

LIBOR

VRDB

VRDB

LIBOR

Swap
Fixed Swap
Rate Variable
Paid Rate Effective Termination Fair valueas
(Range) Received Date Date of 8/31/2017 Counter party
Morgan Stanley
4.150% Cost of Funds 2/20/2001 1/1/2021 (21,521,081) Capital Services
3.724%-
4.004% SIFMA 3/15/2005 2/1/ 2028 (63,087,758) Wells Fargo Bank
3.73%- CPI-based
3.85% formula 1/1/2007 11/2/2020 (2,802,373) Wlls Fargo Bank
67% 3-Month
LIBOR +
3.936% 0.46% 10/8/2008 11/1/2020 (2,304,623) Wells Fargo Bank
67% 3-Month
3.936%- LIBOR +
4.083% 0.46-0.55% 10/8/2008 11/1/2025 (50,998,338) Bank of NY Mellon
SIFMA -3 Merrill Lynch
3.942% basis points 8/16/2007 8/1/2018 (416,819) Capital Services
SIFMA -3 JP Morgan formerly
3.942% basis points 8/16/2007 8/1/2018 (203,720) Bear Stearns
67% 3-Month
4.515% LIBOR 4/2/2009 6/15/2033 ($77.923,334) Barclays Bank PLC

($219,258,046)
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Special Obligation Dedicated Tax Revenue Bonds
Series 2004

(Convention Citr) 7,770
Series 2004

(Convention Ctr) 7,770
Series 2004

(Convention Ctr) 7,770
Series 2005A (Gas Tax) 54,025
Subtotal $77,335
Total $1,703,550

SOURCE: Office of the Treasurer and Receiver General.

(1) The2007 Series A swap with Barclays Bank was terminated early on May 1, 2017.

CPl

CPI

CPl

CPl

4.45%
4.45%

4.45%

4.771%

5.059%

CPI-based
formula

CPl-based
formula

CPl-based
formula

CPl-based
formula

6/29/2004

6/29/2004

6/29/2004

1/12/2005

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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1/1/2018

1/1/2018

1/1/2018

6/1/2022

(92,809)

(90,286)

(90,334)

(2,929,657
($3,203,085)
($222.461,131)

Goldman Sachs
Capital Markets

JP Morgan formerly
Bear Stearns

JPMorgan Chase
Bank

Merrill Lynch
Capital Services



Liquidity Facilities

Some of the Commonwealth’s outstanding variable rate debt consists of variable rate demand bonds whose

interest rates re-set daily or weekly through a remarketing process. Because these bonds offer a“put” or tender
feature, they are supported by standby bond purchase agreements with commercial banks which require the
applicable bank to purchase any bonds that are tendered and not successfully remarketed. The following table
describes the liquidity facilities that the Commonwealth had with respect to such bonds as of August 31, 2017.

Outstanding
Variable Rate Principal Amount
Bonds (in thousands) Bank Termination Date
2000 Series A $200,000 Citibank 4/24/2018
2000 SeriesB 75,590 Bank of America 4/24/2018
2001 Series C (Refunding) 163,935 Barclays Bank 1/01/2021
2006 Series A 136,880 Barclays Bank 8/03/2020

SOURCE: Office of the Treasurer and Receiver General.

The Commonwealth also has liquidity support for three series of commercial paper totaling $400 million.

Outstanding
Principal Amount
Commercial Paper Series (in thousands) Bank Termination Date
Series| (tax-exempt) and
SeriesK (taxable) @ $200,000 TD Bank 4/17/2018
Series L (tax-exempt) 200,000 State Street Bank 1/29/2019

SOURCE: Office of the Treasurer and Receiver General.
(1) One or both series may be outstanding as long as the total amount outstanding does not exceed $200 million.

Direct Purchase Agreements

Certain of the Commonwealth’s variable rate bonds have been directly purchased by a bank. The following

table lists the Commonwealth’ s direct purchase agreements, as of August 31, 2017.

Outstanding
Principal Amount
Direct Purchase Bonds (in thousands) Mandatory Tender Date
2001 Series B (Refunding) @ $163,935 1/01/2021
2006 Series B 182,605 5/31/2019
2015 Series B (Refunding) @ 125,000 2/01/2018
2015 Series C (Refunding) @ 125,000 2/01/2019
2016 SeriesB 100,000 4/01/2021
2016 SeriesC 200,000 4/01/2021

SOURCE: Office of the Treasurer and Receiver General.
(1) Dates provided represent hard maturities rather than mandatory tenders.
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General Obligation Contract Assistance Liabilities

Massachusetts Department of Transportation, as successor to the Massachusetts Turnpike Authority. On
February 19, 1999, the Commonwealth and the Massachusetts Turnpike Authority entered into a contract which
provides for the Commonwealth to make annual operating assi stance payments to MassDOT, as successor to the
Turnpike Authority, which are capped at $25 million annually and extend until June 30, 2050, which isthe end of
the 40" fiscal year following the transfer of certain facilities associated with the Commonwealth’s Central
Artery/Ted Williams Tunnel Project (CA/T) to MassDOT. On June 30, 2009, the Commonwealth and the Turnpike
Authority entered into a contract for financial assistance which provides for the payment by the Commonwealth to
MassDOT, as successor to the Turnpike Authority, of $100 million per fiscal year, commencing July 1, 2009 until
June 30, 2039. Payments under both contracts constitute a general obligation pledge of the Commonwealth for
which the full faith and credit of the Commonwealth are pledged.

Massachusetts Clean Water Trust. The Massachusetts Clean Water Trust (the “Trust”) manages the
Commonwealth’s state revolving fund program under the federal Clean Water Act and the federal Safe Drinking
Water Act. The Trust is authorized to apply for and accept federal grants and associated Commonwealth matching
grants to capitalize the revolving funds and to issue debt obligations to make loans to local governmental units and
othersto finance eligible water pollution abatement and drinking water projects. Under state law, loans made by the
Trust are required to provide for subsidies or other financial assistance to reduce the debt service expense on the
loans. Currently, most new loans made by the Trust bear interest at 2%. Other loans made by the Trust may bear
interest at lower rates, including a zero rate of interest, and a portion of the principal of certain loans has aso been
subsidized by the Trust. To provide for a portion of the subsidy on most of itsloans, the Trust receives contract
assistance payments from the Commonwealth. Under the Trust’s enabling act, the aggregate annual contract
assistance payment for the Trust’s programs may not exceed $138 million. The Commonwealth’ s agreement to
provide contract assistance congtitutes a general obligation of the Commonwealth for which its full faith and credit
are pledged, and the Commonwealth’ s contract assistance payments are pledged as security for repayment of the
Trust’s debt obligations. As of August 31, 2017, the Trust had approximately $3.0 billion of bonds outstanding.
Approximately 6.61% of the Trust’s aggregate debt service is covered by Commonwealth contract assistance. Prior
to August, 2014, the Trust was known as the Massachusetts Water Pollution Abatement Trust.

Massachusetts Devel opment Finance Agency. Under the infrastructure investment incentive program,
known as “I-Cubed,” up to $600 million of public infrastructure improvements to support significant new private
developments may be financed by bonds issued by the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency
(MassDevelopment) that are secured by and payable from a general obligation pledge of contract assistance from the
Commonwealth. Until arelated new private development is completed and occupied, the developer’s property is
assessed by the municipality in which the development is located in amounts equal to the debt service cost on the
bonds to reimburse the Commonwealth for such cost. After each phase of the private development is completed and
occupied, the municipality is required to reimburse the Commonweal th for any portion of the debt service cost on
the bonds that is not covered by new state tax revenues generated from the related private development. The
municipality’s reimbursement obligation is secured by a general obligation pledge of the municipality, alocal aid
intercept and a reserve fund which must be funded in an amount equal to or greater than two years of debt service on
the bonds. The abligation of the municipality ends when the Commonwealth has collected revenues sufficient to pay
principal and interest paymentsto date, or in some cases to the next redemption date, plus all remaining principal
payments due. Pursuant to this program, MassDevel opment has issued contract assistance bonds to finance and
refinance infrastructure projects associated with the Fan Pier development in Boston, the Assembly Row project in
Somerville, the Chestnut Hill Square project in Newton, the Boston Landing project in Boston, the VVan Ness project
in Boston, and the University Station project in Westwood. As of August 31, 2017, total “I-Cubed” program bonds
were outstanding in the amount of approximately $106.0 million.

Legislation approved by the Governor on August 8, 2008 included an authorization to finance up to
$43 million of the costs of a parkway at the former South Weymouth naval air base to support the development of
the former base. Similar to the I-Cubed program financing model, the bonds issued by MassDevel opment to finance
the parkway are secured by and payable from a general obligation pledge of contract assistance from the
Commonwealth. As of August 31, 2017, approximately $25.2 million of such bonds were outstanding.

A-84



Social Innovation Financing Trust Fund. Legidation approved in 2012 established a Social Innovation
Financing Trust Fund for the purpose of funding contracts to improve outcomes and lower costs for contracted
government services, referred to as “pay for success contracts.” The legislation authorized the Secretary of
Administration and Finance to enter into pay for success contracts in which a substantial portion of Commonwealth
payments, from amounts appropriated by the Legislature to the Trust Fund, would be conditioned on the
achievement of specified performance outcomes. The Commonwealth’s abligation to make such paymentsisa
general obligation for which the Commonwealth’s full faith and credit are pledged. The first such contract was
entered into in January, 2014, to help young men leaving the juvenile justice system or on probation avoid re-
offending. The contract obligates the Commonwealth to make up to $28 million in success payments, in the
aggregate, through fiscal 2020. In September, 2016, the Commonwealth entered into a side letter to permit the
parties to negotiate a contract amendment to extend the period in which young men may be referred to the project
without changing the timing or maximum amount of success payments. The Commonwealth entered into a second
such contract in December, 2014, to address chronic individual homel essness through permanent stable, supportive
housing. The contract obligates the Commonwesl th to make up to $6 million in success payments, in the aggregate,
through fiscal 2021. The Commonwealth entered into a third such contract in June, 2016, to assist individualsin
Adult Basic Education (ABE) or English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) programs transition to
employment, higher wage jobs, and higher education. The contract obligates the Commonwealth to make up to $15
million in success payments, in the aggregate, through fiscal 2023.

The following table sets forth the Commonwealth’s general obligation contract assistance requirements for
all of fiscal 2018 and each fiscal year thereafter pursuant to contracts with the Massachusetts Clean Water Trust,
MassDOT (as successor to the Turnpike Authority), and MassDevelopment (including the [-Cubed Program and the
South Weymouth naval air base contract assistance requirements) and contracts associated with the Social
Innovation Financing Trust Fund.

General Obligation Contract Assistance Requirements
(in thousands)

Massachusetts Massachusetts Massachusetts Social Innovation
Clean Department of Development Financing
Fiscal Year Water Trust Trangportation Finance Agency Trust Fund (3) Total

2018 $57,952 $125,000 $8,632 $15,397 $193,787
2019 46,489 125,000 8,694 4,968 182,943
2020 40,782 125,000 8,693 13,595 186,062
2021 33,714 125,000 8,699 5,442 170,898
2022 24,305 125,000 8,699 3,438 159,532
2023 24,468 125,000 8,694 1,146 157,452
2024 16,192 125,000 8,695 - 148,072
2025 12,015 125,000 8,699 - 143,950
2026 9,636 125,000 8,696 - 141,614
2027 through 2049 46,320 (1) 1,875,000 153,058 - 2,053,098
Total (4) $311.873 $3,125,000 (2) $231,261 $46.372 $3,730,544

SOURCES: Massachusetts Clean Water Trust column — Office of the Treasurer and Receiver-General; MassDOT, Massachusetts Devel opment
Finance Agency and Social Innovation Financing Trust Fund columns - Executive Office for Administration and Finance.

(1) Current contract assistance payments end in fiscal 2047.

(2) Represents $25 million per year for fiscal years 2027 to 2049, inclusive and $100 million per year for fiscal years 2027 to 2039, inclusive.

(3) Projected payment schedule. The actual amount and timing of payments will be based on the achievement of specified performance
outcomes. Up to $10,770,000 of these payments may be funded through a grant from the U. S. Department of Labor.

(4) Totals may not add due to rounding.
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Long-Term Operating L eases and Capital L eases

In addition to Commonwealth-owned buildings and facilities, the Commonwealth |eases additional space
from private parties. In certain circumstances, the Commonwealth has acquired certain types of capital assets under
long-term capital leases; typicaly, these arrangements relate to computer and telecommuni cations equipment and to
motor vehicles. Minimum future rental expenditure commitments of the Commonwealth under operating leases and
long-term principal and interest obligations related to leases in effect as of June 30, 2016 are set forth in the table
below.

Long-Term Leases (in thousands)

Fiscal Year Leases (1
2017 $221,960
2018 155,749
2019 128,954
2020 95,359
2021 62,189
2022 43,396
2023 37,087
2024 32,808
2025 24,468
2026 14,232
2027 11,860

2028 through 2050 197,405
Total $1,025,467

SOURCES: Office of the Comptroller
(2) Includes operating and capital leases. Leases with the ingtitutions of higher education that are supported by tuition and fees are not
included.

Contingent Liabilities

Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority. The MBTA issues its own bonds and notes. Prior to July 1,
2000, the Commonweal th supported MBTA bonds, notes and other obligations through guaranties of the debt
service on its bonds and notes, contract assistance generally equal to 90% of the debt service on outstanding MBTA
bonds and payment of the MBTA's net cost of service (current expenses, including debt service, minus current
income). Beginning July 1, 2000, the Commonwealth’s annual obligation to support the MBTA for operating costs
and debt service islimited to a portion of the revenues raised by the Commonwealth’s sales tax, but the
Commonwealth remains contingently liable for the payment of MBTA bonds and notes issued prior to July 1, 2000
and for MBTA payment obligations related to leases, reimbursement obligations, interest exchange agreements and
other financing obligations entered into prior to July 1, 2000. The Commonwealth’s obligation to pay such prior
bondsis ageneral obligation for which itsfull faith and credit have been pledged. As of August 31, 2017, the
MBTA had approximately $194.9 million of such prior bonds outstanding. Such bonds are currently scheduled to
mature annually through fiscal 2030.

Massachusetts Devel opment Finance Agency. Under legislation approved in 2010 and amended in 2011,
MassDevel opment is authorized to issue bonds for the benefit of nonprofit community hospitals and nonprofit
community health centers. Such bonds are to be secured by capital reserve funds funded at the time of bond issuance
in an amount equal to the maximum annual debt service on the bonds. The legidation provides that
MassDevel opment isto notify the Governor if any such capital reserve fund needs to be replenished, and that the
Legislature isto appropriate the amount necessary to restore the fund to its required level. The legidation contains
no limit on the amount of such bonds that may be issued. Any project to be financed by such bonds must be
approved by the Secretary of Health and Human Services, and any loan to a community hospital or community
health center (and the issuance and terms of the related bonds) must be approved by the Secretary of Administration
and Finance. If any such institution defaults on aloan, any moneys in the custody of the Commonwealth that are
payable to the ingtitution may be withheld by the Commonwealth and used to pay debt service or to replenish the
applicable capital reserve fund. If, following a Commonwealth transfer to replenish a capital reserve fund, the
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applicable ingtitution fails to reimburse the Commonwealth within six months, the Commonwealth may withhold
funds payable to the institution, and all contracts issued by the Group Insurance Commission, the Commonwealth
Health Insurance Connector Authority and MassHealth to athird party for the purposes of providing health care
insurance paid for by the Commonwealth are to provide that the third party is to withhold payments to the institution
and transfer the withheld amounts to the Commonwealth. No bonds have ever been issued pursuant to this
legislation.

Woods Hole, Martha’s Vineyard and Nantucket Steamship Authority. The Steamship Authority operates
passenger and vehicle ferriesto Martha' s Vineyard and Nantucket. The Steamship Authority issues its own bonds
and notes. Commonwealth support of the bonds and notes of the Steamship Authority includes a Commonwealth
guaranty pursuant to statutory provisions requiring the Commonweal th to provide the Steamship Authority with
funds sufficient to meet the principal of and interest on their bonds and notes as they mature to the extent that funds
sufficient for this purpose are not otherwise available to the Steamship Authority and the Commonwealth’s
payment, under applicable statutory provisions, of the net cost of service of the Steamship Authority (current
expenses, including debt service, minus current income). The Steamship Authority is currently self-supporting,
requiring no net cost of service or contract assistance payments. As of August 31, 2017, the Steamship Authority
had approximately $71.6 million of bonds outstanding. The Commonwealth’ s obligations to the Steamship
Authority are general obligations for which its full faith and credit have been pledged.

University of Massachusetts Building Authority. This authority, created to assist the University of
Massachusetts, is permitted by its enabling act to have outstanding up to $200 million in Commonweal th-guaranteed
debt. The Commonwealth’s guaranty of principal and interest is a general obligation of the Commonwealth for
which its full faith and credit are pledged. In addition to such guaranty, certain revenues of the Building Authority,
including dormitory rental income and student fees, are pledged to pay the Building Authority’ s bonds. As of
August 31, 2017, the Building Authority had approximately $115.3 million of Commonwealth-guaranteed debt
outstanding.

Authorized and Unissued Debt

General obligation bonds of the Commonwealth are authorized to correspond with capital appropriations.
See “COMMONWEALTH BUDGET AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT CONTROLS — Capital Investment Process and
Controls.” Over the last decade, the Commonwealth has typically had alarge amount of authorized and unissued
debt. However, the Commonwealth’s actual expenditures for capital projectsin a given year relate more to the
capital needs which the Commonwealth determines it can afford to finance in such year than to the total amount of
authorized and unissued debt. The table below presents authorized and unissued debt at year end:

Authorized and Unissued Debt (in thousands)

Authorized and

Fiscal Year Unissued Debt
2013 $13,762,257
2014 26,255,768
2015 29,071,339
2016 26,145,997
2017 22,716,302 (1)

SOURCE: Office of the Comptroller.
(1) Amount isunaudited.

Authorized and unissued debt is measured in accordance with the statutory basis of accounting, which is
different from GAAP. Only the net proceeds of bonds issued (exclusive of underwriters' discount, costs of issuance
and other financing costs) are deducted from the amount of authorized and unissued debt. Therefore, the changein
authorized and unissued debt at the end of any fiscal year is not intended to correlate to the change in the principal
amount of debt outstanding as measured and reported in conformity with GAAP.
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The Legislature has enacted various bond authorizations to fund the Commonwealth’s capital investment
plan. See “COMMONWEALTH CAPITAL INVESTMENT PLAN.” Capital spending and subsequent debt issuanceis
constrained by the debt affordability policy and the statutory debt limit, and will be published annually in the five-
year capital investment plan.

LEGAL MATTERS

There are pending in state and federal courts within the Commonwealth and in the Supreme Court of the
United States various suits in which the Commonwealth is a party. In the opinion of the Attorney General, no
litigation is pending or, to her knowledge, threatened which islikely to result, either individually or in the aggregate,
infinal judgments against the Commonwealth that would affect materially its financial condition.

Programs and Services

From time to time actions are brought against the Commonwealth by the recipients of governmental
services, particularly recipients of human services benefits, seeking expanded levels of services and benefits and by
the providers of such services challenging the Commonwealth’ s reimbursement rates and methodologies. To the
extent that such actions result in judgments requiring the Commonwealth to provide expanded services or benefits or
pay increased rates, additional operating and capital expenditures might be needed to implement such judgments.

Rosie D., et al. v. The Governor, United States District Court, Western Division. In a memorandum of
decision dated January 26, 2006, the District Court ruled in favor of a class of Medicaid-recipient children that the
Commonwealth fails to provide the home- and community-based services required under the Early and Periodic
Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment (“EPSDT") provisions of the Medicaid Act. In February 2007, the District
Court adopted the defendants’ proposed remedial plan, with some modifications, and, in July 2007, entered
judgment in accordance with that plan, as modified. The Commonwealth did not appeal from that judgment; instead
MassHealth has implemented all required program changes. Although the monitoring period had been set to expire
December 31, 2012, the court has subsequently extended the monitoring period several times, most recently through
December 31, 2018. MassHealth estimates that its implementation of program changes in compliance with the
court’s remedial orders will continue to increase its costs, including administrative costs, prospectively by over
$20 million annually. The Commonwealth maintains that it isin full compliance with the court’s judgment. A status
conference is scheduled for October, 2017.

Hutchinson et al v. Patrick et al, United States District Court, Massachusetts. Thisis a class action,
commenced in 2007, brought by two organizations and five individuals with brain injuries who are residents of
various nursing facilities. Plaintiffs claim that they and a class of between 2,000 and 4,000 brain-injured individuals
are entitled to, among other things, placement in community settings. Plaintiffs asserted claims under the Americans
with Disabilities Act, the Rehabilitation Act and the Medicaid Act; they sought declaratory and injunctive relief.
After the court certified a class in October 2007, the parties engaged in an intensive period of settlement
negotiations. In May, 2008, the parties entered into a settlement agreement which was subsequently amended in
July, 2013 (“Agreement”). Under the terms of the Agreement, the defendants will use the Massachusetts Money
Follows the Person Demonstration Project (“MFP Project”) and various waiver programs to provide community
residential and non-residential supportsin an integrated setting to Massachusetts M edicaid-eligible persons with an
acquired brain injury who are in nursing and long-term rehabilitation facilities (“ Class Members in Facilities’). Over
the six-year term of the Agreement, the defendants will provide between 905 and 1,174 waiver dots for Class
Membersin Facilities. The exact number of dots to be added will depend on the level of demand for waiver
services. The cost of implementing these programs was originally projected to be approximately $386 million,
phased in over six years, with approximately half of that amount expected to be reimbursed by the federal
government. Y ear five of the Agreement began on July 1, 2017. The fiscal 2018 appropriation for funding of the
Agreement is approximately $71.7 million. By year six of the agreement, fiscal 2019, when the program will be
fully implemented, the annualized cost of the program asinitialy projected will be approximately $112 million
(gross) or $56 million (net) state cost.

Fowler, et al., for themselves and others similarly situated v. Thomas Turco, in his official capacity asthe

Commissioner of the Massachusetts Department of Correction, and the Massachusetts Partnership for Correctional
Healthcare, LLC, United States District Court, Massachusetts. Four state prisoners have filed a class action suit
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relating to treatment of the Hepatitis C virus (HCV) among prisoners in the custody of the Massachusetts
Department of Correction. The suit alleges that the Department of Correction and its healthcare services provider,
the Massachusetts Partnership for Correctional Healthcare (MPCH), have failed to provide HCV -positive prisoners
with access to new medications that, plaintiffs claim, enjoy higher success rates, fewer side effects, and shorter
treatment duration than prior treatments. Employing the uppermost range estimate for the rate of HCV infection
among prisoners nationwide - 41.1% - to the Massachusetts prison population, the number of HCV -infected
individualsin Massachusetts custody could be as high as 4,800. (At present, approximately 1,100 prisoners have
been identified as HCV-positive.) The State Office of Pharmacy Services, which procures the medications for
MPCH, pays between approximately $39,000 and $75,000 per patient, depending on the patient’s specific medical
needs and the appropriate medication regimen, for the typical 12-week course of treatment, although that cost has
very recently come down for certain patients as new drugs gain FDA approval and shorter treatment durations
become possible. Based on these figures, if the defendants are required to provide the medications to all HCV -
infected prisoners in Department custody, the total cost could reach $90-$350 million dollars.

Medicaid Auditsand Regulatory Reviews

Inre: Centersfor Medicare and Medicaid Services regulations (Uncompensated Care Pool/Health Safety
Net Trust Fund). The federal Health Care Financing Administration (now CMS) asserted in June, 2000 that the
portion of the Medicaid program funded by the Commonwealth’s Health Safety Net Trust Fund (formerly the
Uncompensated Care Pool) might violate federal regulations regarding permissible taxes on health care providers.
Since 1993, MassHealth has sought federal waivers for the Commonwealth’ s assessment on acute care hospitals and
surcharge payers, respectively, which fund the Uncompensated Care Pool and its successor, the Health Safety Net
Trust Fund. The Commonwealth believes that the assessments are within the federal law pertaining to health care-
related taxes. In 2017, a change in state law was made to the hospital assessment making a federal waiver for the
hospital assessment unnecessary. Under federal regulations, if the Commonwealth were ultimately determined to
have imposed an impermissible health care-related tax, the federal government could seek retroactive repayment of
federal Medicaid reimbursements. By the end of Health Safety Net fiscal year 2017, the Commonwealth will have
collected an estimated $6.234 billion in acute hospital assessments since 1990 and an estimated $2.857 billion in
surcharge payments since 1998.

In re: Office of the Inspector General Report Number: A-01-12-0006 (Claiming the correct Federal
medical assistance percentage for claim adjustments made to the Form CMS-64). On April 6, 2012, the federal
Office of the Inspector General (OIG) initiated an audit of MassHealth’ s federal reporting of certain claims with
dates of service between January 1, 2006 and December 31, 2010. The OIG issued a draft report on June 3, 2014.
MassHealth responded on July 3, 2014. The OIG draft report concludes that during the audit period MassHealth
over-claimed $105 million in federal financia participation due to timing issues associated with the temporary
Federal Medical Assistance Percentagesincrease due to ARRA and EOHHS' “void and replace” claiming system.
EOHHS' response to the draft report states that MassHealth worked closely with the federal Centers for Medicare
and Medicaid Services (CMS) to develop the system it uses to submit claims and adjustments for federal matching
funds on the CM S form since June 2009, and that CM S validated and accepted the “void and replace” claims
adjustment system EOHHS used. The OIG’s audit focused on a specific time period that, based on its calculations,
resulted in afederal overpayment. Based on the OIG’s methodology, there was a $108 million federal underpayment
to the Commonwealth for the subsequent period of January, 2011 through September, 2013. Based on the OIG's
audit report, MassHealth has implemented the OIG’ s interpretation of the claiming rules after the audit period, and
has requested increased federal reimbursement totaling approximately $108.2 million from CM S, which will offset
OIG’srecommended adjustment. In its response to the OIG’ s report, EOHHS advised the OI G that if CM S agrees
with the OIG’ s interpretation of federal claiming rules and the rules are applied consistently, EOHHS has no
objection to the OIG’s recommended finding. The OIG issued itsfinal report in September, 2014. The OIG did not
accept EOHHS' position. EOHHS is pursuing this matter further with CMS. CM S has not taken any action to
disallow the $108.2 million that the OIG insistsis an overpayment.

Taxes
Comcast of Massachusetts I, Inc. v. Commissioner of Revenue, Appellate Tax Board. On June 7, 2016, the

Appellate Tax Board (the “Board”) issued a Decision in favor of the Commissioner in these ten consolidated
corporate excise tax cases for the years 2003-2008. The case presented a variety of issues, including: (a) whether the
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taxpayers were entitled to are-computation of the sales factor of various members of the combined group based on
the costs of performance rule under G.L c. 63, section 38(f), asin effect during the years at issue; (b) whether the
taxpayers were entitled to arefund of corporate excise attributable to final RS determinations adjusting the income
of the taxpayers; (c) whether the taxpayers may properly claim interest expense deductions that they had added back
under the Massachusetts Add Back Statute, G.L. c. 63, § 31J,on their originally filed returns; (d) whether the
taxpayersimproperly treated as sales within the meaning of G.L. c. 63, § 38(f), certain intercompany
reimbursements made at cost, and (€) whether the taxpayers' position that investment expenses were apportionable
to Massachusetts, when these same expenses were associated with dividend income that the parties agreed was
properly allocable 100% to Pennsylvania, was without legal merit. The potential refund claims total approximately
$195 million. The Board issued its decision following a seven-day trial that started on October 13, 2015 and
terminated on November 20, 2015, and which was followed by the filing of post-trial and reply briefs by the parties.
The Commissioner has requested that the Board issue Findings of Fact and a Report explaining the reasoning for its
Decision. On September 2, 2016, the taxpayers filed a Motion to Alter, Amend or Clarify Decision, which was heard
on September 29, 2016. The taxpayers contend that during the course of proceedings of the case, the Commissioner
conceded five issues and that the Board’ s decision should therefore be in favor of the taxpayers on those five issues.
By Order dated September 30, 2016, the Board denied the motion without a hearing and indicated that, to the extent
necessary, it will take the taxpayers' motion into consideration when issuing its Report.

Northeastern University, et al. v. Commissioner of Revenue (Appeals Court, Suffolk Superior Court) and
related Brownfields Credits Claims. The plaintiffsin a Superior Court case, three Massachusetts universities, allege
that the Commissioner of Revenue (“Commissioner”) wrongfully denied their requests for Brownfields Tax Credits.
Legislation in 2006 made not-for-profit ingtitutions eligible, for the first time, to claim tax credits for work those
institutions performed to remediate an environmentally contaminated site. (Because not-for-profits do not typically
pay corporate excise taxes, against which such a credit may be applied, the legisation also made it possible, for the
first time, for taxpayers granted such a credit to “sell” that credit to individuals or corporations who do incur tax
liability, so that the buyer can make use of the credit. The law specifies that any unused portion of a credit, as
reduced from year to year, can be carried over and applied to atax liability for any subsequent year, not to exceed
five years.) The soleissue in the Northeastern University litigation, filed in August, 2014, is whether the nonprofits
may receive a Brownfields Tax Credit for site remediation achieved prior to the taxable year commencing on or
after June 24, 2006 (i.e., the effective date of the legislative amendment). The Commissioner denied the plaintiffs
applications for the credit because the site remediation had been achieved prior to the taxable year commencing on
or after June 24, 2006. The plaintiffs prevailed in the Superior Court and, if all other application conditions are met,
they would be entitled to tax credits in the cumulative amount of $17.7 million. Additionally, other entities may now
be bolstered in claims for credits that they have not yet asserted; those claims may be worth tens of millions of
dollars. The Commonweal th has appealed the adverse Superior Court judgment. Thereis also an unrelated Superior
Court case filed by Abodez Acorn CW LLC seeking a Brownsfield Credit claim; the plaintiff is seeking $698,636 in
tax credits. In addition, Stoughton Recycling Technologies filed a petition at the Appellate Tax Board in June 2014
with respect to a Brownfields Credit claim; the potential refund lossin that caseis estimated at $1.25 million. In the
category of Brownfields Credits claims not yet docketed at the Appellate Tax Board, the Department of Revenue
estimates $41.3 million worth of potential revenue loss, with none of the 33 individual credit amount claims
exceeding $10 million. The Appeals Court argument in the Northeastern University case was held on February 14,
2017, and the case is now under advisement.

Other Revenues

Commonwealth of Massachusetts v. Philip Morris Inc., RJ Reynolds Tobacco Company, Lorillard Tobacco
Company, et al., Supreme Judicial Court, Middlesex Superior Court (a/k/a the Tobacco Master Settlement
Agreement, Nonparticipating Manufacturer (“NPM”) Adjustment Disputes)

These matters arise under the Tobacco Master Settlement Agreement (“MSA”), entered into in 1998, that
settled litigation and claims by Massachusetts and 51 other states or dependencies (collectively the “ States”) against
the major tobacco manufacturers. Under the MSA, yearly payments made by the Original Participating
Manufacturers (“OPMSs”) and Subsequent Participating Manufacturers (collectively the Participating Manufacturers
or “PMs") are subject to a number of adjustments. One such adjustment is the Non-Participating Manufacturer
(“NPM") Adjustment, which can be triggered if the PMs suffer a specified market share loss as compared to their
market share during the base year 1997. Under the MSA, anationally recognized economic firm selected jointly by
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the States and the PMs must make a determination that “the disadvantages experienced” by the PMs as a result of
complying with the MSA were “a significant factor contributing to the Market Share Loss” for agiven year. Even if
such adetermination is made, the States can still avoid the NPM adjustment if it is determined that the States
“diligently enforced” their individual NPM Escrow Statutes.

(& (2004 NPM Adjustment) The PMs seek to reduce, by approximately $1.1 billion, the MSA
payments they made to the States for 2004 sales and so they deposited a portion of this amount into a disputed
payment account pending a resolution of this claim. A determination has been made that the PM s suffered a market
share loss and that the disadvantages experienced by the PMs as aresult of complying with the MSA were a
significant factor contributing to the market share loss. The PMs and the States are arbitrating the 2004 NPM
Adjustment. In June, 2017, however, the PMs decided not to contest the Commonwealth’ s diligence in 2004.
Accordingly, the Commonwealth no longer has any risk of loss concerning the 2004 NPM Adjustment.

(b) (2005 NPM Adjustment) In the same manner as described above, the PMs seek to reduce, by
approximately $753 million, the MSA payments they made to the States for 2005 sales. A determination has been
made that the PMs suffered a market share loss and that the disadvantages experienced by the PMs as a result of
complying with the MSA were a significant factor contributing to the market share loss. The PMs notified the States
of their intent to arbitrate the issue of whether each state diligently enforced its NPM Escrow Statute during 2005
following the conclusion of the 2003 NPM Adjustment Arbitration proceedings. If the Commonwealth does not
prevail, future MSA payments to Massachusetts would be reduced by an amount yet to be determined, between
$30 million, plusinterest, up to but not exceeding the full amount of the state’'s MSA payment for 2005 sales,
depending upon the outcome of similar NPM proceedings against other states.

(c) (2006 NPM Adjustment) In the same manner as described above, the PMs seek to reduce, by
approximately $704 million, the MSA payments they made to the States for 2006 sales. A determination has been
made that the PMs suffered a market share loss and that the disadvantages experienced by the PMs as a result of
complying with the MSA were a significant factor contributing to the market share loss. The PMs notified the States
of their intent to arbitrate the issue of whether each state diligently enforced its NPM Escrow Statute during 2006
following the conclusion of the 2003 NPM Adjustment Arbitration proceedings. If the Commonwealth does not
prevail, future MSA payments to Massachusetts would be reduced by an amount yet to be determined, between
$7 million, plusinterest, up to but not exceeding the full amount of the state’'s MSA payment for 2006 sales,
depending upon the outcome of similar NPM proceedings against other states.

(d) (2007 NPM Adjustment) In the same manner as described above, the PMs seek to reduce, by
approximately $791 million, the MSA payments they made to the States for 2007 sales. A determination has been
made that the PM s suffered a market share loss and that the disadvantages experienced by the PMs as a result of
complying with the MSA were a significant factor contributing to the market share loss. The PMs notified the States
of their intent to arbitrate the issue of whether each state diligently enforced its NPM Escrow Statute during 2007
following the conclusion of the 2003 NPM Adjustment Arbitration proceedings. If the Commonwealth does not
prevail, future MSA payments to Massachusetts would be reduced by an amount yet to be determined, between
$8.8 million, plusinterest, up to but not exceeding the full amount of the state’s MSA payment for 2007 sales,
depending upon the outcome of similar NPM proceedings against other states.

(e) (2008 NPM Adjustment) In the same manner as described above, the PMs seek to reduce, by
approximately $888 million, the MSA payments they made to the States for 2008 sales. A determination has been
made that the PM s suffered a market share loss and that the disadvantages experienced by the PMs as a result of
complying with the MSA were a significant factor contributing to the market share loss. The PMs notified the States
of their intent to arbitrate the issue of whether each state diligently enforced its NPM Escrow Statute during 2008
following the conclusion of the 2003 NPM Adjustment Arbitration proceedings. If the Commonwealth does not
prevail, future MSA payments to Massachusetts would be reduced by an amount yet to be determined, between
$900,000, plusinterest, up to but not exceeding the full amount of the state’'s MSA payment for 2008 sales,
depending upon the outcome of similar NPM proceedings against other states.

(f) (2009 NPM Adjustment) In the same manner as described above, the PMs seek to reduce, by

approximately $859 million, the MSA payments they made to the States for 2009 sales. A determination has been
made that the PMs suffered a market share loss and that the disadvantages experienced by the PMs as a result of
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complying with the MSA were a significant factor contributing to the market share loss. The PMs have not yet
notified the States of their intent to arbitrate the issue of whether each state diligently enforced its NPM Escrow
Statute during 2009. If the matter is arbitrated and the Commonwealth does not prevail, future MSA paymentsto
M assachusetts would be reduced by an amount yet to be determined, between $1.3 million, plusinterest, up to but
not exceeding the full amount of the state's MSA payment for 2009 sales, depending upon the outcome of similar
NPM proceedings against other states.

(g) (2010 NPM Adjustment) In the same manner as described above, the PMs seek to reduce, by
approximately $873 million, the MSA payments they made to the States for 2010 sales. A determination has been
made that the PMs suffered a market share loss and that the disadvantages experienced by the PMs as a result of
complying with the MSA were a significant factor contributing to the market share loss. The PMs have not yet
notified the States of their intent to arbitrate the issue of whether each state diligently enforced its NPM Escrow
Statute during 2010. If the matter is arbitrated and the Commonwealth does not prevail, future MSA payments to
Massachusetts would be reduced by an amount yet to be determined, between $500,000, plus interest, up to but not
exceeding the full amount of the state’'s M SA payment for 2010 sales, depending upon the outcome of similar NPM
proceedings agai nst other states.

(h) (2011 NPM Adjustment) In the same manner as described above, the PMs seek to reduce, by
approximately $728 million, the MSA payments they made to the States for 2011 sales. A determination has been
made that the PMs suffered a market share loss and that the disadvantages experienced by the PMs as a result of
complying with the MSA were a significant factor contributing to the market share loss. The PMs have not yet
notified the States of their intent to arbitrate the issue of whether each state diligently enforced its NPM Escrow
Statute during 2011. If the matter is arbitrated and the Commonwealth does not prevail, future MSA payments to
Massachusetts would be reduced by an amount yet to be determined, between $500,000, plus interest, up to but not
exceeding the full amount of the state’'s M SA payment for 2011 sales, depending upon the outcome of similar NPM
proceedings against other states.

(i) (2012 NPM Adjustment) In the same manner as described above, the PMs seek to reduce by
approximately $797 million, the MSA payments they made to the States for 2012 sales. A determination has been
made that the PMs suffered a market share loss and that the disadvantages experienced by the PMs as a result of
complying with the MSA were a significant factor contributing to the market share loss. The PMs have not yet
notified the States of their intent to arbitrate the issue of whether each state diligently enforced its NPM Escrow
Statute during 2012. If the matter is arbitrated and the Commonwealth does not prevail, future MSA payments to
Massachusetts would be reduced by an amount yet to be determined, between $300,000, plus interest, up to but not
exceeding the full amount of the state’'s M SA payment for 2012 sales, depending upon the outcome of similar NPM
proceedings against other states.

() (2013 NPM Adjustment) In the same manner as described above, the PMs seek to reduce by
approximately $823 million, the MSA payments they made to the States for 2013 sales. This amount is subject to
revision until aFinal Calculationin March, 2018. A determination has been made that the PMs suffered a market
share loss and that the disadvantages experienced by the PMs as aresult of complying with the MSA were a
significant factor contributing to the market share loss. The PMs have not yet notified the States of their intent to
arbitrate the issue of whether each state diligently enforced its NPM Escrow Statute during 2013. The largest PMs
have not yet had an opportunity to designate funds related to 2013 sales as disputed and place the fundsin escrow.
Until they have had such an opportunity and Final Calculations are received in March, 2018, the Commonwealth’s
potential exposure cannot be determined.

(k) (2014 NPM Adjustment) In the same manner as described above, the PMs seek to reduce by
approximately $824 million, the MSA payments they made to the States for 2014 sales. This amount is subject to
revision until aFinal Calculationin March, 2019. A determination has been made that the PMs suffered a market
share loss and that the disadvantages experienced by the PMs as aresult of complying with the MSA were a
significant factor contributing to the market share loss. The PMs have not yet notified the States of their intent to
arbitrate the issue of whether each state diligently enforced its NPM Escrow Statute during 2014. The largest PMs
have not yet had an opportunity to designate funds related to 2014 sales as disputed and place the fundsin escrow.
Until they have had such an opportunity and Final Calculations are received in March, 2019, the Commonwealth’s
potential exposure cannot be determined.
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(D (2015 NPM Adjustment) In the same manner as described above, the PMs seek to reduce by
approximately $895 million, the MSA payments they made to the States for 2015 sales. This amount is subject to
revision until aFinal Calculationin March, 2020. A determination has been made that the PMs suffered a market
share loss and that the disadvantages experienced by the PMs as aresult of complying with the MSA were a
significant factor contributing to the market share loss. The PMs have not yet notified the States of their intent to
arbitrate the issue of whether each state diligently enforced its NPM Escrow Statute during 2015. The largest PMs
have not yet had an opportunity to designate funds related to 2015 sales as disputed and place the fundsin escrow.
Until they have had such an opportunity and Final Calculations are received in March, 2020, the Commonwealth’'s
potential exposure cannot be determined.

(m) (2016 NPM Adjustment) In the same manner as described above, the PMs seek to reduce by
approximately $901 million, the MSA payments they made to the States for 2016 sales. This amount is subject to
revision until aFinal Calculation in March, 2021. A determination has been made that the PM s suffered a market
share loss and that the disadvantages experienced by the PMs as aresult of complying with the MSA were a
significant factor contributing to the market share loss. The PMs have not yet notified the States of their intent to
arbitrate the issue of whether each state diligently enforced its NPM Escrow Statute during 2015. The largest PMs
have not yet had an opportunity to designate funds related to 2015 sales as disputed and place the fundsin escrow.
Until they have had such an opportunity and Final Calculations are received in March, 2021, the Commonwealth’s
potential exposure cannot be determined.

Environment

In re Massachusetts Military Reservation (pre-litigation). The Commonwealth, through the Executive
Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs, the Department of Environmental Protection and the Attorney
General’ s office, were engaged in discussions with federal Natural Resource Trustees, including the United States
Army and Air Force, the Department of the Interior and the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, and
private contractors regarding natural resource damages at the Massachusetts Military Reservation on Cape Cod.
Federal Trustees and private contractors claim that the Commonwealth and others are liable for natural resource
damages due to widespread contamination primarily from past military activities at the Reservation and are
responsible for response actions and related clean-up activities. The assessment process for natural resource
damagesis set out in federal regulations and has not been completed. While no recent comprehensive estimate of
natural resource damages and response actions is available, it is expected that the damages and response actions may
cost at least tens of millions of dollars. In 2013, the state and federal trustees reopened preliminary discussions per a
Trustee Council resolution on a potential settlement framework.

Other

Drug Testing Laboratory disputes. In August, 2012, Annie Dookhan, a chemist formerly employed at the
state’ s drug testing laboratory in Boston, admitted to several types of misconduct involving her handling of
laboratory samples, which were used in criminal cases. The Attorney General’s office conducted a criminal
investigation and, in December, 2012, Ms. Dookhan was indicted by a statewide grand jury on charges in connection
with altering drug evidence during the testing process and obstructing justice; she pled guilty in 2013 and was
sentenced to 3-to-5 yearsin state prison. On January 18, 2017, the Supreme Judicial Court, in Bridgeman, et al. v.
District Attorney for the Suffolk District, et al., SIC-12157, held that, in order to resolve the ongoing issues relating
to the rights of criminal defendants potentially affected by Ms. Dookhan’ s misconduct in some 20,000-24,000 cases,
the state’ s district attorneys, within 90 days of the order, were required to review those cases to determine which
they could and would re-prosecute, and then move to vacate and dismiss the rest. Defendantsin the cases that
remain shall receive ajudicially-approved notice, after which the Committee for Public Counsel Services shall
assign counsel, at state expense, to all indigent defendants who wish to pursue vacatur or anew trial. In mid-April,
prosecutors announced that they would be moving to vacate and/or dismiss approximately 21,500 cases, and only a
few hundred would remain open for reprosecution.

Meanwhile, in January, 2013, Sonja Farak, a chemist formerly employed at the state’s Amherst drug testing

laboratory was arrested for theft of a controlled substance and tampering with evidence. In January, 2014, Ms. Farak
pled guilty to charges that she removed drug samples for her own use and mixed drug evidence samples with
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counterfeit drugs to hide the theft, and she was given a split sentence of 2.5 yearsin a house of correction with

18 months to serve. The Attorney General’s Office conducted an investigation into the full scope and timing of

Ms. Farak’ s misconduct and the operations of the Amherst |aboratory, issuing areport dated April 1, 2016, to the
Hampden County Superior Court. Many thousands of criminal prosecutions may have been affected. In December,
2016, the Hampden County Superior Court held an evidentiary hearing on motions for new trial or to withdraw
guilty pleas and motions to dismiss filed by a small group of 10 defendants whose cases the Court had consolidated
for purposes of evidentiary hearings. On June 26, 2017, the court (Carey, J.) vacated the convictions or dismissed
the indictments of six defendants and allowed another to withdraw a guilty plea. The court found that two former
prosecutors “tampered with the fair administration of justice” and perpetrated “a fraud upon the court” by
deliberately concealing documents which arguably showed that Ms. Farak’s drug abuse (and, inferentialy,
tampering in the lab) had begun earlier than previously acknowledged and by making misrepresentationsin
connection with discovery motions that had been decided by another judge. With respect to certain other criminal
prosecutions, the court found that their misconduct has systemic ramifications. With regard to the Amherst lab,
while the court found that Ms. Farak’ s drug use impaired her ability to test and analyze controlled substances and to
check the equipment and instruments used to analyze suspected drugs on occasions which cannot be identified, the
court also found that, with the exception of Ms. Farak’s work, the Amherst lab was “free from any deficiency in
analytical procedure, was kept in an orderly fashion, and that work flowed through the lab smoothly.”

Given the tens of thousands of cases from both laboratories potentially affected, there likely will be
continuing significant, but as yet undetermined, state coststo remedy alleged malfeasance, including, but not limited
to: vendor costs for maintaining an electronic document review platform; costs to defend civil complaints alleging
dtate liability in both state and federal court; and for potential judgments. In addition, on April 19, 2017, the United
States Supreme Court ruled, in a case out of Colorado, that when a criminal conviction isinvalidated by areviewing
court and no retrial will occur, a state is obliged to refund fees, court costs, and any restitution exacted from a
defendant upon, and as a consequence of, the conviction. If thisruling is applicable to the facts and legal
circumstances of the Dookhan and Farak defendants’ cases, it could require the Commonwealth to budget for a
million dollars or more worth of refundable exactions and administrative expenses.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

The Commonwealth prepares its Statutory Basis Financial Report and its Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report with respect to each fiscal year ending June 30. The Statutory Basis Financial Report usually becomes
available on or around October 31 of the following fiscal year and the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
becomes available in January of the following fiscal year. Copies of such reports and other financial reports of the
Comptroller referenced in this document may be obtained by requesting the same in writing from the Office of the
Comptroller, One Ashburton Place, 9" Floor, Boston, Massachusetts 02108. The financial statements are also
available at the Comptroller’ s web site located at http://www.mass.gov/comptroller by clicking on “Financial
Reporting” on the Comptroller’s homepage.

The Department of the State Auditor audits all agencies, departments and authorities of the Commonwesalth
at least every three years. Copies of audit reports may be obtained from the State Auditor, State House, Room 229,
Boston, Massachusetts 02133.

On behalf of the Commonwealth, the State Treasurer will provide to the Municipa Securities Rulemaking
Board (MSRB), through its Electronic Municipal Market Access (EMMA) System no later than 270 days after the
end of each fiscal year of the Commonwealth, certain financial information and operating data relating to such fiscal
year, as provided in Rule 15¢2-12, as amended, adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, together with audited financial statements of the Commonwealth for such fiscal
year. Except as noted below, the Commonwealth has not failed in the last five years to comply with its continuing
disclosure undertakings with respect to any of its debt.

The Commonwealth failed to file an event notice in October, 2013 when the Moody’ s rating on outstanding
junior-lien GANs was upgraded from Aa2 to Aal, and failed to file an event notice in March, 2014 when the
Standard & Poor’srating on certain insured special obligation bonds payable from the Convention Center Fund was
upgraded from A to AA-. The Commonwealth has filed notices of all such rating changes with respect to the bonds
that are currently outstanding.

The fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2013 annual financial information filed by the Commonwealth pursuant to its
continuing disclosure undertakings related to its grant anticipation note program contained incorrect information
concerning the amounts of CTF pledged funds. Amended filings have been posted with EMMA.

Thefiscal 2012 annual financial information filed by the Commonwealth on March 26, 2013 pursuant to its
continuing disclosure undertakings related to its general obligation bond program contained incorrect information
about the amount of outstanding direct debt subject to the statutory debt limit and the amount of the limit. An
amended filing for fiscal 2012 has been posted with EMMA, and a corrected table isincluded in this Information
Statement. See “LONG-TERM LIABILITIES— General Authority to Borrow; Statutory Limit on Direct Debt.”

The fiscal 2014 annua financial information was filed by the Commonwealth on March 27, 2015 pursuant
to its continuing disclosure undertakings with respect to its general obligation bonds; however, there was a failure to
link the filing to certain CUSIP numbers for Commonwealth general obligation bondsissued from October 29, 2014
through December 31, 2014. In addition, certain annual financial information was not properly linked to certain
Commonwealth contract assistance bonds and certain CTF Bonds. Corrective filings have since been posted on
EMMA.

In the course of substituting liquidity facilities in connection with certain Commonwealth general
obligation variable rate demand bonds, supplements to the respective official statements for such bonds were posted
in atimely manner to EMMA setting forth detailed information regarding the substituted liquidity facilities,
however, separate event notices were not posted at the time. Event notices of the liquidity substitutions have since
been posted.

In the course of reviewing its event notice filings, the Commonwealth discovered that bond call notices
were not posted in atimely manner to EMMA in connection with certain advance refunding transactions and that a
notice of defeasance was not timely posted to EMMA until approximately three and a half months after the
defeasance occurred. The Commonwealth has posted such notices with respect to all Commonwealth bonds that
have been advance refunded, where the funds to redeem or pay the bonds remain held in escrow.
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The State Treasurer also regularly filesinformation with EMMA beyond the documents required by the
Commonwealth’ s continuing disclosure undertakings, including updated Information Statements. In addition,
information of interest to investors may be posted on the Commonwealth’ s investor website at

www.massbondholder.com, on twitter at twitter.com/BuyM assBonds and on the Commonwealth’s “Mass. | nvestor
Disclosure” maobile app.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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MISCELLANEOUS

Any provisions of the constitution of the Commonwealth, of general and specia laws and of other
documents set forth or referred to in this Information Statement are only summarized, and such summaries do not
purport to be complete statements of any of such provisions. Only the actual text of such provisions can be relied
upon for completeness and accuracy.

This Information Statement contains certain forward-looking statements that are subject to a variety of risks
and uncertainties that could cause actual resultsto differ from the projected results, including without limitation
general economic and business conditions, conditions in the financial markets, the financial condition of the
Commonwealth and various state agencies and authorities, receipt of federal grants, litigation, arbitration, force
majeure events and various other factors that are beyond the control of the Commonwealth and its various agencies
and authorities. Because of the inability to predict all factors that may affect future decisions, actions, events or
financial circumstances, what actually happens may be different from what is set forth in such forward-looking
statements. Forward-looking statements are indicated by use of such words as “may,” “will,” “should,” “intends,”
“expects,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “estimates’ and others.

All estimates and assumptions in this |nformation Statement have been made on the best information
available and are believed to be reliable, but no representations whatsoever are made that such estimates and
assumptions are correct. So far as any statementsin this Information Statement involve any matters of opinion,
whether or not expressly so stated, they are intended merely as such and not as representations of fact. The various
tables may not add due to rounding of figures.

Neither the Commonwealth’ s independent auditors, nor any other independent accountants, have compiled,
examined, or performed any procedures with respect to the prospective financial information contained herein, nor
have they expressed any opinion or any other form of assurance on such information or its achievability, and assume
no responsibility for, and disclaim any association with, the prospective financial information.

The information, estimates and assumptions and expressions of opinion in this Information Statement are
subject to change without notice. Neither the delivery of this Information Statement nor any sale made pursuant to
any official statement of which this Information Statement is a part shall, under any circumstances, create any
implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Commonwealth or its agencies, authorities or political
subdivisions since the date of this Information Statement, except as expressly stated.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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AVAILABILITY OF OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Questions regarding this Information Statement or requests for additional information concerning the
Commonwealth should be directed to Susan E. Perez, Deputy Treasurer, Office of the Treasurer and Receiver-
General, 3 Center Plaza, Suite 430, Boston, Massachusetts 02108, tel ephone (617) 367-3900, or to Jennifer Sullivan,
Assistant Secretary for Capital Finance, Executive Office for Administration and Finance, State House, Room 373,
Boston, Massachusetts 02133, telephone (617) 727-2040. Questions regarding legal matters relating to this
Information Statement should be directed to John R. Regier, Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky and Popeo, P.C.,
One Financia Center, Boston, Massachusetts 02111, telephone (617) 348-1720.

THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

By

Deborah B. Goldberg
Treasurer and Receiver-General

By

Michael J. Heffernan
Secretary of Administration and Finance

September 27, 2017
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ECONOMIC INFORMATION - QUARTER 4, FY 2017 EXHIBIT A

The information in this section was prepared by the Massachusetts State Data Center (MassSDC) at the University of
Massachusetts Donahue Institute Economic and Public Policy Research group. It may be relevant in evaluating the
economic and financial condition and prospects of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. The State Data Center archives
data about Massachusetts. The economic and demographic data, which have been obtained by the MassSDC from the
sources indicated, do not necessarily present all factors that may have a bearing on the Commonwealth’s fiscal and
economic affairs.

All information is presented on a calendar-year basis unless otherwise indicated. Information in the text, tables, charts, and
graphs is current as of July 10th, 2017. Sources of information are indicated in the text or immediately following the
charts and tables, and also in the Sources on the last page of the Exhibit A section. Although the Commonwealth considers
the sources to be reliable, it makes no independent verification of the information presented herein and therefore does not
warrant its accuracy.
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Massachusetts is a densely populated state with a well-educated population, comparatively high income levels, and a
relatively diversified economy. While the total population of Massachusetts has remained fairly stable in the last 25 years,
significant changes have occurred in the age distribution of the population. Dramatic growth in residents between the ages
of 20 and 44 since 1980 is expected to lead to a population distributed more heavily in the 65 and over age group in the next
25 years. Just as the working-age population has increased, income levels in Massachusetts since 1980 have grown
significantly more than the national average, and a variety of measures of income show that Massachusetts residents have
significantly higher amounts of annual income than the national average. These higher levels of income have been
accompanied by a consistently lower poverty rate. State unemployment rates have typically remained below the national
average with the exception of a slight increase during the recession of the early 1990s and a seventeen-month stretch
between 2006 and 2007. More recently, Massachusetts unemployment has tracked faster than the national average and
currently stands at 4.2 percent, compared to the national rate of 4.3 percent. In 2014, Massachusetts was ranked second in
the U.S. according to the American Human Development Index, modeled after the United Nations Human Development
Index, which compares health, income and education outcomes.

The following five sections provide detailed information on population characteristics, personal income, employment,
human resources, economic base and performance, and infrastructure.

PoPULATION CHARACTERISTICS

Massachusetts is a relatively slow growing but densely populated state with a comparatively large percentage of its
residents living in metropolitan areas. The population density of Massachusetts was estimated as of July 1, 2016 to
be 873.3 persons per square mile, as compared to 91.5 for the United States as a whole. Among the 50 states, only
Rhode Island and New Jersey have a greater population density. Massachusetts also ranked just behind the same
two states, as well as Delaware, in percentage of residents living in metropolitan areas. According to the current
county-based definition, 98.5 percent of the state’s population live in metropolitan areas.

The state's population is concentrated in its eastern portion. The city of Boston is the largest city in New England,
with a July 1, 2016 population estimated at 673,184 or 9.9 percent of the total state population. Boston is the hub of
the seven-county Boston-Cambridge-Newton, MA-NH Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA), which includes the
two southeastern New Hampshire counties, and had a total population as of July 1, 2016 estimated at 4,794,447, or
32.4 percent of the total New England population. The Cambridge-Newton-Framingham, MA Metropolitan
Division is the largest component of that MSA, with a total population as of July 1, 2016 estimated at 2,368,792,
while the Boston, MA Metropolitan division is the second largest component, with a total population estimated at
1,994,976.

The second largest MSA in the state is the Worcester, MA MSA, with a July 1, 2016 population estimated at
935,781. The city of Worcester, situated approximately 40 miles west of Boston with a July 1, 2016 estimated
population of 184,508, is the second largest city, both in New England and the state. As a major medical and
education center, the Worcester area is home to 18 patient care facilities and 13 colleges and universities, including
the University of Massachusetts Medical School.

The third largest MSA in Massachusetts is the three-county Springfield, MA MSA, with a July 1, 2016 population
estimated at 630,283. Springfield, the third largest city in the Commonwealth with a July 1, 2016 estimated
population of 154,074, is located in the Connecticut River Valley in Western Massachusetts and enjoys a diverse
body of corporate employers, including Baystate Health Systems, General Dynamics, and MassMutual Financial
Group. In addition, Springfield is home to three independent colleges.
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As the following graph and table (on the next page) indicate, the population in Massachusetts has generally grown at
a rate similar to the population of New England and more slowly than the nation as a whole. From 2009 to 2016,
Massachusetts’ growth has more closely resembled that of the U.S. as a whole than that of New England, although
growth has slowed somewhat since 2013. According to the Census Bureau's latest revised estimates released in July
2016, the Massachusetts population has grown only by 7.1 percent since Census 2000, while the U.S. has grown 14.5
percent.

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau.
NOTE: Figures for all years shown are estimates as of July 1.

EXHIBIT A-3 Quarter 4, FY 2017



The following table compares the population level and percentage change in the population of Massachusetts to the six-
state New England region and to the United States.

SOURCE: U.S. Department of Commerce, Census Bureau.
NOTE: The Census count in 1980 is as of April 1; estimates for all other years are as of July 1.
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The next 14 years are expected to bring about a continued change in the age distribution of the Massachusetts population.
As the following table and chart show, the share of the 65 and over age group and especially the 85 and over age group will
continue to grow. The chart, table, and population pyramids (below, and on the following page) show the projected
population by age for Massachusetts for 2000 through 2030. The Census has not updated these projections to reflect the
2010 Census.

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Population Division, Interim State Population Projections, 2005.

Internet Release Date: 04/21/05.

NOTE: Actual Census 2000 counts as of April 1; Population Estimates for 2005 as of July 1; all other figures are
projections as of July 1 of the indicated year.
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Population Pyramids of Massachusetts
Percent of Total Population

2010
Male Female
SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, 2010 Census.
2030
Male Female

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Population Division, Interim State Population Projections, 2005.
Internet Release Date: 04/21/05.
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Migration. Migration is one of several components of annual population change in Massachusetts. The movement
of people from place to place is often linked to economic opportunities or downturns. These data are derived from the
filing addresses and number of exemptions submitted with federal tax returns. A tax filer is considered a migrant when
he/she files a tax return with an address different from the previous year’s filing address. Of the New England states,
New Hampshire was the largest net loss for Massachusetts and Connecticut was the largest net gain for Massachusetts
from 2000 through 2015. Massachusetts also sends many more migrants to other U.S. states than it gains. Its largest net
losses outside of New England are to Florida, California, Texas, and North Carolina, while its largest net gains are from
New York, New Jersey and Pennsylvania. The charts below illustrate the net migration for Massachusetts to and from
the New England states and the rest of the country using IRS data.

SOURCE: U.S. Internal Revenue Service, Statistics of Income.
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PeErsONAL INCOME, CONSUMER PRICES, AND POVERTY

Personal Income. Real per capita income levels in Massachusetts have varied over time. Between 1992 and 1997, real
per capita income levels in the Commonwealth increased faster than the national average. In 2000, Massachusetts had its
highest per capita income growth in 16 years, exceeding the national growth rate by 2.5 percentage points. From 2001 to
2003, real income declined in Massachusetts while staying roughly flat for the nation. However, real income levels in
Massachusetts remained well above the national average. Following a significant decline in 2009, Massachusetts, New
England, and the U.S. steadily increased until 2012. Overall, between 2006 and 2012, Massachusetts personal income
increased considerably faster than the nation during the recession and its aftermath. In 2013, Massachusetts, New England,
and the U.S. all experienced a slight decline in real income. From 2014 to 2015, real per capita income rose in the state,
New England, and the nation. In recent years, Massachusetts per capita personal income rose higher than New England and
continued to outpace the nation. At the state level in 2016, only the District of Columbia and Connecticut had higher levels
of per capita personal income.

The following graph illustrates these changes in real per capita personal income in Massachusetts, New England, and the
United States since 1971.

SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis. Historical dollar values have been adjusted for inflation.
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The following table compares per capita personal income in Massachusetts, New England, and the United States for the
period 1971-2016.

SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.
NOTE: Using midyear population estimates from the Census Bureau and two CPI-U series from the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics for price
inflation.
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Average Annual Pay. Massachusetts saw steady growth in average annual pay for most of the past fifteen years,
adjusted for inflation. It lost ground in 2009, but resumed growth in 2010. Payroll data are reported to the Quarterly Census
of Employment and Wages (QCEW) by all employers covered under the Unemployment Insurance programs, and summary
data are released. Average annual pay is computed by dividing the total annual payroll of employees covered by
Unemployment Insurance programs by the average monthly number of employees from the data in the QCEW. Since 2005,
average annual wages in the state have grown at an annual rate of 0.9 percent, compared to 0.7 percent for the nation. The
level of average annual pay in Massachusetts in 2015 was 26 percent higher than the national average: $66,692 compared to
$52,942.

Annual Wage and Salary Disbursements. Wage and salary disbursements by place of work is a component of personal
income and measures monetary disbursements to employees. This includes compensation of corporate officers,
commissions, tips, bonuses, and receipts in-kind. Although the data are recorded on a place-of-work basis, they are then
adjusted to a place-of-residence basis so that the personal income of the recipients whose place of residence differs from
their place of work will be correctly assigned to their state of residence. The table below details Wage and Salary
Disbursements since 1990. Between 1998 and 2000, the Massachusetts share of New England and overall U.S. totals
increased. In subsequent years, the Massachusetts share of New England and the U.S. decreased slightly until 2006. Since
then, Massachusetts’ share of New England has risen steadily while its share of the U.S has stayed roughly the same. In
2016, the shares were 52.7 and 3.0 percent respectively.

SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.
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Consumer Prices. Higher income levels in Massachusetts relative to the rest of the United States are offset to some
extent by the higher cost of living in Massachusetts. The following graph presents consumer price trends for the Boston
metropolitan area and the United States for the period between May 2006 and May 2017. The latest available data for May
2017 show that the CPI-U for the Boston area increased at a rate of 2.1 percent over May 2016. The U.S. index increased at
arate of 1.9 percent over the same period.

SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics.

In 2009, the Boston metropolitan area and U.S. experienced their first monthly year-over-year declines in the CPI-U
since 1954 and 1955, respectively. The 2016 U.S. CPI-U increased 10.1 percent since 2010 while Boston’s CPI-U
increased 9.7 percent during that period. Between 2014 and 2016, Boston’s Consumer Price Index increased by 2.1
percent while in the United States as a whole, CPI-U increased by 1.4 percent. The table on the following page shows
the annual average of the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U) and the percentage change in that
average from the previous year from 1970 through the present.
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SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics.
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Consumer Confidence, Present Situation, and Future Expectations. These three measures offer multiple insights into
consumer attitudes. The U.S. measures are compiled from a national monthly survey of 5,000 households and are published
by The Conference Board, Inc. The survey for Massachusetts is conducted in a similar manner and the results are published
by Masslnsight, based on quarterly polling of 450 adult residents of Massachusetts. The "Present Situation" index measures
consumers' appraisal of business and employment conditions at the time of the survey. The "Future Expectations" index
focuses on consumers' expectations for six months hence regarding business and employment conditions, as well as
expected family income. The overall "Consumer Confidence" index is a weighted average of the two sub-indices. Although
the U.S. measures are compiled by a different source than the Massachusetts measures, according to the Federal Reserve
Bank of Boston, the numbers are generally comparable. A score of 100 is considered neutral.

According to the Conference Board, consumer confidence nationally reached a six-year high of 124.9 in March 2017. The
all-time quarterly low reading was 25.3 in February 2009. The Massachusetts index has generally been higher than the U.S.
index since sharing lows in January 2009, except for brief periods as they tracked closely together in 2011 and experienced
slight dips in July 2013 and July 2014.

In the third quarter of 2017, Consumer Confidence for Massachusetts reached 122.0, down from 114.0 in the second
quarter. The U.S. has surpassed its pre-recessionary (2007) levels and stood at 119.4 in the third quarter of 2017. The
following graph and table detail the recent record of these measures.

SOURCES: The Conference Board, Inc. (for U.S. measures, seasonally adjusted); MassInsight Corporation (for MA measures, not seasonally
adjusted).
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SOURCES: The Conference Board, Inc. (for U.S. measures, seasonally adjusted); MassInsight Corporation (for MA measures, not seasonally
adjusted).
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Poverty. Since 2005, the Massachusetts poverty rate, which was 11.5 percent in 2015, has been three to four percentage
points lower than the national average, which was 14.7 percent in 2015. Massachusetts ranked 38th out of the 50 states and
the District of Columbia in 2015, for percent of persons whose ratio of income to the poverty level was below 100 percent
in the past 12 months. Poverty status is not determined for all people. Institutionalized people, people in military quarters,
people in college dormitories, and unrelated individuals under 15 years old are excluded.

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 1-Year Estimates.
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Transfer Payments. Transfer payment income is payment to individuals from all levels of government and from
businesses for which no current services are performed, including payments to nonprofit institutions serving
individuals. These payments accounted for 14.8 percent of total personal income in Massachusetts in 2015, dropping
from 14.7 percent in 2014. The chart below does not include transfer payments from businesses or payments to non-
profit organizations. Total transfer payments to individuals in Massachusetts from governments and businesses totaled
$63.03 billion for 2015, adjusted for inflation. Fifty-one percent of government transfer payments to individuals were
medical payments, up from over 49.7 percent in 2014.

SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, Annual State Personal Income Estimates.
NOTE: The category “other” includes veterans’ benefit payments, federal education and training assistance payments, and a small residual of
miscellaneous other payments to individuals.
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Health Insurance Coverage. Massachusetts leads the nation in the percent of individuals with health insurance
coverage. Massachusetts passed legislation in 2006 mandating universal coverage in the Commonwealth. In 2015,
97.2 percent of the civilian non-institutionalized population was covered in the state by either private or public
insurance, compared with 90.6 percent nationwide. Massachusetts also leads the other New England states in
coverage, with Vermont as the next closest at 96.2 percent. All of the New England states have higher rates of
coverage than the nation. These data do not indicate the comprehensiveness of coverage, however.

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 1-Year Estimates.
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EMPLOYMENT

Employment by Industry. The chart on this page shows the annual level of non-agricultural payroll employment in
Massachusetts based on the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) for the seven largest NAICS
supersectors starting with 1990, the earliest year for which NAICS data are available. The chart on the following page
compares the supersector shares for 2016 with the corresponding shares for 1996. Like many industrial states, Massachusetts
has seen a steady decline of its manufacturing jobs base over the last two decades, not only as a share of total employment,
but in absolute numbers of jobs as well. Several NAICS service sectors, Education and Health Services, Professional and
Business Services, and Leisure and Hospitality have grown to take the place of manufacturing in driving the Massachusetts
economy and now account for almost half of total payroll employment, while Financial Activities, Government,
Information, and Trade, Transportation & Utilities have remained relatively level or declined in share.

After significant declines in 2009, total non-agricultural employment in Massachusetts eventually increased 0.4 percent
and continued to grow steadily, with nonfarm employment increasing 2.0 percent in 2016. With an annual average just
under 3.6 million nonfarm employees, 2016 had the highest numbers to date.

After years of moderate but steady declines or near-zero growth in the late nineties and early 2000s, manufacturing
employment in the state experienced steep annual declines in 2002 (10.2 percent) and 2003 (7.0 percent) before
returning to more moderate declines in 2004 (3.5 percent). After a steep drop of 9.5 percent in 2009, the decline
returned to a less dramatic 2.4 percent in 2010. February 2017 saw manufacturing employment decrease by 1.9 percent
since February of 2016. The 2016 manufacturing employment total was slightly lower than 2014 (245.5 thousand
compared to 250.3).

SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Current Employment Statistics (CES).
*Includes Mining & Natural Resources, Construction, Information, and Other Services.
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Massachusetts Nonfarm Payroll Employment
(NAICS Industry basis)

SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Current Employment Statistics (CES).
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Largest Employers in Massachusetts. The following inset lists the 19 largest private employers in Massachusetts based
upon employment covered by the Unemployment Insurance system for FY 2016. The 2016 list is nearly identical to the
2015 list, except the TJX Companies is among the top 19 and Tufts University is no longer in the top listing. As noted,
the list does not include employers whose headquarters are located outside of Massachusetts, and it may not include
some employers who do business in the state under multiple legal names or register each facility as a separate employer.

Massachusetts Companies in the Fortune 500 List. As of June 2017, Massachusetts is home to twelve Fortune 500
companies headquartered here. When comparing the 2016 Fortune 500 list to the 2015 list, nine Massachusetts companies
gained and two lost rank. Biogen located in Weston, climbed 50 places on the list, the largest leap for a Massachusetts
company, while Waltham-based Global Partners fell 154 places. General Electric relocated its headquarters from Fairfield,
CT to Boston in May 2017 and leads the top Fortune 500 companies in the state with $126.7 billion in revenues.

SOURCE: Forbes, June 2017 issue.
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Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund. The unemployment insurance system is a federal-state cooperative program
established by the Social Security Act and the Federal Unemployment Tax Act to provide for the payment of benefits to
eligible individuals when they become unemployed through no fault of their own. Benefits are paid from the
Commonwealth's Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund, financed through employer contributions. The assets and liabilities
of the Commonwealth Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund are not assets and liabilities of the Commonwealth.

As of February 28, 2017, the preliminary Massachusetts Unemployment Trust Fund had a balance of $779 million. This
balance is the sum of the private contributory account balance of $666 million and the government contributory account
balance of $113 million. This compares to the August 31, 2016 balance of $913 million with a private contributory portion
of $798 million. The March 2017 Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund report indicated that the private contributory
account balance was estimated to be $621 million by the end of 2021 according to the Moody’s-based outlook.

Unemployment. The unemployment rate in Massachusetts was consistently below or equal to the national average from
mid-1995 through September 2005, with similar patterns of gradual improvement after the mid-2003 peak. The
Massachusetts rate was greater than or equal to the U.S. rate for 19 months between January 2006 and June 2007, but has
not exceeded the U.S. rate since then. The Massachusetts rate peaked at 9.6 percent in January 2010, the same month that
the U.S. rate peaked at 10.6 percent. From July 2007 onward, the state rate remained equal to or below the comparable (not
seasonally adjusted) U.S. unemployment rate.

Since reaching 6.8 percent in January 2014, the Massachusetts unemployment rate has gradually declined in May 2017 to

4.1 percent, which is the same as the national rate. The tables and graphs on the following two pages compare the
unemployment rate in the state with those in New England and the U.S.
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SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Local Area Unemployment Statistics (LAUS) and Current Population Survey (CPS).
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SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Local Area Unemployment Statistics (LAUS).

SOURCES: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Local Area
Unemployment Statistics (LAUS).
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EDUCATION AND TECHNOLOGY

Educational Attainment. The availability of a skilled and well-educated population is an important resource for the
Commonwealth. Only the District of Columbia had a higher percentage of adults with a bachelor’s degree or higher in
2015, according to the Census Bureau's American Community Survey (ACS). The Census also reported that
Massachusetts ranked 35th in persons who had not completed high school, at 9.8 percent of the population age 25 or
older, less than the national average of 12.9 percent. Massachusetts’ black and Hispanic populations achieved college
degrees at a lower rate than its white population, but their rates were higher than their national averages. The most current
ACS data are shown below.

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey.
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Higher Education Data. The table below compares Massachusetts residents’ higher education enrollment by race and
Hispanic origin to the U.S. There were 1.5 percent fewer people enrolled in college in the U.S. in 2015 compared to 2014.
The proportion of total enrollment in Massachusetts remained relatively unchanged.

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015 1-Year Estimates.

Survey data released by the Institute of International Education state that 55,447 foreign students were enrolled in
Massachusetts colleges and universities in the 2015/2016 school year. This was an increase of 8.2 percent from the previous
year. The national enrollment increased 7.1 percent. Massachusetts remains fourth ranked among states for foreign student
enrollment.

SOURCE: Institute of International Education.

The graphs and table on the following page provide information about higher education enrollment, degrees conferred,
and research and development expenditures at colleges and universities.

U.S. Department of Education data show that from 2014 to 2015, higher education enrollment decreased 1.1 percent in
the United States and 0.1 percent at Massachusetts institutions. During the 2000-2015 period, enrollment in public
higher education increased 24 percent in the United States and 21 percent at Massachusetts institutions. Enrollment in
private institutions increased 52 percent in the United States and 21 percent at Massachusetts institutions.

Research and development expenditures at universities and colleges increased 18 percent in the United States and 39
percent in Massachusetts between 2006 and 2015.
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SOURCE: U.S. Department of Education, Digest of Education Statistics. SOURCE: U.S. Department of Education, Digest of Education Statistics.

SOURCE: U.S. Department of Education, Digest of Education Statistics. “Includes Ph.D.,
Ed.D., and comparable degrees at the doctoral level. SOURCE: National Science Foundation. NOTE: $3.50 Billion in FY 2014.

SOURCE: National Science Foundation. SOURCE: National Science Foundation.
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Internet Access. Massachusetts has the fifth highest household internet subscription rate in the U.S., according to the
Census Bureau’s 2015 American Community Survey.

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, 2015 1-Year Estimates.

Patents. The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office notes: “This report shows the number of U.S. patent documents (i.e.,
utility patents, design patents, plant patents, reissue patents, defensive publications, and statutory invention
registrations) granted since 1977, broken down by the state or country of origin (patent origin is determined by the
residence of the first-named inventor).”

In 2015, Massachusetts was fourth among all states for the number of new patents issued. Only six nations originated
more U.S. patents than Massachusetts, putting the state on par with Canada for origination of U.S. patents. Since 1977,
Massachusetts has received more new patents than any other New England state. With 6,777 new utilities patents and
7,234 total new patents in 2015, a 2.2 percent increase in total patents since 2014, Massachusetts innovators were
responsible for 62 percent of the new patents in New England.

SOURCE: U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, Patent Technology Monitoring Team (PTMT).
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Primary and Secondary Education Expenditures. Massachusetts has spent from 16.5 to 37.0 percent more per
pupil on primary and secondary education than the national average since 1994. During the 2013-2014 school
year, the average Massachusetts per student expenditures increased 2.1 percent to $15,296. Massachusetts was
ranked 8th in the nation among states and the District of Columbia in 2014. The table and chart below show
expenditures per pupil for Massachusetts and the U.S.

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Public Elementary—Secondary Education Finance Data.
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National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) scores. The National Assessment of Educational Progress
(NAEP), also known as "the Nation's Report Card," is the only nationally representative and continuing assessment of what
America's students know and can do in various subject areas. Since 1969, assessments have been conducted periodically in
reading, mathematics, science, writing, U.S. history, civics, geography, and the arts. Under the current structure, the
Commissioner of Education Statistics, who heads the National Center for Education Statistics in the U.S. Department of
Education, is responsible by law for administering the NAEP project.

Since 1990, NAEP assessments have also been conducted to give results for participating states. Those that choose to
participate receive assessment results that report on the performance of students in that state. In its content, the state
assessment is identical to the assessment conducted nationally. However, because the national NAEP samples were not and
are not currently designed to support the reporting of accurate and representative state-level results, separate representative
samples of students are selected for each participating jurisdiction/state. The graphs below compare the data available for
Massachusetts and the national public samples.

SOURCE: National Center for Education Statistics.
NOTE: Between 1992 and 2003 math and reading tests were administered during different years.
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EconomMic BASE AND PERFORMANCE—STATE OVERVIEW

Comparing BEA GDP for the U.S., the region, and Massachusetts. The U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA)
defines Gross Domestic Product by State (GDP) as “the value added in production by the labor and property located in a
state. GDP for a state is derived as the sum of the gross state product originating in all industries in a state. In concept, an
industry's GDP, referred to as its "value added", is equivalent to its gross output (sales or receipts and other operating
income, commodity taxes, and inventory change) minus its intermediate inputs (consumption of goods and services
purchased from other U.S. industries or imported).”

The BEA provides national (in January) and state (in June) annual and quarterly GDP estimates. MassBenchmarks releases
quarterly estimates of Massachusetts economic activity. This is reported in the following section. While we do not have
access to many of the components that BEA uses to calculate state GDP in advance of its release, we provide an overview
of our state’s components when they are available. Additionally, we provide state economic indexes and industrial sector
data that are released more frequently and in some cases, are among the components used to calculate state GDP.

SOURCES: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, MA MassBenchmarks calculations by Dr. Alan Clayton-Matthews. Seasonally
adjusted annual rates are quarterly data adjusted to an annual basis.
NOTE: Shaded areas are recession periods.
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EconoMmic BASE AND PERFORMANCE—ECONOMIC INDICATORS

State Coincident Indexes. To track more recent changes in the state and national economies, we use the Federal
Reserve Bank of Philadelphia’s Coincident Indexes. It:

...produces a monthly coincident index for each of the 50 states. The indexes are released a few days after the
Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) releases the employment data for the states.

The coincident indexes combine four state-level indicators to summarize current economic conditions in a single
statistic. The four state-level variables in each coincident index are nonfarm payroll employment, average hours
worked in manufacturing, the unemployment rate, and wage and salary disbursements deflated by the consumer
price index (U.S. city average). The trend for each state’s index is set to the trend of its gross domestic product
(GDP), so long term growth in the state’s index matches long term growth in its GDP. (https://www.phil.frb.org/
research-and-data/regional-economy/indexes/coincident/)

The graph below indicates the state and national index change from 12 months prior. Recent revisions to BLS data
that the Philadelphia Federal Reserve Bank uses to construct its indexes resulted in an improved trend for
Massachusetts since the recession ended in 2009. The table below compares the Massachusetts index to its New
England neighbors and the U.S.

SOURCE: Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia. July 2017.

NOTES: Shaded areas are recession periods. Indexes are set to 100 at July 1992. Methodology changes in March 2017 resulted in
revised values for historical data.
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Institute for Supply Management Purchasing Manager Indexes (PMI). These indexes are compiled using survey
data from purchasing and supply executives and are used as a leading business indicator. While the national index is
based on a survey of manufacturers, the Boston region’s is based on a survey of “companies representing industries as
diverse as the banking and financial services, pharmaceuticals and biotechnology, software development and
communication, medical products and equipment, computers, chemicals, consumer products, education, and the public
sector.” It should be noted that the Boston survey has been suspended, and consequently, data from it are not currently
being updated.

Index readings above 50 indicate the economy is generally expanding. Readings below 50 indicate the economy is
generally contracting, although a reading above 42 for a period of time indicates the economy is generally expanding.
Components of the national index include new orders, production, employment, supplier deliveries, inventories,
customer inventories, prices, backlog of orders, exports and imports. The Boston region’s components are slightly
different and include new orders, production, employment, supplier deliveries, raw monthly materials inventory,
business confidence, commodity prices, product prices, new export orders, order backlog and finished goods
inventories. These components show which segments of the business supply chain are expanding or contracting.

The June 2016 national index indicated that the manufacturing sector has been expanding since December 2015, with
the exception of a small dip in April 2016. The Boston region’s June 2015 (the last date for which data were available)
index of 32.3 indicated that overall business conditions were contracting after hitting a four-year high of 58.5 in
November 2014.

SOURCE: Institute for Supply Management and the Purchasing Management Association of Boston.
NOTE: Shaded areas are recession periods.
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EconomIC BASE AND PERFORMANCE—INTERNATIONAL TRADE

Total Trade Volume. Total trade volume, exports and imports, remained flat at 0.0 percent from 2015 to $59.7 billion in
2016. Canada’s trade volume was $10.8 billion and, at 18.1 percent of the total state trade, it was by far our most valuable
trading partner. Massachusetts trade deficit, $7.9 billion, decreased 6.6 percent in 2016. See appendix 8 for more trade data.

Exports. Massachusetts ranked 19th in the United States in 2016 and first in New England with $25.9 billion in exports.
This was a 1.1 percent increase from the previous year's export value, while national exports decreased by 4.7 percent.
Total exports from New England decreased by 1.3 percent. Canada was again our top export destination in 2016 with $3.1
billion.

Imports. Imports decreased 0.8 percent to $33.8 billion in 2016. Canada was also the largest source for Massachusetts
imports in 2016, from which we imported $7.7 billion or 22.8 percent of our total.

SOURCE: WISERTrade.org
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Top Ten Trade Partners by Trade Type from WISERTrade.
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Top Ten Commodities Traded by Trade Type from WISERTrade.
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EconomiC BASE AND PERFORMANCE—INDUSTRY SECTOR DETAIL (NAICS BASIS)

The Massachusetts economy remains diversified among several industrial and non-industrial sectors. The four largest
sectors of the economy, real estate, rental and leasing; professional and technical services; government; and manufacturing,
contributed 46.1 percent of the GDP in 2016. The real estate, rental and leasing sector remained the largest contributor in
2016. The following bar chart displays the latest sector contributions to the Massachusetts GDP.

SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.
NOTES: Blue bar indicates positive change from previous year and red is a negative change. Transportation and warehousing excludes U.S. Post

Office. *North American Industry Classification System.

GDP Subsectors. When measured in chained 2009 dollars, the change in Massachusetts total GDP grew 15.8 percent
between 2006 and 2015. Between 2006 and 2015 (the latest data available for subsector data), several industries grew much
faster than the state average. Industry subsectors that experienced substantial cumulative growth or reduction are listed in

the following chart.

SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.
NOTES: Updated January 2016. Subsector represents at least a half percent of Massachusetts GDP in the latest year.

*North American Industry Classification System.
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SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.
*North American Industry Classification System.
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Industry Sector Analysis. The following section contains a summary for each of the twenty major NAICS* sectors.
The data series show a ten-year time span. Graphs include data value labels for the latest annual points.

Not all datasets are reported for all of the major NAICS sectors. The Massachusetts Department of Workforce and
Labor Development’s Employment and Wages (ES-202) data series are available for every sector and contain the
number of establishments, average monthly employment, total annual wages and average weekly wages for
establishments with employees. The data are reported quarterly and annually for employees in the private, federal
government, state government, and local government sectors. NOTE: Beginning with the first quarter 2013, a code
change for employees from private households (NAICS 814110) into services for the elderly and persons with
disabilities (NAICS 624120) moved 33,960 employees in Massachusetts in January 2013.

The nonemployer businesses and receipts graph uses the U.S. Census Nonemployer Statistics series and is available for
every sector except 55 - Management of Companies and Enterprises and 92 - Public Administration. Some sectors
also lack subsector (at the four-digit NAICS level) detail. Nonemployer annual data have a two-year reporting lag for
businesses that do not have paid employees and are subject to federal income tax. The Census reports that
“Nonemployers account for a majority of all business establishments, but average less than four percent of all sales or
receipts.” These can be second or part-time businesses and not the owner’s primary source of income.

State Gross Domestic Product is an annual series from the U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis’s Regional Economic
Accounts. For more information, please visit:

http://www.bea.gov/newsreleases/regional/gdp_state/qgsp newsrelease.htm

Foreign exports from the U.S. Census Bureau’s Foreign Trade Division and WISERTrade, are available for four
industries on a monthly basis. Total state exports are available on a monthly basis. Sector exports and the top ten export
destinations for this industry sector are by dollar value.

Each sector analysis has a summary at the bottom of each page. The summary provides (when available):

1. GDP contribution to state total: this sector’s GDP divided by the state’s total GDP. A green figure in the text at
the bottom of the page indicates it is larger than the previous year’s GDP contribution. Red indicates it is smaller
than the previous year’s and black indicates no change from the previous year’s GDP contribution.

2. GDP rank: this sector’s GDP rank versus all state sectors. A green figure in the text at the bottom of the page
indicates that it is higher than the previous year’s rank. Red indicates that it is lower than the previous year’s and
black indicates that there was no change from the previous year’s GDP rank.

3. Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: the number of nonemployer establishments divided by the number

of establishments with employers. In general, a ratio greater than one means there are more small businesses. A

number less than one means there are more large businesses.

Establishments with employees: the subsector with the largest number of establishments who have employees.

Nonemployer establishments: the subsector with the largest number of establishments that do not have employees.

Employees: the subsector with the largest number of employees, at establishments with employees.

Annual wages: the subsector with the largest total annual wages, at establishments with employees.

Average weekly wage: the subsector with the largest average weekly wage, at establishments with employees.

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: the subsector with the most receipts, at establishments that do not

have employees.

10. Most valuable export: the subsector export with the highest dollar value.

WXk

*North American Industry Classification System.

Note: Total Wage, Average Weekly Wage, Nonemployer Receipts, and Sector Exports are all inflation-adjusted to
2015. State Gross Domestic Product is also adjusted for inflation, but chained to 2009.
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NAICS 11 - Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing & Hunting. The Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing and Hunting sector comprises establishments
primarily engaged in growing crops, raising animals, harvesting timber, and harvesting fish and other animals from a farm, ranch, or their natural
habitats.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

SOURCES: U.S. Department of Commerce and WISERTrade. SOURCES: U.S. Department of Commerce and WISER Trade.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 0.2%

GDP rank: 19 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 4.6 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Fishing

Nonemployer establishments: Fishing

Employees: Greenhouse and nursery production

Annual wages: Fishing

Average weekly wage: Fishing

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Fishing

Most valuable export: Fish, fresh, chilled or other frozen marine products

*For this 2-digit industry, Nonemployer data are available only for 113-115 (Forestry, fishing & hunting & agricultural support services).
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NAICS 21 — Mining. The Mining, Quarrying, and Oil and Gas Extraction sector comprises establishments that extract naturally occurring
mineral solids, such as coal and ores; liquid minerals, such as crude petroleum; and gases, such as natural gas. The term mining is used in the broad
sense to include quarrying, well operations, beneficiating (e.g., crushing, screening, washing, and flotation), and other preparation customarily
performed at the mine site, or as a part of mining activity.

SOURCE: MA Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production. SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

SOURCES: U.S. Department of Commerce and WISER Trade. SOURCES: U.S. Department of Commerce and WISER Trade.
Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 0.1%
GDP rank: 20 of 20
Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 0.8 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Nonmetallic mineral mining and quarrying

Nonemployer establishments: Nonmetallic mineral mining and quarrying

Employees: Nonmetallic mineral mining and quarnrying

Annual wages: Nonmetallic mineral mining and quarrying

Average weekly wage: Oil and gas extraction

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Nonmetallic mineral mining and quarrying

Most valuable export: Minerals and ores
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NAICS 22 - Utilities. The Utilities sector comprises establishments engaged in the provision of the following utility services: electric
power, natural gas, steam supply, water supply, and sewage removal. See the appendix, pages five and six for supplemental tables regarding
electricity generation, supply and capacity.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: U.S. Census, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production. SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

State export data are not available for this sector.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 1.2%

GDP rank: 17 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 1.4 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Power generation and supply

Nonemployer establishments: Subsector detail N/A

Employees: Power generation and supply

Annual wages: Power generation and supply

Average weekly wage: Power generation and supply

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Subsector detail N/A
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NAICS 23 - Construction. The Construction sector comprises establishments primarily engaged in the construction of buildings or
engineering projects (e.g., highways and utility systems). Establishments primarily engaged in the preparation of sites for new construction and
establishments primarily engaged in subdividing land for sale as building sites also are included in this sector. See the appendix pages two through
four for housing permits, housing sales, and housing sale prices.

SOURCE: Massachustts Exccutive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production. SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis

State export data are not available for this sector.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 3.8%

GDP rank: 10 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 2.9 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Building equipment contractors

Nonemployer establishments: Building finishing contractors

Employees: Building equipment contractors

Annual wages: Building equipment contractors

Average weekly wage: Land subdivision

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Residential building construction
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NAICS 31-33 — Manufacturing. The Manufacturing sector comprises establishments engaged in the mechanical, physical, or chemical
transformation of materials, substances, or components into new products. The assembling of component parts of manufactured products is
considered manufacturing, except in cases where the activity is appropriately classified in Sector 23, Construction.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production. SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

SOURCES: U.S. Department of Commerce and WISERTrade. SOURCES: U.S. Department of Commerce and WISERTrade.
Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 9.6%
GDP rank: 4 of 20
Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 0.9 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Machine shops and threaded products

Nonemployer establishments: Other miscellaneous manufacturing

Employees: Electronic instrument manufacturing

Annual wages: Electronic instrument manufacturing

Average weekly wage: Pharmaceutical and medicine manufacturing

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Other miscellaneous manufacturing

Most valuable export: Computers and electronic products
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NAICS 42 - Wholesale Trade. The Wholesale Trade sector comprises establishments engaged in wholesaling merchandise, generally without
transformation, and rendering services incidental to the sale of merchandise. The merchandise described in this sector includes the outputs of
agriculture, mining, manufacturing, and certain information industries, such as publishing. The wholesaling process is an intermediate step in the
distribution of merchandise.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, N I Statistics. Excludes ci and animal ctil . .
SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production SOURCE: U.S. Burean of Economic Analysis.

State export data are not available for this sector.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 5.0%

GDP rank: 8 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 0.5 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Electronic markets and agents/brokers

Nonemployer establishments: Miscellaneous durable goods merchant wholesalers

Employees: Electronic markets and agents/brokers

Annual wages: Electronic markets and agents/brokers

Average weekly wage: Druggists' goods merchant wholesalers

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Miscellaneous durable goods merchant wholesalers
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NAICS 44-45 - Retail Trade. The Retail Trade sector comprises establishments engaged in retailing merchandise, generally without
transformation, and rendering services incidental to the sale of merchandise. The retailing process is the final step in the distribution of merchandise;
retailers are therefore organized to sell merchandise in small quantities to the general public. This sector comprises two main types of retailers: store
and nonstore retailers.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Exccutive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

State export data are not available for this sector.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 4.2%

GDP rank: 9 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 1.2 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Grocery stores

Nonemployer establishments: Direct selling establishments

Employees: Grocery stores

Annual wages: Grocery stores

Average weekly wage: Electronic shopping and mail-order houses

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Direct selling establishments
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NAICS 48-49 - Transportation and Warehousing. The Transportation and Warchousing sector includes industries providing
transportation of passengers and cargo, warehousing and storage for goods, scenic and sightseeing transportation, and support activities
related to modes of transportation. Establishments in these industries use transportation equipment or transportation related facilities as a
productive asset. The type of equipment depends on the mode of transportation. The modes of transportation are air, rail, water, road, and
pipeline. See pages six and seven of the appendix for more information regarding transportation and warehousing.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Exccutive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. KOLRE: i @fffeecasilati ¢ W
SOURCE: U.S. Census Burcau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production. SOURCE: U.S. Burcau of Economic Analysis

State export data are not available for this sector.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 1.7%

GDP rank: 16 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 7.7 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: General freight trucking

Nonemployer establishments: Taxi and limousine service

Employees: School and employee bus transportation

Annual wages: Warehousing and storage

Average weekly wage: Pipeline transportation of natural gas

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Taxi and limousine service
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NAICS 51 - Information. The Information sector comprises establishments engaged in the following processes: producing and distributing
information and cultural products, providing the means to transmit or distribute these products as well as data or communications, and processing
data. In 2014, Information exports of prepackaged software, NAICS code 511, were recoded to the Manufacturing NAICS code 334.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Exccutive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development
SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production. SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

State export data are not available for this sector.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 5.1%

GDP rank: 7 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 1.7 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Other information services

Nonemployer establishments: Other information services

Employees: Software publishers

Annual wages: Software publishers

Average weekly wage: Software publishers

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Other information services
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NAICS 52 - Finance and Insurance. The Finance and Insurance sector comprises establishments primarily engaged in financial transactions
(transactions involving the creation, liquidation, or change in ownership of financial assets) and/or in facilitating financial transactions.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusctts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production. SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

State export data are not available for this sector.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 9.4%

GDP rank: 5 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 1.4 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Insurance agencies, brokerages & support

Nonemployer establishments: Other financial investment activities

Employees: Depository credit intermediation

Annual wages: Other financial investment activities

Average weekly wage: Other investment pools and funds

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Other financial investment activities
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NAICS 53 - Real Estate and Rental and Leasing. The Real Estate and Rental and Leasing sector comprises establishments primarily
engaged in renting, leasing, or otherwise allowing the use of tangible or intangible assets, and establishments providing related services. The
major portion of this sector comprises establishments that rent, lease, or otherwise allow the use of their own assets by others. The assets may
be tangible, as is the case of real estate and equipment, or intangible, as is the case with patents and trademarks.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production. SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

State export data are not available for this sector.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 14.4%

GDP rank: 1 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 8.6 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Activities related to real estate

Nonemployer establishments: Lessors of real estate

Employees: Activities related to real estate

Annual wages: Activities related to real estate

Average weekly wage: Lessors, nonfinancial intangible assets

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Lessors of real estate
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NAICS 54 - Professional and Technical Services. The Professional and Technical Services sector comprises establishments that specialize in
performing professional, scientific, and technical activities for others. These activities require a high degree of expertise and training. The
establishments in this sector specialize according to expertise and provide these services to clients in a variety of industries - in some cases, to
households. Activities performed include: legal advice and representation, accounting, bookkeeping, and payroll services, architectural, engineering,
and specialized design services, computer services, consulting services, research services, advertising services, photographic services, translation and
interpretation services, veterinary services, and other professional, scientific, and technical services.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production. SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

State export data are not available for this sector.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 11.6%

GDP rank: 2 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 3.1 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Computer systems design and related services

Nonemployer establishments: Other professional, scientific, and technical services

Employees: Computer systems design and related services

Annual wages: Computer systems design and related services

Average weekly wage: Scientific research and development services

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Other professional, scientific, and technical services
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NAICS 55 - Management of Companies and Enterprises. The Management of Companies and Enterprises sector comprises establishments
that hold the securities of (or other equity interests in) companies and enterprises for the purpose of owning a controlling interest or influencing
management decisions or establishments (except government establishments) that administer, oversee, and manage establishments of the company or
enterprise and that normally undertake the strategic or organizational planning and decision making role of the company or enterprise. Establishments
that administer, oversee, and manage may hold the securities of the company or enterprise.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.

State nonemployer and export data are not available for
this sector.

SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 2.4%

GDP rank: 14 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: N/A

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll, and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Subsector detail N/A

Nonemployer establishments: N/A

Employees: Subsector detail N/A

Annual wages: Subsector detail N/A

Average weekly wage: Subsector detail N/A

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: N/A

EXHIBIT A-51 Quarter 4, FY 2017



NAICS 56 - Administrative and Waste Services. The Administrative and Waste Services sector comprises establishments performing routine
support activities for the day-to-day operations of other organizations. The establishments in this sector specialize in one or more of these support
activities and provide these services to clients in a variety of industries and in some cases, to households. Activities performed include: office
administration, hiring and placing of personnel, document preparation and similar clerical services, solicitation, collection, security and surveillance
services, cleaning, and waste disposal services.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production. SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

State export data are not available for this sector.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 2.8%

GDP rank: 11 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 2.7 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Services to buildings and dwellings

Nonemployer establishments: Services to buildings and dwellings

Employees: Employment services

Annual wages: Employment services

Average weekly wage: Office administrative services

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Services to buildings and dwellings

EXHIBIT A-52 Quarter 4, FY 201



NAICS 61 - Educational Services. The Educational Services sector comprises establishments that provide instruction and training in a wide
variety of subjects. This instruction and training is provided by specialized establishments, such as schools, colleges, universities, and training
centers. These establishments may be privately owned and operated for profit or not for profit, or they may be publicly owned and operated. They
may also offer food and/or accommodation services to their students.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production. SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

State export data are not available for this sector.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 2.8%

GDP rank: 13 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 5.2 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Other schools and instruction

Nonemployer establishments: Subsector detail N/A

Employees: Elementary and secondary schools

Annual wages: Elementary and secondary schools

Average weekly wage: Colleges and universities

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Subsector detail N/A
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NAICS 62 - Health Care and Social Assistance. The Health Care and Social Assistance sector comprises establishments providing health care
and social assistance for individuals. The sector includes both health care and social assistance because it is sometimes difficult to distinguish between
the boundaries of these two activities. Note: Beginning with the first quarter 2013, a code change for employees from private households (NAICS
814110) into services for the elderly and persons with disabilities (NAICS 624120) moved 33,960 employees in Massachusetts in January 2013.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Exccutive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production. SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

State export data are not available for this sector.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 9.4%

GDP rank: 6 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 0.9 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Individual and family services

Nonemployer establishments: Offices of other health practitioners

Employees: General medical and surgical hospitals

Annual wages: General medical and surgical hospitals

Average weekly wage: Offices of physicians

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Offices of other health practitioners
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NAICS 71 - Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation. The Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation sector includes a wide range of establishments
that: operate facilities or provide services to meet varied cultural, entertainment, and recreational interests of their patrons, are involved in producing,
promoting, or participating in live performances, events, or exhibits intended for public viewing, preserve and exhibit objects and sites of historical,
cultural, or educational interest and operate facilities or provide services that enable patrons to participate in recreational activities or pursue
amusement, hobby, and leisure-time interests. See the appendix page six for travel and tourism information.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production. SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

State export data are not available for this sector.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 1.2%

GDP rank: 18 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 9.3 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Other amusement & recreation industries

Nonemployer establishments: Independent artists, writers, and performers

Employees: Other amusement & recreation industries

Annual wages: Other amusement & recreation industries

Average weekly wage: Spectator sports

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Independent artists, writers, and performers
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NAICS 72 - Accommodation and Food Services. The Accommodation and Food Services sector comprises establishments providing
customers with lodging and/or preparing meals, snacks, and beverages for immediate consumption. The sector includes both accommodation and
food services establishments because the two activities are often combined at the same establishment.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production. SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

State export data are not available for this sector.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 2.8%

GDP rank: 12 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 0.4 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Restaurants and other eating places

Nonemployer establishments: Special food services

Employees: Restaurants and other eating places

Annual wages: Restaurants and other eating places

Average weekly wage: Traveler accommodation

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Restaurants and other eating places
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NAICS 81 - Other Services, Except Public Administration. The Other Services (except Public Administration) sector comprises
establishments engaged in providing services not specifically provided for elsewhere in the classification system. Establishments in this sector are
primarily engaged in activities such as equipment and machinery repairing, promoting or administering religious activities, grant-making, advocacy,
providing dry cleaning and laundry services, personal care services, death care services, pet care services, photofinishing services, temporary parking
services, and dating services. Note: Beginning with the first quarter 2013, a code change for employees from private households (NAICS 814110) into
services for the elderly and persons with disabilities (NAICS 624120) moved 33,960 employees in Massachusetts in January 2013.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.
SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics. Excludes crop and animal production. SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

State export data are not available for this sector.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 1.9%

GDP rank: 15 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: 2.9 to 1

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Private households

Nonemployer establishments: Other personal services

Employees: Personal Care Services

Annual wages: Automotive repair and maintenance

Average weekly wage: Electronic equipment repair/maintenance

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: Other personal services
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NAICS 92 - Public Administration. The Public Administration sector consists of establishments of federal, state, and local government
agencies that administer, oversee, and manage public programs and have executive, legislative, or judicial authority over other institutions within a
given area. These agencies also set policy, create laws, adjudicate civil and criminal legal cases and provide for public safety and national defense.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.

SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development. SOURCE: Massachusetts Executive Office of Labor and Workforce Development.

State nonemployer and export data are not available for this
sector.

SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

Summary.

GDP contribution to state total: 10.5%

GDP rank: 3 of 20

Nonemployer to employer establishment ratio: N/A

Sector leaders. Industry subsectors with the majority of establishments, employees, payroll and receipts.
Establishments with employees: Justice, public order, and safety activities

Nonemployer establishments: N/A

Employees: Justice, public order, and safety activities

Annual wages: Justice, public order, and safety activities

Average weekly wage: Justice, public order, and safety activities

Annual receipts at nonemployer establishments: N/A
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Economic BASE AND PERFORMANCE—GOVERNMENT REVENUES AND SPENDING

Federal Spending in Massachusetts. Massachusetts received approximately $62.3 billion in contracts, grants, direct
payments, insurance, loans and guarantees, and other spending from the federal government in federal fiscal year (FFY)
2016. Massachusetts received 2.0 percent of all federal spending in FFY 2016 versus 2.1 percent in FFY 2015. Federal
dollars to Massachusetts have dropped since FFY 2012. Massachusetts federal contracts declined from FFY 2012 to FFY
2014, increased 5.2 percent in FFY 2015, and declined 3.8 percent in FFY 2016. The proportion of all Massachusetts
federal contracts has averaged 2.9 percent over the last nine years.

SOURCE: http://www.usaspending.gov as of 07/10/17.
NOTE: Federal fiscal data reporting is not complete until January of the following year due to the three month lag in DOD reporting.
Dollar values and change in dollar values reflect inflation-adjusted ($2016) dollars.
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In FFY 2016, the largest portion of federal spending in Massachusetts, 47.7 percent, was for Other Financial Assistance
which includes direct payments to individuals (such as Medicare and food stamps), insurance payments (such as
unemployment benefits, flood insurance), and other types of assistance payments (such as reimbursements for
prescriptions for veterans). Other Financial Assistance increased 6.1 percent, Contracts decreased 3.8 percent, and
Grants increased 9.4 percent from FFY 2015. The graphs below describe the most recent complete fiscal year and the
last nine years of federal spending in Massachusetts, including the most recent data for the current fiscal year as
reported by USASpending.gov.

SOURCE: http://www.usaspending.gov as of 07/10/17. Federal fiscal data reporting is not complete until January of the
following year due to the three month lag in DOD reporting. Dollar values and change in dollar values reflect inflation-adjusted
(82016) dollars.
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Federal Contracts. The table and graph below compare the annual summary of federal contracts performed in
Massachusetts to the total contracts awarded by the federal government. In FFY 2016, the latest full year available, 2.7
percent of all federal contract work was performed in Massachusetts. This is slightly less than the 2.9 percent average it has
been receiving over the last nine years.

The following two pages summarize the federal contracts by top products or services, funding agencies and sub agencies,
contractors and sub-awardees, over the long-term and the latest complete federal fiscal year. The work was primarily
performed in Massachusetts and the vendors who were awarded the contracts may or may not have been located in
Massachusetts.

SOURCE: http://www.usaspending.gov as of 07/10/17. Federal fiscal data reporting is not complete until January of the following year
due to the three month lag in DOD reporting. Dollar values and change in dollar values reflect inflation-adjusted ($2016) dollars.

EXHIBIT A-61 Quarter 4, FY 2017



SOURCE: http://www.usaspending.gov as of 07/19/17. Annual federal fiscal data reporting is not complete until January of the following year due
to the three month lag in DOD reporting. Dollar values reflect inflation-adjusted ($2016) dollars.
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SOURCE: http://www.usaspending.gov as of 07/19/17. Annual federal fiscal data reporting is not complete until January of the following year
due to the three month lag in DOD reporting.
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State Revenues. Taxes collected by all states in FY 2015 totaled $916.5 billion, 5.7 percent more than FY 2014.
Massachusetts collected $27.0 billion in FY 2015, 6.9 percent more than in FY 2014. Massachusetts ranked tenth in
the nation in total taxes collected in 2015, down from ninth in 2014.

In FY 2015, the national average of tax collection from individual income tax and sales and gross receipts tax was 83.9
percent of total revenue. Massachusetts collected most of its revenue, 48.7 percent, from sales and gross receipts tax while
overall states collected 47.1 percent of their revenue from sales and gross receipts tax. Seven states do not have an
individual income tax.

FY 2015 State Revenues by Type

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Governments Division.

NOTES: Other: Licenses, death and gift, severance, documentary and stock transfer and other NEC. Shares of total based on inflation-adjusted dollars
($2015).

State Lottery Proceeds. Massachusetts ranked third in revenue, $4.64 billion, and third in prize money awarded,
$3.52 billion, among the 43 states with lotteries in FY 2015. Massachusetts lottery revenue held flat compared to the
previous year.

FY 2015 Apportionment of Lottery Funds

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Governments Division.
NOTE: Shares of total based on inflation-adjusted dollars ($2015).
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State Expenditures. The following table and graph depict FY 2014 per capita state government general expenditures in
inflation-adjusted dollars by category for the six New England states and the U.S. average state expenditures. Massachusetts
ranked eighth in the nation in per capita expenditures, $8,648 in 2014, while it ranked sixth and spent $8,775 in 2012. This

represents a 1.4 percent decrease in per capita expenditures from 2012 levels, with the largest per capita dollar increase in
the Natural Resource, Parks and Recreation function.

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, Governments Division.

*Qther includes utility, liquor store, other and unallocable expenditures. Updated 06/07/15.
NOTE: Per capita dollars are adjusted for inflation ($2015).
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Supplementary Data Section. The following appendix contains more detailed data for industry sectors or subsectors.
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Building Permits. The Census Bureau’s Residential Construction Branch Building Permits Survey is a leading
economic indicator used to track the housing industry.

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau. Reported data plus data imputed for non-reporters & partial reporters.
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Home Sales. Sales of existing single-family homes for Massachusetts and the U.S. are presented in the following table and
graph. The state existing-home sales report includes single-family houses, condos and co-ops.

SOURCES: National Association of Realtors and Massachusetts Association of Realtors. Massachusetts sales price reflects only that of single-
family homes. Sales prices of the other regions represent the average of both single-and multi-family homes.
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Home prices. Massachusetts sales prices are much higher than the national median but they are 29.9 percent less than
the 2004 peak.

SOURCE: National Association of Realtors and Massachusetts Association of Realtors. The Massachusetts sales price reflects only that of
single-family homes. Sales prices of the other regions represent the average of both single- and multi-family homes.
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Electricity Prices, Supply and Capacity by Source. Massachusetts had the fifth highest electric rate in the country in
2015, 16.90 cents per kilowatt hour in 2016 dollars, while the U.S. average was 10.14. Adjusted for inflation, this was
an increase of 10.0 percent for Massachusetts and an increase of 0.4 percent for the U.S. from the previous year.
Massachusetts electric utilities generated $9.3 billion in revenue in 2015. This was 10.3 percent more than in 2014,
while they sold 0.3 percent more electricity. The Massachusetts Net Electricity Trade Index, which represents the
state’s electricity self-sufficiency, was 0.56 in 2015, the latest data available. In 2015, 65.5 percent of Massachusetts
electricity was generated by burning natural gas, our top fuel source for power generation.

SOURCE: U.S. Department of Energy, http://www.eia.doe.gov/cneaf/electricity/st_profiles/massachusetts.html.
NOTE: Massachusetts restructured the electric utility industry to establish consumer electricity rate savings by 03/01/98.
https://malegislature.gov/Laws/SessionLaws/Acts/1997/Chapter164

SOURCE: U.S. Department of Energy, http://www.eia.doe.gov/cneaf/electricity/st_profiles/massachusetts.html.
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SOURCE: U.S. Dept. of Energy, http://www.eia.doe.gov/; state electricity profiles.
NOTE: Other includes batteries, chemicals, hydrogen, pitch, purchased steam, sulfur, tire-derived fuels and misc. technologies. Pumped storage is

omitted from the graph because it represents the storage of power generated elsewhere rather than newly generated power.

Travel and Tourism. The Massachusetts Office of Travel and Tourism (MOTT) reported a 5.7 percent increase in 2016
museum and attraction attendance compared to 2015, with 12.2 million visitors. Museum attendance was up 2.7 percent in
March 2017 for the calendar year compared to March 2016. For March FY 2017 year-to-date, net room occupancy tax
collections totaled $189.4 million, a 2.5 percent increase from the same period in FY 2016.

Transportation and Warehousing. Massachusetts's major air and seaports are managed by the Massachusetts Port
Authority (Massport), an independent public authority. Based on total passenger volume data for calendar year 2015,
Logan Airport was the most active airport in New England and the 17" most active in the U.S. according to the Federal
Aviation Authority. Massport reported that as of July 2017 year-to-date, total airport flight operations were up 4.7 percent
and total airport passengers were up 9.5 percent from the same period in 2016. According to the FAA, in calendar year
2015, Logan Airport ranked 27th in the nation in total air cargo volume. As of July 2017 year-to-date, Massport reported the
airport handled 209.8 million pounds of cargo; a 10.5 percent increase from the same period in 2016. Massport reported that
total express mail was down 0.7 percent from the same period in 2016. Please refer to the Aviation Activity charts on the

following page.

Massport's Port of Boston properties processed 208,118 full TEUs (twenty-foot equivalent units) of containerized cargo in
2016, an increase of 5.8 percent from calendar year 2015. It also processed 53,854 automobiles, a decrease of 10.2 percent,
and 309,027 cruise passengers, a 5.9 percent decrease, compared to 2015.

The Army Corps of Engineers reported Massachusetts total waterborne cargo shipped or received in 2015 decreased by 1.4
percent to 18.5 million short tons from 2014. Waterborne cargo in New England decreased 2.3 percent while the U.S.
increased 2.8 percent. Please refer to the Waterborne Tonnage by State charts on the following page.
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SOURCE: Federal Aviation Administration. http://www.faa.gov/airports/planning_capacity/passenger_allcargo_stats/passenger/.

SOURCE: Army Corps of Engineers, Waterborne Commerce Statistics Center (WCSC), http://www.navigationdatacenter.us/wcsc/wesc.htm.
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SOURCE: WISERTrade.org.
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Sources

Listed below are the websites of the original data sources used to compile Exhibit A. For more information, contact the
UMass Donahue Institute Economic and Public Policy Research unit.
Web: http://www.donahue.umassp.edu/business-groups/economic-public-policy-research, Tel: 413-577-2415

Introduction
American Human Development Project
http://www.measureofamerica.org/

Population Characteristics

U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census
http://www.census.gov

U.S. Internal Revenue Service

http://www.irs.gov

Personal Income, Consumer Prices, and Poverty

U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic
Analysis

http://www.bea.gov/regional/index.htm

U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics
http://www.bls.gov

The Conference Board, Inc.
http://www.conference-board.org

MassInsight Corporation
http://www.massinsight.com/index.asp

U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census
http://www.census.gov

Employment

Mass. Executive Office of Labor and Workforce
Development, Division of Unemployment Assistance
http://lmi2.detma.org/Lmi/LMIDataProg.asp

U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics
http://www.bls.gov/data/home. htm

Economic Base and Performance

U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic
Analysis

http://www.bea.gov/national/index. htmi#tgdp

Fortune Magazine

http://www.fortune.com/fortune/

Economic Base and Performance - Sector Detail
(NAICS Basis)

U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic
Analysis

http://www.bea.gov/regional/index. htm

U.S. Census Bureau, Foreign Trade Division.
Prepared by the World Institute for Strategic
Economic Research (WISER)

http://www. WISERTrade

U.S. Census Bureau, Nonemployer Statistics
https.://www.census.gov/econ/nonemployer/index.html

Statistics
http://www.bls.gov/data/home. htm

Massport

http://www.massport.com

Airports Council International
http://www.aci.aero

Federal Aviation Administration
http://www.faa.gov/airports_airtraffic/airports/
planning_capacity/passenger_allcargo_stats/
Army Corps of Engineers
http://www.navigationdatacenter.us/wesc/wesc. htm
Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia
https://www.phil.frb.org/

U.S. Department of Commerce
http://www/census.gov

National Association of Realtors
http://www.realtor.org/
http://www.marealtor.com/content/
Massachusetts Office of Travel and Tourism
http://www.massvacation.com

U.S. Census Bureau, Governments Division
http://www.census.gov/govs/wwwy/statetax. html
http://www.census.gov/govs/www state.html
U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the
Census, Consolidated Federal Funds Report
http://www.census.gov/govs/www/cffr.html
Federal Spending award data
http://www.usaspending.gov

Large employers by sector
http://www.mass.gov/comptroller/docs/reports-audits/
cafr/2016-cafr.pdf

Human Resources and Infrastructure
U.S. Census Bureau
http://www.census.gov/acs/www/

New England Board of Higher Education
http://www.nebhe.org.connection.html
National Science Foundation
http://www.nsf.gov/statistics

U.S. Department of Education, National Center for
Education Statistics

http://nces.ed.gov

Institute of International Education
http://www.iee.org

U.S. Patent Office

http://www.uspto.gov
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October 31, 2016

The People of Massachusetts

His Excellency Charles D. Baker, Governor

Senator Karen E. Spilka, Chair of the Senate Committee on Ways and Means
Representative Brian S. Dempsey, Chair of the House Committee on Ways and Means
Secretary Kristen Lepore, Executive Office of Administration and Finance

I am pleased to present the Statutory Basis Financial Report (SBFR) for the fiscal year ended June
30, 2016.

Under M.G.L. c. 7A, s. 7, the Comptroller is responsible for establishing accounting rules and
interpreting and implementing accounting standards for Commonwealth departments. Pursuant to
M.G.Lc.7A,s. 12,the Comptroller is also required to file the SBFR with the Governor, the Secretary
of Administration and Finance, the House and Senate Committees on Ways and Means, the Clerks
of the House and Senate, and any other Parties specified in general or special law. This report is
provided consistent with these mandates.

In my opinion, the SBFR provides an independent and unbiased accounting of Commonwealth
revenues and expenditures for Fiscal Year 2016. It has also been reviewed in accordance with
professional standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

My office will also issue the Commonwealth’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR),
by the end of this calendar year. The CAFR has the additional requirements of adherence to generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP), and the interpretation of statements issued by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).

As we conclude our review of Fiscal Year 2016, I would like to take the opportunity to acknowledge
the remarkable effort and dedication of the Office of the Comptroller staff, who continually support
our mission to promote accountability, integrity, and clarity in Commonwealth business, fiscal, and
administrative enterprises.

Respecttully,

Thomas G. Shack, III, Esq.
Comptroller of the Commonwealth
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Report Summary

As of June 30, 2016, the Commonwealth had a budgeted fund balance of approximately $1.482 billion and completed
FY'16 with a balanced budget according to state finance law (see page 3 for the definition of a balanced budget under
state finance law). During the fiscal year, the balance of the Commonwealth’s Stabilization (or rainy day) Fund increased
by $39 million, to $1.292 billion, as a result of investment earnings and transfers of abandoned property revenues. No
funds were drawn from the Stabilization Fund in FY16. (The Budgeted Funds — Operations table on page 7 displays
the FY 16 summary of budgeted funds compared to FY15. Details of FY16 Stabilization Fund activity are provided
on pages 9 and 120.) The total budgeted fund balance of $1.482 billion reflects a loss (revenues and other financing
sources less than expenditures and other financing uses) of approximately $89 million, subtracted from the FY16
beginning balance of $1.571 billion. This follows an FY 15 operating gain of $120 million. In addition to the $1.292
billion reserved in the Stabilization Fund, $126 million is reserved for continuing appropriations and debt service in
fiscal year 2017. The remaining undesignated balance of $64 million is made up of smaller budgeted fund balances.

During FY 16, budgeted fund tax revenues increased by $443 million, or 1.9%, from FY15, as tax revenue growth due
to the continuing strength of the Massachusetts economy was partially offset by a decline in capital gains tax revenues.
Before transfers between budgeted funds that do not affect total budgeted fund balances, total budgeted fund revenues
and other financing sources increased by $2.129 billion, or 5.6%. Budgeted fund expenditures and other financing
uses increased by $2.338 billion, or 6.1%, primarily due to increases in Medicaid spending, additional payments to
hospitals that care for the uninsured, and higher contributions to the state pension system to pay down the
Commonwealth’s unfunded pension liability. A more detailed analysis of revenue and spending changes, as well as
the economic factors that affected the budget, is included in the sections that follow.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This report focuses on the Commonwealth’s budgeted funds. For the budgeted funds, the activity (inflows and outflows)
and balances (assets and liabilities) of each fund are presented separately. For all other funds included in this report,
the activity — inflows and outflows — is presented in tabular form, but per statute, the full balance sheets for each fund
are not shown.

The financial operations of these funds are maintained in the Massachusetts Management Accounting and Reporting
System, (MMARS). The statewide accounting system is operated by the Commonwealth and contains detailed
information summarized in this report.

The SBFR is intended to satisfy the requirements of state finance law and to present the results of FY 16 activity in the
Commonwealth’s funds. The report contains computations required by state finance law, including the certification
of, transfers to, and balances in, the Stabilization Fund.

Basis of Accounting and Definition of the Consolidated Net Surplus

The statutory (or budgetary) basis of accounting, defined in Massachusetts law, is used to budget and control fiscal
operations. The statutory basis of accounting is not in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (GAAP) as defined for governments by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB). In addition, Fiduciary Funds are not included in this presentation. The Comptroller’s Office will report the
Commonwealth’s financial position on a GAAP basis in December, in the State’s Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report (CAFR). That report provides a basis for comparison with other jurisdictions, as the accounting rules for the
CAFR are the same for all governments, whereas the statutory basis of accounting may differ across states. There are
significant differences between what is contained in the SBFR and what will be presented in the CAFR according to
GAAP. The major differences are that the CAFR reflects capital assets and depreciation expense, all types of long-
term obligations — including debt and pensions — and in the CAFR the financial statements are presented in an all-
encompassing, net position and net expense format.

The Commonwealth’s statutory basis of accounting defines the “consolidated net surplus” as the ending “undesignated”,
orunreserved, balances in specific budgeted funds, that is, those funds subject to the state’s annual appropriation process,
though by statute several budgeted funds are excluded from the consolidated net surplus calculation. In turn, state
finance law defines a “balanced budget” as a consolidated net surplus of $0. The largest of the budgeted funds are the
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General Fund, which accounts for approximately 93.5% of total budgeted fund expenditures, and the Commonwealth
Transportation Fund, which accounts for approximately 4.9% of total state budgeted fund activity. The remaining
approximately 1.6% of budgeted fund activity is comprised of 12 smaller funds, 6 of which by statute are excluded
from the consolidated net surplus calculations.

In accordance with Section 12 of Chapter 7A of the Massachusetts General Laws, as amended, the Office of the
Comptroller is required to transmit the SBFR by October 31*. The SBFR for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 is
reviewed, not audited, by KPMG LLP and represents the closing of the Commonwealth’s books for the fiscal year.

The Economic Context

The funding available to the Commonwealth to finance its programs is determined in large part by the performance of
the state’s economy, most importantly the growth in employment. In FY'16, the Commonwealth’s economy continued
to perform better than the nation’s economy. Between June 2015 and June 2016, employment (which is the primary
driver of the Commonwealth’s largest revenue source, income tax withholding) grew by approximately 69,000 jobs,
or 2.0%, compared to employment growth of 1.7% for the United States as a whole over the same period. As of June
2016, the Massachusetts unemployment rate was 4.2%, compared to 4.9% nationally.

The Budgeted Funds

Budgeted Fund Revenues and
Other Sources (Total of $40.4 billion)

Federal
Reimbursements
26.4%

Income Tax 35.7%

Transfers 4.6% —

Departmental 10.5%

Sales & Use Tax 10.6%
Other Tax 6.5%
Corporate Tax 5.7%

The FY16 budget as enacted by the Legislature was based on an FY16 consensus tax revenue estimate of $25.479
billion, of which approximately $23.668 billion was to be credited to the Commonwealth’s budgeted funds after adjusting
for $1.812 billion in tax revenue that is deposited directly into non-budgeted funds for transfers of sales tax revenue
dedicated to the Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority ($985 million) and the Massachusetts School Building
Authority ($804 million), and revenue deposited in the non-budgeted Workforce Training Fund ($22 million). The
FY16 enacted budget adjusted the estimate to $25.711 billion, including $100 million in tax settlements (of which
$23.899 billion was to be deposited in the budgeted funds), due to several tax law changes included in the budget. Both
estimates included $122 million of capital gains revenue that under statute was to be transferred to the Stabilization
Fund and would not be available for budgetary purposes.

As a result of above forecast revenue performance over the the first six months of FY'16, in January 2016, the FY 16
tax revenue estimate was adjusted upward by $140 million, to $25.876 billion, (including $125 million in settlements
exceeding $10 million each, virtually all of which were tax-related), of which $24.065 billion was to be deposited in
the budgeted funds.
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FY16 tax revenues ended the year at $25.424 billion (including $155 million in tax settlements exceeding $10 million
each), of which $23.617 billion was deposited in the budgeted funds. Tax revenue deposited in the budgeted funds grew
by $443 million, or 1.9% from FY'15, and was $448 million below the final FY 16 tax estimate and $283 million below
the enacted budget’s FY16 tax estimate.

The FY16 General Appropriation Act (GAA) authorized approximately $39.156 billion in spending, exclusive of
approximately $1.972 billion in required pension contributions and $212 million in FY'15 spending authorized to be
continued into FY'16 as part of FY'15 end-of-year supplemental budgets.

Budgeted Expenditures and Other Uses (Total of $40.5 billion)

Public Safety: 2.8% Debt Service: 5.4%

Other Health and Human '

Services: 13.7% ‘
Approximately $913 million in supplemental appropriations were authorized during FY 16, $702 million of which were
enacted prior to June 30, 2016. Subsequent to year end, two additional supplemental budgets were enacted totaling
approximately $211 million in new and continued appropriations, $164 million of which was for FY16 Medicaid
expenditures, with virtually all of the remainder continued to FY17 and reappropriated. The year’s significant
supplemental appropriation activity included:

Direct Local Aid: 13.8%

Post Employment
Benefits (Pensions/Health

Insurance): 6.2%
General Government:

8.2%

Health Insurance for
Current Employees: 4.0%

Education: 5.6%

Interfund Transfers from Non-budgeted

Medicaid: 36.7% Funds: 3.7%

¢ $566 million for transfers to the Medical Assistance Trust Fund;

*  $164 million for Medicaid expenses;

e $41 million for emergency housing assistance;

*  $39 million for compensation of private counsel representing indigent defendants;
e $28 million to fund county Sheriffs;

*  $13 million for certain court judgments and settlements.
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In order to maintain a balanced budget in the face of lower than projected FY 16 tax revenue collections, the Governor
reduced spending authorizations, or allotments, using his authority under Section 9C of Chapter 29. Those allotment
reductions totaled approximately $47 million. The Executive Office for Administration and Finance in conjunction
with state departments also took action in the fourth quarter of FY'16 to minimize discretionary spending to maintain
a balanced budget. Finally, the following specific actions were taken in FY 16 to maintain statutory budget balance:

*  $283 million in capital gains tax revenue that under statute is required to be deposited in the Stabilization Fund
($255 million), the State Pension Fund ($14 million), and the State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund ($14 million)
was retained in the General Fund, per a provision in the FY 16 General Appropriation Act that suspended the
requirement;

e $71 million in Medicaid payments was shifted from FY16 to FY17;
*  $137 million in non-recurring revenue was generated by a tax amnesty program;

$113 million in debt service payments normally paid from budgeted funds was paid from a non-budgeted fund
capitalized by FY15 surplus revenues;

*  $79 million in revenues was transferred to the General Fund from non-budgeted funds and state authorities;

*  $26 million was retained in the General Fund by reducing the statutorily required tobacco settlement transfer
to the State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund.

FY 16 budgeted revenues and other financing sources (before transfers between the budgeted funds, which are included
in both spending and revenue and thus have no effect on fund balances) totaled $40.366 billion, an increase of $2.129
billion, or 5.6%, from FY15. Tax revenue grew by $443 million, or 1.9%; while the economy continued to expand
modestly, growth in withholding and sales tax revenue was offset by a decline in capital gains tax revenue, which
according to a preliminary Department of Revenue estimate, dropped by $299 million, or 17.9%, from $1.669 billion
in FY'15 to an $1.370 billion in FY16. (There were also declines in other non-withholding, or non-wage, income taxes,
though details on these will not be available until 2015 income tax returns filed on extension are analyzed.) Federal
reimbursements totaled $10.643 billion, an increase of $1.162 billion, or 12.3%, primarily due to growth in
reimbursements for increased Medicaid program spending, as well as increases in reimbursements for payments to
hospitals that care for a disproportionate share of low income patients. Departmental revenue, which consists primarily
of assessments and fees for state licenses and state services, totaled $4.257 billion, an increase of $404 million, or
10.5%, from FY15. Large increases in departmental revenue included $198 million in pharmacy rebates paid to the
state employee health insurance program, $166 million in payments from the University of Massachusetts Medical
School, and $46 million in additional reimbursements by cities and towns participating in the state’s health plans.
Interfund transfers from non-budgeted funds totaled $1.849 billion, an increase of $119 million, or 6.9%, from FY15,
due primarily to $16 million in additional transfers from abandoned property revenues and $36 million in higher fringe
benefit recoveries from capital, federal grants, and non-budgeted funds.

The Commonwealth continues to receive revenues from the Master Settlement Agreement (MSA) between the states
and the tobacco industry to recover health care costs for tobacco-related illnesses. In FY 16, the Commonwealth received
$258 million in tobacco settlement funds, an increase of $12 million from FY15. The $258 million represented
approximately 69.6% of the estimated amounts shown in the MSA. Statute requires that a portion of tobacco settlement
proceeds be transferred directly to the State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund (SRBTF) to fund the Commonwealth’s liability
for retiree health care, with the percentage of proceeds transferred increasing by 10% each year until 100% of such
proceeds is to be deposited in the SRBTF in FY2023 and after. For FY 16, the statutorily required transfer was 40%
of tobacco settlement revenues; however, the FY 16 General Appropriation Act altered the mechanism by which the
transfer was made and reduced the percentage of tobacco settlement revenues deposited to the SRBTF from 40% to
30%. That action reduced the F'Y 16 transfer to approximately $77 million, compared to the statutorily required transfer
of $103 million. For FY 17, statute requires a transfer of 50%, or $122 million, of the $244 million in estimated FY'17
tobacco settlement payments, to the SRBTF; the fiscal 2017 budget enacted by the Legislature requires that transfers
be made equivalent to 10% of fiscal 2017 tobacco settlement proceeds, or approximately $25.7 million. The Governor
returned that section of the Legislature’s proposal with an amendment, proposing instead to require a 30% transfer, as
in fiscal 2016, which would result in a transfer of approximately $73 million. That proposal has not yet been acted
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upon by the Legislature. In the absence of further action, the amount transferred to the SRBTF in FY'17 would revert
to the statutorily required 50% of tobacco settlement proceeds, or $122 million.

FY 16 budgeted expenditures and other financing uses, including transfers to non-budgeted funds (but before transfers
between the budgeted funds) totaled $40.454 billion, an increase of $2.338 billion, or 6.1%, from FY15, with the
increase primarily attributable to higher spending on Medicaid and other health care spending, pension contributions,
and Local Aid.

Spending on programs and services totaled $34.290 billion, an increase of $1.656 billion, or 5.1%, from FY 15. Medicaid
expenditures totaled $14.851 billion, an increase of $1.196 billion, or 8.8%, from FY 15, primarily due to provisions
of the federal Affordable Care Act (ACA) that expanded eligibility for Medicaid as of January 1, 2015, and also due
to base enrollment and health care cost growth. Spending on state employee health benefits paid through the Group
Insurance Commission (excluding benefits paid to retirees) declined by $16 million, or 1.0%, from $1.646 billion to
$1.630 billion.

Budgeted debt service totaled $2.174 billion, down $16 million, or 0.7%, from FY'15, with the decline due primarily
to the payment from a non-budgeted fund of $113 million in debt service expenditures that normally would be paid
from a budgeted fund. Without that shift, debt service expenditures would have totaled $2.288 billion, an increase of
$97 million, or 4.4%.

Interfund transfers to non-budgeted funds (primarily the Universal Health Care funds) totaled $1.486 billion, an increase
of $482 million or 48.0%, primarily due to an increase in transfers to the Medical Assistance Trust Fund. Post-
employment benefits (for pension contributions and retiree health insurance) totaled $2.503 billion, an increase of $216
million, or 9.5%, as the Commonwealth increased its pension contribution by 10%, or $179 million, over FY15.
Spending for direct local aid (both education aid and unrestricted aid), at $5.568 billion, was up $147 million, or 2.7%,
from FY15.

In conducting the budget process, the Commonwealth excludes from its forecast those “interfund” transactions within
the budgeted funds that are included in this report; these transactions by their nature have no impact on the combined
fund balance of the budgeted funds. The Budgeted Funds - Operations table isolates this “interfund” activity from the
budgeted sources and subtracts this revenue and spending to align forecasts prepared during the budget process to actual
amounts in this report. In FY'16, transfers among the Budgeted Funds totaled $473 million, a decrease of $262 million,
or 35.7%, with the decline due primarily to reduced transfers to and from the Stabilization Fund during the fiscal year.
A detailed list of these interfund transfers is included in Note 3 of the financial statements and Schedule C of the
Supplemental Information section of this report.
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Budgeted Funds - Operations
(Amounts in thousands)

2016 2015

Beginning fund balances:

Reserved and designated. $ 225,993 $ 190,032

Reserved for Stabilization Fund 1,252,429 1,248,435

Undesignated 92,264 12,075
Total 1,570,686 1,450,542
Revenues and other financing sources:

Taxes 23,616,920 23,173,799

Federal reimbursements 10,642,720 9,480,404

Departmental and other revenues, including tobacco settlement 4,257,203 3,852,782

Interfund transfers from non-budgeted funds and other financing sources 1,848,709 1,729,489
Budgeted revenues and other financing sources 40,365,552 38,236,474
Intragovernmental Service Fund revenues 385,270 362,058
Interfund transfers among budgeted funds and other financing sources 87,628 373,330
Total revenues and other financing sources 40,838,450 38,971,862
Expenditures and other financing uses:

Programs and services 34,290,355 32,634,516

Debt service 2,174,307 2,190,405

Post employment benefits 2,503,377 2,287,113

Interfund transfers to non-budgeted funds and other financing uses 1,486,206 1,004,296
Budgeted expenditures and other financing uses 40,454,245 38,116,330
Intragovernmental Service Fund expenditures 385,270 362,058
Interfund transfers among budgeted funds and other financing uses 87,628 373,330
Total expenditures and other financing uses 40,927,143 38,851,718
Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other financing sources over expenditures
and other financing uses (88,693) 120,144
Ending fund balances:

Reserved and designated 126,018 225,993

Reserved for Stabilization Fund 1,291,514 1,252,429

Undesignated 64,461 92,264
Total $ 1,481,993 § 1,570,686
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Budgeted Funds — Fund Balance (Including Stabilization Fund)
(Amounts in millions)
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The graph of Budgeted Funds - Fund Balance above portrays the combined fund balance in the budgeted funds for the
past five years.

AsofJune 30,2016, the ending balance is comprised mainly of the fund balance of the General Fund and the Stabilization
Fund. Due to designations of fund balances, $126 million of the total budgeted fund balance, exclusive of the
Stabilization Fund, is reserved for appropriations and debt service in FY'17. The remaining $64 million is undesignated
in the budgeted funds that are not included in the consolidated net surplus calculation, with $45 million of that balance
in the Community First Trust Fund, which funds home and community-based services under the state’s federally
reimbursed Medicaid program.

Lottery and Gaming

Gross Lottery revenues (including revenues from the Arts Lottery) grew from $5.195 billion in FY 15 to $5.407 billion
in FY16, an increase of $212 million, or 4.1%. Lottery profits, after deducting administrative expenses and fringe
benefit charges to reimburse the Commonwealth’s General Fund for pension and employee health insurance benefits,
but prior to distributions to reimburse the Massachusetts Cultural Council and compulsive gamblers appropriation as
mandated in the FY'16 budget, totaled $989 million, an increase of $5 million, or 0.5%, from FY15. Of that $989
million in profits, and as mandated in the FY 16 General Appropriation Act, approximately $875 million was transferred
to the General Fund to reimburse it for so-called Unrestricted General Government Aid (formerly Lottery Local Aid),
$12 million reimbursed the Massachusetts Cultural Council appropriation, and $1.5 million reimbursed a compulsive
gambling prevention program appropriation. The remaining $99 million after these reimbursements was transferred to
the General Fund as unrestricted revenue to fund general state operations. The FY 17 General Appropriation Act contains
provisions for approximately $1.022 billion in Unrestricted General Government Aid, of which $958 million is to be
paid from the General Fund and reimbursed by Lottery profits.

FY'16 was the first year in which significant tax revenues were collected on profits generated by slot machines at the
Plainridge slots parlor, which opened on June 24, 2015. FY16 budgeted fund tax revenues remitted to the
Commonwealth, which are equal to 40% of gross profits (or “gross gaming revenues”) from the slot machines, totaled
approximately $64 million, which was earmarked for local aid; an additional $14 million in non-budgeted fund revenue,
equal to 9% of gross gaming revenue from the slot machines, was earmarked for advancement of horse racing. The
FY 17 budget also relies on $64 million in budgeted fund revenue from taxes on slots parlor profits.
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Full-Time Equivalent Employment

The chartbelow shows the Commonwealth’s full-time equivalent employment, including the Massachusetts Department
of Transportation (MassDOT) for all state funding sources (budgetary, non-budgetary, capital, federal, and trust) over
the past five fiscal years. In FY'16, the number of Commonwealth employees decreased by approximately 1,547 full-
time equivalent employees (FTEs), to a total of 86,213, with most of the decreases in health and human services
(approximately 502 FTEs), MassDOT (approximately 352 FTEs), administration and finance (approximately 387
FTEs), labor and workforce development (approximately 270 FTEs), public safety (approximately 244 FTEs) and
environmental affairs (approximately 150 FTEs). These declines were due primarily to the early retirement incentive
program (ERIP) enacted during FY15, under which participating employees were required to leave the state payroll
by June 30, 2015. The ERIP program reduced the state workforce by approximately 2,478 FTEs.

Full Time Equivalent Workforce
Including Higher Education
June 2012 — June 2016
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The Stabilization Fund

InFY 16, the Commonwealth made no withdrawals from the Stabilization (or rainy day) Fund. Per a statutory provision
that requires the Commonwealth to deposit to the Stabilization Fund annual increases in abandoned property revenues,
a transfer of $27 million in such revenue was made to the rainy day fund. During FY 16, the Stabilization Fund also
earned $11 million in investment income and received a small amount of tax revenue. As a result, the balance of the
Stabilization Fund increased by $39 million, to $1.292 billion, between FY15 and FY16.

As part of an effort to ensure a statutorily balanced budget, the FY 16 enacted budget included a provision suspending
a statutory requirement to transfer tax revenue attributable to capital gains above a threshold to the Stabilization Fund,
State Pension Liability Fund, and State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund. The FY 16 capital gains tax threshold, as determined
by the Department of Revenue, was $1.087 billion. In July 2016, the Department of Revenue certified that FY'16 tax
collections attributable to capital gains totaled $1.370 billion, meaning that $283 million in capital gains tax revenue
was retained in the General Fund that otherwise would have been transferred to the Stabilization Fund, State Pension
Liability Fund, and the State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund. In December 2016, the Department of Revenue estimated
that the capital gains tax threshold for FY17 is $1.128 billion. However, the FY 17 General Appropriation Act again
temporarily suspended the capital gains transfer requirement for FY'17, replacing it with a statutory requirement that
FY17 capital gains tax revenues in excess of $1.278 billion be transferred to the Stabilization Fund. The tax revenue
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estimate assumed in the FY'17 enacted budget projects that no capital gains tax revenue will be transferred to the
Stabilization Fund in FY'17.

The chart below, which shows the Stabilization Fund balances since the Fund’s inception, indicates that the Fund
balance increased by more than $709 million in FY'11 and $273 million in FY 12 as the Commonwealth emerged from
the recession, but declined by $95 million in FY13 and $308 million in FY14, increased by $4 million in FY15 and
$39 million in FY16. According to The National Association of State Budget Officers’ (NASBO) Fiscal Survey of the
States, the Commonwealth ranked ninth in the nation at the end of FY 15 (the most recent year for which final stabilization
fund balances were available for all states) in terms of the total balance in the Stabilization Fund. Six states had no
stabilization fund balance at the end of FY'15. According to the Survey and the Commonwealth’s results shown in this

report, Massachusetts will still have the ninth largest Stabilization Fund balance at the end of FY 16 once all 50 states
close their books on the fiscal year.

Stabilization Fund Balance
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The chart below shows the Commonwealth’s Stabilization Fund balance as a percentage of General Fund expenditures
compared to the median of all 50 states as reported in the NASBO survey. (The median is a better measure than the
average of all states because Alaska and Texas -- whose revenue streams have benefited from strong oil revenues in
recent years -- together accounted for almost half of all stabilization fund balances nationally in FY'16.) By that measure,

Massachusetts’s Stabilization Fund balance of 3.4% of General Fund expenditures as of the end of FY16 was below
the estimated national median of 5.1% of expenditures.

Stabilization Fund Percentage of General Fund Expenditures Compared To US Median
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Massachusetts maintains a Stabilization Fund balance that is larger than that of many states and in FY16 made a $39
million deposit to the Fund. However, the Commonwealth drew down the Fund’s balance between FY12 and FY 14
as its economy recovered from recession, despite strong tax revenue growth in those years. The Stabilization Fund’s
balance has not yet been restored to pre-recession levels, thus potentially leaving the Commonwealth vulnerable if
another economic downturn occurs. While credit rating agencies have continued to maintain the Commonwealth’s
strong bond rating, they have identified the state’s reliance on reserves in those years as an area requiring improvement.
Onapositive note, the FY'17 General Appropriation Act assumes that for the second consecutive year the Commonwealth
will not withdraw funds from the Stabilization Fund to help balance the operating budget.

The Non-Budgeted Funds

The Non-Budgeted Funds represent operations in which the government has imposed its sovereign authority but has
excluded these operations from the annual budget process. During FY 16, the Commonwealth maintained 95 non-
budgeted funds, while another 22 were inactive.

The largest non-budgeted funds in terms of operating revenues include the Lottery Fund, the Federal Grants Fund, the
Medical Assistance Trust Fund, and the Commonwealth Care Trust Fund. Other funds that show large inflows include
the Grant Anticipation Notes Trust Fund, funded by federal highway spending reimbursements, and the “pass-through”
MBTA State and Local Contribution Trust Fund (which accounts for sales tax revenue dedicated to and transferred to
the MBTA) and School Modernization Trust Fund (which accounts for sales tax revenue dedicated to and transferred
to Massachusetts School Building Authority).

The following table, Non-Budgeted Special Revenue Funds - Operations, summarizes the FY 16 non-budgeted funds.
A Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance is presented in a table within this report for each
of the individual non-budgeted funds in the financial section of this report. The table includes the State Lottery Funds,
where Lottery revenues and expenditures occur prior to Lottery profits being transferred to the General Fund to reimburse
it for local aid and other appropriations.

Non-Budgeted Special Revenue Funds - Operations
(Amounts in thousands)

2016 2015

Beginning fund balance $ 2,125,275 $ 2,269,864
Revenues and other financing sources:

Taxes 2,183,221 2,065,570

Assessments 638,305 607,975

Federal grants and reimbursements 3,162,489 2,993,570

Departmental and miscellaneous 6,740,599 6,355,358

Transfers and other financing sources 1,535,799 1,121,520
Total revenues and other financing sources 14,260,413 13,143,993
Expenditures and other financing uses:

Programs and services 11,947,924 10,919,380

Debt service 295,811 316,777

Transfers and other financing uses 2,075,043 2,052,425
Total expenditures and other financing uses 14,318,778 13,288,582
Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other financing sources over

expenditures and other financing uses (58,365) (144,589)

Ending fund balance $ 2,066,910 $ 2,125,275
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Non-Budgeted Special Revenue Funds with operating deficits in excess of $10 million include:

*  $113 million — Debt Defeasance Trust Fund, which used revenue deposited at the end of FY'15 to fund FY'16
debt service;

e $30 million — Convention and Exhibition Center Fund;
e $16 million — Massachusetts Transportation Trust Fund;
e $15 million — Federal Grants Fund;

e $10 million — Health Information Technology Trust Fund.

In FY'16, $43 million of the Commonwealth’s federal transportation funds were dedicated to paying off prior year
expenditures of the Central Artery/Tunnel Project (CA/T), which were financed through Federal Grant Anticipation
Notes (GANs). In addition, approximately $33 million in interest payments for the GANs were funded by a General
Fund appropriation.

For the eleven Universal Health Care funds, revenues and other financing sources were $1.910 billion in FY16, an
increase of approximately $865 million from FY15. This increase was due primarily to a $799 million increase in
transfers to the Medical Assistance Trust Fund. Expenditures from the Universal Health Care funds totaled $1.820
billion, an increase of $771 million from FY15, due primarily to an increase of $798 million in spending from the
Medical Assistance Trust Fund, which funds payments to hospitals that treat large populations of Medicaid-eligible
patients. The following chart, Non-Budgeted Special Revenue Funds - Fund Balance, shows the combined fund balance
in the Non-Budgeted Special Revenue funds for the past five years.

Non-Budgeted Special Revenue Funds — Fund Balance
(Amounts in millions)
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Individual non-budgeted funds that represent approximately 85% of total non-budgeted fund balances include:

+  $818 million — Massachusetts Transportation Trust Fund;

e $390 million — Central Artery/Tunnel Project Repair and Maintenance Trust Trust Fund;
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¢ $123 million — Enhanced 911 Fund;

*  $97 million — Health Safety Net Trust Fund;

e $89 million — Convention and Exhibition Center Fund;
*  $87 million — Grant Anticipation Note Trust Fund;

*  $83 million — Distressed Hospital Trust Fund;

e $60 million — Commonwealth Care Trust Fund.

As noted in previous reports, the Government Land Bank Fund has a continuing structural fund deficit. The FY16
deficit balance of approximately $35 million remains an unbudgeted drain on the Commonwealth’s cash pool. While
steps have been taken to stop the growth in this deficit, the Fund should be abolished and the deficit transferred to the
General Fund. More consolidation and elimination is needed for the non-budgeted special revenue funds generally.

The Capital Projects Funds

The purpose of these funds is to account for the construction or acquisition of capital assets. The Governor may propose
capital outlay budgets which, upon enactment by the Legislature and approval by the Governor, become capital outlay
acts. Capital outlay acts financed through the sale of debt require a two-thirds vote of the Legislature. Numerous acts
may be combined for reporting in an individual Capital Projects Fund, but each act is accounted for separately within
the fund. These accounts record authorizations for expenditures in itemized capital appropriation accounts and
equivalent authorizations to issue bonds or notes.

The structure of these funds is such that each capital outlay authorization is in balance, creating authorization for inflows
(which may be from sales of bonds, federal reimbursements or other revenues) and expenditures. Imbalances due to
timing differences develop when the expenditure precedes the inflow of funds from the sale of bonds or federal
reimbursements. Due to restrictions imposed by federal tax arbitrage rules, tax exempt bonds are not routinely sold in
anticipation of expenditures.

To fund the FY'16 capital budget, the Commonwealth borrowed by issuing $2.759 billion in long-term bonds, $2.259
billion of which was general obligation debt and $500 million was special obligation debt secured by motor fuels taxes
and motor vehicle license and registration fees. In addition, the Commonwealth issued $1.463 billion in debt to refund
already existing obligations, taking advantage of continued low interest rates in FY'16.

The graph Capital Projects Funds - Fund Balance (Deficit) on the next page shows the combined fund balance in Capital
Projects Funds for the past five years. Typically, the combined ending balance in the Capital Projects Funds is negative,
as capital spending occurs prior to bonds being issued by the Commonwealth. At the end of FY 16, the Capital Projects
Funds had a $335 million deficit balance (including $623 million in accounts payable), as at the end of the fiscal year
the Commonwealth had not yet reimbursed itself for capital spending that it typically funds in arrears through subsequent
bond issues. That deficit was eliminated in September 2016 when the Commonwealth issued $550 million in General
Obligation bonds.
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Capital Projects Funds — Fund Balance (Deficit)
(Amounts in millions)
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The Capital Projects Funds - Operations table below includes the FY16 Capital Projects Funds, summarized and
compared to FY'15. Financial statements for each of the individual funds are included in the financial section of this

report.
Capital Projects Funds - Operations
(Amounts in thousands)
2016 2015
Beginning fund balance (deficit) $ (524,860) $ (1,101,197)
Revenues and other financing sources:
Federal grants and reimbursements 85,759 81,475
Departmental 2,922 3,004
Miscellaneous 1,350 649
Departmental and miscellaneous 4272 3,653
Proceeds of general and special obligation bonds 3,002,758 3,404,176
Proceeds of refunding bonds 1,674,030 707,386
Transfer for federal reimbursements 500,929 468,040
Transfers and other financing sources 93,736 55,410
Total revenues and other financing sources 5,361,484 4,720,140
Expenditures and other financing uses:
Acquisition and maintenance of capital assets 3,390,064 3,368,281
Payments to advance refunding escrow agent/principal repayment 1,674,030 707,386
Transfers and other financing uses 107,228 68,136
Total expenditures and other financing uses 5,171,322 4,143,803
Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other financing sources
over expenditures and other financing uses 190,162 576,337
Ending fund balance (deficit) $ (334,698) $ (524,860)
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The Administration oversees a coordinated fiscal strategy for the management of Capital Projects Funds. This strategy
includes a five year capital budget linked to debt management and capital management. The focus of this strategy is
to manage capital spending within outstanding debt levels and debt service obligations the Administration considers
appropriate for the Commonwealth. An important part of the strategy is to control capital spending within an
administrative “cap.”

During FY 16, significant capital spending included:

e $348 million in Bridge Repair projects under the Commonwealth’s Accelerated Bridge Program,;

e $315 million in Special Transit Projects, including the Green Line Extension and procurement of new
vehicles for the Red & Orange Line;

e $223 million in Chapter 90 reimbursements to municipalities for local road and bridge projects;

*  $206 million invested in new academic buildings and improvements to existing facilities on several
community college, state university and University of Massachusetts campuses. The Commonwealth’s
spending leveraged an additional $66 million in University investments in FY 16;

*  $76 million for the MassWorks economic development infrastructure grants to cities and towns;

e $54 million for environmental community investment, critical coastal infrastructure, and land protection
grants;

e $52 million for grants from the Massachusetts Life Sciences Center;
*  $46 million spent statewide on deferred maintenance for state facilities;

e $41 million for “Accelerated Energy Program” projects that improve the efficiency of state facilities’
heating, electrical, and water systems;

*  $20 million for the MassTaxConnect electronic tax filing system, which began accepting business tax
filings in FY 16;

e $13 million for Seaport Council Grants to foster economic development in coastal communities;

*  $12 million for the expansion of the Women’s Recovery from Addictions Program at Taunton State
Hospital;

*  $12 million for Workforce Skills grants to vocational high schools and community colleges.

During FY'16, the Commonwealth passed or agreed to terms for approximately $200 million in bond authorizations
and deauthorized approximately $110 million in previously enacted bond authorizations.

The Non-Appropriated Funds of Higher Education

The statistical section of this SBFR includes data on the financial operations of the non-appropriated funds of the 25
institutions of higher education as reported on MMARS. Each institution of higher education is authorized and directed
in its enabling statute to collect, retain and expend certain fees, rents, sales, donations, federal financial participation
and other types of revenue through campus-based systems. These financial resources are integral parts of the total
financial activity of each campus. They also represent resources in addition to amounts made available from
Commonwealth appropriations.
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Non-Appropriated Funds Of Higher Education - Operations
(Amounts in thousands)

2015
2016 Restated*

Beginning fund balance ... $ 1,621,183 § 1,574,205
Revenues and other financing sources:

Federal grants and reimbursements. ... 515,907 532,948

Departmental reVenues ... 2,217,341 2,075,768

Transfers and other financing SOUICES..........................cooiiiiii 1,900,951 1,679,194
Total revenues and other financing SOUICES ... 4,634,200 4,287,910
Expenditures and other financing uses:

Programs and SIVICES..................cooiiiiiii 4,531,953 4,240,932
Excess/(deficiency) of revenues and other financing sources over

expenditures and other financing uses ... 102,247 46,978
Ending fund balance................................ $ 1,723,430 §$§ 1,621,183

*FY 15 was restated by approximately $7 million for activities previously unreported

The Non-Appropriated Funds of Higher Education — Operations table above includes the FY16 activity in Higher
Education funds, summarized and compared to FY'15. Financial statements for each of the individual funds are included
in the statistical section of this report. The following chart, Non-Appropriated Funds of Higher Education - Fund
Balance, shows the combined fund balance for the past five years. The combined balance represents an approximate
$921 million fund balance for the University of Massachusetts, an approximate $482 million fund balance for the State
University (formerly the State College) system and an approximate $321 million fund balance for the Community
Colleges.

Non-Appropriated Funds of Higher
Education — Fund Balance
(Amounts in Millions)

$1,723

$1,800
$1,600
$1,400
$1,200
$1,000
$800
$600
$400
$200

$0 -~

FY12 FY13 FY14 * FY15* FY16

*FY14 and FY15 were restated due to amounts previously unreported
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KPMG LLP

Two Financial Center
60 South Street
Boston, MA 02111

Independent Accountants’ Review Report

Mr. Thomas G. Shack Ill, Comptroller
Commonwealth of Massachusetts:

We have reviewed the accompanying combined financial statements — statutory basis of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts as of and for the year ended June 30, 2016, and related notes as listed in the accompanying
table of contents. A review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to management’s financial data
and making inquiries of management. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of
which is the expression of an opinion regarding the combined financial statements — statutory basis as a whole.
Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the combined financial statements —
statutory basis in accordance with Massachusetts General Laws (hereafter referred to as the Statutory Basis of
Accounting); this includes determining that the Statutory Basis of Accounting is an acceptable basis for the
preparation of financial statements in the circumstances. Management is also responsible for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the
combined financial statements —statutory basis that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

Accountants’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to conduct the review engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for
Accounting and Review Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require us to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether we are
aware of any material modifications that should be made to the combined financial statements — statutory basis
for them to be in accordance with the Statutory Basis of Accounting. We believe that the results of our
procedures provide a reasonable basis for our conclusion.

Accountants’ Conclusion

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the accompanying
combined financial statements — statutory basis in order for them to be in conformity with the Statutory Basis of
Accounting.

Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to notes 1 and 2 of the combined financial statements — statutory basis which describes the
Statutory Basis of Accounting. The combined financial statements — statutory basis were prepared on the basis
of accounting that demonstrates compliance with Section 12 of Chapter 7A Massachusetts General Laws, as
amended, and the budgetary principles of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, which is a basis of accounting
other than U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Our conclusion is not modified with respect to this
matter.
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KPMG

Other Matter

The introductory section, combining and individual fund financial statements - statutory basis, supplemental
information, and statistical section listed in the accompanying table of contents are presented for purposes of
additional analysis and are not required parts of the combined financial statements — statutory basis. Such
information is the representation of management.

We have reviewed the combining and individual fund financial statements — statutory basis and supplemental
information, and based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to
such information in order for it to be in accordance with the Statutory Basis of Accounting. We have not audited
the information and accordingly, do not express an opinion on such information.

We have not audited or reviewed the introductory and statistical sections and, accordingly, we do not express
an opinion, a conclusion, or provide any assurance on such information.

Restriction on Use

This report is intended solely for the information and use of elected and appointed officials of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these

specified parties.
KPMe LLP

October 31, 2016
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Budgeted Funds
Combined Balance Sheet - Statutory Basis

June 30, 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

Totals
(Memorandum only)

2016 2015
ASSETS
Cash and short-term investments $ 1,609,305 $ 1,544,284
Cash with fiscal agent 16,690 13,903
Investments 271,744 264,426
Receivables, net of allowance for uncollectibles:
Due from federal government 377,724 712,911
Other receivables 38,823 11,274
Due from cities and towns 23,268 19,722
Total assets $ 2,337,554 $§ 2,566,520
LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY
Liabilities:
Deficiency in cash and short-term investments $ 15,108 $ —
Accounts payable 777,367 803,302
Accrued payroll 63,086 192,532
Total liabilities 855,561 995,834
Fund equity:
Combined fund balance:
Reserved for:
Continuing appropriations 109,328 212,090
Commonwealth Stabilization 1,291,514 1,252,429
Debt service 16,690 13,903
Unreserved:
Undesignated 64,461 92,264
Total fund equity 1,481,993 1,570,686
Total liabilities fund equity $ 2,337,554 $ 2,566,520

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants’ review report
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Budgeted Funds

Combined Statements Of Revenues, Expenditures And Changes In Fund Balances - Statutory Basis - Budget and Actual

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

Variance
Budget Actual (Unfuvorabe

REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

Revenues:
Taxes 23,940,379 23,616,920 (323,459)
Assessments 431,489 419,382 (12,107)
Federal grants and reimbursements 10,260,069 10,642,720 382,651
Tobacco settlement revenue 272,049 257,616 (14,433)
Departmental 3,133,589 3,579,470 445,881
Miscellaneous 305.081 386.005 80.924
Total revenues 38,342,656 38,902,113 559,457

Other financing sources:
Fringe benefit cost recovery 290,509 365,659 75,150
Lottery reimbursements 100,604 107,935 7,331
Lottery distributions 920,542 975,254 54,712
Operating transfers in 560,431 345,200 (215,231)
Commonwealth care trust transfer — 44,482 44,482
Stabilization transfer — 27,100 27,100
Other fund deficit support — 70.707 70.707
Total other financing sources 1,872,086 1,936,337 64,251
Total revenues and other financing sources 40,214,742 40,838,450 623,708

EXPENDITURES AND OTHER FINANCING USES

Expenditures:
Legislature 91,447 61,368 30,079
Judiciary 888,211 878,664 9,547
Inspector General 4,459 4,315 144
Governor and Lieutenant Governor 10,590 6,603 3,987
Secretary of the Commonwealth 40,561 39,322 1,239
Treasurer and Receiver-General 212,143 205,226 6,917
Auditor of the Commonwealth 18,356 18,354 2
Attorney General 45,544 44,265 1,279
Ethics Commission 2,069 2,034 35
District Attorney. 119,262 114,087 5,175
Office of Campaign & Political Finance 1,536 1,516 20
Sheriff’s Departments 605,053 603,220 1,833
Disabled Persons Protection Commission 2,943 2,943 —
Board of Library Commissioners 25,333 25,333 —
Comptroller 14,539 13,911 628
Administration and Finance 2,675,684 2,299,220 376,464
Energy and Environmental Affairs 238,385 222,851 15,534
Health and Human Services 5,688,087 5,530,514 157,573
Massachusetts Department of Transportation 187,020 171,437 15,583
Office of the Child Advocate 790 595 195
Executive Office of Education 2,327,102 2,281,321 45,781
Center for Health Information and Analysis 32,563 26,625 5,938
Public Safety and Security 1,156,023 1,121,829 34,194
Housing and Economic Development 588,660 536,247 52,413
Labor and Workforce Development 78,004 45,082 32,922
Direct local aid 5,570,730 5,567,738 2,992
Medicaid 14,851,052 14,851,007 45
Post employment benefits 2,426,093 2,503,377 (77,284)
Debt service:

Principal retirement 1,357,149 1,288,270 68,879
Interest and fiscal charges 930,143 886,037 44,106

Total expenditures 40,189,531 39,353,310 836,221

Other financing uses:
Fringe benefit cost assessment — 4,485 (4,485)
Operating transfers out 703,919 646,170 57,749
Stabilization transfer — — —
Medical assistance transfer 1,027,500 665,564 361,936
Delivery system transformation initiatives trust transfer 189,142 186,907 2,235
Other fund deficit support — 70,707 (70,707)
Total other financing uses 1,920,561 1,573,833 346,728
Total expenditures and other financing uses 42,110,092 40,927,143 1,182,949
Eceseficney) of ovonues ad ot i s (.95.350 5%
Fund balance (deficit) at beginning of year 1.570.686 1.570.686 —

Fund balance (deficit) at end of year

$ (324.664) _$ 1.481.993 _$ 1.806.657

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants’ review report
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Non-Budgeted Special Revenue and Capital Projects Funds
Combined Statements Of Revenues, Expenditures And Changes In Fund Balances - Statutory Basis

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

Totals
Non-Budgeted (Memorandum only)
Special Revenue Capital Projects 2016 2015

REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

Revenues:
Taxes $ 2183221  § — 3 2,183,221 2,065,570
Assessments 638,305 — 638,305 607,975
Federal grants and reimbursements 3,162,489 85,759 3,248,248 3,075,045
Departmental 6,402,887 2,922 6,405,809 6,255,994
Miscellaneous 337,712 1,350 339,062 103,017
Total revenues 12,724,614 90,031 12,814,645 12,107,601

Other financing sources:
Issuance of general obligation bonds — 2,259,209 2,259,209 2,671,507
Bond premiums (discounts) on general obligation bonds — 184,014 184,014 198,987
Issuance of special obligation bonds — 500,000 500,000 447,310
Bond premiums (discounts) on special obligation bonds — 59,535 59,535 86,372
Issuance of current refunding bonds — 250,000 250,000 202,895
Issuance of advance refunding bonds — 1,212,655 1,212,655 429,445
Bond premiums (discounts) on advance refunding bonds — 211,375 211,375 75,046
Operating transfers in 653,328 — 653,328 934,374
Health safety net trust transfer 30,000 — 30,000 —
Medical assistance transfer 665,564 — 665,564 70,975
Federal reimbursement transfer in — 500,929 500,929 468,040
State share of federal highway construction — 93,736 93,736 171,581
Delivery system transformation initiatives trust transfer 186,907 — 186,907 —
Total other financing sources 1,535,799 5,271,453 6,807,252 5,756,532
Total revenues and other financing sources 14,260,413 5,361,484 19,621,897 17,864,133

EXPENDITURES AND OTHER FINANCING USES

Expenditures:
Judiciary 2,279 14,690 16,969 13,038
Inspector General 264 — 264 459
Governor and Lieutenant Governor 112 188 300 184
Secretary of the Commonwealth 4,825 1,535 6,360 6,987
Treasurer and Receiver-General 6,264,536 13,749 6,278,285 6,019,535
Auditor of the Commonwealth — 2,333 2,333 3,272
Attorney General 18,231 365 18,596 12,685
Ethics Commission — 627 627 94
District Attorney 2,338 — 2,338 1.830
Office of Campaign & Political Finance — — — 1,055
Sheriff’s Departments 9,632 3,572 13,204 14,188
Disabled Persons Protection Commission 66 — 66 —
Board of Library Commissioners. 2915 19,440 22,355 23,356
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 33,692 — 33,692 21,072
Comptroller 2,381 395 2,776 5,532
Administration and Finance 379,029 653,288 1,032,317 1,161,918
Energy and Environmental Affairs 168,668 235,121 403,789 401,236
Health and Human Services 2,074,966 47,140 2,122,106 1,269,777
Massachusetts Department of Transportation 1,113,180 2,002,480 3,115,660 3,125,391
Executive Office of Education 986,175 52,554 1,038,729 1,003,910
Center for Health Information and Analysis 222 — 222 1,157
Public Safety and Security 232,465 41,227 273,692 259,048
Housing and Economic Development 487,688 296,261 783,949 761,854
Labor and Workforce Development 164,260 5,099 169,359 180,083
Debt service:

Principal retirement 196,594 — 196,594 204,219
Interest and fiscal charges 99,217 — 99,217 112,558

Total expenditures 12,243,734 3,390,064 15,633,799 14,604,438

Other financing uses:
Payments to advance refunding bonds escrow — 1,424,030 1,424,030 504,491
Principal on current refundings — 250,000 250,000 202,895
Fringe benefit cost assessment 166,947 13,490 180,437 173,504
Lottery operating reimbursements 107,935 — 107,935 104,238
Lottery distributions 975,255 — 975,255 947,250
Operating transfers out 249,497 2 249,499 352,119
Stabilization transfer — — — 20,000
Commonwealth care trust transfer 44,482 — 44,482 —
Health safety net trust transfer 30,000 — 30,000 —
Federal reimbursement transfer out 500,928 — 500,928 468,040
State share of federal highway construction — 93,736 93,736 55,410
Total other financing uses 2,075,044 1,781,258 3,856,302 2,827,947
Total expenditures and other financing uses 14,318,778 5,171,322 19,490,101 17,432,385
Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other financing sources over / (under) (58,365) 190,162 131,796 431,748
expenditures and other financing uses
Fund balance (deficit) at beginning of year (restated) 2,125,275 (524,860) 1,600,415 1,168,667
Fund balance (deficit) at end of year $ 2,066,910 $ (334,698) $ 1,732,211 1,600,415

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants’ review report
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Notes to Combined Financial Statements - Statutory Basis Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

1. FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

A. INTRODUCTION

The accompanying combined financial statements (Statutory Basis Financial Report) of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts (the Commonwealth) are presented in accordance with the requirements of Section 12 of Chapter 7A
as amended by Section 4 of Chapter 88 of the Acts of 1997 of the Massachusetts General Laws, as amended most
recently by Chapter 26, Section 4 of the Acts of 2009. The Office of the Comptroller also publishes the Commonwealth’s
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR), which is prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (GAAP) in the United States of America for governments.

The Statutory Basis Financial Report (SBFR) includes the budgeted, non-budgeted, special revenue, and capital projects
funds of the Commonwealth, as recorded by the Office of the Comptroller in compliance with Massachusetts General
Laws and in accordance with the Commonwealth’s budgetary principles.

The SBFR’s financial statements are not intended to include independent authorities, non-appropriated funds of higher
education, or other organizations included in the Commonwealth’s reporting entity as it would be defined under GAAP.

B. GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES
The fund types are organized as follows:
Governmental fund types account for the general governmental activities of the Commonwealth.

Budgeted Funds - are the primary operating funds of the Commonwealth. They account for all budgeted governmental
transactions. Major budgeted funds include the General, Stabilization, and Commonwealth Transportation Funds,
which are identified by the Comptroller as the operating funds of the Commonwealth. In addition, there are twelve
smaller budgeted funds, the Intragovernmental Services Fund, the Inland Fisheries and Game Fund, the Marine
Recreational Fisheries Development Fund, the Public Safety Training Fund, the Community First Trust Fund, the
Massachusetts Tourism Fund, the Local Capital Projects Fund, the Gaming Local Aid Fund, the Local Aid Stabilization
Fund, the Manufacturing Fund, and the Community College Fund.

Non-Budgeted Special Revenue Funds - are established by law to account for revenue sources that have been segregated
from the budgeted funds to support specific governmental activities such as federal grants, the operations of the state
lottery and funds related to the Massachusetts Gaming Commission.

Capital Projects Funds - account for financial resources used to acquire or construct major capital assets and to finance
local capital projects. These resources are derived from proceeds of bonds and other obligations, which are generally
received after related expenditures have been incurred, operating transfers authorized by the Legislature, and from
federal reimbursements. Deficit balances in Capital Projects Funds represent amounts to be financed, primarily through
future bond sales.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. STATUTORY BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The SBFR is prepared from the Commonwealth’s books and records and other official reports that are maintained on
the basis of accounting used in the preparation of the Commonwealth’s legally adopted annual budget (statutory basis).
The statutory basis emphasizes accountability and budgetary control of appropriations. The SBFR is not intended to
present the Commonwealth’s financial condition and results of operations in conformity with GAAP.

Under the statutory basis of accounting, revenues generally are recognized when cash deposits are received by the
Treasury. However, revenues receivable for federal grants and reimbursements generally are recognized when related
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Notes to Combined Financial Statements - Statutory Basis Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

expenditures are incurred, provided that the related revenues are received by the Commonwealth by August 31, the
end of the statutory accounts receivable period. Amounts due from political subdivisions of the Commonwealth are
recognized when considered measurable and available. These are largely payments from municipalities reimbursing
for pension costs paid by the Commonwealth on their behalf, authorized under Section 3(8)C of Chapter 32 of the
Massachusetts General Laws, provided that the revenues are received by August 31. However, the FY16 final
supplemental appropriations act (Chapter 283 of the Acts 0of2016) required that the Comptroller record as FY 16 revenues
two payments from the Massachusetts Housing Financial Agency (MHFA) totaling $9 million that were received in
October 2016, after the accounts receivable period ended.

Under the statutory basis of accounting, expenditures are generally recorded when the related cash disbursement occurs.
At year-end, payroll is accrued and payables are recognized, to the extent of approved encumbrances, for goods or
services received by June 30, and payment made by August 31. Costs incurred under the federally-sponsored Medicaid
program, amounts required to settle claims and judgments against the Commonwealth, and certain other liabilities are
not recognized until they are encumbered or otherwise processed for payment.

The accounting policies followed in preparing the accompanying statutory basis financial report are described in the
remainder of this section.

B. CASH, SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS AND INVESTMENTS

The Commonwealth follows the practice of pooling cash and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist of short-term
investments with an original maturity of three months or less and are stated at cost. Interest earned on pooled cash is
allocated to the General Fund and, when so directed by law, to certain other Governmental Funds.

The Office of the Treasurer and Receiver-General (Treasury) manages the Commonwealth’s short-term external mixed
investment pool, the Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust (MMDT). MMDT is comprised of two portfolios, a
Cash Portfolio and a Short Term Bond Fund. The Cash Portfolio is a money-market-like investment pool; its investments
are carried at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. The Short Term Bond Fund investments are carried at
fair value.

Investors in MMDT are not allowed to overdraw their shares. For a complete copy of MMDT’s separately issued
financial statements, please contact the Office of the State Treasurer’s Cash Management Department, at (617) 367-9333.
The statements can be downloaded from the Cash Management section of the Office of the State Treasurer’s website
at www.mass.gov/treasury. General Law Chapter 29, Section 38 enumerates the Commonwealth’s investment policy
for non-pension assets.

C. DEDICATED REVENUE AND PLEDGES

The Commonwealth has a number of bond programs in which bonds are secured by a pledge of dedicated revenues
provided to bondholders, pursuant to trust agreements, as well as pledges of revenue for general operations. Like the
Commonwealth, certain state authorities have also issued special obligation bonds secured by specific Commonwealth
revenues. These other authorities’ debts are not included in the SBFR, but are included in the CAFR.

All federal highway reimbursements are dedicated to funding the principal portion only of federal grant anticipation
notes (GANSs) issued in fiscal 2011, 2014, and 2015. During FY 16, there were no new GANs issued under the
Commonwealth’s Accelerated Bridge Program. As of June 30, 2016, total principal remaining to be paid was
approximately $657 million. Maturities are from FY17 through FY27. Debt service paid during FY16 was
approximately $75 million.

InFY 16, the Commonwealth issued approximately $50 million in special obligation bonds under the Accelerated Bridge
Program (ABP) and $450 million under the Rail Enhancement Program (REP). These bonds mature from FY'17 to
FY45 and are secured by a senior lien on 17 cents of the total 24 cents per gallon gasoline tax, the full 24 cents per
gallon of special fuels taxes (comprised primarily of taxes on diesel fuel), and the full 19.1% of the average price per
gallon tax on liquefied natural gas and all Registry of Motor Vehicle fees deposited into the Commonwealth
Transportation Fund (CTF). These bonds also have a subordinate lien on 6.86 cents of the 24 cent per gallon gasoline
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tax not included in the senior lien. As of June 30, 2016, approximately $1.536 billion and $450 million in principal
was outstanding on the ABP and REP bonds, respectively, and approximately $1.183 billion and $358 million of interest
(net of the federal subsidy) was expected to be paid through maturity related to the ABP and REP bonds, respectively.

The ABP projected interest costs are net of federal subsidies under the Build America Bond (BABs) program. BABs
is a temporary program under which the Commonwealth and other state and local governments issued taxable bonds
in calendar 2009 and 2010 in return for a subsidy from the federal government equal to 35% to 45% (depending on
whether the proceeds are used for projects in economically distressed areas) of the interest costs on the bonds.

Other special obligation bonds for highway construction purposes are secured by a pledge of 6.86 cents of the 24 cent
per gallon gasoline tax, with no new debt issued during FY16. As of June 30, 2016, bonds secured by these pledged
funds totaled approximately $171 million of principal. These bonds mature from FY17 to FY22 and were issued in
multiple series. Principal and interest paid during FY16 amounted to approximately $40 million and $11 million,
respectively. The lien on these bonds has been closed, meaning that no additional new-money bonds can be issued
against these revenues under this trust agreement.

A portion of the Commonwealth’s receipts from the sales tax (other than the tax on meals) is dedicated through non-
budgeted special revenue funds to the Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority (MBTA) and the Massachusetts
School Building Authority (MSBA). The amount dedicated to the MBTA is the amount raised by a 1.0% sales tax (not
including meals), subject to an inflation-adjusted floor. A comparable amount, though without the floor, is dedicated
to the MSBA beginning in fiscal 2010, with lesser amounts having been dedicated to the MSBA from fiscal 2005
through fiscal 2009.

Legislation approved by the Governor on October 31, 2014 increased the amount statutorily required to be credited to
the MBTA by $160 million annually, starting in fiscal 2015. The $160 million increase in the dedicated sales tax revenue
amount and the amount included in the inflation-adjusted floor were intended to replace the $160 million annual state
appropriation the MBTA received from fiscal 2010 through fiscal 2014. In FY'16, total dedicated sales tax revenue that
was directed to the MBTA was approximately $986 million. Dedicated revenues to the MBTA increase by the lesser
of the annual increase in the Boston consumer price index or prior calendar year annual sales taxes, with a floor of 0%
and a ceiling of 3.0%.

The MSBA also receives a pledge starting in FY11 of a 1.0% sales tax (not including meals) but with no annual floor
or ceiling. In FY'16, approximately $799 million of the dedicated sales tax revenue stream was directed to the MSBA.

The Commonwealth has also pledged sales tax revenue and rooms tax surcharges from areas contiguous to convention
centers and the Worcester DCU Arena and Convention Center to support such centers’ operations. As of June 30, 2016,
taxes within the Convention Center districts support approximately $598 million of outstanding principal and
approximately $355 million of interest on debts related to these Convention Centers. Taxes collected in FY16 were
approximately $135 million, while debt service on the bonds was approximately $55 million.

The Transportation Modernization Act of 2009, as amended, eliminated the pledges of sales tax revenue to MassDOT
through the Commonwealth Transportation Fund (CTF). Beginning in FY 14, motor vehicle sales tax collections were
shifted from the General Fund to the CTF while also eliminating the 0.385% pledge of regular and meals sales tax.
During FY 16, approximately $536 million in sales tax revenue was transferred to MassDOT. From the Commonwealth
Transportation Fund, $171 million was dedicated to funding the operations of the MBTA while an additional $82 million
was dedicated to funding the operations of the regional transit authorities. These amounts are transferred through the
CTF.

D. INTERFUND/INTRAFUND TRANSACTIONS
Transactions of a buyer/seller nature between departments within a fund are not eliminated.

Transfers in and out net to approximately $15 million due to higher education non-appropriated fund activity, which
is not included in the combined statements - statutory basis.
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E. CURRENT EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Employees are granted vacation and sick leave in varying amounts based on collective bargaining agreements and state
laws. Upon retirement, termination or death, certain employees are compensated for unused vacation and sick leave
(subject to certain limitations) at their current rate of pay (not accrued on a statutory basis).

F. FRINGE BENEFIT COST RECOVERY

The Commonwealth pays the fringe benefit costs of its employees and retirees through the General Fund. These fringe
benefits include the costs of employees’ health insurance, pensions, unemployment compensation, and other costs
necessary to support the state work force. As directed by Chapter 29, Sections 5D and 6B(f) of the Massachusetts
General Laws, these costs are assessed to other funds based on their payroll costs, net of credits for direct payments.

Since these fringe benefit costs and pensions are not appropriated in the budget, the required assessment creates a
variance between budget and actual expenditures at year-end. The fringe benefit cost recoveries of approximately $366
million into the General Fund results from cost assessments from the other budgeted funds, non-budgeted special
revenue funds, capital funds, non-appropriated activities of higher education, expendable trust, and agency funds.

G. LOTTERY REVENUE AND PRIZES

Ticket revenues are recognized when sold and prizes awarded by the Massachusetts State Lottery Commission are
recognized as drawings are held. Games expenditures are accrued at year-end only for open jackpots for Mega Millions,
Powerball and Megabucks.

H. RECEIVABLES

Reimbursements due to the Commonwealth for its expenditures on federally funded reimbursement and grant programs
are reported as “Due from federal government.” Other receivables include reimbursement of fringe benefit assessments
from authorities and the institutions of higher education along with other departmental receivables.

I. DUE FROM CITIES AND TOWNS

“Due from Cities and Towns” represents reimbursements due to the Commonwealth for its expenditures on certain
programs for the benefit of cities and towns.

J. RISK MANAGEMENT

The Commonwealth is self-insured for state employees’ workers’ compensation, casualty, theft, tort claims and other
losses. Such liabilities are not recognized in the governmental funds on the statutory basis until encumbered and/or
processed for payment. For employees’ workers’ compensation, the Commonwealth assumes the full risk of claims

filed under a program managed by the Human Resources Division.

For personal injury or property damages, Chapter 258 of the Massachusetts General Laws limits the risk assumed by
the Commonwealth to $100,000 per occurrence, in most circumstances.

The Group Insurance Commission administers contributory health care and other insurance programs for the
Commonwealth’s employees and retirees.
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K. ENCUMBRANCES

Encumbrance accounting is utilized in the Governmental Funds as a significant aspect of budgetary control. The full
amounts of purchase orders, contracts and other commitments of appropriated resources are encumbered and recorded
as deductions from appropriations prior to actual expenditure, ensuring that such commitments do not exceed
appropriations. Encumbrances outstanding at year-end for goods or services received on or before June 30, but paid
after, are reported as expenditures and statutory basis liabilities as a component of accounts payable.

L. FUND BALANCES
Fund balance has been reserved as follows:

“Reserved for continuing appropriations” - are unexpended amounts in appropriations, which the Legislature has
specifically authorized to be carried into the next fiscal year.

“Reserved for Commonwealth Stabilization” - are amounts set aside in the Commonwealth Stabilization Fund in
accordance with Section 5C of Chapter 29 of the Massachusetts General Laws.

“Designated for debt service” - are amounts held by fiscal agents or the Commonwealth to fund future debt service
obligations.

The remainder of fund balance is unreserved and undesignated and consists of cumulative surplus or deficits of the
fund not otherwise designated.

M. TOTAL COLUMN - MEMORANDUM ONLY

Total and subtotal columns on the combined financial statements - statutory basis are captioned “Memorandum Only”
to indicate that they are presented only to facilitate financial analysis. Data in these columns do not present consolidated
financial position, results of operations, or changes in financial position. Interfund eliminations have not been made
in the aggregation of these data.

The financial statements include certain prior year summarized comparative information in total but not by fund. Such
information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a full comparative presentation. Accordingly, such
information should be read in conjunction with the Commonwealth’s financial statements for the year ended June 30,
2015, from which the summarized information was derived.

N. ESTIMATES

The preparation of the SBFR requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosures at the date of the financial report. Estimates also affect the reported amounts
of revenues and expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

O. RECLASSIFICATION

Certain amounts for FY15 were reclassified to conform to current year presentation.

P. BEGINNING OF YEAR FUND BALANCE

The beginning balances of the General Fund and the Manufacturing Fund were restated to reflect the transfer of balances
to the General Fund.

The beginning fund balance of the University of Massachusetts System and the combined Higher Education funds were
restated to reflect activities which were not previously reported during fiscal year 2015.
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3. BUDGETARY CONTROL

State finance law requires that a balanced budget be approved by the Governor and the Legislature. The Governor
presents an annual budget to the Legislature, which includes estimates of revenues and other financing sources and
recommended expenditures and other financing uses. The Legislature, which has full authority to amend the budget,
adopts an expenditure budget by appropriating monies at the individual appropriation account level in an annual
appropriations act.

Before signing the appropriations act, the Governor may veto or reduce any specific item, subject to legislative override.
Further changes to the budget established in the annual appropriations act may be made via supplemental appropriation
acts or other legislative acts. These must also be signed by the Governor and are subject to the line item veto.

In addition, Massachusetts General Laws authorize the Secretary of Administration and Finance, with the approval of
the Governor, upon determination that available revenues will be insufficient to meet authorized expenditures, to
withhold allotments of appropriated funds, which effectively reduce the affected accounts’ expenditure budgets.

The majority of the Commonwealth’s appropriations are non-continuing accounts which lapse at the end of each fiscal
year. Others are continuing accounts for which the Legislature has authorized that an unspent balance from the prior
year be carried forward and made available for spending in the current fiscal year. In addition, the Legislature may
direct that certain revenues be retained and made available for spending within an appropriation. Fringe benefits,
pension costs, and certain other costs that are mandated by state finance law are not itemized in the appropriation
process and are not separately budgeted.

Because revenue budgets are not updated subsequent to the original appropriation act, the comparison of the initial
revenue budget to the subsequent, and often modified, expenditure budget can be misleading. Also, these financial
statements portray fund accounting with gross inflows and outflows, thus creating a difference to separately published
budget documents, which eliminate some interfund activity. In conducting the budget process, the Commonwealth
excludes those interfund transactions that by their nature have no impact on the combined fund balance of the budgeted
funds.

Generally, expenditures may not exceed the level of spending authorized for an appropriation account. However, the
Commonwealth is required to pay certain Medicaid expenses regardless of appropriations, due to superseding federal
law.

The FY04 General Appropriation Act (Chapter 26, Section 167 of the Acts of 2003) amended Section 9C, of Chapter
29, directing the Governor to notify the Legislature in writing as to the reasons for and the effect of any reductions in
spending. This proposal must be delivered to the Legislature 15 days before any reductions take effect. Alternatively,
funds from the Stabilization Fund may be used to cure the deficiency, subject to appropriation.
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The following table summarizes budgetary activity for FY16 (amounts in thousands):

Revenues Expenditures
General Appropriation Act, Chapter 46 of the Acts of 2015:
Direct appropriations $ 38,146,700 $ 37,842,036
Estimated revenues, transfers, retained revenue appropriations, and appropriations
carried forward from FY2015 — 1,313,841
Total original budget 38,146,700 39,155,877
Supplemental Acts of 2015:
Chapter 119 — 565,925
Supplemental Acts of 2016:
Chapter 70 — 136,014
Chapter 155 — 24,434
Chapter 283 — 186,837
Total budgeted revenues and expenditures per Legislative action — 913,210
Chapter 29, Section 9C Reductions — (46,995)
Plus: Pension contributions and revenue authorized outside of General Appropriation Act,
and other transfers of revenue and spending 2,068,042 2,088,000
Budgeted revenues and expenditures as reported $ 40,214,742 $ 42,110,092

The following table identifies the interfund activity from budgeted sources and uses to reconcile forecasts prepared
during the budget process to the results presented in these statements (amounts in thousands):

Revenues Expenditures

and Other and Other

Financing Financing
Sources Uses

Actual as presented in the combined budget
and actual statement - statutory basis $ 40,838,450 $ 40,927,143

Adjustments to revenues and expenditures:

Transfer of revenues to the Intragovernmental Service Fund (385,270) (385,270)
Adjustments to other financing sources and uses:

Fringe benefit cost assessments (4,485) (4,485)

Transfer of surplus revenues from the Intragovernmental

Service Fund to the General Fund (8,721) (8,721)

RMYV license plates (3,524) (3,524)
Other fund deficit support (70,708) (70,708)
Other (190) (190)
Actual as presented on budgetary documents $ 40,365,552 $ 40,454,245

The section divider for the budgeted funds contains a list of budgeted funds grouped by categories.

The Office of the Comptroller has the responsibility to ensure that budgetary control is maintained on an individual
appropriation account basis. Budgetary control is exercised through the state accounting system, the Massachusetts
Management Accounting and Reporting System (MMARS). Encumbrances and expenditures are not allowed to exceed
the appropriation account’s spending authorization.
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4. MASSACHUSETTS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (MassDOT)

MassDOT is an entity legally separate from the Commonwealth. MassDOT operations are reported separately in the
non-budgeted special revenue funds section of this report, which includes all of the Commonwealth’s highway and
turnpike-related operations as well as the activity of the Registry of Motor Vehicles. MassDOT capital spending and
revenue activity are reported in the capital funds section of this report, in the Central Artery Statewide Road and Bridge
Infrastructure Fund, the Highway Capital Projects Fund, and the Federal Highway Construction Program Fund.

MassDOT financial activity is included in this report in order to reflect all activity reported on the Commonwealth’s
MMARS accounting system. For the SBFR, MassDOT is treated as an agency or department of the Commonwealth,
as specified in Massachusetts General Laws. However, for GAAP reporting purposes, as reflected in the
Commonwealth’s CAFR, MassDOT will be included as a discretely presented component unit of the Commonwealth.

5. INDIVIDUAL FUND DEFICITS

The following Non-Budgeted Special Revenue and Capital Projects Funds are included in the combined totals and have
individual fund deficits at June 30, 2016, as follows (amounts in thousands) (excludes MassDOT):

Non-Budgeted Special Revenue:

Federal Grants Fund $ (9,707)
Other:
Health Information Technology Trust Fund (3,963)
Government Land Bank Fund (35,033)
Total Non-Budgeted Special Revenue Funds (48,703)

Capital Projects:

General Capital Projects Fund (198,836)
Highway Capital Projects Fund (180,744)
Total Capital Projects Funds (379,580)
Total $ (428,283)

None of the funds detailed above were in deficit due to finance-related contractual provisions and all were allowed to
be in deficit by General Law.

6. MEDICAID COSTS

Approximately 43.3% of the Commonwealth’s budgeted fund spending for programs and services is devoted to
Medicaid. It is the largest and has been one of the fastest growing items in the Commonwealth’s budget. For the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2016, the General Fund includes approximately $14.851 billion in expenditures for Medicaid
claims. The combined financial statements - statutory basis includes Medicaid claims processed but unpaid at June 30,
2016 of approximately $11 million as accounts payable.

Commonwealth of Massachusetts 39 Statutory Basis Financial Report



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Commonwealth of Massachusetts 40 Statutory Basis Financial Report



Combining and Individual
Fund Financial Statements -
Statutory Basis

Commonwealth of Massachusetts 41 Statutory Basis Financial Report



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Commonwealth of Massachusetts 42 Statutory Basis Financial Report



Individual Budgeted Funds

Budgeted funds are those funds subject to appropriation in either the annual General Appropriation Act (GAA) or other
appropriations bills. Unless otherwise specified, budgeted funds are also subject to Section 5C of Chapter 29 of the
Massachusetts General Laws (MGL), which defines the “consolidated net surplus” calculation (and determines whether
the annual budget is in balance) as well as year-end transfers to eliminate deficits in budgeted funds.

MAJOR BUDGETED FUNDS:

The General Fund - The General Fund is the Commonwealth’s primary Governmental Fund. All governmental
activities not specifically directed to another fund are accounted for in the General Fund. As a result, most budgeted
expenditures of the Executive secretariats, the Legislature, constitutional offices, Judiciary, institutions of higher
education and independent commissions are paid from the General Fund. It similarly receives a significant portion of
sales, individual income and corporate taxes and the full amount of most other governmental taxes.

Commonwealth Transportation Fund - to account for revenues from motor fuels taxes and all fees and fines received
by the Registry of Motor Vehicles relating to the use and operation of motor vehicles and trailers. Spending is for debt
service on general and special obligation debt, as well as for amounts, subject to appropriation, to fund the programs
and services of the Massachusetts Department of Transportation. This fund also includes activity of the Infrastructure
Fund, which was a subfund of the Highway Fund.

The Commonwealth Stabilization Fund - to account for amounts calculated in accordance with state finance law and
to maintain a reserve to enhance the Commonwealth’s fiscal stability. Tax revenues from certain lottery winners selling
their stream of future winnings in exchange for current payments are recorded in this fund. In addition, transfers are
required for fiscal year capital gains tax revenues exceeding $1 billion (adjusted annually for economic growth) and
judgments and settlements of more than $10 million that exceed the previous 5 year’s average of judgments and
settlements. These transfers were suspended for fiscal year 2016.

ADMINISTRATIVE CONTROL FUND:

This fund accounts for the revenues generated by certain administrative functions of government, for which the
Legislature has required a separate fund be established. Budgeted funds are subject to Section 5C of Chapter 29 of the
MGL, calculation of year-end transfers, unless specified otherwise.

Intragovernmental Service Fund - to account for the charges of any state agency for services provided to another state
agency.
BUDGETED ENVIRONMENTAL FUNDS:

The Environmental funds are exempt from Section 5C of Chapter 29 of the MGL, calculation of year-end transfers.

Inland Fisheries and Game Fund - to account for revenues from license and permit fees for inland fishing, hunting,
trapping, and sporting licenses and revenue producing stamps or the sales of land, rights and properties, gifts, interest,
and federal grant reimbursements; used for developing, maintaining and operating the Division of Fisheries and Wildlife.

Marine Recreational Fisheries Development Fund - to account for salt water permit fees collected, funds, grants and

gifts received as authorized, including investment income; used for development and administration of recreational
saltwater fishing improvement programs.
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OTHER BUDGETED FUNDS:

These funds account for a variety of miscellaneous taxes, fees, fines and other revenues, which are restricted to the
financing of specific Commonwealth programs.

Public Safety Training Fund - to account for all revenues collected from the surcharge imposed by Section 12 of
Chapter 89 and the seventh paragraph of Section 20 of Chapter 90 of the MGL. The fund shall is used for the instruction
of public safety personnel including, but not limited to, the recruitment of additional state police classes and for the
municipal police training committee, under Section 116 of Chapter 6 of the MGL, to preserve and promote public
safety. The fund is not included in the consolidated net surplus calculation Section SC of Chapter 29 of the MGL, or
the year-end transfers to eliminate deficits in the consolidated net surplus funds.

Community First Trust Fund - The secretary of health and human services may expend amounts in excess of the $16
million collected from federal reimbursements in the nonbudgeted Community First Trust Fund to ensure compliance
with the state balancing incentive payment program. Monies deposited in the fund are used for non-institutionally-
based long-term services and support. The fund is not included in the consolidated net surplus calculation Section 5C
of Chapter 29 of the MGL, nor in the year-end transfers to eliminate deficits in the consolidated net surplus funds.

Massachusetts Tourism Fund - to account for revenues received from hotel taxes; used to fund the Office of Travel
and Tourism promotions and the Massachusetts Convention Center Authority.

Local Capital Projects Fund - to account for funds generated by the casino license fees and by the tax on revenues
generated by casinos (but not the slots parlor), once they are operational. Even though this fund did not have FY16
activity, it is presented here for comparative purposes as there was FY'15 activity.

Gaming Local Aid Fund - to account for gaming tax revenues generated by the tax on casino revenues. The fund is
used by finance local aid distributions.

Local Aid Stabilization Fund - to account for gaming tax revenues generated by casinos. Monies are used to supplement
local aid distributions to cities and towns. The fund is not included in the consolidated net surplus calculation Section
5C of Chapter 29 of the MGL, nor in the year-end transfers to eliminate deficits in the consolidated net surplus funds.

Manufacturing Fund - To account for a portion of gaming facility license fees. Even though this fund did not have
FY16 activity, it is presented here for comparative purposes as it had activity in FY'15.

Community College Fund - to account for a portion of gaming license fees. Even though this fund did not have FY' 16
activity, it is presented here for comparative purposes as it had activity in FY15.

The following funds have been enacted in legislation but had no activity in FY16 and are not presented in this report:

Temporary Holding Fund - to account for cumulative tax revenues during the fiscal year in excess of permissible tax
revenues as defined in Chapter 62F, Section 6A of the MGL. The fund balance in the fund closes annually to the
Stabilization Fund to the extent of expenditures from that fund. Any remaining balance transfers to the General Fund.
The mechanism transferring tax revenues to the fund was repealed effective January 1, 2013, but the fund itself was
not repealed.

Tax Reduction Fund - to account for the maintenance of a reserve, which shall be used only to reduce personal income
taxes.

Collective Bargaining Reserve Fund - to account for transfers from the General Fund which may be used to fund
negotiated contracts for state employees.

Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment Fund - to account for sales tax revenues (non-dedicated) collected from
the sale of alcoholic beverages, with the funds used for substance abuse treatment and prevention services. In November
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2010, the sales tax on alcoholic beverages was repealed via referendum, effective January 1, 2011, but the fund itself
was not repealed.

International Educational and Foreign Language Grant Program Fund - to account for appropriations, bond proceeds
or other monies authorized to be used by the Commissioner of Education to increase the number of Massachusetts
students, teachers, administrators and education policymakers to support programs and activities that advance cultural
awareness through grants to local and regional high schools to support international education programs and promote
the study of foreign languages.

Dam Safety Trust Fund - to account for all receipts and revenues generated through agreements executed between
the department of environmental management and public or private entities for dam safety purposes, and all fines,
costs, expenses and interest imposed. Revenues over $250,000 in a fiscal year shall be credited to the General Fund.

Children and Families Protection Fund - to account for any penalties collected for violations of the Massachusetts
Pesticide Control Act under Chapter 132B, Sections 6C to 61 of the MGL Amounts credited to the fund are used for
the implementation and enforcement of said Sections 6C to 61.

Home and Community-based Services Policy Lab Fund - to account for any appropriations authorized by the general
court and specifically designated to be credited to the fund and any additional nonstate-sourced funds as designated by
the secretary of elder affairs including, but not limited to, federal or private grants or donations. The fund is used to
support research and analysis which would enhance the development, evaluation, design and continued improvement
of programs rendering home and community-based services to individuals who need long-term services and support.

Regional Water Entity Reimbursement Fund - to account for amounts to reimburse the Massachusetts Water Resources
Authority for its costs in providing cities and towns financial assistance in the form of interest free grants and loans to
rehabilitate collection systems. Such reimbursement shall be in addition to the contract assistance amounts in section
6 of chapter 29C, but not be greater than 10 % of the maximum amount set forth in chapter 29C.

Education Fund - to account for a portion of the funds generated by the tax on casino (but not slots parlor) revenue.
35% of the funds received are to be appropriated for higher education purposes, and that any appropriations for either
higher eduction or K-12 education from this fund are required to supplement, not offset, General Appropriation Act
spending.

Gaming Economic Development Fund - to account for a portion of the funds generated by the tax on casino (but not
slots parlor) revenue. Expenditures from the are to be used to support economic development and job growth.

Agricultural Resolve and Security Fund - to account for gifts, grants, donations, federal reimbursements and grants

plus any interest earned from the Fund. Expenditures are to be used to foster agriculture in the Commonwealth and
other purposes of the Department of Agricultural Resources.
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Budgeted Funds
Combining Balance Sheet - Statutory Basis

June 30, 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

Administrative
Control

Commonwealth Commonwealth Intragovernmental

General Transportation Stabilization Service
ASSETS
Cash and short-term investments $ 487,253  $ — 3 1,019,769 $ 34,342
Cash with fiscal agent — 16,690 — —
Investments — — 271,745 —
Receivables, net of allowance for uncollectibles:
Due from federal government 377,724 — — —
Other receivables 23,240 15,583 — —
Due from cities and towns 23,268 — — —
Total assets $ 911,485 § 32273 $ 1,291,514  $ 34,342
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Deficiency in cash and short-term
investments $ — § 15,108 $ — S —
Accounts payable 746,749 475 — 26,854
Accrued payroll 60,860 — — 2,036
Total liabilities 807,609 15,583 — 28,890
Fund balance (deficit):
Reserved for:
Continuing appropriations 103,876 — — 5,452
Commonwealth Stabilization — — 1,291,514 —
Debt service — 16,690 — —
Unreserved:
Undesignated — — — —
Total fund equity (deficit) 103,876 16,690 1,291,514 5,452
Total liabilities and fund equity $ 911,485 §$ 32,273 $ 1,291,514 $ 34,342

See accountants’ review report
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Environmental

Budgeted Other

Marine Recreational

Inland Fisheries and Fisheries Public Safety Community First Massachusetts Local Capital
Game Development Training Trust Tourism Projects
$ 16,569 $ 2,825 2,490 $ 44,621 1,385 § —
$ 16,569 $ 2,825 2,490 $ 44,621 1,385 § —
$ — 3 — — 3 — — 3 —
1,814 115 — — 1,359 —
156 8 — — 26 —
1,970 123 — — 1,385 —
14,599 2,702 2,490 44,621 — —
14,599 2,702 2,490 44,621 — —
$ 16,569 $ 2,825 2,490 $ 44,621 1,385 S —
continued
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Budgeted Funds
Combining Balance Sheet - Statutory Basis

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

Totals
Budgeted Other (Memorandum only)
Gaming Local Aid Community
Local Aid Stabilization =~ Manufacturing College 2016 2015
ASSETS
Cash and short-term investments $ — 3 50 $ — 3 — $ 1,609,305 $ 1,544,284
Cash with fiscal agent — — — — 16,690 13,903
Investments — — — — 271,744 264,426
Receivables, net of allowance for
uncollectibles:
Due from federal government — — — — 377,724 712,911
Other receivables — — — — 38,823 11,274
Due from cities and towns — — — — 23,268 19,722
Total assets $ — $ 50 $ — 3 — $ 2,337,554 $ 2,566,520
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Deficiency in cash and short-term
investments $ — 3 — 3 — 3 — 3 15,108 $ —
Accounts payable — — — — 777,367 803,302
Accrued payroll — — — — 63,086 192,532
Total liabilities — — — — 855,561 995,834
Fund balance (deficit):
Reserved for:
Continuing appropriations — — — — 109,328 212,090
Commonwealth Stabilization — — — — 1,291,514 1,252,429
Debt service — — — — 16,690 13,903
Unreserved:
Undesignated — 50 — — 64,461 92,264
Total fund equity (deficit) — 50 — — 1,481,993 1,570,686
Total liabilities and fund equity $ — § 50 § — — $ 2,337,554 § 2,566,520

See accountants’ review report
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Budgeted Funds
Combining Statements Of Revenues, Expenditures And Changes In Fund Balances - Statutory Basis

Fiscal Year Ended June 30. 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

Administrative Control

Commonwealth Commonwealth Intragovernmental
General Transportation Stabilization Service
REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Revenues:
Taxes $ 22,257,084 $ 1,301,318 $ 744§ —
Assessments 395,984 23,398 — —
Federal grants and reimbursements 10,585,466 — — —
Tobacco settlement revenue 257,616 — — —
Departmental 2,505,504 661,268 — 402,100
Miscellaneous 367.327 7.371 11.241 —
Total revenues 36.368.981 1.993.355 11,985 402.100
Other financing sources:
Fringe benefit cost recovery 365,659 — — —
Lottery reimbursements 107,935 — — —
Lottery distributions 975,254 — — —
Operating transfers in 280,653 — — —
Commonwealth care trust transfer 44,482 — — —
Stabilization transfer — — 27,100 —
Other fund deficit support 30,031 — — —
Total other financing sources 1.804.014 — 27.100 —
Total revenues and other financing sources 38.172.995 1.993.355 39.085 402.100
EXPENDITURES AND OTHER FINANCING USES
Exoenditures:
Legislature 61,368 — — —
Judiciary 878,663 — — —
Inspector General 4,315 — — —
Governor and Lieutenant Governor 6,576 — — —
Secretary of the Commonwealth 39,322 — — —
Treasurer and Receiver-General 205,226 — — —
Auditor of the Commonwealth 18,354 — — —
Attorney General 44,265 — — —
Ethics Commission 2,034 — — —
District Attorney 114,084 — — —
Office of Campaign & Political Finance 1,516 — — —
Sheriff’s Departments 603,220 — — —
Disabled Persons Protection Commission 2,943 — — —
Board of Library Commissioners 25,333 — — —
Comptroller 8,870 — — 5,041
Administration and Finance 2,076,261 — — 222,855
Energy and Environmental Affairs 203,683 — — 1,471
Health and Human Services 5,383,102 — — 97,554
Massachusetts Department of Transportation — 171,417 — —
Office of the Child Advocate 595 — — —
Executive Office of Education 2,280,888 — — 432
Center for Health Information and Analysis 26,625 — — —
Public Safety and Security 1,065,606 — — 56,223
Housing and Economic Development 512,117 — — 1,666
Labor and Workforce Development 45,082 — — —
Direct local aid 5,462,705 — — —
Medicaid 14,851,007 — — —
Post employment benefits 2,461,159 42,218 — —
Debt service:
Principal retirement 561,002 713,596 — 13,671
Interest and fiscal charges 424.579 461,458 — —
Total expenditures 37.370.500 1.388.689 — 398913
Other financing uses:
Fringe benefit cost assessment — — — —
Operating transfers out 45,572 566,790 — 8,721
Stabilization transfer — — — —
Medical assistance transfer 665,564 — — —
Delivery system transformation initiatives trust transfer 186,907 — — —
Other fund deficit support — 35.089 — —
Total other financing uses 898.043 601.879 — 8.721
Total expenditures and other financing uses 38.268.543 1.990.568 — 407.634
Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other financing sources
over / (under) expenditures and other financing use (95,548) 2,787 39,085 (5,534)
Fund balance (deficit) at beginning of year 199.424 13.903 1.252.429 10.986
Fund balance (deficit) at end of year $ 103,876  $ 16,690 $ 1,291,514  § 5,452

See accountants’ review report
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Environmental Budgeted Other

Inland Fisheries and Marine Recreational

Game Fisheries Development Public Safety Training Community First Trust Massachusetts Tourism Local Capital Projects

$ 1,001 $ — 3 — 3 — 3 56,772 $ —

8,824 — — 48,430 — —

7,787 1,502 1,308 — — —

66 — — — — —

17,678 1,502 1.308 48.430 56.772 —

190 — — — — —

190 — — — — —

17.868 1,502 1,308 48.430 56,772 —

— — — 2 — —

— — — — 27 —

— — — 2 — —

105 — — — — —

16,468 1,228 — — — —

— — — 49,859 — —

— — — — 20 —

— — — 80 22,384 —

16.573 1,228 — 49.943 22431 —

2,730 138 — 1,212 404 —

— — — 25,087 — —

— — — — 35618 —

2.730 138 — 26.299 36.022 —

19.303 1.366 — 76.242 58.453 —

(1,435) 136 1,308 (27,812) (1,681) —

16,034 2.566 1.182 72.433 1.681 —

$ 14,599 § 2,702 $ 2,490 $ 44,621  $ — 3 —
continued
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Budgeted Funds
Combining Statements Of Revenues, Expenditures And Changes In Fund Balances - Statutory Basis

Fiscal Year Ended June 30. 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

Totals
Budgeted Other (Memorandum only)
min; Local Ai mmuni
L?)ial A{i;d Sta(l;?fizaticoln Manufacturing C()Collélgi 2016 2015
REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Revenues:
Taxes $ —  $ — 3 — 8 — $ 23,616,920 $ 23,173,799
Assessments — — — — 419,382 425,316
Federal grants and reimbursements — — — — 10,642,720 9,480,404
Tobacco settlement revenue — — — — 257,616 245,839
Departmental — — — — 3,579,470 3,280,789
Miscellaneous — — — — 386.005 262.895
Total revenues — — — — 38.902.113 36.869.043
Other financing sources:
Fringe benefit cost recovery — — — — 365,659 329,606
Lottery reimbursements — — — — 107,935 104,238
Lottery distributions — — — — 975,254 947,250
Operating transfers in 64,356 — — — 345,200 343,934
Commonwealth care trust transfer — — — — 44,482 —
Stabilization transfer — — — — 27,100 288,313
Other fund deficit support 40,677 — — — 70,707 89.478
Total other financing sources 105,033 — — — 1,936,337 2.102.819
Total revenues and other financing sources 105.033 — — — 40.838.450 38.971.862
EXPENDITURES AND OTHER FINANCING USES
Expenditures:
Legislature — — — — 61,368 60,465
Judiciary — — — — 878,664 839,454
Inspector General — — — — 4315 4,521
Governor and Lieutenant Governor — — — — 6,603 6,368
Secretary of the Commonwealth — — — — 39,322 44,891
Treasurer and Receiver-General — — — — 205,226 203,312
Auditor of the Commonwealth — — — — 18,354 17,768
Attorney General — — — — 44,265 43,134
Ethics Commission — — — — 2,034 1,914
District Attorney — — — — 114,087 108,677
Office of Campaign & Political Finance — — — — 1,516 1,433
Sheriff’s Departments — — — — 603,220 581,157
Disabled Persons Protection Commission — — — — 2,943 2,724
Board of Library Commissioners — — — — 25,333 25,301
Comptroller — — — — 13,911 13,568
Administration and Finance — — — — 2,299,220 2,323,887
Energy and Environmental Affairs — — — — 222,851 226,430
Health and Human Services — — — — 5,530,514 5,398,933
Massachusetts Department of Transportation — — — — 171,437 122,553
Office of the Child Advocate — — — — 595 —
Executive Office of Education — — — — 2,281,321 2,214,194
Center for Health Information and Analysis — — — — 26,625 26,405
Public Safety and Homeland Security — — — — 1,121,829 1,091,441
Housing and Economic Development — — — — 536,247 519,220
Labor and Workforce Development — — — — 45,082 43,198
Direct local aid 105,033 — — — 5,567,738 5,420,412
Medicaid — — — — 14,851,007 13,655,213
Post employment benefits — — — — 2,503,377 2,287,113
Debt service:
Principal retirement — — — — 1,288,270 1,290,529
Interest and fiscal charges — — — — 886.037 899.875
Total expenditures 105.033 — — — 39.353.310 37.474.091
Other financing uses:
Fringe benefit cost assessment — — — — 4,485 2,863
Operating transfers out — — — — 646,170 829,826
Stabilization transfer — — — — — 268,313
Medical assistance transfer — — — — 665,564 70,975
Delivery system transformation initiatives trust transfer — — — — 186,907 116,171
Other fund deficit support — — — — 70,707 89.478
Total other financing uses — — — — 1,573.833 1.377.627
Total expenditures and other financing uses 105,033 — — — 40.927.143 38.851.718
Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other financing
sources over / (under) expenditures and other
financing use — — — — (88,693) 120,144
Fund balance (deficit) at beginning of year — 50 — — 1,570,686 1,450,542
Fund balance (deficit) at end of year $ — 3 50 $ — 8 — $ 1,481,993 $ 1,570,686

See accountants’ review report
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Budgeted Funds
Combining Statements Of Revenues, Expenditures And Changes In Fund Balances - Statutory Basis - Budget And Actual

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

General Commonwealth Transportation
Variance Variance
Favorable Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable) Budget Actual (Unfavorable)
REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Revenues:
Taxes $ 22,604,053 $ 22,257,084 $ (346,969) $ 1,301,426 $ 1,301,318 $ (108)
Assessments 408,336 395,984 (12,352) 23,153 23,398 245
Federal grants and reimbursements 10,219,269 10,585,466 366,197 — — —
Tobacco settlement revenue 272,049 257,616 (14,433) — — —
Departmental 2,485,327 2,505,504 20,177 639,499 661,268 21,769
Miscellaneous 298.793 367.327 68.534 707 7.371 6.664
Total revenues 36,287.827 36.368.981 81,154 1.964.785 1.993.355 28.570
Other financine sources:
Fringe benefit cost recovery 290,509 365,659 75,150 — — —
Lottery reimbursements 100,604 107,935 7,331 — — —
Lottery distributions 920,542 975,254 54,712 — — —
Operating transfers in 359,261 280,653 (78,608) 96,000 — (96,000)
Commonwealth care trust transfer — 44,482 44,482 — — —
Stabilization transfer — — — — — —
Other fund deficit support — 30.031 30,031 — — —
Total other financing sources 1.670.916 1.804.014 133.098 96,000 — (96.000)
Total revenues and other financing sources 37.958.743 38.172.995 214.252 2,060,785 1,993,355 (67.430)
EXPENDITURES AND OTHER FINANCING USES
Expenditures:
Legislature 91,447 61,368 30,079 — — —
Judiciary 888,209 878,663 9,546 — — —
Inspector General 4,459 4,315 144 — — —
Governor and Lieutenant Governor 10,563 6,576 3,987 — — —
Secretary of the Commonwealth 40,445 39,322 1,123 — — —
Treasurer and Receiver-General 212,143 205,226 6,917 — — —
Auditor of the Commonwealth 18,356 18,354 2 — — —
Attorney General 45,544 44,265 1,279 — — —
Ethics Commission 2,069 2,034 35 — — —
District Attorney 119,259 114,084 5,175 — — —
Office of Campaign & Political Finance 1,536 1,516 20 — — —
Sheriff's Departments 605,053 603,220 1,833 — — —
Disabled Persons Protection Commission 2,943 2,943 — — — —
Board of Library Commissioners 25,333 25,333 — — — —
Comptroller 9,014 8,870 144 — — —
Administration and Finance 2,371,037 2,076,261 294,776 — — —
Energy and Environmental Affairs 218,400 203,683 14,717 — — —
Health and Human Services 5,510,011 5,383,102 126,909 — — —
Massachusetts Department of Transportation — — — 187,000 171,417 15,583
Office of the Child Advocate 790 595 195 — — —
Executive Office of Education 2,325,242 2,280,888 44,354 — — —
Center for Health Information and Analysis 32,563 26,625 5,938 — — —
Public Safety and Security 1,092,213 1,065,606 26,607 — — —
Housing and Economic Development 555,795 512,117 43,678 — — —
Labor and Workforce Development 58,963 45,082 13,881 — — —
Direct local aid 5,465,696 5,462,705 2,991 — — —
Medicaid 14,851,052 14,851,007 45 — — —
Post employment benefits 2,426,093 2,461,159 (35,066) — 42,218 (42,218)
Debt service:
Principal retirement 590,664 561,002 29,662 752,814 713,596 39,218
Interest and fiscal charges 447.027 424.579 22.448 483.116 461,458 21.658
Total expenditures 38.021.919 37.370.500 651.419 1.422.930 1.388.689 34.241
Other financing uses:
Fringe benefit cost assessment — — — — — —
Operating transfers out 115,653 45,572 70,081 588,266 566,790 21,476
Medical assistance transfer 1,027,500 665,564 361,936 — — —
Delivery system transformation initiatives trust 189,142 186,907 2,235 — — —
Other fund deficit support — — — — 35.089 (35.089)
Total other financing uses 1.332.295 898.043 434252 588.266 601.879 (13.613)
Total expenditures and other financing uses 39.354.214 38.268.543 1,085,671 2.011.196 1.990.568 20,628
Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other
fﬁ;ﬂiﬂgf }l‘f]‘;ﬁ;g‘f;/ (under) expenditures (1,395,471) (95,548) 1,299,923 49,589 2,787 (46,802)
Fund balance (deficit) at beginning of year 199.424 199.424 — 13.903 13.903 —
Fund balance (deficit) at end of year $ (1.196.047) _$ 103.876 8 1299923 _§ 63492 _$ 16690 _$ (46.802)

See accountants’ review report
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Administrative Control Environmental

Commonwealth Stabilization Intragovernmental Services Inland Fisheries and Game
Variance Variance Variance
Favorable Favorable Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable) Budget Actual (Unfavorable) Budget Actual (Unfavorable)
$ — 3 744 $ 744§ — S — 3 — 3 1,000 $ 1,001 $ 1
— — — — — — 5,800 8,824 3,024
— — — — 402,100 402,100 7,345 7,787 442
5.547 11.241 5.694 — — — 34 66 32
5.547 11,985 6.438 — 402.100 402.100 14,179 17.678 3.499
— — — — — — 170 190 20
— 27,100 27,100 — — — — — —
— 27.100 27.100 — — — 170 190 20
5.547 39.085 33.538 — 402.100 402.100 14.349 17.868 3.519
— — — 116 — 116 — — —
— — — 5,524 5,041 483 — — —
— — — 304,528 222,855 81,673 119 105 14
— — — 1,509 1,471 38 17,171 16,468 703
— — — 121,553 97,554 23,999 — — —
— — — 1,860 432 1,428 — — —
— — — 63,811 56,223 7,588 — — —
— — — 7,665 1,666 5,999 — — —
— — — 19,042 — 19,042 — — —
— — — 13,671 13,671 — — — —
— — — 539.279 398913 140.366 17.290 16.573 717
— — — — — — — 2,730 (2,730)
. _ — — 8,721 (8,721) - - 7
— — — — 8.721 (8.721) — 2.730 (2.730)
— — — 539.279 407.634 131.645 17.290 19.303 (2.013)
5,547 39,085 33,538 (539,279) (5,534) 533,745 (2,941) (1,435) 1,506
1.252.429 1,252,429 — 10.986 10,986 — 16,034 16.034 —
$ 1257976 8 1.291.514 § 33538 8 (528.293) _§ 5452 8 533745 8 13.093 _§ 14599 _§ 1.506

continued
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Budgeted Funds

Combining Statements Of Revenues, Expenditures And Changes In Fund Balances - Statutory Basis - Budget And Actual

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

Revenues:
Taxes
Assessments
Federal grants and reimbursements
Tobacco settlement revenue
Departmental
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

Other financine sources:
Fringe benefit cost recovery
Lottery reimbursements
Lottery distributions
Operating transfers in
Commonwealth care trust transfer
Stabilization transfer
Other fund deficit support
Total other financing sources
Total revenues and other financing sources

EXPENDITURES AND OTHER FINANCING

Expenditures:
Legislature
Judiciary
Inspector General
Governor and Lieutenant Governor
Secretary of the Commonwealth
Treasurer and Receiver-General
Auditor of the Commonwealth
Attorney General
Ethics Commission
District Attorney
Office of Campaign & Political Finance
Sheriff’s Departments
Disabled Persons Protection Commission
Board of Library Commissioners
Comptroller
Administration and Finance
Energy and Environmental Affairs
Health and Human Services

Massachusetts Department of Transportation

Office of the Child Advocate
Executive Office of Education
Center for Health Information and Analysis
Public Safety and Security
Housing and Economic Development
Labor and Workforce Development
Direct local aid
Medicaid
Post employment benefits
Debt service:

Principal retirement

Interest and fiscal charges
Total expenditures

Other financing uses:
Fringe benefit cost assessment
Operating transfers out
Medical assistance transfer

Delivery system transformation initiatives trust

Other fund deficit support

Total other financing uses

Total expenditures and other financing uses
Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other

financing sources over / (under) expenditures

and other financing use
Fund balance (deficit) at beginning of year
Fund balance (deficit) at end of year

See accountants’ review report

Commonwealth of Massachusetts

Environmental Budgeted Other
Marine Recreational Fisheries Development Public Safety Trust

Variance Variance

Favorable Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable) Budget Actual (Unfavorable)
$ — s — s — — s — s —
1,418 1,502 84 — 1,308 1,308
1,418 1,502 84 — 1,308 1,308
1418 1.502 84 — 1.308 1.308
1,306 1,228 78 — — —
1.306 1,228 78 — — —
— 138 (138) — — —
— 138 (138) — — —
1,306 1,366 (60) — — —_
112 136 24 — 1,308 1,308
2.566 2.566 — 1.182 1,182 —

56

Statutory Basis Financial Report



Budgeted Other

Community First Trust Massachusetts Tourism Local Capital Projects
Variance Variance Variance
Favorable Favorable Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable) Budget Actual (Unfavorable) Budget Actual (Unfavorable)
$ —  $ —  $ — 3 33,900 $ 56,772 § 22872 § — — S —
35,000 48,430 13,430 — — — — — —
35.000 48.430 13.430 33.900 56.772 22.872 — — —
35.000 48.430 13.430 33.900 56.772 22.872 — — —
2 2 — — — — — — —
— — — 27 27 — — — —
2 2 — — — — — — —
56,523 49,859 6,664 — — — — — —
— — — 20 20 — — — —
87 80 7 25,114 22,384 2,730 — — —
56.614 49.943 6.671 25.161 22431 2.730 — — —
— 1.212 (1.212) — 404 (404)
— 25,087 (25,087) — — — — _ _
— — — — 35.618 (35.618) — — —
— 26.299 (26.299) — 36.022 (36.022) — — —
56.614 76,242 (19.628) 25.161 58.453 (33.292) — — —
(21,614) (27,812) (6,198) 8,739 (1,681) (10,420) — — —
72.433 72,433 — 1.681 1.681 — — — —
$ 50819 8 44621 _$ (6.198) $ 10420 _§ — 8 (10.420) 8 — 3 ) —

continued
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Budgeted Funds

Combining Statements Of Revenues, Expenditures And Changes In Fund Balances - Statutory Basis - Budget And Actual
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

(Amounts in thousands)

REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

Revenues:
Taxes
Assessments
Federal grants and reimbursements
Tobacco settlement revenue
Departmental
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

Other financine sources:
Fringe benefit cost recovery
Lottery reimbursements
Lottery distributions
Operating transfers in
Commonwealth care trust transfer
Stabilization transfer
Other fund deficit support
Total other financing sources
Total revenues and other financing sources

EXPENDITURES AND OTHER FINANCING USES

Expenditures:
Legislature
Judiciary
Inspector General
Governor and Lieutenant Governor
Secretary of the Commonwealth
Treasurer and Receiver-General
Auditor of the Commonwealth
Attorney General
Ethics Commission
District Attorney
Office of Campaign & Political Finance
Sheriff's Departments
Disabled Persons Protection Commission
Board of Library Commissioners
Comptroller
Administration and Finance
Energy and Environmental Affairs
Health and Human Services

Massachusetts Department of Transportation

Office of the Child Advocate
Executive Office of Education
Center for Health Information and Analysis
Public Safety and Security
Housing and Economic Development
Labor and Workforce Development
Direct local aid
Medicaid
Post employment benefits
Debt service:

Principal retirement

Interest and fiscal charges
Total expenditures

Other financing uses:
Fringe benefit cost assessment
Operating transfers out
Medical assistance transfer

Delivery system transformation initiatives trust

Other fund deficit support

Total other financing uses

Total expenditures and other financing uses
Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other

financing sources over / (under) expenditures

and other financing use
Fund balance (deficit) at beginning of year
Fund balance (deficit) at end of year

See accountants’ review report

Commonwealth of Massachusetts

Budgeted Other
Gaming Local Aid Local Aid Stabilization
Variance Variance
Favorable Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable) Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

$ — 8 — s — s s _ s _
105,000 64,356 (40,644) — — -
— 40.677 40.677 — — —
105.000 105.033 33 — — _
105.000 105.033 33 — — _
105,034 105,033 1 — — _
105.034 105.033 1 — — _
105.034 105.033 1 — — _
(34) — 34 — — —
— — — 50 50 —
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Budgeted Other

Totals
Manufacturing Community College (Memorandum only)
Variance Variance Variance
Favorable Favorable Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable) Budget Actual (Unfavorable) Budget Actual (Unfavorable)
$ — S — 3 — 8 — 3 — S — $ 23940379 $ 23,616,920 $ (323,459)
_ _ _ _ — — 431,489 419,382 (12,107)
_ _ — — — — 10,260,069 10,642,720 382,651
_ _ — _ — — 272,049 257,616 (14,433)
_ - _ _ — — 3,133,589 3,579,470 445,881
_ _ _ — — — 305,081 386.005 80.924
_ _ — — — — 38,342.656 38.902.113 559.457
_ _ — — — — 290,509 365,659 75,150
_ _ _ — — — 100,604 107,935 7,331
_ _ — — — — 920,542 975,254 54,712
_ _ — — — — 560,431 345,200 (215,231)
— — — — — — — 44,482 44,482
o _ - _ — — — 27,100 27,100
_ _ _ _ - — — 70.707 70.707
_ _ — — — — 1,872.086 1,936,337 64251
_ __ __ _ — — 40.214.742 40.838.450 623.708
_ _ — — — — 91,447 61,368 30,079
o o _ _ — — 888,211 878,664 9,547
. _ _ _— — — 4,459 4,315 144
_ — — — — — 10,590 6,603 3,987
_ _ _— — — — 40,561 39,322 1,239
_ — — — 